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Preferred Share Purchase Rights  
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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.    Yes  �  No   
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and 
(2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes    No  �  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive 
Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months 
(or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes    No  �  

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K, (§229.405 of this chapter) is not 
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by 
reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.    

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of 
“large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and ‘smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):  

Large accelerated filer  �      Accelerated filer        Non-accelerated filer  �      Smaller reporting company  �  
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes  �  No    
The approximate aggregate market value of the common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of the last business day of the 
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE  

Portions of the registrant’s definitive proxy statement in connection with the registrant’s 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2013, are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

(1) Based on a closing sale price of $4.42 per share on June 28, 2013. Excludes 11.5 million shares of the registrant’s common stock held 
by executive officers, directors and affiliates at June 28, 2013.  
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PART I  

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that involve risks and uncertainties. The forward-
looking statements are contained principally in Item 1, “Business,” Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations” and in Item 1A, “Risk Factors.” These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other 
factors which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performances or 
achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Examples of forward-looking statements include, but are not limited 
to, statements about our estimates regarding the sufficiency of our cash resources, our ability to commercialize and achieve market 
acceptance of the INTERCEPT Blood System, the anticipated progress of our research, development and clinical programs, our ability to 
manage cost increases associated with preclinical and clinical development for the INTERCEPT Blood System, our ability to obtain and 
maintain regulatory approvals of the INTERCEPT Blood System, the ability of our products to inactivate pathogens that may emerge in the 
future, and our ability to protect our intellectual property and operate our business without infringing upon the intellectual property rights of 
others. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “anticipate,” “will,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” 
“plan,” and similar expressions intended to identify such forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements reflect our current views 
with respect to future events, are based on assumptions, and are subject to risks and uncertainties. There can be no assurance that these 
statements will prove to be correct. Certain important factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those discussed in such 
statements, including our need for additional financing, whether our preclinical and clinical data or data from commercial use will be 
considered sufficient by regulatory authorities to grant marketing approval for our products, market acceptance of our products, 
reimbursement, development and testing of additional configurations of our products, regulation by domestic and foreign regulatory 
authorities, our limited experience in sales, marketing and regulatory support for the INTERCEPT Blood System, our reliance on Fresenius 
and third parties to manufacture certain components of the INTERCEPT Blood System, incompatibility of our platelet system with some 
commercial platelet collection methods, our need to complete certain of our product components’ commercial design, more effective product 
offerings by, or clinical setbacks of, our competitors, product liability, our use of hazardous materials in the development of our products, 
business interruption due to earthquake, our expectation of continuing losses, protection of our intellectual property rights, volatility in our 
stock price, legal proceedings, and other factors discussed below and under the caption “Risk Factors,” in Item 1A of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K and in our other documents filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. We discuss many of these risks in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K in greater detail in the section entitled “Risk Factors” under Part I, Item 1A below. Given these uncertainties, you 
should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Also, forward-looking statements represent our estimates and 
assumptions only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. You should read this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents 
that we incorporate by reference in and have filed as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, completely and with the understanding 
that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect. Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update 
any forward-looking statements publicly, or to update the reasons actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in any 
forward-looking statements, even if new information becomes available in the future.  
   

Overview  

We are a biomedical products company focused on developing and commercializing the INTERCEPT Blood System to enhance blood 
safety. The INTERCEPT Blood System, which is based on our proprietary technology for controlling biological replication, is designed to 
inactivate blood-borne pathogens in donated blood components intended for transfusion.  
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We have worldwide rights for our INTERCEPT Blood System for three blood components: plasma, platelets, and red blood cells. The 
INTERCEPT Blood System for platelets, or platelet system, and the INTERCEPT Blood System for plasma, or plasma system, have received a 
broad range of regulatory approvals outside of the United States, including Class III CE marks, and are being marketed and sold in a number of 
countries around the world, including those in Europe, The Commonwealth of Independent States, or CIS, and the Middle East. We sell both the 
platelet and plasma systems using our direct sales force and through distributors.  

We are developing the INTERCEPT Blood System for red blood cells, or red blood cell system, and are currently performing in vitro and 
license-enabling clinical trials for CE mark approval. Subject to the availability of adequate funding from partners and/or the capital markets, we 
intend to complete development activities for the red blood cell system necessary for potential CE mark approval. We are currently conducting a 
Phase II recovery and lifespan study and plan to complete that study and certain other prerequisites before proposing a Phase III clinical trial 
protocol for the red blood cell system in support of a potential regulatory approval in the United States. These development activities will result 
in increased research and development expenses in future periods, and our ability to conduct and complete any future clinical trials of the red 
blood cell system to support approval in the United States is subject to our ability to generate sufficient cash flows from our operations or obtain 
adequate funding from external sources. In any event, we will be required to obtain additional capital in order to complete the development of 
and obtain any regulatory approvals for the red blood cell system.  

In 2012, the United States Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, accepted our proposed modular Premarket Approval Application, or 
PMA, shell for our plasma system. In November 2013, we submitted the fourth and final module under the PMA for plasma and have 
subsequently been informed that the FDA has confirmed the completeness of the filing and considers the application filed. The filed PMA for the 
plasma system is now in the 180 day substantive review period. During this review period we will need to satisfactorily respond to any minor or 
major deficiency letter we may receive before the FDA can complete their review of the PMA.  

In February 2013, we reached agreement with the FDA regarding our proposed modular PMA shell for the platelet system. We have 
submitted two of the three modules agreed upon as part of the PMA shell and expect to submit the third and final module in the second quarter 
of 2014, pending our ability to successfully respond to the FDA’s questions on the first two submitted modules and completing an in vitro study 
currently in process that will be submitted as part of the third and final module. The ongoing regulatory efforts for both the platelet and plasma 
system PMAs, as well as our development activities for the red blood cell system, will result in increased research and development expenses in 
future periods. Our ability to conduct and complete additional clinical trials required by the FDA to support approval in the United States, 
including any post-marketing studies, is subject to our ability to generate sufficient cash flows from our operations or obtain adequate funding 
from external sources before we initiate any such trials or studies.  

We were incorporated in California in 1991 and reincorporated in Delaware in 1996. Our wholly-owned subsidiary, Cerus Europe B.V., 
was formed in The Netherlands in 2006. Information regarding our revenue, net loss, and total assets for the last three fiscal years can be found 
in the consolidated financial statements and related notes found elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Product Development  

Background  

The INTERCEPT Blood System is designed to broadly target and inactivate blood-borne pathogens, such as viruses (for example, HIV, 
West Nile, SARS, hepatitis B and C), bacteria and parasites, as well as potentially harmful white blood cells, while preserving the therapeutic 
properties of platelet, plasma and red blood cell transfusion products. The INTERCEPT Blood System has been shown to inactivate a broad 
array of pathogens  
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and has the potential to reduce the risk of transfusion related transmission of pathogens for which testing is not completely effective, available or 
is not performed. We believe that the INTERCEPT Blood System also has the potential to inactivate most new pathogens before they are 
identified and before tests are developed and adopted commercially to detect their presence in donated blood.  

Products, Product Candidates and Development Activities  

We have worldwide commercial rights for all INTERCEPT Blood System products. The following table identifies our products, product 
candidates and product development activities and their current status:  
   

INTERCEPT Blood System for Platelets  

The platelet system is designed to inactivate blood-borne pathogens in platelets donated for transfusion. The platelet system has received 
CE mark approval in Europe and is marketed and sold in a number of countries around the world including those in Europe, the CIS, and the 
Middle East. Separate approvals for use of INTERCEPT-treated platelet products have been obtained in France and Switzerland. In Germany 
and Austria, where approvals must be obtained by individual blood centers for use of INTERCEPT-treated platelets, several centers have 
obtained such approvals. Many countries outside of Europe accept the CE mark and have varying additional administrative or regulatory 
processes before the platelet system can be made commercially available. In general, these processes do not require additional clinical trials. 
Regardless, some potential customers may desire to conduct their own clinical studies before adopting the platelet system.  

We completed a Phase III clinical trial of the platelet system in the United States in March 2001 and a supplemental analysis of data from 
this trial was completed in 2005. In 2013, we reached agreement with the FDA that our existing clinical trial and European haemovigilance data 
was sufficient to submit a modular PMA submission without the need to complete additional Phase III clinical trials. The platelet PMA shell we 
and the FDA agreed upon contains three modules:  
   

   

   

The first two modules have been submitted to the FDA and, pending our ability to satisfactorily respond to FDA questions on the first two 
modules and complete an in vitro study currently in process that will be submitted  
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Product or Product Candidate Under  
Development    Product or Development Status  

INTERCEPT Blood  
System—Platelets  

  

•    Commercialized in a number of countries in Europe, the CIS, the Middle East and 
selected countries in other regions around the world  

•    United States: Phase III clinical trial completed; submission of PMA modules in 
process  

INTERCEPT Blood  
System—Plasma  

  

•    Commercialized in a number of countries in Europe, the CIS, the Middle East and 
selected countries in other regions around the world  

•    United States: Phase III clinical trials completed; PMA filed; FDA substantive review 
of filing in process  

INTERCEPT Blood  
System—Red Blood Cells  

  

•    Phase I clinical trial completed in 2010; Phase III trials for acute anemia and, 
separately, chronic anemia ongoing in Europe  

•    United States: Phase II recovery and lifespan study in process and in vitro studies 
planned  

  •   Module 1: Preclinical, platelet function, pathogen inactivation data  
  •   Module 2: Clinical  

  
•   Module 3: Quality systems, active compound, manufacturing, labeling, stability, post-marketing plan, integrated safety and efficacy, 

design verification and validation  
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as part of the third and final module, we anticipate submitting the third and final module in the second quarter of 2014. Although FDA 
previously indicated that no prospective Phase III clinical trials were required, the FDA may require us to complete additional Phase III clinical 
trials before approval would be granted. If additional Phase III clinical trials are required for approval, we will likely only initiate such trials if 
adequate funding can be secured. In addition, the FDA will likely require a post-marketing clinical study, which can involve significant expense 
and will require us to secure adequate funding to complete.  

INTERCEPT Blood System for Plasma  

The plasma system is designed to inactivate blood-borne pathogens in plasma donated for transfusion. The plasma system has received CE 
mark approval in Europe and is marketed and sold in a number of countries around the world including those in Europe, the CIS, the Middle 
East and selected countries in other regions around the world. Separate approvals for use of INTERCEPT-treated plasma products have been 
obtained in France and Switzerland. In Germany and Austria, approvals must be obtained by individual blood centers for use of INTERCEPT-
treated plasma. One such center in Germany has received such an approval. Many countries outside of Europe accept the CE mark and have 
varying additional administrative or regulatory processes before the plasma system can be made commercially available. In general, these 
processes do not require additional clinical trials. Regardless, some potential customers may desire to conduct their own clinical studies before 
adopting the plasma system.  

We completed Phase III clinical trials of the plasma system in the United States, reports for which were filed with the FDA during 2005. 
We have completed the submission of our modular PMA for the plasma system and have been informed that the FDA considers the application 
filed. The filed plasma system PMA consisted of four modules:  

Module 1: Preclinical, toxicology, pathogen inactivation data  

Module 2: Clinical  

Module 3: Quality systems, active compound, manufacturing  

Module 4: Integrated safety and efficacy, labeling, design verification and validation, stability, and post marketing plan  

Although we have completed Phase III clinical trials in various patient populations and have submitted supplemental data collected in 
commercial use in Europe, the FDA may require us to complete additional Phase III clinical trials before approval would be granted. We do not 
yet know if the FDA will require any additional clinical trials. If additional clinical trials are required for approval, we will likely only initiate 
such trials if adequate funding can be secured. In addition, the FDA will likely require a post-marketing clinical study, which can involve 
significant expense and will require us to secure adequate funding to complete.  

INTERCEPT Blood System for Red Blood Cells  

The red blood cell system is designed to inactivate blood-borne pathogens in red blood cells donated for transfusion. We completed a 
series of in vitro and in vivo tests with the red blood cell system, including successfully completing recovery and survival studies measuring red 
cell recovery twenty-four hours after transfusion. In order to seek CE mark approval, we submitted clinical trial applications to European 
regulators for two proposed Phase III clinical trials, one for acute anemia patients and the other for chronic anemia patients. These Phase III 
clinical trials in Europe using INTERCEPT-treated red blood cells are currently ongoing.  

Previously, we terminated Phase III clinical trials for acute and chronic anemia for a prior generation of the red blood cell system due to 
the detection of antibody reactivity to INTERCEPT-treated red blood cells in two patients in the trial for chronic anemia. The antibody 
eventually cleared and the patients had no adverse health  
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consequences. After unblinding the data from the original Phase III clinical trials, we found that we had met the primary end-point in the clinical 
trial for acute anemia. We evaluated the antibodies detected and developed process changes to diminish the likelihood of antibody reactivity in 
red blood cells treated with our modified process. There has been no antibody reactivity associated with INTERCEPT-treated red blood cells in 
any of the subsequent studies or trials we have completed since modifying the process used in the red blood cell system. Accordingly, we 
received authorization from European regulators to proceed with Phase III clinical trials for both acute anemia and, separately, chronic anemia. 
We are currently enrolling and conducting the acute anemia study in Germany and the chronic anemia study in Italy.  

In the United States, the FDA has required us to complete at least one additional Phase II recovery and lifespan study, which we are 
currently conducting, and will likely require at least one additional Phase III clinical trial before we would be able to potentially obtain approval 
for INTERCEPT-treated red blood cells in the United States. We must successfully complete the additional recovery and lifespan study along 
with certain in vitro studies before the FDA will consider a Phase III clinical trial protocol submission from us. Even if we are able to reach 
agreement with the FDA on a protocol for a Phase III clinical trial evaluating the red blood cell system, we would only initiate such a trial if 
adequate funding can be secured.  

Additional information regarding our interactions with the FDA, and potential future clinical development of the INTERCEPT Blood 
System in Europe and in the United States can be found under “Item 1A—Risk Factors” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, under the risk 
factor titled “Our products, blood products treated with the INTERCEPT Blood System and we are subject to extensive regulation by domestic 
and foreign authorities. If our preclinical and clinical data are not considered sufficient by a country’s regulatory authorities to grant marketing 
approval, we will be unable to commercialize our products and generate revenue in that country. Our investigational red blood cell system 
requires extensive additional testing and development.”  

Information regarding our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 can be found in “Item 7— Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” , and “Item 15(a)— Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules—
Financial Statements ” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

INTERCEPT Blood System Technology  

Both our platelet system and plasma system employ the same technology. Platelet or plasma components collected from blood donors are 
transferred into plastic INTERCEPT disposable kits and are mixed with our proprietary compound, amotosalen, a small molecule compound 
which has an affinity for nucleic acid.  

The disposable kits are then placed in an illumination device, or illuminator, where the mixture is exposed to ultra-violet A, or UVA, light. 
If pathogens such as viruses, bacteria or parasites are present in the platelet or plasma components, the energy from the UVA light causes the 
amotosalen to bond with the nucleic acid. Since platelets and plasma do not rely on nucleic acid for therapeutic efficacy, the INTERCEPT Blood 
System is designed to preserve the therapeutic function of the platelet and plasma components when used in human transfusions.  

The ability of amotosalen to form both cross-links between strands of nucleic acid and links to single nucleic acid strands results in a 
strong chemical bond between the amotosalen and the nucleic acid of the pathogens. The presence of these bonds is designed to prevent 
replication of the nucleic acid within pathogens, effectively inactivating the pathogens. A high level of inactivation has been demonstrated in a 
broad range of pathogens studied by us and others in laboratory testing. For instance, INTERCEPT has demonstrated inactivation of a number of 
single stranded nucleic acid-based viruses such as HIV, hepatitis B, hepatitis C (using a model virus), West Nile, chikungunya, and certain 
influenza viruses.  

Following the inactivation process, residual amotosalen and by-products are reduced by more than 99% through use of a compound 
adsorption device, which is an integrated component of the disposable kit. We have  
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performed extensive toxicology testing on the residual amotosalen and its by-products and good safety margins have been demonstrated. Any 
remaining amotosalen which may be transfused is rapidly excreted by humans.  

Leukocytes, also known as white blood cells, are typically present in platelet and plasma components collected for transfusion and can 
cause adverse transfusion reactions as well as an often fatal disease called graft-versus host disease. Leukocytes, like pathogens, rely on nucleic 
acid for replication and cellular function. The INTERCEPT Blood System, with its combination of the amotosalen and UVA light, is designed to 
inactivate leukocytes in the same manner it inactivates pathogens.  

Like the platelet and plasma systems, the red blood cell system is designed to act by using a small molecule additive compound to form 
bonds with nucleic acid in pathogens that may be present in donated red blood cell collections. The red blood cell system is designed to preserve 
the therapeutic qualities of the red blood cells, which, like platelets and plasma, do not rely on nucleic acid for their cellular function. The red 
blood cell system uses another of our proprietary compounds, S-303. Unlike the platelet and plasma systems, the chemical bonds from S-303 are 
not triggered by UVA light, but instead, by the pH level of the red blood cell components. After mixture with the red blood cell components in 
plastic disposable kits and resulting nucleic-acid bonding, S-303 is designed to rapidly break down into a form that is no longer chemically 
reactive with nucleic acid. As with the platelet and plasma systems, a high level of inactivation in a broad range of pathogens has been 
previously demonstrated with the red blood cell system in the clinical setting. We plan on conducting additional pathogen-inactivation studies of 
the red blood cell system, broadening our understanding of the pathogens the system is able to inactivate.  

By treating blood components with INTERCEPT within a day of collection, the inactivation of bacteria prevents bacterial growth that 
could create increased risk of inflammatory response or dangerous levels of endotoxins. Extensive clinical testing has been done on platelet and 
plasma products treated with the INTERCEPT Blood System, as well as post-marketing haemovigilance studies of the treated blood products in 
routine use.  

We believe that, due to their mechanisms of action, the platelet system, plasma system, and red blood cell system will potentially inactivate 
blood-borne pathogens that have not yet been tested with our systems, including emerging and future threats to the blood supply. We do not 
claim, however, that our INTERCEPT Blood System will inactivate all pathogens, including prions, and our inactivation claims are limited to 
those contained in our product specifications.  

Collaborations  

Baxter International, Inc., Fenwal, Inc., and Fresenius Kabi  

We collaborated with Baxter International, Inc., or Baxter, on the development and commercialization of the INTERCEPT Blood System 
commencing in 1993. We obtained exclusive worldwide commercialization rights to the red blood cell system from Baxter in February 2005. In 
February 2006, we entered into a restructuring of our agreements with Baxter pursuant to which we obtained exclusive worldwide 
commercialization rights to the platelet and plasma systems, excluding certain Asian countries where the commercialization rights had been 
licensed to BioOne Corporation, or BioOne. As the successor-in-interest to Baxter, these agreements provide that we pay Fresenius Kabi AG, or 
Fresenius, royalties on future INTERCEPT Blood System product sales at royalty rates that vary by product: 10% of product sales for the 
platelet system and 3% of product sales for the plasma system. In March 2007, Baxter sold its transfusion therapies business, the unit of Baxter 
performed many of the manufacturing and supply chain activities related to our relationship with Baxter, to Fenwal, Inc., or Fenwal, which in 
turn, was acquired by Fresenius in 2012. Fresenius has assumed Fenwal’s rights and obligations under our agreements. In this report, references 
to Fresenius include references to its predecessors-in-interest, Fenwal and Baxter.  
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Investment in Aduro BioTech  

In November 2007, we spun-off our former immunotherapy business to Anza Therapeutics, Inc., or Anza Therapeutics. In August 2009, 
we entered into a three-way license agreement with Anza Therapeutics and Aduro BioTech, or Aduro, and separate agreements with each of 
Anza Therapeutics and Aduro, which we refer to collectively as the Assignment Agreements. In November 2009, Anza Therapeutics transferred 
all of its intellectual property to Aduro pursuant to the terms of the Assignment Agreements. In exchange for agreeing to the transfer and 
relinquishing our shares in Anza Therapeutics and releasing any claims against Anza Therapeutics, we received $0.8 million in cash, preferred 
stock representing 10% of Aduro’s capital, and a 1% royalty fee on any future sales resulting from the transferred technology. To date we have 
not received any royalty payments from Aduro pursuant to this agreement. As of December 31, 2013, our ownership in Aduro was less than 3% 
on a fully diluted basis. Since receiving preferred stock in Aduro, we have carried our investment in Aduro at zero on our consolidated balance 
sheet.  

William Greenman, our President and Chief Executive Officer, is on the Board of Directors of Aduro in his individual capacity and does 
not represent Cerus’ interests.  

Manufacturing and Supply  

We have used, and intend to continue to use, third parties to manufacture and supply the devices, disposable kits and inactivation 
compounds that make up the INTERCEPT Blood System for use in clinical trials and for commercialization. We rely solely on Fresenius for the 
manufacture of INTERCEPT Blood System disposable kits and on other contract manufacturers for the production of our inactivation 
compounds, compound adsorption components of the disposable kits and UVA illuminators used in the INTERCEPT Blood System. We 
currently do not have alternate manufacturers for the components in our products beyond those that we currently rely on, but are currently in the 
process of identifying potential alternate manufactures.  

In November 2013, we amended our manufacturing and supply agreement with Fresenius with the new terms effective January 1, 2014. 
Under the amended agreement, Fresenius is obligated to sell, and we are obligated to purchase up to a certain specified annual volume of 
finished disposable kits for the platelet and plasma systems from Fresenius for both clinical and commercial use. Once the specified annual 
volume of disposable kits is purchased from Fresenius, we are able to purchase additional quantities of disposable kits from other third-party 
manufactures. The amended terms also provide for fixed pricing for finished kits with successive decreases in pricing at certain annual 
production volumes. In addition, the amendment requires us to purchase additional specified annual volumes of sets per annum if and when an 
additional Fresenius manufacturing site is identified and qualified to make INTERCEPT disposable kits, subject to mutual agreement on pricing 
for disposable kits manufactured at the additional site. Fresenius is also obligated to purchase and maintain specified inventory levels of our 
proprietary inactivation compounds and compound adsorption devices from us at fixed prices. The term of the amended manufacturing and 
supply agreement with Fresenius extends through December 31, 2018, subject to termination by either party upon thirty months prior written 
notice, in the case of Fresenius, or twenty-four months prior written notice, in our case. We and Fresenius each have normal and customary 
termination rights, including termination for material breach. We do not currently have plans to terminate our agreement with Fresenius and 
understand that Fresenius currently plans to continue operating under the amended agreement.  

Components of compound adsorption devices used in platelet and plasma disposable kits are manufactured by Porex Corporation, or 
Porex. In November 2012, we amended our agreement for the manufacture of such components with Porex, effective as of January 1, 2013. 
Under the amended agreement, we are obligated to meet certain annual purchase order requirements. The term of the amended supply agreement 
with Porex extends through December 31, 2014. We have entered into a development agreement with another manufacturer for the development 
of compound adsorption devices that would be equivalent to those manufactured by Porex. Although we are actively seeking to develop 
alternative manufacturers and components, commercially viable alternatives are likely at least a year away. In addition, we will need to reach 
agreement with Porex on either a new or an amended supply agreement.  
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We also have contracts with suppliers of raw materials used to make the compound adsorption devices, which includes such companies as 
Brotech Corporation d/b/a Purolite Company, or Purolite. We entered into the supplier agreement with Purolite in 2007, which extends through 
December 2014. We and Purolite are currently seeking to amend the terms of that agreement for the production of raw materials, which would 
extend the term beyond December 2014.  

Pursuant to a contract that we and NOVA Biomedical Corporation, or NOVA, entered into in September 2008, NOVA is manufacturing 
illuminators for us. The term of the NOVA agreement currently extends through September 2014 and is automatically renewed for successive 
one year terms in the event neither party delivers twelve months prior written notice. We do not currently have plans to terminate our agreement 
with Nova and understand that Nova currently plans to continue operating under the agreement beyond September 2014.  

In September 2011, we amended our manufacturing and supply agreement with Ash Stevens, Inc., or Ash Stevens, for the synthesis of 
amotosalen, the inactivation compound used in our platelet and plasma systems. Under this amended agreement, we are not subject to minimum 
annual purchase requirements. However, if specified quantities of amotosalen are not purchased in any year, we are required to pay a 
maintenance fee of up to $50,000 for such year. We have incurred these maintenance fees in the past. The term of the amended manufacturing 
and supply agreement with Ash Stevens extends through December 31, 2015 and will automatically renew thereafter for a period of two 
additional years, unless terminated by either party upon providing at least one year prior written notice, in our case, or at least two years prior 
written notice, in the case of Ash Stevens.  

We and our contract manufacturers, including Fresenius and NOVA, purchase certain raw materials for our disposable kits, inactivation 
compounds, materials and parts associated with compound adsorption devices and UVA illuminators from a limited number of suppliers. Some 
of our suppliers require minimum annual purchase amounts. While we believe that there are alternative sources of supply for such materials, 
parts and devices, we have not validated or qualified any alternate manufacturers. As such, establishing additional or replacement suppliers for 
any of the raw materials, parts and devices, if required, will likely not be accomplished quickly and could involve significant additional costs and 
potential regulatory reviews.  

Marketing, Sales and Distribution  

The market for the INTERCEPT Blood System is dominated by a relatively small number of blood collection organizations. Many of these 
organizations are national blood transfusion services or Red Cross organizations who collect, store and distribute virtually all of their respective 
nations’ blood and blood component supplies. The largest European markets for our products are in Germany, France, and England.  

In Germany, decisions on product adoption are made on a regional or blood center-by-blood center basis. While obtaining CE marks allow 
us to sell the platelet and plasma systems to blood centers in Germany, blood centers in Germany must still obtain both local manufacturing 
approval and national marketing authorization from the Paul Ehrlich Institute or PEI, a German governmental regulatory body overseeing the 
marketing authorization of certain medical products, before being allowed to sell platelet and plasma components treated with the INTERCEPT 
Blood System to transfusing hospitals and physicians. To date, several blood centers in Germany have received such requisite approvals and 
authorizations for the platelet system and/or the plasma system. Given the competitive nature of the German blood banking market, pricing for 
blood components is relatively low compared to other markets. This dynamic, in turn, requires us to focus our marketing efforts on the potential 
economic and logistical benefits of using INTERCEPT compared to conventional blood components as well as the potential safety benefits of 
INTERCEPT-treated blood components.  

In France, broad product adoption is dependent on a central decision by the Établissement Français du Sang, or EFS, a public organization 
responsible for all collection, testing preparation and distribution of blood products in France, and then on a broad-based national supply contract 
being awarded. In 2011, we entered into a two-year  
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contract with the EFS to supply platelet and plasma disposable kits, which was extended until November 2014, at which time the EFS will have 
a one-year renewal option. We understand that the EFS may be considering taking action to further protect platelet components from bacterial 
contamination.  

In England, decisions on product adoption are centralized in the National Blood Service, which collects, tests, processes and supplies blood 
products to hospitals in England and North Wales. The National Blood Service has implemented and used bacterial detection for platelets for the 
past several years instead of pathogen inactivation. More recently, the National Blood Service has implemented the INTERCEPT Blood System 
for platelets in one of its centers for validation of the technology. Commercial use of INTERCEPT would be dependent on a successful 
validation, a central decision by the National Blood Service to use INTERCEPT, and the successful negotiation of a commercial supply 
agreement between us and the National Blood Service.  

Our ability to successfully commercialize our products will depend in part on the availability of adequate reimbursement for product costs 
and related treatment of blood components from governmental authorities and private health care insurers (including health maintenance 
organizations), which are increasingly attempting to contain health care costs by limiting both the extent of coverage and the reimbursement rate 
for new tests and treatments.  

We maintain a wholly-owned subsidiary, Cerus Europe B.V., headquartered in the Netherlands, which focuses its efforts on marketing and 
selling the INTERCEPT Blood System in a number of countries in Europe, the CIS, the Middle East and selected countries in other regions 
around the world. We also have a small scientific affairs group in the United States and the Netherlands that supports our commercialization 
efforts.  

We have entered into distribution agreements, generally on a geographically exclusive basis, with distributors in countries where we have 
limited abilities to commercialize our products directly. In certain of these jurisdictions, we rely on these distributors to obtain any necessary in-
country regulatory approvals, in addition to marketing and selling the INTERCEPT Blood System, providing customer and technical product 
support, maintaining inventories, and adhering to our quality system in all material respects, among other activities. Areas where we have 
entered into geographically exclusive distribution agreements include certain countries in the CIS, southern Europe, the Middle East, the 
People’s Republic of China and Latin America. Our success in these regions is dependent on our distributor’s ability to market and sell our 
products and to maintain and service customer accounts, including technical service. Our distribution agreements account for a significant 
amount of our revenues. As such, declining performance or the outright termination or loss of certain distributor relationships could harm our 
existing business, may impact our growth potential, and could result in higher operating costs for us. For example, due to declining performance 
by certain of our distributors during 2013, we experienced weaker than expected growth for the year. As our distributors play a critical role in 
our commercialization efforts, we evaluate their performance on an ongoing basis. Over the course of 2013, we implemented several changes 
designed to improve market penetration in our distributor territories, including additional sales, technical and marketing support, as well as 
supplementary training to improve the effectiveness of distributor field personnel. More recently, we began transitioning certain territories to 
new distribution partners who we feel are capable of improved performance relative to their predecessors. For 2014, we will continue our focus 
on optimizing INTERCEPT penetration in key distributor territories, including potentially transitioning some of these territories to a Cerus direct 
sales effort, which we believe will provide us with better visibility into and control of sales execution. Discussions regarding changes to certain 
of these distributor territories are currently in progress and we believe these transitions will largely take place in the near term. Although we do 
not anticipate any disruption to end user customers as a result of these changes, we do expect that these changes may temporarily impact the 
volume of INTERCEPT disposable kit sales as distribution partners sell through their disposable kit inventory, as well as require additional 
resources within the impacted territories. In addition, it may take longer for us to be paid with some companies or customers taking longer to pay 
invoices than the payment terms we have been experiencing to date. However, we believe that these strategic actions will allow us to maintain 
and potentially improve pricing and therefore, margins, creating a potentially healthier business and improved operating contribution from these 
territories.  
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Competition  

Our products face a wide variety of competition from entities competing directly with alternative pathogen reducing technologies for 
platelets and/or plasma, as well as from entities developing and selling diagnostic screening products to detect and prevent contaminated 
products from being transfused, and from process and procedural decisions involving blood banking operations including but not limited to 
shortened shelf-life of blood components. Many of our competitors have mature, well-established products, other products which are sold to 
blood centers and more resources than we have. In addition, competitors may choose to seek a lower class of approval than our products, which 
may be easier and less costly for them to maintain and may be perceived as sufficient by the marketplace. We believe that the INTERCEPT 
Blood System has certain competitive advantages over competing blood-borne pathogen inactivation methods that are either on the market or in 
development. The INTERCEPT Blood System is designed for use in blood centers, which allows for integration with current blood collection, 
processing and storage procedures. Certain competing products currently on the market, such as solvent detergent-treated plasma, use centralized 
processing that takes blood products away from the blood center in order to be treated at a central facility before being shipped back out to the 
blood centers or hospitals for ultimate transfusion.  

In Europe, several companies, including Grifols S.A., Octapharma AG, MacoPharma International and Kedrion Biopharma, are developing 
or selling commercial pathogen inactivation systems or services to treat fresh frozen plasma. TerumoBCT, a subsidiary of Terumo Corporation, 
has developed a pathogen inactivation system for blood products and has been issued Class II CE marks for a pathogen reduction system for 
both platelets and plasma. We understand that TerumoBCT is also developing a pathogen inactivation system for whole blood. TerumoBCT’s 
product candidates, if successful, may offer competitive advantages over our INTERCEPT Blood System.  

Further discussion of the major competitors to our blood product business can be found under “Item 1A—Risk Factors” of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, under the risk factor entitled “ If our competitors develop products superior to ours, market their products more effectively 
than we market our products, or receive regulatory approval before our products, our commercial opportunities could be reduced or 
eliminated.”  

In the United States, should our plasma product be approved for use, we would face competition from Octapharma AG, who received 
approval from the FDA to begin selling treated fresh frozen plasma, as well as from diagnostic and testing companies currently approved for the 
detection of pathogens, including bacterial and viral pathogens. Should our platelet product be approved for use in the United States, we would 
face competition from a number of diagnostic and testing companies currently approved for the detection of pathogens including bacterial and 
viral pathogens and may face competition from other technologies if approved.  

In Japan, we understand that TerumoBCT’s platelet and plasma pathogen reduction product is currently being evaluated by the Japan Red 
Cross. Terumo Corporation is a large Japan-based, multinational corporation with more mature products and relationships than we have. Our 
ability to commercialize our products in certain markets, particularly in Japan, may be negatively affected by Terumo’s resources and their pre-
existing relationships with regulators and customers. Should TerumoBCT’s product be approved for use and commercialized in Japan, we would 
likely directly compete with them and we believe we would likely require us either to establish operations in Japan or partner with a local 
Japanese company. We believe that the primary competitive factors in the market for pathogen inactivation of blood products include the breadth 
and effectiveness of pathogen inactivation processes, the amount of demonstrated reduction in transfusion related adverse events subsequent to 
adopting pathogen inactivation technology, robustness of treated blood components upon transfusion, the scope and enforceability of patent or 
other proprietary rights, perceived product value relative to perceived risk, product supply, perceived ease of use, perception of safety, efficacy 
and economics of pathogen inactivation systems, and marketing and sales capability. In addition, we believe the length of time required for 
products to be developed and to receive regulatory and, in some cases, reimbursement approval are also important competitive factors. We 
believe that the INTERCEPT Blood System will compete favorably with respect to these factors, although there can be no assurance that it will 
be able to do so. Our success will depend  
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in part on our ability to convince prospective customers of the benefits of and need to adopt pathogen inactivation technology and specifically 
our system relative to other technologies, our ability to obtain and retain regulatory approvals for our products, and our ability to continue 
supplying quality and effective products to our customers and prospective customers.  

Patents, Licenses and Proprietary Rights  

Our success depends in part on our ability to obtain patents, to protect trade secrets, to operate without infringing upon the proprietary 
rights of others and to prevent others from infringing on our proprietary rights. Our policy is to seek to protect our proprietary position by, 
among other methods, filing United States and foreign patent applications related to our proprietary technology, inventions and improvements 
that are important to the development of our business. As of December 31, 2013, we owned approximately 15 issued or allowed United States 
patents and approximately 121 issued or allowed foreign patents related to the INTERCEPT Blood System. Our patents expire at various dates 
between 2014 and 2027. In addition, we have pending United States patent applications and have filed corresponding patent applications under 
the Patent Cooperation Treaty. We also have a license from Fresenius to United States and foreign patents relating to the INTERCEPT Blood 
System, which expire at various dates between 2015 and 2024. Due to the complexity of our products, we believe it is the protection afforded to 
our products by the portfolio of intellectual property rights that best protect our proprietary system rather than any one particular patent or trade 
secret. Proprietary rights relating to our planned and potential products will be protected from unauthorized use by third parties only to the extent 
that they are covered by valid and enforceable patents or are effectively maintained as trade secrets. The laws of certain foreign countries do not 
protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States.  

Seasonality  

Our business is dependent on the marketing and commercialization of the INTERCEPT Blood System to customers such as blood banks, 
hospitals, distributors and other health care providers that have a need for a pathogen inactivation system to treat blood products for transfusion. 
Since our customers’ needs are not based on seasonal trends, seasonality does not have a material effect on our business although purchasing 
patterns and inventory levels can fluctuate.  

Inventory Requirements and Product Return Rights  

Our platelet and plasma disposable kits have received regulatory approval for two-year shelf lives. Illuminators and replacement parts do 
not have regulated expiration dates, although certain components are no longer routinely manufactured. We own work-in-process inventory for 
certain components of INTERCEPT disposable kits, finished INTERCEPT disposable kits, illuminators, and certain replacement parts for our 
illuminators. Our supply chain for certain of these components, held as work-in-process on our consolidated balance sheet, may potentially take 
over one year to complete production before being utilized in finished disposable kits. Beginning in 2014, under our amended agreement with 
Fresenius, we will sell certain levels of work-in –process to Fresenius, somewhat mitigating the impact on our consolidated balance sheet. We 
maintain inventory based on our current sales projections, and at each reporting period, we evaluate whether our work-in-process inventory 
would be consumed for production of finished units in order to sell to existing and prospective customers within the next twelve-month period. It 
is not customary for our production cycle for inventory to exceed twelve months. Instead, we use our best judgment to factor in lead times for 
the production of our finished units to meet our current demands. If actual results differ from those estimates, work-in-process inventory could 
potentially accumulate for periods exceeding one year. Inventory is recorded at the lower of cost, determined on a first in, first out basis, or 
market value. We use significant judgment to analyze and determine if the composition of our inventory is obsolete, slow-moving, or unsalable 
and frequently review such determinations. We rely on our direct sales team and distributors to provide accurate forecasts of sales in their 
territory. If our forecasts or those of our distributors are inaccurate, we could face backlog situations or conversely, may produce and carry an 
abundance of inventory that would consume cash faster than we have  
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currently planned. Generally, we write-down specifically identified unusable, obsolete, slow-moving, or known unsalable inventory that has no 
alternative use to net realizable value in the period that it is first recognized, by using a number of factors, including product expiration dates, 
open and unfulfilled orders, and sales forecasts. Any write-down of our inventory to net realizable value establishes a new cost basis and will be 
maintained even if certain circumstances suggest that the inventory is recoverable in subsequent periods.  

We sell the INTERCEPT Blood System directly to blood banks, hospitals, universities, and government agencies, as well as to distributors 
in certain regions. Generally, our contracts with our customers do not provide for open return rights, except within a reasonable time after receipt 
of goods in the case of defective or non-conforming product.  

Customers and Financial Information About Geographic Areas  

Our customers are concentrated and consist of blood collection organizations, some of which are nationalized, public and private hospitals, 
and distributors. Distributors that purchase our products and sell to end-user customers comprise a significant amount of our existing sales. The 
loss of any one of our customers would have an adverse impact on our business. The following table illustrates concentration of sales over the 
past three years:  
   

To date, we have not experienced collection difficulties from these customers. For additional details about these customers for the years 
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, as well as information regarding our net revenues by geographical location and location of our long-
lived assets, see Note 18 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under “Item 15 (a)— Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules—
Financial Statements ” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Research and Development Expenses  

A significant portion of our operating expenses is related to research and development and we intend to maintain a strong commitment to 
our research and development efforts. We have incurred total research and development expenses of $15.2 million, $7.6 million and $7.2 million 
for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. As we look ahead, we anticipate that the regulatory submission processes 
for the plasma and platelet systems in the United States and elsewhere, will require increased investment in research and development activities, 
as will our ongoing clinical and development work for our red blood cell system. See Note 2 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
under “Item 15(a)— Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules—Financial Statements ” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for costs and 
expenses related to research and development, and other financial information for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.  

Government Regulation  

We and our products are comprehensively regulated in the United States by the FDA and by comparable governmental authorities in other 
countries.  

Our European investigational plan has been based on the INTERCEPT Blood System being categorized as Class III drug/device 
combinations under the Medical Device Directives, or the MDD, of the European Union.  
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             2013                     2012                     2011           

Movaco, S.A.       18 %     19 %      21 %  
Etablissement Francais du Sang       17 %      20 %      24 %  
Delrus Inc.       *        12 %      12 %  
  
* Represents an amount less than 10% of product revenue 
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The European Union requires that medical devices affix the CE mark, an international symbol of adherence to quality assurance standards and 
compliance with the MDD. We initially received the CE mark for our platelet system and separately for our plasma system in 2002 and 2006, 
respectively. We will need to obtain a CE mark extension in our name from European Union regulators for both our platelet and plasma systems 
every five years. The CE mark for the platelet system is effective through May 2017 while the CE mark for the plasma system is effective 
through September 2016. A separate CE mark certification must be received for the red blood cell system to be sold in the European Union and 
in other countries recognizing the CE mark. In addition, France, Switzerland, Germany, and Austria require separate approvals for INTERCEPT-
treated blood products.  

The FDA regulates drugs, medical devices and biologics under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and other laws, including, in the 
case of biologics, the Public Health Service Act. These laws and implementing regulations govern, among other things, the development, testing, 
manufacturing, record keeping, storage, labeling, advertising, promotion and pre-market clearance or approval of products subject to regulation. 
The steps required before a medical device may be approved for marketing in the United States pursuant to a PMA include:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

We will need separately approved PMAs for each of the INTERCEPT systems for platelets, plasma and red blood cells because the FDA 
considers the INTERCEPT Blood System a biological medical device. The FDA Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, or CBER, is 
principally responsible for regulating the INTERCEPT Blood System. However, before the FDA determines whether to approve our products, 
we expect each of our PMAs will be reviewed by the Blood Products Advisory Committee, or BPAC, an advisory committee convened by and 
reporting to the FDA. Should the FDA ask questions to BPAC, we expect BPAC will answer those questions and make recommendations to the 
FDA. If BPAC were to answer FDA questions recommending against approval of one or more of our products, the FDA would have to take into 
consideration the points of concern raised by BPAC, which could adversely affect the approval of the products.  

The FDA inspects the facilities at which products are manufactured and will not permit clinical studies with a product or approve a product 
unless compliance with current Good Manufacturing Practice, or cGMP, or Quality System Regulation requirements is satisfactory. The 
facilities of the principal third-party suppliers that manufacture our products are not currently FDA-qualified for the manufacture of our products 
but will be subject to possible audit by the FDA in connection with the review of our PMA submissions. We can make no assurances regarding 
the outcome of these audits and if deficiencies are found in the course of the audit by the FDA, approval of our PMA could be adversely 
affected.  

In addition to regulating our blood safety products, CBER also regulates the blood collection centers and would regulate any blood 
products that they prepare using the INTERCEPT Blood System. If our products were to be approved by the FDA, U.S.-based blood centers will 
be required to obtain site-specific licenses prior to engaging in interstate transport of blood components processed using the INTERCEPT Blood 
System. Any delay in obtaining these licenses would adversely impact our ability to sell products in the United States.  
   

13  

  •   preclinical laboratory and animal tests;  

  
•   submission to the FDA of an investigational device exemption for human clinical testing, which must become effective before human 

clinical trials may begin;  
  •   appropriate tests to show the product’s safety;  
  •   adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the product’s safety and efficacy for its intended indications;  
  •   submission to the FDA of a PMA; and  
  •   FDA review of the PMA in order to determine, among other things, whether the product is safe and effective for its intended uses.  
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We believe that, in deciding whether the INTERCEPT Blood System is safe and effective, regulatory authorities have taken, and are 
expected to take, into account whether it adversely affects the therapeutic efficacy of blood components as compared to the therapeutic efficacy 
of blood components not treated with INTERCEPT. Data from human clinical studies must demonstrate the safety of treated blood components 
and their therapeutic comparability to untreated blood components. In addition, regulatory authorities will weigh INTERCEPT’s safety, 
including potential toxicities of the inactivation compounds, and other risks against the benefits of using the system in a blood supply that has 
become safer. We have conducted many toxicology studies designed to demonstrate the INTERCEPT Blood System’s safety. There can be no 
assurance that regulatory authorities will not require further toxicology or other studies of our products. Based on discussions with the FDA and 
European regulatory authorities, we believe that data only from laboratory and animal studies, not data from human clinical studies, will be 
required to demonstrate the system’s efficacy in inactivating pathogens. In light of these criteria, our clinical trial programs for the INTERCEPT 
Blood System consist of studies that differ from typical Phase I, Phase II and Phase III clinical studies.  

The INTERCEPT Blood System for red blood cells preclinical and clinical studies have been conducted using prototype system 
disposables and devices. In addition to the clinical trials, a number of manufacturing and validation activities must be completed before we could 
sell the red blood cell product.  

Further discussion of our regulatory and clinical trial status can be found in under “Item 1A—Risk Factors” of this Annual Report on Form 
10-K, under the risk factor titled: “Our products, blood products treated with the INTERCEPT Blood System and we are subject to extensive 
regulation by domestic and foreign authorities. If our preclinical and clinical data are not considered sufficient by a country’s regulatory 
authorities to grant marketing approval, we will be unable to commercialize our products and generate revenue in that country. Our 
investigational red blood cell system requires extensive additional testing and development.”  

Health Care Reimbursement and Reform  

Our ability to commercialize our products successfully will depend in part on the extent to which appropriate reimbursement levels for the 
cost of the products and related treatment are obtained. The United States healthcare reform act and ongoing cost saving efforts in the United 
States and in other regions of the world may have an impact on our ability to profitably commercialize the INTERCEPT Blood System in the 
United States and elsewhere. For instance, the health care reform in the United States has placed downward pressure on the pricing of medical 
products and has introduced new taxation on medical devices, which could further impact our profit margins if we were to gain FDA approval to 
begin selling our products in the United States. Should we receive FDA approval to begin selling our products in the United States, current 
legislation surrounding health care reform may impose a 2.3% excise tax on the sale of our products, regardless of our profitability. This excise 
tax could reduce any potential operating profits or require us to pass on the cost to our customers.  

Employees  

As of December 31, 2013, we had 115 employees, 40 of whom were engaged in research and development and 75 in selling, general and 
administrative activities. Of the 75 employees engaged in selling, general, and administrative activities, 36 were employed by our European 
subsidiary, Cerus Europe B.V. None of our employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements, and we believe that our relationship 
with our employees is good.  

Available Information  

We maintain a website at www.cerus.com ; however, information found on our website is not incorporated by reference into this report. We 
make available free of charge on or through our website our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on 
Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, or Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities 
Exchange Commission.  
   

14  



Table of Contents  

Financial Information  

Our financial information including our consolidated balance sheets, consolidated statements of operations, consolidated statements of 
comprehensive loss, consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity, consolidated statements of cash flows, and the related footnotes thereto, 
can be found under “Item 15— Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules ” in Part IV of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

   

Our business faces significant risks. If any of the events or circumstances described in the following risk factors actually occurs, our 
business may suffer, the trading price of our common stock could decline and our financial condition or results of operations could be harmed. 
These risks should be read in conjunction with the other information set forth in this report. The risks and uncertainties described below are not 
the only ones facing us. There may be additional risks faced by our business. Other events that we do not currently anticipate or that we 
currently deem immaterial also may adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations.  

The INTERCEPT Blood System may not achieve broad market adoption.  

In order to increase market adoption of the INTERCEPT Blood System, we must address issues and concerns from broad constituencies 
involved in the healthcare system, from blood centers to patients, transfusing physicians, key opinion leaders, hospitals, private and public sector 
payors, regulatory bodies and public health authorities. We may be unable to demonstrate to these constituencies that the INTERCEPT Blood 
System is safe, effective and economical or that the benefits of using the INTERCEPT Blood System products justify their cost and outweigh 
their risks.  

The use of the platelet system results in some processing loss of platelets. If the loss of platelets leads to increased costs for our customers, 
our customers or prospective customers believe that the loss of platelets reduces the efficacy of the transfusion unit, or our process requires 
changes in blood center or clinical regimens, prospective customers may not adopt our platelet system. Certain studies have indicated that 
transfusion of conventionally prepared platelets may yield higher post-transfusion platelet counts (according to a measurement called “corrected 
count increment”) and may be more effective than transfusion of INTERCEPT-treated platelets. Although certain studies demonstrate that 
INTERCEPT-treated platelets retain therapeutic function comparable to conventional platelets, customers may choose not to adopt our platelet 
system due to considerations relating to corrected count increment or efficacy.  

The INTERCEPT Blood System does not inactivate all known pathogens, and the inability of the INTERCEPT Blood System to inactivate 
certain pathogens may limit its market adoption. For example, our products have not been demonstrated to be effective in the inactivation of 
certain non-lipid-enveloped viruses, including hepatitis A virus, due to these viruses’ biology. In addition, our products have not demonstrated a 
high level of inactivation for human parvovirus B-19, which is also a non-lipid-enveloped virus. Although we have shown high levels of 
inactivation of a broad spectrum of lipid-enveloped viruses, some customers may choose not to adopt our products based on considerations 
concerning inability to inactivate, or limited inactivation, of certain non-lipid-enveloped viruses. Similarly, although our products have been 
demonstrated to effectively inactivate spore-forming bacteria, our products have not shown to be effective in inactivating bacterial spores once 
formed. In addition, our products do not inactivate prions since prions do not contain nucleic acid. While transmission of prions has not been a 
major problem in blood transfusions, and we are not aware of any competing products that inactivate prions, the inability to inactivate prions 
may limit market adoption of our products. Furthermore, due to limitations of detective tests, we cannot exclude that a sufficient quantity of 
pathogen or pathogens may still be present in active form which could present a risk of infection to the transfused patient. Such uncertainty may 
limit the market adoption of our products.  

We have conducted studies of our products in both in vitro and in vivo environments using well-established tests that are accepted by 
regulatory bodies. When an in vitro test was not generally available or not well-established, we conducted in vivo studies in mammalian models 
to predict human responses. Although we have  
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no reason to believe that the in vitro and in vivo studies are not predictive of actual results in humans, we cannot be certain that the results of 
these in vitro and in vivo studies accurately predict the actual results in humans in all cases. To the extent that actual results in human patients 
differs from the results of our in vitro or in vivo testing, market acceptance of our products may be negatively impacted.  

If customers experience operational or technical problems with the use of INTERCEPT Blood System products, market acceptance may be 
reduced or delayed. For example, if adverse events arise from incomplete inactivation of pathogens, improper processing or user error, or if 
testing of INTERCEPT-treated blood samples fails to reliably confirm pathogen inactivation, whether or not directly attributable to the 
INTERCEPT Blood System, customers may refrain from purchasing the products. In addition, there is a risk that further studies we or others 
may conduct will show results inconsistent with previous studies. Should this happen, potential customers may delay or choose not to adopt our 
products and existing customers may cease use of our products. In certain markets, potential customers may require us to develop, sell, and 
support a data management application for their operations before they would consider adopting INTERCEPT. Such development efforts may be 
costly or we may be unsuccessful in developing a data management application that would be broadly accepted. Failure to do so may limit 
market adoption.  

Market adoption of our products is affected by blood center budgets and the availability of reimbursement from governments, managed 
care payors, such as insurance companies, or other third parties. In many cases, due to the structure of the blood products industry, we have little 
control over budget and reimbursement discussions, which generally occur between blood centers and national or regional ministries of health 
and private payors. Even if a particular blood center is prepared to adopt the INTERCEPT Blood System, their hospital customers may not 
accept or may not have the budget to purchase INTERCEPT-treated blood products. Since blood centers would likely not eliminate the practice 
of screening donors or testing blood for pathogens prior to transfusion, even after implementing our products, some blood centers may not be 
able to identify enough cost offsets to afford to purchase our products. Budgetary concerns may be further exacerbated by the economic austerity 
programs implemented in European countries, which may limit the adoption of new technologies, including our products. Furthermore, it is 
difficult to predict the reimbursement status of newly approved, novel medical device products.  

For countries that do not recognize the CE Mark as being adequate for commercializing the INTERCEPT Blood System in those countries, 
product adoption may be negatively affected because we do not have FDA approval for any of our products. Even within countries that do 
recognize the CE Mark, the lack of widespread product adoption in key European countries has and may in the future be adversely affecting 
market adoption of the INTERCEPT Blood System.  

The market for the INTERCEPT Blood System is highly concentrated with few customers, including often-dominant regional or national 
blood collection entities. Even if our products receive regulatory approval and reimbursement is available, failure to effectively market, promote, 
distribute, price or sell our products to any of these large customers could significantly delay or even diminish potential product revenue in those 
geographies. The market for pathogen inactivation systems in the United States is highly concentrated and dominated by a small number of 
blood collection organizations. In many countries in Western Europe and in Japan, various national blood transfusion services or Red Cross 
organizations collect, store and distribute virtually all of their respective nations’ blood and blood components supply. In Europe, the largest 
markets for our products are in Germany, France, and England. In Germany, decisions on product adoption and subsequent reimbursement are 
made on a regional or even blood center-by-blood center basis, but depend on both local approvals and centralized regulatory approvals from the 
PEI. Product specifications that receive marketing authorization from the PEI may differ from market requirements. Some potential customers 
may await further safety information or additional studies before choosing whether to adopt our products, and may conduct and complete their 
own clinical trials before adopting our products. While INTERCEPT-treated platelets and plasma have received in-country regulatory approval 
and reimbursement rates have been established in France, adoption throughout France has been limited to certain blood centers. Decisions on 
product adoption in England are centralized with  
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the National Blood Service and we understand that the National Blood Service has implemented bacterial detection testing for platelets without 
first considering pathogen inactivation. The Japanese Red Cross controls a significant majority of blood transfusions in Japan and exerts a high 
degree of influence on the adoption and use of blood safety measures in Japan. The Japanese Red Cross has been reviewing preclinical and 
clinical data on pathogen inactivation of blood over a number of years and has yet to make a formal determination to adopt any pathogen 
inactivation approach. We also understand that the Japanese Red Cross has begun formal evaluation of a competing technology. Before the 
Japanese Red Cross considers our products, we understand that we may need to commit to making certain product configuration changes.  

We expect to continue to generate losses.  

We may never achieve a profitable level of operations. Our research and development and selling, general and administrative expenses 
have resulted in substantial losses since our inception. The platelet and plasma systems are not approved in the United States or in many other 
countries around the world. The red blood cell system is in the clinical development stage and may never emerge from the clinical development 
stage as a marketed product. We may be required to reduce the sales price for our products in order to make our products economically attractive 
to our customers and to governmental and private payors, which may reduce or altogether eliminate our gross profit on sales. At our present and 
expected near-term sales levels of the platelet and plasma systems, our costs to manufacture, distribute, market, sell, support and administer the 
systems are and are expected to continue to be in excess of our revenue. We expect our losses to continue at least until we are able to gain 
widespread commercial adoption, which may never occur. We expect to incur additional research and development costs associated with our 
pursuit of the PMA application submission processes for our platelet and plasma systems, pursuing potential regulatory approvals in other 
geographies where we do not currently sell our platelet and plasma systems, and with planning and conducting in vitro studies and clinical 
development of our red blood cell system in Europe and the United States, which costs could be substantial and could extend the period during 
which we expect to operate at a loss.  

In certain countries, governments have issued regulations relating to the pricing and profitability of medical products and medical product 
companies. Health care reform in the United States has also placed downward pressure on the pricing of medical products and has introduced 
new taxation on medical devices that could further impact our profit margins if we were to gain FDA approval to begin selling our products in 
the United States. Should we receive FDA approval to begin selling our products in the United States, legislation surrounding health care reform 
may impose a 2.3% excise tax on the sale of our products, regardless of our profitability. This excise tax could reduce any potential operating 
profits or require us to pass on the costs to our customers.  

Adverse market and economic conditions may exacerbate certain risks affecting our business.  

Sales of our products are dependent on purchasing decisions and/or reimbursement from government health administration authorities, 
distribution partners and other organizations. As a result of adverse conditions affecting the global economies and credit and financial markets, 
including the sovereign debt crisis in certain countries in Europe and disruptions due to political instability or otherwise, these organizations may 
defer purchases, may be unable to satisfy their reimbursement obligations, or may delay payment for the INTERCEPT Blood System. In 
addition, there are concerns for the overall stability and suitability of the Euro as a single currency given the economic and political challenges 
facing individual Eurozone countries. Continuing deterioration in the creditworthiness of Eurozone countries, the withdrawal of one or more 
member countries from the European Union, or the failure of the Euro as a common European currency or an otherwise diminished value of the 
Euro could materially and adversely affect our reported projected product revenue.  
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Our products, blood products treated with the INTERCEPT Blood System and we are subject to extensive regulation by domestic and foreign 
authorities. If our preclinical and clinical data are not considered sufficient by a country’s regulatory authorities to grant marketing 
approval, we will be unable to commercialize our products and generate revenue in that country. Our investigational red blood cell system 
requires extensive additional testing and development.  

Our products, both those sold commercially and those under development, are subject to extensive and rigorous regulation by local, state 
and federal regulatory authorities in the United States and by foreign regulatory bodies. These regulations are wide-ranging and govern, among 
other things:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Our products must satisfy rigorous standards of safety and efficacy and we must adhere to quality standards regarding manufacturing and 
customer-facing business processes before the FDA and international regulatory authorities can approve them for commercial use. For our 
product candidates, we must provide the FDA and international regulatory authorities with preclinical, clinical and manufacturing data 
demonstrating that our products are safe, effective and in compliance with government regulations before the products can be approved for 
commercial sale. The process of obtaining FDA and other required regulatory approvals is expensive, uncertain and typically takes a number of 
years. We may continue to encounter significant delays or excessive costs in our efforts to secure necessary approvals or licenses, or we may not 
be successful at all. Even if we are successful in obtaining FDA approval for our products, the FDA may limit the usage of the INTERCEPT 
Blood System to certain collection platforms or storage solutions or could restrict the claims that we are able to make for our products. For 
instance, in Europe, we are able to claim that using the INTERCEPT Blood System can replace bacterial detection, CMV testing and gamma 
irradiation, which are all common practices with the preparation of conventional blood components. We cannot be certain that the FDA would 
allow such claims initially or ever, which may result in limited market adoption in the United States and elsewhere.  

Clinical and Preclinical  

Clinical trials are particularly expensive and have a high risk of failure. Any of our product candidates may fail in the testing phase or may 
not achieve results sufficient to attain market acceptance, which could prevent us from achieving profitability. We do not know whether we will 
begin or complete clinical trials on schedule, if at all. Clinical trials can be delayed for a variety of reasons, including delays in obtaining 
regulatory approval to commence a study, delays in reaching agreement on acceptable clinical study agreement terms with prospective clinical 
sites, delays in obtaining institutional review board, ministry of health or ethical committee approval to conduct a study at a prospective clinical 
site, delays in recruiting subjects to participate in a study and delays in the conduct of the clinical trial by personnel at the clinical site. Each of 
these factors has adversely impacted our  
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ongoing European Phase III trials for the red blood cell system. Significant delays in clinical testing could materially impact our clinical trials. 
Criteria for regulatory approval in blood safety indications are evolving, reflecting competitive advances in the standard of care against which 
new product candidates are judged, as well as changing market needs and reimbursement levels. Clinical trial design, including enrollment 
criteria, endpoints and anticipated label claims are thus subject to change, even if original objectives are being met. As a result, we do not know 
whether any clinical trial will result in marketable products. Typically, there is a high rate of failure for product candidates in preclinical studies 
and clinical trials and products emerging from any successful trial may not reach the market for several years.  

Enrollment criteria for certain of our clinical trials may be quite narrow, further delaying the clinical trial process. For instance, clinical 
trials previously conducted using INTERCEPT-treated plasma for patients with thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura lasted approximately four 
years due in part to the difficulties associated with enrolling qualified patients. In addition, enrollment criteria have impacted the speed with 
which we have been able to enroll patients for our ongoing Phase III red blood cell system trial in chronic anemia in Europe. Consequently, we 
may be unable to recruit suitable patients into clinical trials on a timely basis, if at all, which may lead to higher costs to complete the clinical 
trials. We cannot rely on interim results of trials to predict their final results, and acceptable results in early trials might not be repeated in later 
trials. Any trial may fail to produce results satisfactory to the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities. In addition, preclinical and clinical data can 
be interpreted in different ways, which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. Negative or inconclusive results from a preclinical 
study or clinical trial, or adverse medical events during a clinical trial could cause a preclinical study or clinical trial to be repeated, require other 
studies to be performed or cause a program to be terminated, even if other studies or trials relating to a program are successful.  

We have conducted many toxicology studies to demonstrate the safety of the platelet and plasma systems, and we have conducted and plan 
to conduct toxicology studies for the red blood cell system throughout the product development process. At any time, the FDA and other 
regulatory authorities may require further toxicology or other studies to further demonstrate our products’ safety, which could delay 
commercialization. In addition, the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities may alter guidance at any time as to what constitutes acceptable 
clinical trial endpoints or trial design, which may necessitate a redesign of our product or proposed clinical trials and cause us to incur substantial 
additional expense or time in attempting to gain regulatory approval. We believe the FDA and other regulatory authorities are likely to weigh the 
potential risks of using our pathogen inactivation products against the incremental benefits, which may be difficult or impossible to quantify.  

If our product candidates receive approval for commercial sale in the United States, the FDA may require a post-marketing clinical study, 
which can involve significant expense and will require us to secure adequate funding to complete. For example, although the FDA has indicated 
that no prospective Phase III clinical trials were required at this time in order to submit our proposal for a modular PMA submission for the 
platelet and plasma systems, the FDA has already indicated that we will likely need to commit to post-marketing studies. Other regulatory 
authorities outside of the United States may also require such post-marketing studies. Governments or regulatory authorities may impose new 
regulations or other changes or we may discover that we are subject to additional regulations that could further delay or preclude regulatory 
approval and subsequent adoption of our potential products. We cannot predict the adoption, implementation or impact of adverse governmental 
regulation that might arise from future legislative or administrative action.  

Outside the United States, regulations vary by country, including the requirements for regulatory and marketing approvals or clearance, the 
time required for regulatory review and the sanctions imposed for violations. In addition to CE mark documentation, countries outside the 
European Union may require clinical data submissions, registration packages, import licenses or other documentation. Regulatory authorities in 
Japan, China, Taiwan, South Korea, Vietnam, Thailand, and Singapore and elsewhere, may require, among other requirements, that our products 
be widely adopted commercially in Europe or approved by the FDA before they are considered for approval or may delay approval decisions 
until our products are more widely adopted commercially and approved by the FDA.  
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In addition to the regulatory requirements applicable to us and to our products, there are regulatory requirements in several countries 
around the world, including the United States, Germany, Canada, Austria, and Australia, and other countries, applicable to prospective customers 
of INTERCEPT Blood System products, the blood centers that process and distribute blood and blood products. In those countries, blood centers 
and other customers are required to obtain approved license supplements from the appropriate regulatory authorities in each country before 
making available blood products processed with our pathogen inactivation systems to hospitals and transfusing physicians. Our customers may 
lack the resources or capability to obtain such regulatory approvals. These requirements or regulators’ delays in approving license applications or 
supplements may deter some blood centers from using our products. Blood centers that do submit applications or supplements for manufacturing 
and sale may face disapproval or delays in approval that could provide further delay or deter them from using our products. The regulatory 
impact on potential customers could slow or limit the potential sales of our products.  

Platelet System  

In 2007, we obtained a CE mark approval (extended in 2012) from European Union regulators for our platelet system and will need to 
obtain an extension every five years. We or our customers may also be required to conduct additional testing in order to obtain regulatory 
approval in countries that do not recognize the CE mark as being adequate for commercializing the INTERCEPT Blood System in those 
countries. The level of additional product testing varies by country, but could be expensive or take a long time to complete. In addition, 
regulatory agencies are able to withdraw or suspend previously issued approvals.  

In the U.S., we will be required to successfully complete the submission to the FDA of all three modules of the PMA, including resolving 
any outstanding review letters received from the FDA, before the platelet system would be considered for approval. Once the PMA is considered 
filed, the FDA will commence its substantive review of the PMA, including potential inspection and audits of clinical sites and manufacturing 
facilities. In addition, after the PMA is considered filed, the substantive review is initially scheduled to last 180 days, although this 180-day time 
period can be reset if major deficiencies are identified and ultimately remediated or if we voluntarily submit a major amendment to the PMA 
during this period. We will not receive an approval decision from the FDA until the substantive review is complete and we cannot predict the 
timing or outcome of the decision. Any responses, correspondence, rejections or approvals that we may receive in connection with the plasma 
PMA process would not be indicative or dispositive of the status of the approval process for the platelet PMA.  

We completed a Phase III clinical trial of the platelet system in the United States in March 2001 and a supplemental analysis of data from 
this trial in 2005. We submitted this information along with several other modules of our PMA, to the FDA. Although FDA has indicated that no 
prospective Phase III clinical trials are required at this time, the FDA may require us to complete additional Phase III clinical trials before 
approval would be granted. If additional Phase III clinical trials are required for approval, we will likely only initiate such trials if adequate 
funding can be secured. We have limited experience with the modular PMA process and may encounter unanticipated difficulties complying 
with the prescribed submission timing or other modular PMA requirements. Such difficulties could affect our ability to complete the PMA 
submission process successfully or in the anticipated timeframes that we expect. Should significant questions arise during the submission 
process or if we are required to conduct additional clinical trials to support our PMA submission, approval may take a significant period of time 
to obtain, if ever.  

Plasma System  

In 2006, we obtained a CE mark approval (extended in 2011) from European Union regulators for our plasma system and final French 
approval of INTERCEPT-treated plasma in May 2007. SwissMedic approved INTERCEPT-treated plasma in September 2010. In February 
2011, the first approval for use of INTERCEPT-treated plasma was obtained from the Paul Ehrlich Institute by a blood center in Germany. In 
some countries, including several in Europe, we or our customers may be required to perform additional clinical studies or submit manufacturing 
and marketing applications in order to obtain regulatory approval.  
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We have filed our agreed upon PMA for the plasma system with the FDA. The FDA is now reviewing the submission and may audit us, 
clinical sites or manufacturing facilities that produce our product. We may receive deficiency notices from the FDA at any time during the 
substantive review of the PMA and our ability to answer and remediate such deficiencies, should they arise, will be required before the FDA 
would consider approving our plasma product. Should we have difficulties answering or remediating any deficiency letters or if we are required 
to conduct additional clinical trials to support our planned PMA submission, approval may take a significant period of time to obtain, if ever.  

Although we have completed Phase III clinical trials in various patient populations and have submitted supplemental data collected in 
commercial use in Europe, the FDA may require us to complete additional Phase III clinical trials, before approval would be granted. The FDA 
may also limit the particular indications or uses for our plasma system if they believe that our clinical data is insufficient for broader usage or if 
the collection and storage methods supporting our clinical data are considered to be incompatible with broad usage. Should the FDA require us 
to complete any additional clinical trials, our willingness and ability to conduct and complete any additional clinical trials of the plasma system 
to support approval in the United States would be subject to our ability to generate sufficient cash flows from our operations or obtain adequate 
funding from external sources before we would initiate any such trials.  

Before the FDA determines whether to approve the INTERCEPT Blood System products, we expect the FDA to seek the advice of the 
BPAC. Even if BPAC were to recommend approval of one or more of our products, the FDA is not required to adopt BPAC’s recommendation. 
If BPAC were to answer FDA questions recommending against approval of one or more of our products, the FDA would have to take into 
consideration the points of concern raised by BPAC which could affect the approval of the products.  

Red Blood Cell System  

Our red blood cell system is currently in development and has not been commercialized anywhere in the world. Significant clinical, 
development and financial resources will be required to progress the red blood cell system into a commercially viable product and to obtain the 
necessary regulatory approvals for the product. We have not been successful in developing any product candidates that have received FDA 
approval in the past. Clinical testing and development of the red blood cell system will take many years to complete and failure can occur any 
time during the clinical trial process. Any failure or delay in completing clinical trials for the red blood cell system would prevent or delay its 
commercialization, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects. 
Many of the factors described above that can contribute to the failure or delay of a clinical trial could impact the trials we conduct for our red 
blood cell system. Even if we are successful in earlier clinical trials, the results of those early trials may not be predictive of results obtained in 
later and larger clinical trials of the red blood cell system. In those cases, the FDA or foreign regulatory agencies may require we engage in 
additional clinical trials or conduct further studies or analysis which may be costly and time-consuming. In some instances, we are relying on 
contract research organizations and other third parties to assist us in designing, managing, monitoring and otherwise carrying out our clinical 
trials for the red blood cell system. We do not control these third parties and, as a result, they may not treat our clinical studies as their highest 
priority, or in the manner in which we would prefer, which could result in delays. Additionally, if we, our contract research organizations or 
other third parties assisting us or our study sites fail to comply with applicable good clinical practices, the clinical data generated in those trials 
may be deemed unreliable and the FDA or its non-U.S. counterparts may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving the red 
blood cell system for commercialization. We cannot assure you that, upon inspection, the FDA or foreign regulatory agencies will determine that 
any of our clinical trials comply with good clinical practices. In addition, our clinical trials must be conducted with product produced under the 
FDA’s cGMP regulations and similar regulations outside of the United States. Our failure, or the failure of our product manufacturers, to comply 
with these regulations may require us to repeat or redesign clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval process.  
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In 2003, we terminated Phase III clinical trials evaluating a prior generation of the red blood cell system in acute and chronic anemia 
patients. The trials were terminated due to the detection of antibody reactivity to INTERCEPT-treated red blood cells in two patients in the Phase 
III clinical trial for chronic anemia. Although the antibody reactivity was not associated with any adverse events, we developed process changes 
designed to diminish the likelihood of antibody reactivity in red blood cells treated with our modified process. In a subsequent Phase I clinical 
trial that we initiated in the fourth quarter of 2008 to evaluate recovery and survival of treated red blood cells with the modified process, there 
were no adverse events reported. Based on the results from that trial, we have obtained approval for and recently commenced two Phase III 
clinical trials in Europe using the modified process in patients with acute and chronic anemia. However, we cannot assure you that the adverse 
events observed in the terminated Phase III clinical trials of our red blood cell system will not be observed in these current or any future Phase 
III clinical trials of our red blood cell system. In addition, although the unblinded data from our 2003 Phase III clinical trial of the red blood cell 
system for acute anemia patients indicated that the primary endpoint had been met, we cannot assure you that the same result will be observed in 
any potential future Phase III clinical trials using our modified process.  

The FDA has required that we successfully complete an additional Phase II recovery and survival study, which we are currently 
conducting, prior to reaching agreement on any Phase III clinical trial protocol which we would likely need to successfully conduct and complete 
before the FDA would consider our red blood cell product for approval. Significantly lower lifespan for INTERCEPT-treated red blood cells 
compared to non-treated red blood cells may limit our ability to obtain regulatory approval for the product. We also understand that one or more 
additional in vitro studies will be required to be successfully completed and submitted to the FDA prior to any initiation of a potential Phase III 
clinical trial. There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully satisfy any such prerequisites, nor can there be any assurance that we 
and the FDA will agree to any trial protocol we propose or that we will otherwise obtain FDA clearance to initiate a potential Phase III clinical 
trial.  

We are currently enrolling patients in two European Phase III clinical trials of our red blood cell system: one for acute anemia patients and 
separately, one for chronic anemia patients. Such studies, including the studies required by the FDA prior to its review of any proposed U.S. 
Phase III clinical trial protocol, could prolong development of the red blood cell system, and we do not expect to receive any regulatory 
approvals of our red blood cell system for a number of years, if ever. We understand that while the acute anemia Phase III clinical trial in Europe 
may be sufficient to receive CE mark approval in Europe if the results are positive, a successful outcome in the Phase III chronic anemia clinical 
trial would also be required for our red blood cell system to achieve broad market acceptance. In addition, the trials may need to be 
supplemented by additional, successful Phase III clinical trials for approval in certain countries. If such additional Phase III clinical trials are 
required, they would likely need to demonstrate equivalency of INTERCEPT-treated red blood cells compared to conventional red blood cells. A 
number of trial design issues that could impact efficacy, regulatory approval and market acceptance will need to be resolved prior to the 
initiation of further clinical trials. We will also need to complete a number of in vitro studies, finalize development of the final commercial 
configuration of the red blood cell system and manufacture and validate sufficient quantities of the final red blood cell system prior to receiving 
any regulatory approvals in Europe or the United States. Many of these activities will require capital beyond that which we currently have, and 
we will be required to obtain additional capital in order to complete the development of and obtain any regulatory approvals for the red blood 
cell system. If we are unsuccessful in advancing the red blood cell system through clinical trials, resolving process and product design issues or 
in obtaining subsequent regulatory approvals and acceptable reimbursement rates, we may never realize a return on our research and 
development expenses incurred to date for the red blood cell system program. Regulatory delays can also materially impact our product 
development costs. If we continue to experience delays in testing, conducting trials or approvals, our product development costs will increase. 
Even if we were to successfully complete and receive approval for our red blood cell system, potential customers may object to working with a 
potent chemical, like S-303, the active compound in the red blood cell system, or may require modifications to automate the process, which 
would result in additional development costs, any of which could limit any market acceptance of the red blood cell system.  
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We have limited experience operating a global commercial organization. We have limited resources and experience complying with 
regulatory, legal, tax and political complexities as we expand into new and increasingly broad geographies.  

We are responsible for worldwide sales, marketing, distribution, maintenance and regulatory support of the INTERCEPT Blood System. If 
we fail in our efforts to develop or maintain such internal competencies or establish acceptable relationships with third parties to support us in 
these areas on a timely basis, our ability to commercialize the INTERCEPT Blood System may be irreparably harmed.  

We have a wholly-owned subsidiary, headquartered in The Netherlands, dedicated primarily to selling and marketing the platelet and 
plasma systems in Europe, the CIS and the Middle East. We will need to maintain and continue to increase our competence in a number of 
functions, including sales, marketing, regulatory, inventory and logistics, customer service, credit and collections, risk management, and quality 
assurance systems not only for these existing markets, but also if and as we expand into the Latin and South American and Asian markets. Many 
of these competencies require compliance with European Union, South American, Asian and local standards and practices, with which we have 
limited experience.  

Should we be successful in commercializing our products in geographies beyond the current markets in which we sell our products, we 
may need to add resources and develop competencies to ensure compliance with local regulatory, legal and tax requirements. We have limited 
experience operating on a global scale and we may be unsuccessful complying with the variety and complexity of laws and regulations in a 
timely manner, if at all.  

We rely on third parties to market, sell, distribute and maintain our products and to maintain customer relationships in certain countries.  

We have entered into distribution agreements, generally on a geographically exclusive basis, with distributors in countries where we have 
limited abilities to commercialize our products directly. We rely on these distributors to obtain any necessary in-country regulatory approvals, as 
well as market and sell the INTERCEPT Blood System, provide customer and technical product support, maintain inventories, and adhere to our 
quality system in all material respects, among other activities. Generally, our distribution agreements require distributors to purchase minimum 
quantities in a given year over the term of the agreement. Failure by our distributors to meet these minimum purchase obligations may impact 
our financial results. While our contracts generally require distributors to exercise diligence, these distributors may fail to commercialize the 
INTERCEPT Blood System in their respective territories. For example, our distributors may fail to sell product inventory they have purchased 
from us to end customers or may sell competing products ahead of or in conjunction with INTERCEPT. In addition, initial purchases of 
illuminators or INTERCEPT disposable kits by these third parties may not lead to follow-on purchases of platelet and plasma systems’ 
disposable kits. Agreements with our distributors typically require the distributor to maintain quality standards that are compliant with standards 
generally accepted for medical devices. We may be unable to ensure that our distributors are compliant with such standards. Further, we have 
limited visibility into the identity and requirements of blood banking customers these distributors may have. Accordingly, we may be unable to 
ensure our distributors properly maintain illuminators sold or provide quality technical services to the blood banking customers to which they 
sell. In addition, although our agreements with our distributors generally require compliance with local anti-corruption laws, the U.S. Foreign 
Corrupt Practices Act, and other local and international regulations, we have limited ability to control the actions of our distributors to ensure 
they are in compliance. Noncompliance by a distributor could expose us to civil or criminal liability, fines and/or prohibitions on selling our 
products in certain countries.  

Currently, a fairly concentrated number of distributors make up a significant portion of our revenue and we may have little recourse, short 
of termination, in the event that a distributor fails to execute according to our expectations and contractual provisions. In 2013, we experienced 
weaker than expected growth due to declining performance by certain of our distributors. We recently announced that we have and are planning 
to continue to pursue certain strategic changes to our distribution territories. In 2013, we began transitioning certain territories  
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to new distribution partners who we felt were capable of improved performance relative to their predecessors. Because these are new distribution 
partners who have limited experience marketing and selling our products, we cannot be certain that these new distribution partners will perform 
better than their predecessors. For 2014, we are evaluating additional ways to optimize INTERCEPT penetration in key distributor territories, 
including potentially transitioning some of these territories to a Cerus direct sales model, which we believe will provide us with better visibility 
into and control of sales execution. However, implementing these changes to our distributor territories may temporarily impact the volume of 
INTERCEPT disposable kit sales as distribution partners sell through their disposable kit inventory, as well as require additional resources 
within the impacted territories. In certain cases, our distributors hold the regulatory approval to sell INTERCEPT for their particular geography. 
The loss of these distributors would require us to negotiate a transfer of the applicable regulatory approvals to us which may be difficult to do in 
a timely manner, or at all. We expect that our product revenues will be adversely impacted with the loss or transition of one or more of these 
distributors. If we chose to terminate our distributor agreements, we would either need to reach agreement with, qualify, train and supply a 
replacement distributor or supply and service end-user customer accounts in those territories ourselves. Although our distribution agreements 
generally provide that the distributor will promptly and efficiently transfer its existing customer agreements to us, there can be no assurance that 
this will happen in a timely manner or at all. Doing so may be disruptive for our customers and our reputation may be damaged as a result. Our 
distribution partners may have more established relationships with potential end user customers than a new distributor or we may have in 
particular territory, which could adversely impact our ability to successfully commercialize our products in these territories. In addition, it may 
take longer for us to be paid if payment timing and terms in these new arrangements are less favorable to us than those in our existing distributor 
arrangements. Further, if we were to service end-user accounts directly ourselves rather than through distributors, we will likely incur additional 
expense and our working capital may be damaged. Current or transitioning distributors may irreparably harm relationships with local existing 
and prospective customers and our standing with the blood banking community in general. In the event that we are unable to find alternative 
distributors or mobilize our own sales efforts in the territories in which a particular distributor operates, customer supply, our reputation and our 
operating results may be adversely affected.  

Our manufacturing supply chain exposes us to significant risks.  

We do not own our own manufacturing facilities, but rather manufacture our products using a number of third party suppliers, many of 
whom are our sole suppliers for the particular product or component that we procure. We rely on various contracts and our relationships with 
these suppliers to ensure that the sourced products are manufactured in sufficient quantities, timely, to our exact specifications and at prices we 
agree upon with the supplier. Certain of our suppliers that we rely on for the manufacture of the platelet, plasma and red blood cell systems and 
components thereof, have not been FDA-approved for the manufacture of our products. In order to be used in clinical studies or sold in the 
United States, our products would be required to be manufactured in FDA-approved facilities. FDA approval for the manufacture of 
INTERCEPT, whether in facilities owned by Fresenius or by other parties, may be costly and time-consuming. Before our products would be 
considered for marketing approval in the United States or elsewhere, our suppliers will have to pass an audit by the FDA or other regulatory 
agencies. We are dependent on our suppliers’ cooperation and ability to pass such audits. Such audits and any audit remediation may be costly. 
Failure to pass such audits by any of our suppliers would affect our ability to obtain licensure in the United States or elsewhere.  

In November 2013, we amended our manufacturing and supply agreement with Fresenius with the new terms effective January 1, 2014. 
Under the amended agreement, Fresenius is obligated to sell, and we are obligated to purchase up to a certain specified annual volume of 
finished disposable kits for the platelet and plasma systems from Fresenius for both clinical and commercial use. Once the specified annual 
volume of disposable kits is purchased from Fresenius, we are able to purchase additional quantities of disposable kits from other third-party 
manufactures. The amended terms also provide for fixed pricing for finished kits with successive decreases in pricing at certain annual 
production volumes. In addition, the amendment requires us to purchase additional specified annual volumes of sets per annum if and when an 
additional Fresenius  
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manufacturing site is identified and qualified to make INTERCEPT disposable kits, subject to mutual agreement on pricing for disposable kits 
manufactured at the additional site. Fresenius is also obligated to purchase and maintain specified inventory levels of our proprietary inactivation 
compounds and compound adsorption devices from us at fixed prices. The term of the amended manufacturing and supply agreement with 
Fresenius extends through December 31, 2018, subject to termination by either party upon thirty months prior written notice, in the case of 
Fresenius, or twenty-four months prior written notice, in our case. We and Fresenius each have normal and customary termination rights, 
including termination for material breach. Fresenius is our sole supplier for the manufacture of these products. Fresenius may fail to manufacture 
an adequate supply of INTERCEPT disposable kits which would harm our business.  

We also have contracts with other third-party suppliers, including Ash Stevens for the manufacture of amotosalen, our proprietary 
compound for inactivating pathogens using our platelet and plasma systems; Purolite, and separately, Porex, for the manufacture of components 
of the compound adsorption devices used in our platelet and plasma systems; and r NOVA for the manufacture of illuminators and certain 
components of the INTERCEPT Blood System. These independent suppliers are our sole suppliers for such components.  

Our manufacturing and supply agreement with Ash Stevens extends through December 31, 2015, and is automatically renewable thereafter 
for periods of two years each, but may be terminated by Ash Stevens provided that Ash Stevens notifies us in writing at least two years in 
advance. Although we are not subject to minimum annual purchase requirements under the manufacturing and supply agreement with Ash 
Stevens, we may be required to pay a maintenance fee of up to $50,000 a year if specified quantities of amotosalen are not purchased in any 
year. We have incurred these maintenance fees in the past and may incur these maintenance fees in future periods.  

Our supply agreement with Porex was amended in November 2012 and now expires on December 31, 2014. Porex is our sole supplier for 
such components of the compound adsorption devices. We are subject to certain minimum annual purchase requirements under our agreement 
with Porex and are required to compensate Porex if we do not meet such minimum annual purchase requirements. Our supply agreement with 
Purolite extends through December 2014, and automatically renews each year for additional one year terms absent written notice of non-renewal 
delivered at least two (2) years in advance of any term expiration. Purolite may terminate the supply agreement provided that Purolite notifies us 
in writing at least two years in advance. We are currently in discussions with Purolite to amend our agreement. Our agreement with NOVA, 
which manufacturers our illuminators, extends through September 2014 and is automatically renewable for one year terms, but may be 
terminated by NOVA on at least twelve months’ prior written notice.  

Facilities at which the INTERCEPT Blood System or its components are manufactured may cease operations for planned or unplanned 
reasons, causing at least temporary interruptions in supply. Even a temporary failure to supply adequate numbers of INTERCEPT Blood System 
components may cause an irreparable loss of customer goodwill. Although we are actively evaluating alternate suppliers for certain of our 
products and components, we do not have qualified suppliers beyond those on which we currently rely, and we understand that Fresenius relies 
substantially on sole suppliers of certain materials for our products. Identification and qualification of alternate suppliers will be time consuming 
and costly. If we conclude that supply of the INTERCEPT Blood System or components from Fresenius and others is uncertain, we may choose 
to build and maintain inventories of raw materials, work-in-process components, or finished goods, which would consume capital resources and 
may cause our supply chain to be less efficient.  

Currently NOVA is manufacturing illuminators to meet customer demand and maintain our own inventory levels. Subject to obsolescence, 
we may be required to identify and qualify replacement components for illuminators and in doing so, we may be required to conduct additional 
studies, which could include clinical trials to demonstrate equivalency or validate any required design or component changes. Future supply of 
illuminators is limited to availability of components, some of which are in short supply or are no longer manufactured. Certain of our 
components are in limited supply and are used as spare parts for the maintenance of illuminators  
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used by our customers. We and our customers rely on the availability of spare parts to ensure that customer platelet and plasma production is not 
interrupted. If we are not able to supply spare parts for the maintenance of customer illuminators, our ability to keep existing customers or sign 
up new customers may be negatively impacted. Due to the obsolescence of certain parts, we will likely need to redesign the illuminators used in 
the platelet and plasma systems. Such redesign may be expensive and could lead to regulatory delays in obtaining approvals to market the 
redesigned device.  

In the event that alternate manufacturers are identified and qualified, we will need to transfer know-how relevant to the manufacture of the 
INTERCEPT Blood System to such alternate manufacturers; however, certain of our supplier’s materials, manufacturing processes and methods 
are proprietary to them, which will impair our ability to establish alternate sources of supply, even if we are required to do so as a condition of 
regulatory approval. We may be unable to establish alternate sources of supply to Fresenius, NOVA, or other suppliers without having to 
redesign certain elements of the platelet and plasma systems. Such redesign may be costly, time consuming and require further regulatory review 
and approvals. Fresenius is not obligated to provide support for development and testing of improvements or changes we may make to the 
INTERCEPT Blood System. We may be unable to identify, select, and qualify such manufacturers or those third parties able to provide support 
for development and testing activities on a timely basis or enter into contracts with them on reasonable terms, if at all. Moreover, the inclusion of 
components manufactured by new suppliers could require us to seek new or updated approvals from regulatory authorities, which could result in 
delays in product delivery. We may not receive any such required regulatory approvals. We cannot assure you that any amendments to existing 
manufacturing agreements or any new manufacturing agreements that we may enter into will contain terms favorable to those that we currently 
have with our manufacturers. Should we enter into agreements with any manufacturer with less favorable terms, our results of operations may be 
impacted, our recourse against such manufacturers may be limited, and the quality of our products may be impacted.  

Raw materials, components or finished product may not meet specifications or may be subject to other nonconformities. In several 
instances over the past two years, nonconformities in certain component lots have caused delays in manufacturing of INTERCEPT disposable 
kits. Non-conformities can increase our expenses and reduce gross margins. Should non-conformities occur in the future, we may be unable to 
manufacture products to meet customer demand, which would result in lost sales and could cause irreparable damage to our customer 
relationships. Later discovery of problems with a product, manufacturer or facility may result in additional restrictions on the product, 
manufacturer or facility, including withdrawal of the product from the market. We are subject to risks and costs of product recall, which include 
not only potential out-of-pocket costs, but also potential interruption to our supply chain. In such an event, our customer relations could be 
harmed and we would incur unforeseen losses.  

In the event of a failure by Fresenius or other manufacturers to perform their obligations to supply components of the INTERCEPT Blood 
System to us, damages recoverable by us may be insufficient to compensate us for the full loss of business opportunity. Many of our supply 
agreements contain limitations on incidental and consequential damages that we may recover. A supplier’s potential liability in the event of non-
performance may not be sufficient to compel the supplier to continue to act in conformity with our agreements. Our product supply chain 
requires us to purchase certain components in minimum quantities and may result in a production cycle of more than one year. Significant 
disruptions to any of the steps in our supply chain process may result in longer productions cycles which could lead to inefficient use of cash or 
may impair our ability to supply customers with product.  

We may encounter unforeseen manufacturing difficulties which, at a minimum, may lead to higher than anticipated costs, scrap rates, 
manufacturing overhead variances or delays in manufacturing products. In addition, we may not receive timely or accurate demand information 
from distributors or may not accurately forecast demand ourselves for the INTERCEPT Blood System. As a result, we may carry excess work-
in-process or finished goods inventory, which would consume capital resources and may become obsolete, or our inventory may be inadequate 
to meet customer demand. We have entered into certain public tenders, some which call for us  
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to maintain certain minimum levels of inventory. If our suppliers fail to produce components or our finished products satisfactorily, timely, at 
acceptable costs, and in sufficient quantities, we may incur delays, shortfalls and additional expenses, or non-compliance with certain public 
tenders which may in turn result in permanent harm to our customer relations or loss of customers. Our platelet and plasma systems’ disposable 
kits have a two-year shelf life from the date of manufacture. We and our distributors may be unable to ship product to customers prior to the 
expiration of the product shelf life, which would require that we destroy or consume the outdated inventory in product demonstration activities. 
Product expiration may in turn lead to elevated product demonstration costs or reduced gross margins.  

We are subject to federal, state and foreign laws governing our business practices which, if violated, could result in substantial penalties and 
harm our reputation and business.  

We are subject to a number of laws that affect our sales, marketing and other promotional activities by limiting the kinds of financial 
arrangements we may have with hospitals, physicians, healthcare providers or other potential purchasers of our products. These laws are often 
broadly written, and it is often difficult to determine precisely how these laws will be applied to specific circumstances. For example, within the 
European Union, the control of unlawful marketing activities is a matter of national law in each of the member states. The member states of the 
European Union closely monitor perceived unlawful marketing activity by companies. We could face civil, criminal and administrative sanctions 
if any member state determines that we have breached our obligations under its national laws. Industry associations also closely monitor the 
activities of member companies. If these organizations or authorities name us as having breached our obligations under their regulations, rules or 
standards, our reputation would suffer and our business and financial condition could be adversely affected.  

We are also subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and anti-corruption laws, and similar laws with a significant anti-corruption 
intent in foreign countries. In general, there is a worldwide trend to strengthen anticorruption laws and their enforcement. Any violation of these 
laws by us or our agents or distributors could create a substantial liability for us, subject our officers and directors to personal liability and also 
cause a loss of reputation in the market. We currently operate in many countries where the public sector is perceived as being more or highly 
corrupt. Our strategic business plans include expanding our business in regions and countries that are rated as higher risk for corruption activity, 
such as China, India and Russia. Becoming familiar with and implementing the infrastructure necessary to comply with laws, rules and 
regulations applicable to new business activities and mitigate and protect against corruption risks could be quite costly. In addition, failure by us 
or our agents or distributors to comply with these laws, rules and regulations could delay our expansion into high-growth markets, could damage 
market perception of our business and could adversely affect our existing business operations. Increased business in higher risk countries could 
also subject us and our officers and directors to increased scrutiny and increased liability.  

Our platelet products and product candidates are not compatible with some collection and storage methods or combinations thereof.  

The equipment and materials used to collect platelets vary by manufacturer and by geographic region. Platelets may be collected from a 
single donor by apheresis using an automated collection machine. Apheresis devices currently used in the United States and European markets 
differ, among other characteristics, in their ability to collect platelets in reduced volumes of plasma. Platelet concentrates may also be prepared 
from whole blood by pooling together platelets from multiple donors. There are two commonly used methods for preparing whole blood 
platelets: the buffy coat method, which is used extensively in Europe, and the pooled random donor method, which is used in the United States. 
Our platelet system is designed to work with platelets collected and stored in storage solutions, called Intersol and SSP+, and for platelets 
suspended in 100% plasma. Fresenius is the exclusive manufacturer of Intersol and MacoPharma of SSP+, both widely-used platelet additive 
solutions. Many of our customers and prospective customers use Intersol or SSP+ in connection with INTERCEPT treatment. Should Fresenius 
or MacoPharma fail to obtain or maintain regulatory approval for Intersol or SSP+, respectively, or if either should decide to cease distribution 
of their respective additive solutions to customers and  
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prospective customers, our ability to sell the INTERCEPT Blood System may be impaired. In addition, we may be required to produce and 
demonstrate additional acceptable data for usage of the INTERCEPT Blood System with various combinations of collection platforms and 
storage solutions before we could receive regulatory approval from the FDA and elsewhere.  

In order to address the entire market in the United States, Japan, and potentially elsewhere, we would need to develop and test additional 
configurations of the platelet system. For example, in the United States, we understand a significant number of platelet concentrates are derived 
from larger volumes collected from apheresis donors split into three therapeutic transfusable doses. Future configurations of the platelet system 
will be needed to treat platelet donations with such processing parameters. We estimate that the majority of platelets used in the United States are 
collected by apheresis, though a significant minority is prepared from pooled random donor platelets derived from whole blood collections. In 
order to gain regulatory approvals for a pathogen inactivation system compatible with random donor platelets, we will need to perform additional 
product development and testing, including additional clinical trials. Similarly, to achieve market acceptance in certain geographies, we may be 
required to design, develop and test new product configurations for the platelet and plasma systems. These development activities would increase 
our costs significantly and may not be successful. We may need to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our platelet system using a variety of 
configurations before our platelet system would be approved for such configurations.  

Other manufacturers supplying blood component collection platforms to the market may resist our efforts to make the INTERCEPT Blood 
System for platelets compatible with their platforms and may have competing pathogen inactivation technologies. In addition, regulatory 
agencies such as the FDA may limit usage of the INTERCEPT Blood System to certain collection platforms, platelet additive solutions and 
plasma. Attaining compatibility or receiving regulatory approval with collection platforms manufactured by others in combination with additive 
solutions or 100% plasma may require additional clinical testing, adaptations to either the INTERCEPT Blood System or to the collection 
platforms, which may be difficult to engineer, expensive to implement and test, require additional clinical trials, cause delays in regulatory 
approval and/or be commercially unattractive to pursue. These development activities may increase our costs significantly and may not be 
successful. Market acceptance of the INTERCEPT Blood System may be delayed until the system receives regulatory approval for use on such 
other equipment, if required.  

We have used prototype components in our preclinical studies and clinical trials of the red blood cell system and have not completed the 
components’ commercial design. We will be required to identify and enter into agreements with third parties to manufacture the red blood 
cell system.  

The red blood cell systems that have been used and are currently being used in our clinical trials have been and are prototypes of the 
system expected to be used in the final product. As a result, we plan to perform additional preclinical studies and clinical trials using the 
commercial version of the system to demonstrate the acceptability of the commercial configuration and the equivalence of the prototypes and the 
commercial product, which will increase our expenses and delay the potential commercialization of our red blood cell system. We may 
determine that the red blood cell system may not be commercially feasible from potential customers’ perspectives. If we fail to develop 
commercial versions of the red blood cell system in a timely manner, our potential revenue would be delayed or diminished and our potential 
competitors may be able to bring products to market before we do.  

The design and engineering effort required to complete the final commercial version of our red blood cell system will likely be substantial 
and time-consuming. As with any complex development effort, we expect to encounter design, engineering and manufacturing issues. Such 
issues have previously arisen, sometimes unexpectedly, and solutions to these issues have not always been readily forthcoming. Additional 
unforeseen design, engineering and manufacturing issues may arise in the future, which could increase the development cost and delay 
commercialization of our red blood cell system.  
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We will need to identify and contract with manufacturers who can develop processes to manufacture components and the compounds used 
in the red blood cell system. For commercial manufacturing, we will need to demonstrate to regulatory authorities that the commercial scale 
manufacturing processes comply with government regulations and that the compounds are equivalent to originally licensed compounds. It may 
be difficult to economically manufacture the red blood cell system on a commercial scale.  

If our competitors develop products superior to ours, market their products more effectively than we market our products, or receive 
regulatory approval before our products, our commercial opportunities could be reduced or eliminated.  

We expect our products will continue to encounter significant competition. The INTERCEPT Blood System products compete with other 
approaches to blood safety currently in use and may compete with future products that may be developed by others. Our success will depend in 
part on our ability to respond quickly to customer and prospective customer needs, successfully receive and maintain regulatory approvals, and 
adapt to medical and technological changes brought about by the development and introduction of new products. Competitors’ products or 
technologies may make our products obsolete or non-competitive before we are able to generate any significant revenue. In addition, competitors 
or potential competitors may have substantially greater financial and other resources than we have. They may also have greater experience in 
preclinical testing, human clinical trials and other regulatory approval procedures. If competitors’ products experience significant problems, 
customers and potential customers may question the safety and efficacy of all pathogen inactivation technologies, including the INTERCEPT 
Blood System. Such questions and concerns may impair our ability to market and sell the INTERCEPT Blood System.  

Several companies have, or are developing, technologies that are, or in the future may be, the basis for products that will directly compete 
with or reduce the market for our pathogen inactivation systems. A number of companies are specifically focusing on alternative strategies for 
pathogen inactivation in platelets and plasma.  

These alternative strategies may be more effective in inactivating certain types of pathogens from blood products, including certain non-
lipid-enveloped viruses, such as hepatitis A virus, which our products have not demonstrated an ability to inactivate, or human parvovirus B-19, 
which is also a non-lipid-enveloped virus, for which our products have not demonstrated a high level of inactivation. While studies have 
demonstrated that our products can effectively inactivate a broad spectrum of pathogens in blood components, market adoption of our products 
may be reduced if customers determine that competitors’ products inactivate a broader range of pathogens that are of particular interest to the 
transfusion medicine community. In addition, customers and prospective customers may believe that our competitors’ products are safer or more 
cost effective than INTERCEPT Blood System products. In Europe, several companies, including Grifols S.A., Octapharma AG, MacoPharma 
International and Kedrion Biopharma, are developing or selling commercial pathogen inactivation systems or services to treat fresh frozen 
plasma. TerumoBCT, a subsidiary of Terumo Corporation, has developed a pathogen inactivation system for blood products and has been issued 
CE marks for a pathogen reduction system for both platelets and plasma. We understand that TerumoBCT is also developing a pathogen 
inactivation system for whole blood. TerumoBCT’s product candidate, if successful, may offer competitive advantages over our INTERCEPT 
Blood System. Terumo Corporation is a large Japanese-based, multinational corporation with more mature products and relationships than we 
have. Our ability to commercialize our products in certain markets, particularly in Japan, may be negatively affected by Terumo’s resources and 
their pre-existing relationships with regulators and customers. Should TerumoBCT’s product be approved for use and commercialized in Japan, 
we would likely directly compete with them and we believe we would likely either need to establish operations in Japan or partner with a local 
Japanese company.  

Octapharma AG received FDA approval in January 2013 to sell treated fresh frozen plasma for certain indications and will likely be 
commercialized ahead of our own plasma product candidate. Should Octapharma enter into exclusive agreements with key customers, our 
plasma product candidate, should it receive approval in the United States, may encounter market resistance and have a more limited market into 
which we can sell.  
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Other companies developing competing products may also offer and sell other blood-banking products and services. As a result, 
competitors may have pre-existing long-term relationships with customers and may be able to offer synergies for both pathogen inactivation and 
non-pathogen inactivation products that we are unable to offer. Regulatory agencies may mandate use of competing products which would limit 
our ability to sell our products in those markets.  

New methods of testing whole blood for specific pathogens have been approved by the FDA and in Europe, as have tests for bacteria in 
platelets. Other companies are marketing rapid, point-of-care bacterial tests, and developing synthetic blood product substitutes and products to 
stimulate the growth of platelets. Development and commercialization of any of these or other related technologies could limit the potential 
market for our products as would a mandate of any competing technology other than INTERCEPT.  

We may be liable and we may need to withdraw our products from the market if our products harm people. We may be liable if an accident 
occurs in our controlled use of hazardous materials. Our insurance coverage may be inadequate to offset losses we may incur.  

We are exposed to potential liability risks inherent in the testing and marketing of medical devices. We may be liable if any of our products 
cause injury, illness or death. Although we will have completed rigorous preclinical and clinical safety testing prior to marketing our products, 
there may be harmful effects caused by our products that we are unable to identify in preclinical or clinical testing. In particular, unforeseen, rare 
reactions or adverse side effects related to long-term use of our products may not be observed until the products are in widespread commercial 
use. Because of the limited duration and number of patients receiving blood components treated with the INTERCEPT Blood System products in 
clinical trials, it is possible that harmful effects of our products not observed in preclinical and clinical testing could be discovered after a 
marketing approval has been received. For example, in cases where we have obtained regulatory approval for our products, we have 
demonstrated pathogen inactivation to specified levels based on well-established tests. However, there is no way to determine, after treatment by 
our products, whether our products have completely inactivated all of the pathogens that may be present in blood components. There is also no 
way to determine whether any residual amount of a pathogen remains in the blood component treated by our products and there is no way to 
exclude that such residual amount would be enough to cause disease in the transfused patient. For ethical reasons, we cannot conduct human 
testing to determine whether an individual who receives a transfusion of a blood component containing a pathogen that was inactivated using the 
INTERCEPT Blood System might show positive results if tested for an antibody against that pathogen. While we believe, based on the clinical 
experience of our scientists, that the level of inactivated pathogens would likely be too small to induce a detectable antibody response in 
diagnostic tests, we cannot exclude that a transfused patient might show positive results if tested for an antibody against that pathogen. We could 
be subject to a claim from a patient that tests positive, even though that patient did not contract a disease.  

We maintain product liability insurance, but do not know whether the insurance will provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities. 
If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit 
commercialization of our products.  

Our research and development activities involve the controlled use of hazardous materials, including certain hazardous chemicals, 
radioactive materials and infectious pathogens, such as HIV and hepatitis viruses. Although we believe that our safety procedures for handling 
and disposing of hazardous materials are adequate and comply with regulatory requirements, we cannot eliminate the risk of accidental 
contamination or injury. If an accident occurs, we could be held liable for any damages that result.  
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If we fail to obtain the capital necessary to fund our future operations or if we are unable to generate positive cash flows from our 
operations, we will need to curtail planned development or sales and commercialization activities.  

Our near-term capital requirements are dependent on various factors, including operating costs and working capital investments associated 
with commercializing the INTERCEPT Blood System, costs associated with the modular PMA submission process for both the platelet and 
plasma systems, costs associated with pursuing potential regulatory approvals in other geographies where we do not currently sell our platelet 
and plasma systems, costs associated with conducting in vitro studies and clinical development of our red blood cell system in Europe and the 
United States, including our two ongoing European Phase III clinical trials for the red blood cell system, and costs related to creating, 
maintaining and defending our intellectual property. Our long-term capital requirements will also be dependent on the success of our sales 
efforts, competitive developments, the timing, costs and magnitude of our longer-term clinical trials and other development activities related to 
our platelet, plasma and red blood cell systems, market preparedness and product launch activities for any of our products in geographies where 
we do not currently sell our products, and regulatory factors. Until we are able to generate a sufficient amount of product revenue and generate 
positive net cash flows from operations, which we may never do, meeting our long-term capital requirements is in large part subject to access to 
public and private equity and debt capital markets, as well as to collaborative arrangements with partners, augmented by cash generated from 
operations and interest income earned on the investment of our cash balances. We believe that cash received from product sales, our available 
cash balances and access to debt will be sufficient to meet our capital requirements for at least the next twelve months. If our assumptions prove 
to be incorrect, we could consume our available capital resources sooner than we currently expect, which could adversely affect the 
commercialization and clinical development activities.  

We have borrowed and in the future may borrow additional capital from institutional and commercial banking sources to fund future 
growth outside of our credit agreement with Comerica Bank, as described below, on terms that may include restrictive covenants, including 
covenants that restrict the operation of our business, liens on assets, high effective interest rates and repayment provisions that reduce cash 
resources and limit future access to capital markets. In addition, we expect to continue to opportunistically seek access to the equity capital 
markets to support our development efforts and operations. To the extent that we raise additional capital by issuing equity securities, our 
stockholders may experience substantial dilution. To the extent that we raise additional funds through collaboration or partnering arrangements, 
we may be required to relinquish some of our rights to our technologies or rights to market and sell our products in certain geographies, grant 
licenses on terms that are not favorable to us, or issue equity that may be substantially dilutive to our stockholders.  

As a result of economic conditions, general global economic uncertainty and other factors, we do not know whether additional capital will 
be available when needed, or that, if available, we will be able to obtain additional capital on reasonable terms. If we are unable to raise 
additional capital due to disruptions to the global credit and financial markets, general economic uncertainty or other factors, we may need to 
curtail planned development or commercialization activities. In addition, we will need to obtain additional funds to complete development 
activities for the red blood cell system necessary for potential regulatory approval in Europe. We do not plan on conducting any additional 
clinical trials of the red blood cell, platelet or plasma systems in the United States unless and until we can obtain sufficient additional funding or, 
at such time our existing operations provide sufficient cash flow to conduct these trials.  

Historically, we have received significant awards in funding under cooperative agreements with the DoD for the INTERCEPT Blood 
System. By March 31, 2012, we had exhausted the remaining availability under the August 2011 DoD grant. Access to federal grants and 
cooperative agreements is subject to the authorization of funds and approval of our research plans by various organizations within the federal 
government, including the United States Congress. The general economic environment, coupled with tight federal budgets, has led to a general 
decline in the amount available for government funding and we do not expect any revenue from government grants and cooperative agreements 
for the foreseeable future, if at all.  
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We have issued debt containing certain covenants that we may be unable to comply with. Our operations may not provide sufficient cash to 
meet the repayment obligations of our debt.  

We currently maintain a credit agreement with Comerica Bank that provides a formula based revolving line of credit of up to $7.0 million. 
The credit agreement is secured by all our current and future assets, except for intellectual property and 35% of our investment in our subsidiary, 
Cerus Europe B.V. The credit agreement requires that we comply with certain customary and routine covenants, including the requirement to 
maintain a minimum cash balance of $2.5 million and achieve minimum revenue levels, which are measured monthly based on a six-month 
trailing basis and must be at least 75% of the pre-established future projected revenues for the trailing six-month period. If we are unable to 
comply with the covenants in the credit agreement, the lender may call the outstanding advances, which would require us to repay the advances 
sooner than we have anticipated. Our current credit agreement expires in June 2014. If we are unable to extend or amend the agreement, we will 
be required to pay-down the outstanding balance at that time.  

Virtually all of our research and development activities and the significant majority of our general and administrative activities are 
performed in or managed from a single site that may be subject to lengthy business interruption in the event of a severe earthquake. We also 
may suffer loss of computerized information and may be unable to make timely filings with regulatory agencies in the event of catastrophic 
failure of our data storage and backup systems.  

Virtually all of our research and development activities and the significant portion of our general and administrative activities are 
performed in or managed from our facilities in Concord, California, which are within an active earthquake fault zone. Should a severe 
earthquake occur, we might be unable to occupy our facilities or conduct research and development and general and administrative activities in 
support of our business and products until such time as our facilities could be repaired and made operational. Our property and casualty and 
business interruption insurance in general does not cover losses caused by earthquakes. While we have taken certain measures to protect our 
scientific, technological and commercial assets, a lengthy or costly disruption due to an earthquake would have a material adverse effect on us. 
We have also taken measures to limit damage that may occur from the loss of computerized data due to power outage, system or component 
failure or corruption of data files. However, we may lose critical computerized data, which may be difficult or impossible to recreate, which may 
harm our business. We may be unable to make timely filings with regulatory agencies in the event of catastrophic failure of our data storage and 
backup systems, which may subject us to fines or adverse consequences, up to and including loss of our ability to conduct business.  

Significant disruptions of information technology systems or breaches of data security could adversely affect our business.  

Our business is increasingly dependent on complex and interdependent information technology systems, including internet-based systems, 
databases and programs, to support our business processes as well as internal and external communications. These computer systems are 
potentially vulnerable to breakdown, malicious intrusion and computer viruses which may result in the impairment of production and key 
business processes or loss of data or information. Additionally, our systems are potentially vulnerable to data security breaches—whether by 
employees or others—which may expose sensitive data to unauthorized persons. Such data security breaches could lead to the loss of trade 
secrets or other intellectual property, or could lead to the public exposure of personal information (including sensitive personal information) of 
our employees, clinical trial patients, distributors, customers and others. Such disruptions and breaches of security could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.  

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” generally 
defined as a greater than 50% change (by value) in its equity ownership over a three-year period, the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change 
net operating loss carryforwards and other pre-change tax attributes (such as research tax credits) to offset its post-change taxable income or 
taxes may be  
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limited. Our prior and potential future equity offerings and other changes in our stock ownership, some of which are outside of our control could 
in the future result in an ownership change. If a limitation were to apply, utilization of a portion of our domestic net operating loss and tax credit 
carryforwards could be limited in future periods and a portion of the carryforwards could expire before being available to reduce future income 
tax liabilities.  

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property or operate our business without infringing intellectual property rights of others.  

Our commercial success will depend, in part, on obtaining and maintaining patent protection on our products and successfully defending 
our products against third-party challenges. Our technology will be protected from unauthorized use only to the extent that it is covered by valid 
and enforceable patents or effectively maintained as trade secrets. As a result, our success depends in part on our ability to:  
   

   

   

   

We cannot be certain that our patents or patents that we license from others will be enforceable and afford protection against competitors. 
Our patents or patent applications, if issued, may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. Our patent rights may not provide us with 
proprietary protection or competitive advantages against competitors with similar technologies. Others may independently develop technologies 
similar to ours or independently duplicate our technologies. For example, a United States patent issued to a third-party covers methods to remove 
psoralen compounds from blood products. We have reviewed the patent and believe there exists substantial questions concerning its validity. We 
cannot be certain, however, that a court would hold the patent to be invalid or not infringed by our platelet or plasma systems, if and when those 
products are sold in the United States. As a result, in order to commercialize our platelet or plasma systems in the United States, we may be 
required to obtain a license from the owner of the patent, which we may not be able to do at a reasonable cost or at all. Our patents expire at 
various dates between 2014 and 2027. Recent patent applications will, if granted, result in patents with later expiration dates. In addition, we 
have a license from Fresenius to United States and foreign patents relating to the INTERCEPT Blood System, which expire at various dates from 
2015 to 2024. Due to the extensive time required for development, testing and regulatory review of our potential products, our patents may 
expire or remain in existence for only a short period following commercialization. This would reduce or eliminate any advantage of the patents.  

We cannot be certain that we were the first to make the inventions covered by each of our issued patents or pending patent applications or 
that we were the first to file patent applications for such inventions. We may need to license the right to use third-party patents and intellectual 
property to continue development and commercialization of our products. We may not be able to acquire such required licenses on acceptable 
terms, if at all. If we do not obtain such licenses, we may need to design around other parties’ patents, or we may not be able to proceed with the 
development, manufacture or sale of our products.  

Our patents do not cover all of the countries in which we are selling, and planning to sell, our products. We will not be able to prevent 
potential competitors from using our technology in countries where we do not have patent coverage.  

We may face litigation requiring us to defend against claims of infringement, assert claims of infringement, enforce our patents, protect our 
trade secrets or know-how or determine the scope and validity of others’ proprietary rights. Patent litigation is costly. In addition, we may 
require interference proceedings before the United States Patent and Trademark Office to determine the priority of inventions relating to our 
patent applications. Litigation or interference proceedings could be expensive and time consuming, and we could be unsuccessful in our efforts 
to enforce our intellectual property rights.  
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We may rely, in certain circumstances, on trade secrets to protect our technology. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. We 
protect our proprietary technology and processes, in part, by confidentiality agreements with employees, consultants and contractors. These 
agreements may be breached and we may not have adequate remedies for any breach or our trade secrets may otherwise become known or be 
independently discovered by competitors. To the extent that our employees, consultants or contractors use intellectual property owned by others, 
disputes also may arise as to the rights in related or resulting know-how and inventions.  

As our international operations grow, we may be subject to adverse fluctuations in exchange rates between the United States dollar and 
foreign currencies.  

Our international operations are subject to risks typical of an international business, including, among other factors: differing political, 
economic, and regulatory climates, different tax structures and foreign exchange volatility. We do not currently enter into any hedging contracts 
to normalize the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations. As a result, our future results could be materially affected by changes in these or other 
factors.  

Product sales of the INTERCEPT blood system are typically invoiced to customers in Euros. In addition, we purchase finished 
INTERCEPT disposable kits for our platelet and plasma systems and incur certain operating expenses in Euros and other foreign currencies. Our 
exposure to foreign exchange rate volatility is a direct result of our product sales, cash collection and cash payments for expenses to support our 
international operations. Foreign exchange rate fluctuations are recorded as a component of other income, net on our consolidated statements of 
operations. Significant fluctuations in the volatility of foreign currencies relative to the United States dollar may materially affect our results of 
operations. In addition, in a period where the U.S. dollar is strengthening/weakening as compared to Euros, our revenues and expenses 
denominated in Euros are translated into U.S. dollars at a lower/higher value than they would be in an otherwise constant currency exchange rate 
environment. Currently we do not have a formal hedging program to mitigate the effects of foreign currency volatility.  

We currently have a limited trading volume, which results in higher price volatility for, and reduced liquidity of, our common stock.  

Our shares of common stock are currently quoted on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “CERS”. The market for our common 
stock has been limited due to low trading volume and the small number of brokerage firms acting as market makers. Active trading markets 
generally result in lower price volatility and more efficient execution of buy and sell orders. The absence of an active trading market increases 
price volatility and reduces the liquidity of our common stock. As long as this condition continues, the sale of a significant number of shares of 
common stock at any particular time could be difficult to achieve at the market prices prevailing immediately before such shares are offered, 
which may limit our ability to effectively raise money. In addition, due to the limitations of our market and the volatility in the market price of 
our stock, investors may face difficulties in selling shares at attractive prices when they want to sell. As a result of this lack of trading activity, 
the quoted price for our common stock is not necessarily a reliable indicator of its fair market value.  

Provisions of our charter documents, our stockholder rights plan, our compensatory arrangements and Delaware law could make it more 
difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if the offer may be considered beneficial by our stockholders.  

Provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law could discourage potential acquisition proposals and could delay, deter or prevent a 
change in control. The anti-takeover provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law impose various impediments to the ability of a third 
party to acquire control of us, even if a change in control would be beneficial to our existing stockholders. In addition, Section 203 of the 
Delaware General Corporation Law, unless its application has been waived, provides certain default anti-takeover protections in connection with 
transactions between the company and an “interested stockholder” of the company. Generally, Section 203 prohibits stockholders who, alone or 
together with their affiliates and  
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associates, own more than 15% of the subject company from engaging in certain business combinations for a period of three years following the 
date that the stockholder became an interested stockholder of such subject company without approval of the board or the vote of two-thirds of the 
shares held by the independent stockholders. Our board of directors has also adopted a stockholder rights plan, or “poison pill,” which would 
significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer. Additionally, provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and 
bylaws could deter, delay or prevent a third party from acquiring us, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders, including without 
limitation, the authority of the board of directors to issue, without stockholder approval, preferred stock with such terms as the board of directors 
may determine. In addition, our executive employment agreements, change of control severance benefit plan and equity incentive plans and 
agreements thereunder provide for certain severance benefits in connection with a change of control of us, including single-trigger equity vesting 
acceleration benefits with respect to outstanding stock options and single-trigger vesting acceleration benefits with respect to outstanding 
restricted stock unit awards, which could increase the costs to a third party acquiror and/or deter such third party from acquiring us.  

   

None.  

   

Our corporate headquarters, which include our principal executive offices, are located in Concord, California. This leased facility includes 
laboratory space for blood safety research and supports general administrative, marketing and technical support functions. We also lease a 
facility in Amersfoort, the Netherlands, which is used for selling and administrative functions. We believe that our current facilities will be 
adequate for the foreseeable future. The following table summarizes the properties we lease and their location, size, term and primary functions 
as of December 31, 2013.  
   

   

None.  

   

Not applicable.  
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 

Item 2. Properties 

Location    
Square  
Footage    

Lease  
Expiration Date     Primary Functions  

Concord, CA, United States     36,029      November 2019      Administrative, and research 
Concord, CA, United States     21,440      August 2015      Sales, administrative, marketing, and technical support 
Amersfoort, The Netherlands     7,300      January 2018     Sales and administrative 
  
(1) The lease may be terminated no earlier than January 2016. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 

1 
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PART II  
   

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “CERS.” The following table sets forth, for the periods 
indicated, the high and low intra-day sales prices for our common stock as reported by the Nasdaq Global Market:  
   

On February 26, 2014, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Market was $6.58 per share. On 
February 26, 2014, we had approximately 157 holders of record of common stock. We have not declared or paid dividends on our common stock 
and do not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Additionally, any cash dividends declared or paid would 
require prior written consent under the terms of the loan and security agreement entered on September 30, 2011, as amended on December 13, 
2011, and June 30, 2012, with Comerica Bank, or collectively, the Amended Credit Agreement.  
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Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 

     High      Low   

Year Ended December 31, 2013:        

First Quarter     $ 4.55       $ 2.90    
Second Quarter     $ 5.58      $ 4.16    
Third Quarter     $ 6.77       $ 4.34    
Fourth Quarter     $ 7.13      $ 5.61    

Year Ended December 31, 2012:        

First Quarter     $ 4.53      $ 2.62    
Second Quarter     $ 4.13       $ 3.00    
Third Quarter     $ 3.78      $ 3.00    
Fourth Quarter     $ 3.52       $ 2.68    
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Stock Performance Graph (1)  

The following graph shows the total stockholder return of an investment of $100 in cash (and the reinvestment of any dividends thereafter) 
on December 31, 2008 and tracked the performance through December 31, 2013 for (i) our common stock, (ii) the NASDAQ Biotechnology 
Stocks Index, (iii) the Amex Biotech Index, and (iv) the NASDAQ Stock Market (United States) Index. Our stock price performance shown in 
the graph below is based upon historical data and is not indicative of future stock price performance.  

Comparison of 5-year Cumulative Total Return on Investment  
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     December 31,   
     2008      2009      2010      2011      2012      2013   

Cerus Corporation     $ 100.00      $ 284.29       $ 351.43       $ 400.00       $ 451.43       $ 921.43    
NASDAQ Biotech Index       100.00         115.63         132.98         148.69         196.12         324.80    
AMEX Biotech Index       100.00        145.58         200.51         168.65         239.05         360.10    
NASDAQ       100.00         143.89         168.22         165.19         191.47         264.84    
  
(1) The graph and the other information furnished in this section is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed “filed” with the SEC and is not to 

be incorporated by references to any filing of Cerus Corporation under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Act of 1934, whether 
made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language in such filing. 
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The following table summarizes certain selected financial data for the five years ended December 31, 2013, which has been derived from 
audited consolidated financial statements. The information presented below may not be indicative of future results and should be read in 
conjunction with “Item 7 —Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ,” and the consolidated 
financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data 

     Year Ended December 31,   
(in thousands, except per share amounts)    2013     2012     2011     2010     2009   

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:             

Product related:             

Product revenue     $ 39,657      $ 36,695      $ 30,602      $ 21,677      $ 16,751    
Cost of product revenue       22,602       20,616        18,535       12,046        1,231    

                                                   

Gross profit on product revenue       17,055        16,079        12,067        9,631        15,520    
Government grants and cooperative agreements revenue       0       91        2,442       1,432        1,231    
Loss from operations       (28,299 )      (17,300 )      (15,924 )      (15,958 )      (23,833 )  
Net loss       (43,337 )     (15,917 )      (16,982 )     (16,911 )      (24,135 )  
Net loss per common share:             

Basic     $ (0.64 )    $ (0.29 )    $ (0.35 )    $ (0.42 )    $ (0.69 )  
Diluted     $ (0.64 )   $ (0.33 )    $ (0.35 )   $ (0.42 )    $ (0.69 )  

Weighted average common shares outstanding used for calculating 
loss per common share:             

Basic       67,569       54,515        48,050       40,300        34,750    
Diluted       67,569        55,061        48,050        40,300        34,750    

     December 31,   
(in thousands)    2013      2012      2011      2010      2009   

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:                 

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments     $ 57,676      $ 26,696       $ 25,784      $ 30,009       $ 19,931    
Working capital       38,730         18,383         18,625         22,052         19,446    
Total assets       83,381        48,919         45,367        48,167         34,491    
Long-term obligations       1,162         4,199         5,940         4,732         130    
Total stockholders’  equity       42,795        19,107         18,313        23,732         21,448    
  
(1) The statements of operations data for the year ended December 31, 2010 included (i) acquisition related costs of $0.5 million related to our 

acquisition of certain assets of BioOne in August 2010 and (ii) a gain of $0.3 million associated with relinquishing our shares in BioOne as 
part of the consideration for the acquisition of BioOne. 

(2) The statements of operations data for the year ended December 31, 2009 included (i) an impairment charge of $2.3 million related to our 
investment in BioOne, (ii) a gain of $0.8 million associated with relinquishing our shares in Anza Therapeutics, (iii) a settlement gain of 
$1.4 million associated with certain transition services provided by Baxter in 2006, and (iv) a charge of $0.8 million related to an approved 
restructuring plan. 

1 2 
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This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes 
thereto included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013. Operating results for the year ended December 31, 
2013 are not necessarily indicative of results that may occur in future periods.  

Overview  

Since our inception in 1991, we have devoted substantially all of our efforts and resources to the research, development, clinical testing 
and commercialization of the INTERCEPT Blood System and, from 2001 until late 2007, immunotherapies for cancer and infectious disease. 
The INTERCEPT Blood System is designed for three blood components. The INTERCEPT Blood System for platelets, or platelet system, and 
our INTERCEPT Blood System for plasma, or plasma system, have received CE marks and are being marketed and sold in a number of 
countries around the world including those in Europe, The Commonwealth of Independent States, or CIS, and the Middle East.  

In 2012, the United States Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, accepted our proposed modular Premarket Approval Application, or 
PMA, shell for our plasma system. In November 2013, we submitted the fourth and final module under the PMA for plasma and have 
subsequently been informed that the FDA has confirmed the completeness of the filing and considers the application “filed.” The filed PMA for 
the plasma system is now in the 180 day substantive review period. During this review period, we will need to satisfactorily respond to any 
minor or major deficiency letter we may receive before the FDA can complete their review of the PMA.  

In February 2013, we reached agreement with the FDA regarding our proposed modular PMA shell for the platelet system. We have 
submitted two of the three modules agreed upon as part of the PMA shell and expect to submit the third and final module in the second quarter 
of 2014, pending our ability to successfully respond to questions posed by the FDA on the first two submitted modules and completing an in 
vitro study currently in process that will be submitted as part of the third and final module. The ongoing regulatory efforts for both the platelet 
and plasma system PMAs, as well as our development activities for the red blood cell system, will result in increased research and development 
expenses in future periods. Our ability to conduct and complete additional clinical trials required by the FDA to support approval in the United 
States is subject to our ability to generate sufficient cash flows from our operations or obtain adequate funding from external sources before we 
initiate any such trials or studies.  

We are developing the INTERCEPT Blood System for red blood cells, or red blood cell system, and are currently performing in vitro and 
license-enabling clinical trials for CE mark approval. Subject to the availability of adequate funding from partners and/or the capital markets, we 
intend to complete development activities for the red blood cell system necessary for potential CE mark approval. We are currently conducting a 
Phase II recovery and lifespan study and plan to complete that study and certain other prerequisites before proposing a Phase III clinical trial 
protocol for the red blood cell system in support of a potential regulatory approval in the United States. These development activities will result 
in increased research and development expenses in future periods, and our ability to conduct and complete any clinical trials of the red blood cell 
system to support approval in the United States and Europe is subject to our ability to generate sufficient cash flows from our operations or 
obtain adequate funding from external sources. In any event, we will be required to obtain additional capital in order to complete the 
development of and obtain any regulatory approvals for the red blood cell system.  

Our near-term capital requirements are dependent on various factors, including operating costs and working capital investments associated 
with commercializing the INTERCEPT Blood System, costs associated with the modular PMA submission process for both the platelet and 
plasma systems, costs associated with pursuing potential regulatory approvals in other geographies where we do not currently sell our platelet 
and plasma  
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systems, costs associated with conducting in vitro studies and clinical development of our red blood cell system in Europe and the United States, 
including our two ongoing European Phase III clinical trials for the red blood cell system, and costs related to creating, maintaining and 
defending our intellectual property. Our long-term capital requirements will also be dependent on the success of our sales efforts, competitive 
developments, the timing, costs and magnitude of our longer-term clinical trials and other development activities related to our platelet, plasma 
and red blood cell systems, market preparedness and product launch activities for any of our products in geographies where we do not currently 
sell our products, and regulatory factors. Until we are able to generate a sufficient amount of product revenue and generate positive net cash 
flows from operations, which we may never do, meeting our long-term capital requirements is in large part subject to access to public and private 
equity and debt capital markets, as well as to collaborative arrangements with partners, augmented by cash generated from operations and 
interest income earned on the investment of our cash balances. We believe that cash received from product sales, our available cash balances and 
access to debt will be sufficient to meet our capital requirements for at least the next twelve months. If our assumptions prove to be incorrect, we 
could consume our available capital resources sooner than we currently expect.  

We have borrowed and in the future may borrow additional capital from institutional and commercial banking sources to fund future 
growth outside of our Amended Credit Agreement with Comerica Bank on terms that may include restrictive covenants, including covenants that 
restrict the operation of our business, liens on assets, high effective interest rates and repayment provisions that reduce cash resources and limit 
future access to capital markets. In addition, we expect to continue to opportunistically seek access to the equity capital markets to support our 
development efforts and operations. To the extent that we raise additional capital by issuing equity securities, our stockholders may experience 
substantial dilution. To the extent that we raise additional funds through collaboration or partnering arrangements, we may be required to 
relinquish some of our rights to our technologies or rights to market and sell our products in certain geographies, grant licenses on terms that are 
not favorable to us, or issue equity that may be substantially dilutive to our stockholders.  

As a result of economic conditions, general global economic uncertainty and other factors, we do not know whether additional capital will 
be available when needed, or that, if available, we will be able to obtain additional capital on reasonable terms. If we are unable to raise 
additional capital due to disruptions to the global credit and financial markets, general economic uncertainty or other factors, we may need to 
curtail planned development or commercialization activities. In addition, we will need to obtain additional funds to complete development 
activities for the red blood cell system necessary for potential regulatory approval in Europe. We do not plan on conducting any additional 
clinical trials of the red blood cell, platelet or plasma systems in the United States unless and until we can obtain sufficient additional funding or, 
at such time, our existing operations provide sufficient cash flow to conduct these trials.  

We recognize product revenues from the sale of our platelet and plasma systems in a number of countries around the world including those 
in Europe, the CIS and the Middle East. Although our revenues have grown over time and increased during the year ended December 31, 2013 
as compared to December 31, 2012, if we are unable to gain widespread commercial adoption in markets where our blood safety products are 
approved for commercialization, we will have difficulties achieving profitability. In order to commercialize all of our products and product 
candidates, we will be required to conduct significant research, development, preclinical and clinical evaluation, commercialization and 
regulatory compliance activities for our product candidates, which, together with anticipated selling, general and administrative expenses, are 
expected to result in substantial losses. Accordingly, we may never achieve a profitable level of operations in the future.  

In addition to the product revenues from sales of our platelet and plasma systems, we have recognized revenue from government grants 
and cooperative agreements. Historically, we have received significant awards in funding under cooperative agreements with the United States 
Department of Defense, or DoD, for the INTERCEPT Blood System. Any such funding is subject to the authorization of funds and approval of 
our research plans by various organizations within the federal government, including the United States Congress. In August 2011, we were 
awarded a $2.1 million grant from the DoD to support the development of our red blood  
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cell system. We have recognized revenue associated with this award as qualified costs were incurred for reimbursement over the performance 
period of one year from the date of issuance. We have exhausted the remaining availability under the grant and recognized $0 and $0.1 million 
during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The general economic environment, coupled with tight federal budgets, has 
led to a general decline in the amount available for government funding and we do not expect any revenue from government grants and 
cooperative agreements for the foreseeable future, if at all.  

Collaborations  

Aduro BioTech  

In 2007, we spun-off our immunotherapy business, and in 2009, we entered into agreements to out-license certain immunotherapy 
technologies to Aduro BioTech, or Aduro. In connection with those agreements, we received preferred shares of Aduro. Pursuant to these license 
agreements, we are eligible to receive a 1% royalty fee on any future sales resulting from the licensed technology. To date we have not received 
any royalty payments from Aduro pursuant to this agreement. As of December 31, 2013, our ownership in Aduro was less than 3% on a fully 
diluted basis. Since receiving preferred stock in Aduro, we have carried our investment in Aduro at zero on our consolidated balance sheet.  

Fresenius Kabi  

We pay royalties to Fresenius Kabi AG, or Fresenius, on INTERCEPT Blood System product sales under certain agreements which arose 
from the sale of the transfusion therapies division of Baxter International Inc., or Baxter, in 2007, to Fenwal Inc., or Fenwal (Fenwal was 
acquired by Fresenius in 2012), at rates that vary by product: 10% of product sales for the platelet system, and 3% of product sales for the 
plasma system. Fresenius has assumed Fenwal’s rights and obligations under these certain agreements, including our manufacturing and supply 
agreement. In this report, references to Fresenius include references to its predecessors-in-interest Fenwal and Baxter.  

We also paid Fresenius certain costs associated with the amended manufacturing and supply agreement we executed with Fresenius in 
December 2008, the Original Supply Agreement, for the manufacture of INTERCEPT finished disposable kits for our platelet and plasma 
systems through December 31, 2013. Under the Original Supply Agreement, we paid Fresenius a set price per disposable kit, which was 
established annually, plus a fixed surcharge per disposable kit. In addition, volume driven manufacturing overhead was paid or refunded if actual 
manufacturing volumes were higher or lower than the annually estimated production volumes. We were also obligated under the Original Supply 
Agreement to supply certain disposable kit components to Fresenius, at no cost, for the manufacture of our kits. This required us to enter into 
manufacturing and supply arrangements with certain other manufacturers for those components, some of which contain minimum purchase 
commitments.  

In November 2013, we amended the Original Supply Agreement with Fresenius, with the new terms effective January 1, 2014, the 2013 
Amendment. Under the 2013 Amendment, Fresenius is obligated to sell, and we are obligated to purchase, up to a certain specified annual 
volume of finished disposable kits for the platelet and plasma systems from Fresenius for both clinical and commercial use. Once the specified 
annual volume of disposable kits is purchased from Fresenius, we are able to purchase additional quantities of disposable kits from other third-
party manufacturers. The 2013 Amendment also provides for fixed pricing for finished kits with successive decreases in pricing at certain annual 
production volumes. In addition, the 2013 Amendment requires us to purchase additional specified annual volumes of sets per annum if and 
when an additional Fresenius manufacturing site is identified and qualified to make INTERCEPT disposable kits subject to mutual agreement on 
pricing for disposable kits manufactured at the additional site. Fresenius is also obligated to purchase and maintain specified inventory levels of 
our proprietary inactivation compounds and adsorption media from us at fixed prices. The term of the 2013 Amendment extends through 
December 31, 2018, subject to termination by either party upon thirty months prior written notice, in the case of Fresenius, or twenty-four 
months prior written  
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notice, in our case. We and Fresenius each have normal and customary termination rights, including termination for material breach. We do not 
currently have plans to terminate our agreement with Fresenius and understand that Fresenius currently plans to continue operating under the 
amended agreement.  

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we provided for and settled claims for warranty obligations of $0.9 million related to 
replacement costs for certain of our products that we identified were defective or had the potential of being defective. In connection with the 
warranty claims incurred by us and remediation of those claims during the year ended December 31, 2012, we filed a warranty claim against 
Fresenius, which they accepted. As a result, we recorded a current asset of $1.8 million on our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 
2012 representing the full amount of the warranty claim against Fresenius. We also wrote-down the value of certain unsalable inventory of $1.7 
million related to these products as an offsetting warranty claim against Fresenius. As of December 31, 2013 the Company no longer has a 
warranty claim against Fresenius.  

In August 2010, we completed an acquisition of certain assets of BioOne Corporation, or BioOne, including the commercialization rights 
that both Fresenius and we granted to BioOne for both the platelet and plasma systems. Concurrent with the acquisition, Fresenius and we 
terminated the commercialization rights we and Fresenius granted to BioOne. As a consequence of the termination, and pursuant to a pre-
existing agreement with Fresenius, our commercialization rights to the platelet and plasma systems under our 2005 and 2006 agreements with 
Fresenius became worldwide. As consideration for the acquired BioOne assets, we relinquished all shares we held in BioOne valued at 
approximately $0.3 million and issued approximately 1.2 million shares of our common stock to BioOne valued at approximately $3.4 million, 
of which approximately 1.0 million shares were issued at the close of the acquisition on August 24, 2010 and the remaining 0.2 million shares 
were issued on February 25, 2011. Accordingly, at the acquisition date, we recorded the fair value of the assets acquired, consisting of 
commercialization rights in Asia of $2.0 million and illuminators of $0.4 million, with the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the 
asset acquired recorded as goodwill of $1.3 million. The recognition of goodwill was attributable to the buyer-specific value derived by us as a 
result of acquiring the commercialization rights in certain Asian countries in order to complete the global commercialization rights for our 
platelet and plasma systems.  

Equity and Debt Agreements  

MLV and Cantor  

We entered into an At-The-Market Issuance Sales Agreement in June 2011, as amended in January 2012 and August 2012, or collectively 
the MLV Agreement, with MLV & Co. LLC, formerly McNicoll, Lewis & Vlak LLC, or MLV, that provides for the issuance and sale of shares 
of our common stock over the term of the MLV Agreement having an aggregate offering price of up to $20.0 million from time to time through 
MLV as our sales agent. We also entered into a Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement, or the Cantor Agreement, in August 2012, with 
Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., or Cantor, that provides for the issuance and sale of shares of our common stock over the term of the Cantor Agreement 
having an aggregate offering price of up to $30.0 million through Cantor as our sales agent. During the year ended December 31, 2011, 
approximately 3.5 million shares of our common stock were sold under the MLV Agreement for aggregate net proceeds of $9.7 million. During 
the year ended December 31, 2012, we sold an aggregate of approximately 4.5 million additional shares of our common stock under the MLV 
Agreement and the Cantor Agreement for aggregate net proceeds of $13.8 million. During the year ended December 31, 2013, we sold an 
aggregate of approximately 5.4 million shares of our common stock under the Cantor Agreement for aggregate net proceeds of $23.5 million. At 
December 31, 2013, we had less than $0.1 million and approximately $1.5 million of common stock available to be sold under the MLV 
Agreement and Cantor Agreement, respectively.  

Debt Agreements  

We entered into a loan and security agreement on September 30, 2011, as amended effective on December 13, 2011, and June 30, 2012, or 
collectively, the Amended Credit Agreement, with Comerica Bank, or  
   

42  

SM 



Table of Contents  

Comerica. The Amended Credit Agreement provides for an aggregate borrowing of up to $12.0 million, comprised of a growth capital loan of up 
to $5.0 million, or Growth Capital Loan, and a formula based revolving line of credit of up to $7.0 million. We pledged all current and future 
assets, excluding our intellectual property and 35% of our investment in our subsidiary, Cerus Europe B.V., as security for borrowings under the 
Amended Credit Agreement. We are required to maintain compliance with certain customary and routine financial covenants, including 
maintaining a minimum cash balance of $2.5 million with Comerica and achieving certain minimum revenue levels. On September 30, 2011, we 
borrowed $5.0 million under the Growth Capital Loan, substantially all of which was used to repay our prior debt with Oxford Finance 
Corporation, or Oxford, with the remainder used for general corporate purposes. In addition, we have drawn against our revolving line of credit 
and had an outstanding balance of $3.4 million at December 31, 2013. In April 2013, we repaid in full the Growth Capital Loan balance and all 
accrued interest, as well as a scheduled final payment, in an aggregate amount of $4.2 million. We have no further obligations, nor are there any 
further funds available under the Growth Capital Loan.  

Critical Accounting Policies and Management Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements requires us to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our 
estimates, including those related to revenue recognition, inventory valuation, certain accrued liabilities, valuation and impairment of purchased 
intangibles and goodwill, valuation of warrants, valuation of stock options under share-based payments, valuation allowance of our deferred tax 
assets and uncertain income tax positions. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form our basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.  

We believe the following critical accounting policies require us to make significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our 
financial statements:  

• Revenue —Revenue is recognized when (i) persuasive evidence of an agreement exists; (ii) services have been rendered or product has 
been delivered; (iii) pricing is fixed or determinable; and (iv) collection is reasonably assured.  

Revenue related to product sales is generally recognized when we fulfill our obligations for each element of an agreement. For all sales of 
our INTERCEPT Blood System products, we use a binding purchase order and signed sales contract as evidence of a written agreement. We sell 
INTERCEPT Blood System for platelets and plasma directly to blood banks, hospitals, universities, government agencies, as well as to 
distributors in certain regions. Generally, our contracts with customers do not provide for open return rights, except within a reasonable time 
after receipt of goods in the case of defective or non-conforming product. Deliverables and the units of accounting vary according to the 
provisions of each purchase order or sales contract. For revenue arrangements with multiple elements, we determine whether the delivered 
elements meet the criteria as separate units of accounting. Such criteria require that the deliverable have stand-alone value to the customer and 
that if a general right of return exists relative to the delivered item, delivery or performance of the undelivered item(s) is considered probable and 
substantially in our control. Once we determine if the deliverable meets the criteria for a separate unit of accounting, we must determine how the 
consideration should be allocated between the deliverables and how the separate units of accounting should be recognized as revenue. 
Consideration received is allocated to elements that are identified as discrete units of accounting based on the best estimated selling price. We 
have determined that vendor specific objective evidence is not discernible due to variability in our pricing across the regions into which we sell 
our products. Since our products are novel and unique and are not sold by others, third-party evidence of selling price is unavailable. Freight 
costs charged to customers are recorded as a component of revenue under ASC Topic 605, “Accounting for Shipping and Handling Fees and 
Costs” and value-added-taxes, or VAT, that we invoice to our customers and remit to governments, are recorded on a net basis, which excludes 
such VAT from product revenue.  
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Revenue related to the cost reimbursement provisions under development contracts is recognized as the costs on the projects are incurred. 
We receive certain United States government grants and contracts that support research in defined research projects. These grants generally 
provide for reimbursement of approved costs incurred as defined in the various grants.  

•Inventory —We own certain components of INTERCEPT disposable kits in the form of work-in-process inventory and finished goods, 
UVA illuminators, and certain replacement parts for our illuminators. While it is not customary for our inventory production cycle to exceed 
twelve months, under the Original Supply Agreement with Fresenius, our supply chain for certain of these components, held as work-in-process 
on our consolidated balance sheets, could potentially take in excess of one year to complete production before being utilized in finished 
INTERCEPT disposable kits. We maintain an inventory balance based on our current sales projections, and at each reporting period, we evaluate 
whether our work-in-process inventory will be consumed in production of finished units in order to sell to existing and prospective customers 
within the next twelve-month period. We use judgment to factor in lead times for the production of our finished units to meet forecasted 
demands. If actual results differ from those estimates, work-in-process inventory could potentially accumulate for periods exceeding one year.  

Under the Original Supply Agreement with Fresenius, our carrying value of INTERCEPT disposable kits was comprised of an annually set 
base price. In addition, at the end of each year, volume driven manufacturing overhead was either paid to or refunded to us by Fresenius if 
manufacturing volumes were higher or lower than the anticipated manufacturing volumes at the time the base price was established. As a result, 
manufacturing overhead could fluctuate and required us to use judgment in accruing the manufacturing overhead, which affected the per unit 
carrying cost of our finished goods. In addition, we used judgment in determining whether the manufacturing overhead was a cost of our 
inventory and recoverable when product is sold. We used significant judgment and evaluated manufacturing variances incurred during periods of 
abnormally low production by considering a variety of factors including the reasons for low production volumes, anticipated future production 
levels that correlate to and offset volumes experienced during abnormally low production cycles and contractual requirements. We recorded 
manufacturing variances incurred during periods without production as a component of “Cost of product revenue” on our consolidated 
statements of operations.  

Under the 2013 Amendment with Fresenius, Fresenius is obligated to sell, and we are obligated to purchase, up to a certain specified 
annual volume of finished disposable kits for the platelet and plasma systems from Fresenius for both clinical and commercial use. Once the 
specified annual volume of disposable kits is purchased from Fresenius, we are able to purchase additional quantities of disposable kits from 
other third-party manufacturers. The amended terms also provides for fixed pricing for finished kits with successive decreases in pricing at 
certain annual production volumes. Fresenius is also obligated to purchase and maintain specified inventory levels of our proprietary inactivation 
compounds and adsorption media from us at fixed prices.  

Inventory is recorded at the lower of cost, determined on a first in, first-out basis, or market value. Our platelet and plasma systems’ 
disposable kits generally have a two-year shelf life from the date of manufacture.  

Illuminators and replacement parts do not have regulated expiration dates. We use significant judgment to analyze and determine if the 
composition of our inventory is obsolete, slow-moving, or unsalable and frequently review such determinations. Generally, we write-down 
specifically identified unusable, obsolete, slow-moving, or known unsalable inventory that has no alternative use in the period that it is first 
recognized by using a number of factors including product expiration dates, open and unfulfilled orders, and sales forecasts. Any write-down of 
our inventory to net realizable value establishes a new cost basis and will be maintained even if certain circumstances suggest that the inventory 
is recoverable in subsequent periods. Costs associated with the write-down of inventory are recorded in “Cost of product revenue” on our 
consolidated statements of operations. We also wrote-down the value of certain unsalable inventory related to the products covered under the 
warranty claims against Fresenius.  
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•Accrued expenses —We record accrued liabilities for expenses related to certain contract research activities and development services, 
including those related to clinical trials, preclinical safety studies and external laboratory studies, as well as development activities being 
performed by third parties. Some of those accrued liabilities are based on estimates because billings for these activities may not occur on a 
timely basis consistent with the performance of the services. Specifically, accruals for clinical trials require us to make estimates surrounding 
costs associated with patients at various stages of the clinical trial, pass through costs to clinical sites, contract research organization costs 
including fees, database development, and reporting costs, among others.  

•Goodwill and intangible assets —In August 2010, we acquired certain assets from BioOne. We accounted for the acquisition as a 
business combination in accordance with ASC Topic 805, “Business Combinations.” In connection with the acquisition, we used significant 
judgment, including, but not limited to, judgments as to cash flows, discount rates, and economic lives, in identifying the assets acquired and in 
determining the fair values to record the purchased assets on our consolidated balance sheet. In addition, under ASC Topic 805, we were 
required to assess the fair value of the non-controlling interest that we held in BioOne prior to the acquisition. We determined that a considerable 
amount of the purchase consideration was goodwill, which represents value unique to us as the holder of worldwide rights to the INTERCEPT 
Blood System. We may be unable to realize the recorded value of the acquired assets and our assumptions may prove to be incorrect, which may 
require us to write-down or impair the value of the assets if and when facts and circumstances indicate a need to do so. We perform an 
impairment test on our goodwill annually on August 31 of each fiscal year or more frequently if indicators of impairment exist. Effective 
January 1, 2012, the test for goodwill impairment may be assessed using qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that 
the fair value of a reporting unit is less than the carrying amount. If we determine that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting 
unit is less than the carrying amount, we must then proceed with performing the quantitative two-step process to test goodwill for impairment; 
otherwise, goodwill is not considered impaired and no further testing is warranted. We may choose not to perform the qualitative assessment to 
test goodwill for impairment and proceed directly to the quantitative two-step process; however, we may revert to the qualitative assessment to 
test goodwill for impairment in any subsequent period. The first step of the two-step process compares the fair value of each reporting unit with 
the respective carrying amount, including goodwill. We have determined that we operate in one reporting unit and estimate the fair value of our 
one reporting unit using the enterprise approach under which we consider our quoted market capitalization as reported on the Nasdaq Global 
Market. We consider quoted market prices that are available in active markets to be the best evidence of fair value. We also consider other 
factors, which include future forecasted results, the economic environment and overall market conditions. If the fair value of the reporting unit 
exceeds the carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered impaired and, therefore, the second step of the impairment test is 
unnecessary. The second step of the two-step process, which is used to measure the amount of impairment loss, compares the implied fair value 
of each reporting unit’s goodwill with the respective carrying amount of that goodwill. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill 
exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess. On August 31, 2013, we 
performed our annual review of goodwill as described above and determined that goodwill was not impaired during the year ended 
December 31, 2013. We will continue to monitor events and changes in circumstances that could indicate carrying amounts of our intangible 
assets may not be recoverable. When such events or changes in circumstances occur, we assess recoverability by determining whether the 
carrying value of such assets will be recovered through the undiscounted expected future cash flows. If the expected undiscounted future cash 
flows are less than the carrying amount of these assets, we then measure the amount of the impairment loss based on the excess of the carrying 
amount over the fair value of the assets. No events or changes in circumstances arose during the year ended December 31, 2013, which would 
require us to test the recoverability of our intangible assets.  

•Warrants —In August 2009 and November 2010, we issued warrants to purchase 2.4 million and 3.7 million shares of common stock, 
respectively. The material terms of the warrants were identical under each issuance except for the exercise price, date issued and expiration date. 
We classified the warrants as a liability on our consolidated balance sheets as the warrants contain certain material terms which require us (or our 
successor)  
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to purchase the warrants for cash in an amount equal to the value of the unexercised portion of the warrants in connection with certain change of 
control transactions. In addition, we may also be required to pay cash to a warrant holder under certain circumstances if we are unable to timely 
deliver the shares acquired upon warrant exercise to such holder.  

The fair value of these outstanding warrants is calculated using a combination of the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and/or binomial-
lattice option-pricing model and is adjusted accordingly at each reporting period. Option-pricing models require that we use significant 
assumptions and judgment to determine appropriate inputs to the model. Some of the assumptions that we rely on include the volatility of our 
stock over the life of the warrant, risk-free interest rate and the probability of a change of control occurring. The binomial-lattice option-pricing 
model also considers a certain number of share price movements and the probability of each outcome happening.  

Changes resulting from the revaluation of warrants to fair value are recorded in “Revaluation of warrant liability” on the consolidated 
statements of operations. Upon the exercise or modification to remove the provisions which require the warrants to be treated as a liability, the 
fair value of the warrants will be reclassified from a liability to stockholders’ equity on our consolidated balance sheets and no further 
adjustment to the fair value would be made in subsequent periods.  

Warrants to purchase approximately 0.2 million and 5,000 shares of common stock were exercised during the years ended December 31, 
2013 and 2012, respectively, resulting in aggregate net proceeds of approximately $0.6 million and $ 16,000, respectively. At December 31, 
2013 approximately 5.9 million warrants remain outstanding.  

•Stock-based compensation —We issue stock-based awards to our employees, contractors and members of our Board of Directors, as 
strategic, long-term incentives. We also maintain an active employee stock purchase plan within the meaning of Section 423(b) of the Internal 
Revenue Code. We record stock-based compensation expense for employee awards in accordance with ASC Topic 718, “Compensation—Stock 
Compensation.” We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the grant-date fair value of stock-based awards. The Black-
Scholes option pricing model requires that we use assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables to determine appropriate 
inputs to the model, which include the expected term of the grants, actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors, including 
forfeitures, our expected stock price volatility, the risk-free interest rate and expected dividends. The grant-date fair value of stock-based awards 
is then recognized as stock-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is the vesting period, and 
is adjusted for estimated forfeitures. To the extent that stock options contain performance criteria for vesting, stock-based compensation is 
recognized once the performance criteria are probable of being achieved. We apply the provisions of ASC Topic 505-50, “Equity Based 
Payment to Non-Employees” for our stock-based awards issued to non-employees. Under the provisions, the measurement date at which the fair 
value of the stock-based award is measured to be the earlier of (i) the date at which a commitment for performance by the grantee to earn the 
equity instrument is reached or (ii) the date at which the grantee’s performance is complete. We recognize stock-based compensation expense for 
the fair value of the vested portion of the non-employee awards in our consolidated statements of operations.  

•Income taxes —Since our inception, we have accumulated significant net operating losses and research and development credits that may 
be used in future periods to offset future taxable income. We currently estimate that we may not be able to utilize all of our deferred tax assets. In 
addition, we may not generate future taxable income prior to the expiration of our net operating loss carry forwards and research and 
development credits. Timing and significance of any estimated future taxable income is highly subjective and is beyond the control of 
management due to uncertainties in market conditions, economic environments in which we operate, and timing of regulatory approval of our 
products. We do not recognize tax positions that do not have a greater than 50% likelihood of being recognized upon review by a taxing 
authority having full knowledge of all relevant information. Use of a valuation allowance is not an appropriate substitute for the derecognition of 
a tax position.  
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We recognize accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in our income tax expense. To date, we have not recognized any 
interest and penalties in our consolidated statements of operations, nor have we accrued for or made payments for interest and penalties. We 
continue to carry a full valuation allowance on all of our deferred tax assets. Although we believe it more likely than not that a taxing authority 
would agree with our current tax positions, there can be no assurance that the tax positions we have taken will be substantiated by a taxing 
authority if reviewed. Our tax years 1998 through 2013 remain subject to examination by the taxing jurisdictions due to unutilized net operating 
losses and research credits.  

Results of Operations  

Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011  

Revenue  
   

Product revenue increased by $3.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012, 
primarily as a result of higher unit sales volume of our disposable kits, notably our plasma system kits. The increase in sales of plasma 
disposable kits was due in part to first time purchases of plasma kits by certain existing platelet kit customers in 2013.Also contributing to the 
year-over-year increase in product revenue was higher unit sales volume for our illuminator devices driven by the continued increase in our 
overall customer base.  

Product revenue increased by $6.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 
primarily as a result of higher sales volume of our disposable platelet and plasma system kits sold to new customers. These sales were 
predominately generated by our distributors penetrating markets in Europe, the CIS, and the Middle East not previously utilizing the 
INTERCEPT Blood System. In addition, the increase in volume sales in 2012 as compared to 2011 is attributable to 2012 reflecting a full year of 
sales for existing customers who adopted throughout 2011. This increase was partially offset by a decline in the sales volume of our illuminators 
in 2012.  

We anticipate product revenue for both our platelet and plasma systems will continue to increase over the long-term in future periods as the 
INTERCEPT Blood System gains market acceptance in geographies where commercialization efforts are underway. Currently, a fairly 
concentrated number of distributors make up a significant portion of our product revenue. In 2013, we experienced weaker than expected growth 
due to declining performance by certain of our distributors. We recently announced that we have and are planning to continue to pursue certain 
strategic changes to our distribution territories. In 2013, we began transitioning certain territories to new distribution partners who we felt were 
capable of improved performance relative to their predecessors. Because these are new distribution partners who have limited experience 
marketing and selling our products, we cannot be certain that these new distribution partners will perform better than their predecessors. For 
2014, we are evaluating additional ways to optimize INTERCEPT penetration in key distributor territories, including potentially transitioning 
some of these territories to a Cerus direct sales model, which we believe will provide us with better visibility into and control of sales execution. 
However, implementing these changes to our distributor territories may temporarily impact the volume of INTERCEPT disposable kit sales as 
distribution partners sell through their disposable kit inventory, as well as require additional resources within the impacted territories. In certain 
cases, our distributors hold the regulatory approval to sell INTERCEPT for their particular  
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     Year Ended December 31,      % Change   

(in thousands, except percentages)    2013      2012      2011      

2013 to 
 

2012     

2012 to 
 

2011   
Product revenue     $ 39,657      $ 36,695       $ 30,602        8 %     20 %  
Government grants and cooperative agreements 

revenue       0         91         2,442         (100 )%      (96 )%  
                                      

Gross profit on product revenue     $ 39,657      $ 36,786       $ 33,044        8 %     11 %  
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geography. The loss of these distributors would require us to negotiate a transfer of the applicable regulatory approvals to us which may be 
difficult to do in a timely manner, or at all. We expect that our product revenues will be adversely impacted with the loss or transition of one or 
more of these distributors and will remain relatively flat to 2013 product revenue as we begin to transition to new distribution partners or begin 
selling direct in certain territories, with a disproportionate impact anticipated in the first half of 2014. However, we can provide no assurances 
that there will not be an adverse impact on future periods as well. Although our distribution agreements generally provide that the distributor will 
promptly and efficiently transfer its existing customer agreements to us or our designee, there can be no assurance that this will happen in a 
timely manner or at all. In the event that we are unable to find alternative distributors or mobilize our own sales efforts in the territories in which 
a particular distributor operates, customer supply, our reputation and our operating results may be adversely affected. The historical results may 
not be indicative of INTERCEPT Blood System revenue in the future.  

Revenue from government grants and cooperative agreements decreased by $0.09 million during the year ended December 31, 2013 
compared to the year ended December 31, 2012. This decrease was attributable to the use of all of the remaining award balance available under 
our DoD grant during the year ended December 31, 2012.  

Revenue from government grants and cooperative agreements decreased by $2.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2012 
compared to the year ended December 31, 2011. This decrease was attributable to the relatively low remaining award balance available under 
our DoD grant at the beginning of 2012, compared to the availability at the beginning of 2011, and the level of revenue generating activities 
under the award during the year ended December 31, 2012. We do not expect any revenue from government grants and cooperative agreements 
for the foreseeable future, if at all.  

Cost of Product Revenue  

Our cost of product revenue consists of the cost of the INTERCEPT Blood System inventory sold, royalties payable to Fresenius for 
product sales, provisions for obsolete, slow-moving and unsaleable product, certain order fulfillment costs, and to the extent applicable, costs for 
idle facilities. Inventory is accounted for on a first-in, first-out basis.  
   

Cost of product revenue increased by $2.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 
2012 primarily due to the higher volume of plasma disposable kits and illuminators sold during 2013 compared to 2012. This was partially offset 
by lower scrap charges for 2013 compared to 2012.  

Cost of product revenue increased by $2.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 
2011 primarily due to a higher volume of INTERCEPT disposable kits sold during 2012 compared to 2011. This was offset by lower per unit 
carrying costs in 2012 as compared to 2011 as a result of improved overhead absorption.  

Our realized gross margins on product sales were 43% during the year ended December 31, 2013, down from 44% during the year ended 
December 31, 2012. The decrease in gross margin on product sales was due to higher unit sales volume of plasma disposable kits and lower unit 
sales volume of platelet kits in 2013 compared to 2012. Plasma kits have a lower gross margin than do Platelet kits.  

Our realized gross margins on product sales were 44% during the year ended December 31, 2012, up from 39% during the year ended 
December 31, 2011. The improvement in gross margins on product sales was due to lower per unit carrying costs in 2012 as compared to 2011 
as a result of improved overhead absorption.  
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     Year Ended December 31,      % Change   

(in thousands, except percentages)    2013      2012      2011      

2013 to 
 

2012     

2012 to 
 

2011   
Cost of product revenue     $ 22,602      $ 20,616       $ 18,535        10 %     11 %  
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Changes in our gross margins are affected by various factors, including manufacturing and supply chain costs, the mix of product sold, and 
the mix of customers to which product is sold. Generally, we offer our distributors tiered volume discounts of varying magnitudes, depending on 
their purchase commitments. We may encounter unforeseen manufacturing difficulties which, at a minimum, may lead to higher than anticipated 
costs, scrap rates, manufacturing overhead variances or delays in manufacturing products. Our gross margins may be impacted in the future 
based on all of these criteria.  

We expect to maintain inventory at a level sufficient to meet forecasted demand for a relatively short time period and expect that inventory 
levels will remain flat as we transition certain of our distributor partnerships or begin selling direct in certain distributor territories. Our 2013 
Amendment with Fresenius fixes pricing based on certain specified annual production levels. We expect the revised terms in the 2013 
Amendment with Fresenius will provide for more stable and declining annual per unit cost of goods sold if we are able to increase the number of 
units that we procure from them and ultimately sell; however, actual manufacturing levels may differ from our assumptions and the time period 
during which we expect our inventory to remain flat may last longer that we currently expect.  

Research and Development Expenses  

Our research and development expenses include salaries and related expenses for our scientific personnel, non-cash stock based 
compensation, payments to consultants, costs to prepare and conduct preclinical and clinical trials, third-party costs for development activities, 
certain regulatory costs, costs associated with our facility related infrastructure, and laboratory chemicals and supplies. We do not maintain or 
evaluate our research and development expenses on a project-by-project basis. Our research and development expenses are allocated based on 
our assessment of the importance of a development project to our business, the probability of success and the amount of expense required to 
complete the project. We review all of our ongoing development projects on a regular basis and, as necessary, reallocate resources in a manner 
that we believe will best support the future growth of our business.  
   

Research and development expenses increased by $7.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2012 and increased by $0.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011, 
primarily due to increased costs associated with clinical development of our red blood cell system and pursuing the modular PMA submission 
process with the FDA for the platelet and plasma systems. Of the total research and development expenses incurred, non-cash stock-based 
compensation represented $0.5 million, $0.6 million and $0.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  

We anticipate our research and development spending will continue to increase over the near term as we continue our two Phase III clinical 
trials for the red blood cell system in Europe and the Phase II recovery and lifespan study in the U.S. In addition, we have undertaken and plan to 
perform certain additional in vitro studies and clinical development in the United States, which would result in further increased research and 
development spending. Subject to our ability to fund further development, clinical and regulatory efforts, we may also perform additional 
research and development activities in order to pursue regulatory approval for our products in the United States, including additional research 
and development that may be required in connection with our modular PMA submissions to the FDA for our platelet and plasma systems, 
including potential post-marketing studies if requested by the FDA. In addition, we may choose to invest in ongoing research and development 
efforts for our existing INTERCEPT products, including a full or partial redesign of the INTERCEPT illuminator. Due to the inherent 
uncertainties and risks associated with developing biomedical products,  
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     Year Ended December 31,      % Change   

(in thousands, except percentages)    2013      2012      2011      

2013 to 
 

2012     

2012 to 
 

2011   
Research and development     $ 15,187      $ 7,603       $ 7,178        100 %     6 %  
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including, but not limited to, intense and changing government regulation, uncertainty of future preclinical studies and clinical trial results and 
uncertainty associated with manufacturing, it is not possible to reasonably estimate the costs to complete these research and development 
projects. We face numerous risks and uncertainties associated with the successful completion of our research and development projects, which 
risks and uncertainties are discussed in further detail under “Item 1A— Risk Factors ” in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses  

Selling, general, and administrative expenses include salaries and related expenses for administrative personnel, non-cash stock based 
compensation, expenses for our commercialization efforts in a number of countries around the world including those in Europe, the CIS and the 
Middle East, expenses for accounting, tax, and internal control, legal and facility and infrastructure related expenses, and insurance premiums.  
   

Selling, general, and administrative expenses increased by $4.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year 
ended December 31, 2012 primarily due to increased spending in 2013 related to general corporate services, and the preparatory activities for a 
potential U.S. launch of our plasma and/or platelet systems. Selling, general, and administrative expenses increased by $2.6 million during the 
year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 primarily due to increased spending related to general corporate 
services, including legal fees, higher stock-based compensation charges, and to a lesser extent, higher workforce costs. Of the total selling, 
general, and administrative expenses incurred, non-cash stock-based compensation represented $2.8 million, $2.0 million and $1.4 million for 
the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  

We anticipate our selling, general and administrative expenses will increase as we continue to on-board resources, develop marketing plans 
and prepare for a potential commercial launch of our plasma and platelet systems in the U.S. The anticipated increase in our selling, general, and 
administrative costs will not be fully realized unless we can successfully complete the PMA process and obtain approval for one or both of the 
plasma or platelet systems. In addition, we expect additional increases to our selling, general and administrative costs as a result of adding 
additional resources to assist with our commercialization efforts in those distributor territories that we determine to transition to a different 
distribution partner or to a direct sales model in connection with the strategic changes we are implementing in our distributor territories.  

Amortization of Intangible Assets  

Amortization of intangible assets relates to a license to commercialize the INTERCEPT Blood System in certain Asian countries in 
connection with our acquisition of certain assets from BioOne. The BioOne transaction was accounted for as a business combination under ASC 
Topic 805, “Business Combination,” which assigned a fair value of $2.0 million to the intangible assets in August 2010. These intangible assets 
are being amortized over an estimated useful life of ten years and will be reviewed for impairment as facts and circumstances arise.  
   

Amortization of intangible assets remained flat during the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to both the years ended December 31, 
2012 and 2011, as there were no changes to the composition of our intangible  
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     Year Ended December 31,      % Change   

(in thousands, except percentages)    2013      2012      2011      

2013 to 
 

2012     

2012 to 
 

2011   
Selling, general and administrative     $ 29,965      $ 25,665       $ 23,053        17 %     11 %  

     Year Ended December 31,      % Change   

(in thousands, except percentages)    2013      2012      2011      

2013 to 
 

2012     

2012 to 
 

2011   
Amortization of intangible assets     $ 202      $ 202       $ 202        0 %     0 %  



Table of Contents  

assets or the assumptions used to determine the useful lives. In addition, no impairment charges were recognized related to our intangible assets 
during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.  

We expect that the amortization of our intangible assets to remain relatively consistent in future periods, unless facts and circumstances 
arise which may result in our intangible assets being impaired.  

Non-Operating Income (Expense), Net  

Non-operating income (expense), net consists of mark-to-market adjustments related to the calculated fair value of our outstanding 
warrants, foreign exchange gain (loss), interest charges incurred on our debt, interest earned from our short-term investment portfolio, and other 
non-operating gains and losses.  
   

Warrant liability  

In August 2009 and November 2010, we issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 2.4 million and 3.7 million shares of common stock, 
respectively, in connection with offerings of our common stock. The fair value of these outstanding warrants, which uses the Black-Scholes 
model and/or binomial-lattice option-pricing model, is classified as a liability on the consolidated balance sheets and is adjusted at each 
subsequent reporting period, until such time the instruments are exercised or otherwise modified to remove the provisions which require this 
treatment. Upon the exercise or modification to remove the provisions which require the warrants to be treated as a liability, the fair value of the 
warrants will be reclassified from liabilities to stockholders’ equity and no further adjustment to the fair value would be made in subsequent 
periods. Further changes in stock price will result in similar adjustment as needed.  

We recorded a non-cash loss from the revaluation of the warrant liability of $15.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, 
compared to a non-cash gain of $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, for a net change of $17.2 million. This change is primarily 
due to the change in our underlying stock price as compared to the strike price of the warrants. The non-cash gain from the revaluation of the 
warrant liability increased by $1.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 primarily 
due to a decline in the estimated volatility, which was derived by the movement of our underlying stock price, an overall decrease in our 
common stock price and the reduced duration of the remaining warrant terms.  

Foreign exchange gain (loss)  

Foreign exchange improved by $0.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to year ended December 31, 2012, and 
improved by $0.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011, which was primarily 
attributable to favorable foreign currency variations over that time period between the Euro and U.S. dollar, our functional currency.  

Interest expense  

Interest expense remained consistent for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012. In connection 
with the early repayment of our term loan with Comerica in April 2013 the  
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     Year Ended December 31,     % Change   

(in thousands, except percentages)    2013     2012     2011     
2013 to  
2012     

2012 to 
 

2011   
Revaluation of warrant liability     $ (15,099 )   $ 2,059      $ 486       (833 )%     324 %  
Foreign exchange gain (loss)       533        86        (529 )      520 %      116 %  
Interest expense       (520 )     (551 )      (964 )     6 %     43 %  
Other income, net       266        31        92        758 %      (66 )%  

                                   

Total non-operating (expense) income, net     $ (14,820 )   $ 1,625      $ (915 )     (1,012 )%     278 %  
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remaining unaccreted balance of the loan’s final payment fee and the unamortized discount were charged to interest expense. Interest expense 
decreased by $0.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the year ended December 31, 2011, due to lower interest rates 
from borrowings on our current credit facility with Comerica compared to our prior credit facility with Oxford, offset by interest paid for draws 
against our revolving credit facility with Comerica during the year ended December 31, 2012.  

Other income, net  

Other income, net increased $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily 
as a result of higher cash and investment balances during 2013. Other income, net was relatively consistent during the years ended December 31, 
2012 and 2011.  

Provision for Income Taxes  
   

Provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 primarily consists of foreign taxes as our wholly-owned 
subsidiary headquartered in Europe drives the commercialization efforts of the platelet and plasma systems in Europe, the CIS and the Middle 
East. We do not provide for United States income taxes on undistributed earnings of our foreign operations as we intend to permanently reinvest 
such earnings outside the United States. We also incurred income taxes associated with timing differences for acquired goodwill that is 
amortizable for tax purposes.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

In recent years, our sources of capital have primarily consisted of public offerings of equity securities, private issuance of debt instruments, 
and to a lesser extent, contribution from product sales and United States government grants and cooperative agreements, net of expenses.  

At December 31, 2013, we had cash and cash equivalents of $29.5 million. Our cash equivalents primarily consist of money market 
instruments, which are classified for accounting purposes as available-for-sale. Excess cash is typically invested in highly liquid instruments 
with high-quality credit rated corporate and government agency fixed-income securities in accordance with our investment policy.  

Operating Activities  

Net cash used in operating activities was $26.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to $13.9 million during the year 
ended December 31, 2012. The increase in net cash used in operating activities was primarily related to additional operating expenditures in 
support of the business. Also impacting this increase in net cash used in operating activities were changes in working capital with a net increase 
in the combined total for our accounts payable and accrued liabilities as a result of the timing of payments, and an increase in accounts 
receivable during the year ended December 31, 2013, relative to the corresponding period in 2012 due to a heavy concentration of sales 
transactions in the final weeks of the year ended December 31, 2013 as well as a higher rate of inventory build during the year ended 
December 31, 2013 compared to the corresponding period in 2012.  

Net cash used in operating activities was $13.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to $15.6 million during the year 
ended December 31, 2011. The decrease in net cash used in operating activities was primarily related to changes in working capital with a net 
increase in the combined total for our accounts payable and accrued liabilities as a result of the timing of payments, and a decrease in accounts 
receivable during the year  
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       Year Ended December 31,        % Change   

(in thousands, except percentages)    2013      2012      2011      

2013 to 
 

2012     

2012 to 
 

2011   
Provision for income taxes     $ 218      $ 242       $ 143        (10 )%     69 %  
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ended December 31, 2012, relative to the corresponding period in 2011 due to increased efforts in cash collections. This was offset by a higher 
rate of inventory build during the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the corresponding period in 2011. This increased inventory build 
in 2012 was a result in the increase in revenue growth for 2012 over 2011. In addition, at December 31, 2012, we recorded a current asset 
representing the accepted warranty claim we filed against Fresenius relating to product warranty claims incurred and remediated by us, which all 
occurred during the year ended December 31, 2012.  

Investing Activities  

Net cash used in investing activities was $29.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to $0.2 million provided by 
investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2012. The change was primarily the result of our decision to invest proceeds from a 
public offering of our common stock completed in March 2013 into short-term available-for-sale corporate debt securities and United States 
government agency securities.  

Net cash provided by investing activities was $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to $0.6 million during the year 
ended December 31, 2011. The decrease in investing activities was primarily due to the reinvestment of the proceeds received from the 
maturities of our then-existing investments into money market funds with original maturities of less than 90 days.  

Financing Activities  

Net cash provided by financing activities was $58.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to $14.9 million during 
the year ended December 31, 2012. The increase in financing activities was primarily due to proceeds received from our underwritten common 
stock offering which generated $38.0 million (net of $1.8 million in underwriter’s discounts and $0.5 in offering costs) and an additional $23.5 
million received from sales of our common stock offerings pursuant to the Cantor Agreement, offset slightly by repayment of debt principal.  

Net cash provided by financing activities was $14.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to $11.6 million during 
the year ended December 31, 2011. The increase in financing activities was primarily due to higher cash proceeds received from sales of our 
common stock offerings pursuant to the Cantor Agreement and the MLV Agreement. We also received the benefit of making nine months of 
interest-only payments on our growth capital facility with Comerica during the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to payments of both 
principal and interest on our prior debt during the corresponding period in 2011.  

Working Capital  

Working capital increased to $38.7 million at December 31, 2013, from $18.4 million at December 31, 2012, primarily due to proceeds 
from our underwritten common stock offering as well as sales of our common stock pursuant to the Cantor Agreement, offset by cash used in 
operations. This was partially offset by increases in our warrant liability.  

Working capital decreased to $18.4 million at December 31, 2012, from $18.6 million at December 31, 2011, primarily due to a net 
increase in the combined total for our accounts payable and accrued liabilities due to our vendors, and increases on the current portion of our 
debt as our obligation to pay principal payments occurred in October 2012, and decreases in accounts receivable due to our increased efforts to 
collect cash from our customers. This was partially offset by increases in inventory levels in order to be able to fulfill anticipated future customer 
demand for our products coupled with the management of our supply chain, decreases in our warrant liability and increases in other current asset 
primarily related to an accepted warranty claim we filed against Fresenius relating to product warranty claims incurred and remediated by us.  
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Capital Requirements  

Our near-term capital requirements are dependent on various factors, including operating costs and working capital investments associated 
with commercializing the INTERCEPT Blood System, costs associated with the modular PMA submission process for both the platelet and 
plasma system, costs associated with pursuing potential regulatory approvals in other geographies where we do not currently sell our platelet and 
plasma systems, costs associated with conducting in vitro studies and clinical development of our red blood cell system in Europe and the United 
States, including our two ongoing European Phase III clinical trials for the red blood cell system and costs related to creating, maintaining and 
defending our intellectual property. Our long-term capital requirements will also be dependent on the success of our sales efforts, competitive 
developments, the timing, costs and magnitude of our longer-term clinical trials and other development activities related to our platelet, plasma 
and red blood cell systems, market preparedness and product launch activities for any of our products in geographies where we do not currently 
sell our products, and regulatory factors. Until we are able to generate a sufficient amount of product revenue and generate positive net cash 
flows from operations, which we may never do, meeting our long-term capital requirements is in large part subject to access to public and private 
equity and debt capital markets, as well as to collaborative arrangements with partners, augmented by cash generated from operations and 
interest income earned on the investment of our cash balances. We believe that cash received from product sales, our available cash balances and 
access to debt will be sufficient to meet our capital requirements for at least the next twelve months. If our assumptions prove to be incorrect, we 
could consume our available capital resources sooner than we currently expect.  

We have borrowed and in the future may borrow additional capital from institutional and commercial banking sources to fund future 
growth outside of our Amended Credit Agreement with Comerica Bank on terms that may include restrictive covenants, including covenants that 
restrict the operation of our business, liens on assets, high effective interest rates and repayment provisions that reduce cash resources and limit 
future access to capital markets. In addition, we expect to continue to opportunistically seek access to the equity capital markets to support our 
development efforts and operations. To the extent that we raise additional capital by issuing equity securities, our stockholders may experience 
substantial dilution. To the extent we raise additional funds through collaboration or partnering arrangements, we may be required to relinquish 
some of our rights to our technologies or rights to market and sell our products in certain geographies, grant licenses on terms that are not 
favorable to us, or issue equity that may be substantially dilutive to our stockholders.  

As a result of general global economic uncertainty and other factors, we do not know whether additional capital will be available when 
needed, or that, if available, we will be able to obtain additional capital on reasonable terms. If we are unable to raise additional capital due to 
disruptions to the global credit and financial markets, general economic uncertainty or other factors, we may need to curtail planned 
development or commercialization activities. In addition, we will need to obtain additional funds to complete development activities for the red 
blood cell system necessary for potential regulatory approval in Europe. We do not plan on conducting any additional clinical trials of the red 
blood cell, platelet or plasma systems in the United States unless and until we can obtain sufficient additional funding or, at such time our 
existing operations provide sufficient cash flow to conduct these trials.  

Other Information  

Historically, we have received significant awards in funding under cooperative agreements with the DoD for the INTERCEPT Blood 
System. Any such funding is subject to the authorization of funds and approval of our research plans by various organizations within the federal 
government, including the United States Congress. As of March 31, 2012, we had exhausted the remaining availability under the August 2011 
DoD grant. The general economic environment, coupled with tight federal budgets, has led to a general decline in the amount available for 
government funding and we do not expect any revenue from government grants and cooperative agreements for the foreseeable future, if at all.  

We entered into the MLV Agreement in June 2011, as amended in January 2012 and August 2012, which provides for the issuance and 
sale of shares of our common stock over the term of the MLV Agreement having  
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an aggregate offering price of up to $20.0 million from time to time through MLV as our sales agent. We also entered into the Cantor Agreement 
in August 2012 with Cantor that provides for the issuance and sale of shares of our common stock over the term of the Cantor Agreement having 
an aggregate offering price of up to $30.0 million through Cantor as our sales agent. Future issuances and sales of shares of common stock by us 
under the MLV Agreement and Cantor Agreement, or the Sales Agreements, are subject to the continued effectiveness of our shelf registration 
statement referred to below. Sales of our common stock through MLV and Cantor will be made on the Nasdaq Global Market by means of 
ordinary brokers’ transactions at market prices, in block transactions or as otherwise agreed by us and MLV or Cantor, as applicable. Subject to 
the terms and conditions of the MLV Agreement and Cantor Agreement, MLV and Cantor will use commercially reasonable efforts to sell our 
common stock from time to time, based upon our instructions (including any price, time or size limits or other customary parameters or 
conditions we may impose). We are not obligated to make any sales of common stock under the Sales Agreements.  

The offering of common stock pursuant to each Sales Agreement will terminate upon the earlier of (1) the sale of all common stock subject 
to the applicable Sales Agreement and (2) termination of that Sales Agreement. Each Sales Agreement may be terminated by MLV or Cantor, as 
applicable, or us at any time upon 10 days notice to the other party, or by MLV or Cantor, as applicable, at any time in certain circumstances, 
including our undergoing a material adverse change. We pay MLV an aggregate commission rate equal to 3% of the gross proceeds of the sales 
price per share of any common stock sold through MLV under the MLV Agreement, and we pay Cantor 2% of the gross proceeds of the sales 
price per share of any common stock sold through Cantor under the Cantor Agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2011, 
approximately 3.5 million shares of our common stock were sold under the MLV Agreement for aggregate net proceeds of $9.7 million. During 
the year ended December 31, 2012, we sold an aggregate of approximately 4.5 million additional shares of our common stock under the MLV 
Agreement and the Cantor Agreement for aggregate net proceeds of $13.8 million. During the year ended December 31, 2013 we sold and 
aggregate of approximately 5.4 million shares of our common stock under the Cantor Agreement for aggregate net proceeds of $23.5 million. At 
December 31, 2013, we had less than $0.1 million and approximately $1.5 million of common stock available to be sold under the MLV 
Agreement and Cantor Agreement, respectively, subject to the continued effectiveness of our shelf registration statement referred to below.  

In December 2011, we filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 to offer and sell up to $150.0 million of common stock, preferred 
stock, warrants, and/or debt securities, less amounts sold under the Sales Agreement following the effectiveness of the shelf registration 
statement. The registration statement was declared effective in January 2012 and expires in January 2015.  

Commitments and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

Off-balance sheet arrangements  

We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2013 or 2012.  

Contractual Commitments  

The following summarizes our contractual commitments at December 31, 2013:  
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(in thousands)    Total      

Less than 
 

1 year      
1 - 3  
years      

4 - 5  
years      

After 5 
 

years   
Minimum purchase requirements     $ 4,689      $ 3,380      $ 1,309       $ 0      $ 0    
Debt       3,457         3,457         0         0         0    
Operating leases       1,919        1,147        695         77        0    
Other commitments       1,143         415         309         287         132    

                                                       

Total contractual obligations     $  11,208      $  8,399      $  2,313       $  364      $  132    
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Minimum purchase requirements  

Our minimum purchase commitments include certain components of our INTERCEPT Blood System which we purchase from third party 
manufacturers and have historically supplied to Fresenius at no cost for use in manufacturing finished INTERCEPT disposable kits. Under the 
2013 Amendment that we entered into with Fresenius, we also have certain minimum purchase commitments for the disposable kits that we 
purchase from Fresenius for our platelet and plasma systems.  

Operating leases  

We generally lease our office facilities and certain equipment under non-cancelable operating leases with initial terms in excess of one year 
that require us to pay operating costs, property taxes, insurance and maintenance. These facility leases generally contain renewal options and 
provisions adjusting the lease payments if those renewal options are exercised. Our lease payments have increased as we exercised a ten year 
extension option on December 10, 2009 to extend the term of our lease in Concord, California for our headquarters and exercised a five year 
extension option in January 2012, to extend the term of our lease in Amersfoort, The Netherlands for an additional five years following the 
original lease expiration of January 2013. However, we have the right to early terminate both our Concord lease and our Amersfoort lease, which 
may occur as early as January 2015 and February 2016, respectively. In June of 2013, we executed a new two year lease for additional space in 
Concord, California. The term of this new lease commenced on August 1, 2013 and continues for two years with four (4) two -year options for 
us to renew. Our facility leases qualify as operating leases under ASC Topic 840, “Leases” and as such, are not included on our consolidated 
balance sheets.  

Other commitments  

Our other commitments primarily consist of obligations for landlord financed leasehold improvements, which are in addition to the 
operating leases we have for office and laboratory space. We pay for the financed leasehold improvements as a component of rent and are 
required to reimburse our landlords over the remaining life of the respective leases. If we exercise our right to early terminate the lease in 
Concord, California for our headquarters, which may occur as early as January 2015, we would be required to pay for any remaining portion of 
the landlord financed leasehold improvements at such time. At December 31, 2013, we had an outstanding liability of $0.7 million related to 
these leasehold improvements. Our agreements with Fresenius require us to pay royalties on sales of the INTERCEPT Blood System at rates that 
vary by product: 10% of product sales for the platelet system and 3% of product sales for the plasma system. Such royalties are calculated based 
on future product sales and are not provided for in the table above as they are dependent on events that have not yet occurred.  

Debt  

The Amended Credit Agreement with Comerica Bank provides for an aggregate borrowing of up to $12.0 million, comprised of a growth 
capital loan of $5.0 million, or Growth Capital Loan, and a formula based revolving line of credit, or RLOC, of up to $7.0 million. We pledged 
all current and future assets, excluding our intellectual property and 35% of our investment in our subsidiary, Cerus Europe B.V., as security for 
borrowings under the Amended Credit Agreement.  

Concurrent with the execution of the original loan and security agreement in September 2011, we borrowed $5.0 million under the Growth 
Capital Loan, substantially all of which was used to repay our prior debt with Oxford, with the remainder used for general corporate purposes. 
The Growth Capital Loan, which was scheduled to mature on September 30, 2015, and bore a fixed interest rate of 6.37%, with interest–only 
payments due for the first twelve months, followed by equal principal and interest payments for the remaining 36 months. In April 2013, the 
Company repaid in full the Growth Capital Loan balance and all accrued interest as well as a scheduled final payment fee of $0.05 million, in an 
aggregate amount of $4.2 million. The Company has no further obligations, nor are there any further funds available under the Growth Capital 
Loan.  
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In September 2011, we incurred a commitment fee of $40,000 and loan fees of $50,000, which were recorded as a discount to our Growth 
Capital Loan and were being amortized as a component of interest expense using the effective interest method over the term of the Growth 
Capital Loan (discount was based on an implied interest rate of 7.07%). The Company was also required to make a final payment fee of 1% of 
the amounts drawn under Growth Capital Loan due on its prepayment of the Growth Capital Loan. The final payment fee was accreted to 
interest expense using the effective interest method over the life of the Growth Capital Loan upon draw. The remaining unaccreted balance of the 
final payment fee and unamortized discount was taken as an interest charge in April 2013 in connection with the repayment of that loan.  

The Amended Credit Agreement also provides for a RLOC of up to $7.0 million, or the RLOC Loan Amount. The amount available under 
the RLOC is limited to the lesser of (i) 80% of eligible trade receivables or (ii) the RLOC Loan Amount. At December 31, 2013, and 2012, we 
had $3.4 million and $3.2 million, respectively, outstanding under the RLOC. We are required to repay the principal drawn from the RLOC at 
the end of the RLOC term on June 30, 2014, or earlier if a portion or all of the outstanding RLOC exceeds the amount available under the 
RLOC. The RLOC bears a floating rate based on the lender’s prime rate plus 1.50%, with interest–only payments due each month. At both 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, the floating rate of the RLOC was at 4.75%. In September 2011, we incurred a commitment fee of $20,000. Upon 
amendment of the loan and security agreement in June 2012, we incurred another annual commitment fee of $20,000 and received a credit for 
the unused portion of the initial fee. We will incur a $20,000 commitment fee at each annual anniversary beginning June 30, 2013.  

We are required to maintain compliance with certain customary and routine financial covenants under the Amended Credit Agreement, 
including maintaining a minimum cash balance of $2.5 million at Comerica and achieving minimum revenue levels, which are measured 
monthly based on a six-month trailing basis and must be at least 75% of the pre-established future projected revenues for the trailing six-month 
period. Non-compliance with the covenants could result in the principal of the note becoming due and payable. As of December 31, 2013 and as 
of the date of this report, we were in compliance with the financial covenants as set forth in the Amended Credit Agreement.  

Financial Instruments  

Our investment policy is to manage our marketable securities portfolio to preserve principal and liquidity while maximizing the return on 
the investment portfolio to assist us in funding our operations. We currently invest our cash and cash equivalents in money market funds and 
interest-bearing accounts with financial institutions. Our money market funds are classified as Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy, in which 
quoted prices are available in active markets, as the maturity of money market funds are relatively short and the carrying amount is a reasonable 
estimate of fair value. Our available-for-sale securities related to corporate debt and United States government agency securities and were 
classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy, which uses observable inputs to quoted market prices, benchmark yields, reported trades, 
broker/dealer quotes or alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency. We maintain portfolio liquidity by ensuring that 
the securities have active secondary or resale markets. We did not record any other-than-temporary impairment losses during the years ended 
December 31, 2013, and 2012. Adverse global economic conditions, including the sovereign debt crisis in Europe, have had, and may continue 
to have, a negative impact on the market values of potential investments.  

   

Interest Rate Risk  

At December 31, 2013, we held cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $57.7 million. We do not believe our exposure to 
interest rate risk to be material given we held cash in interest-bearing accounts with financial institutions and the short-term nature of our 
investment portfolio consisted of highly liquid money market instruments and corporate debt and United States government agency securities 
with short-term maturities. The weighted average interest rates of our cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2013 were 0.31%.  
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Our exposure to market rate risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our money market instruments. We do not use derivative 
financial instruments. By policy, we may place future investments with high quality debt security issuers, limit the amount of credit exposure to 
any one issuer and limit duration by restricting the term for single securities and for the portfolio as a whole. Our investments are held and 
managed by a third-party capital management adviser that in turn, utilizes a combination of active market quotes and where necessary, 
proprietary pricing models as well as a subscribed pricing service, in order to estimate fair value. While we believe that we will be able to 
recognize the fair value of our money market instruments when they mature or are sold, or if we purchase investments in securities in the future, 
there can be no assurance that the markets for these securities will not deteriorate further or that the institutions that these securities are with will 
be able to meet their debt obligations.  

Foreign Currency Risk  

Our international operations are subject to risks typical of an international business, including, among other factors: differing political, 
economic, and regulatory climates, different tax structures, and foreign exchange volatility. We do not currently enter into any hedging contracts 
to normalize the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations. As a result, our future results could be materially impacted by changes in these or other 
factors.  

Product sales for our blood safety products are predominantly made in Europe and generally are invoiced to customers in Euros. In 
addition, we incur operating expenses, including payment for finished goods inventory of disposable kits for the platelet and plasma systems. 
These inventory purchases and operating expenses are generally paid in Euros and, to a much lesser degree, other foreign currencies. Our 
exposure to foreign exchange rate volatility is a direct result of our product sales, cash collection and expenses to support our international 
operations. Foreign exchange rate fluctuations are recorded as a component of non-operating income (expense), net on our consolidated 
statements of operations. Significant fluctuations in the volatility of foreign currencies relative to the United States dollar may materially impact 
our results of operations. An unfavorable 10% change in foreign currency exchange rates for our accounts receivable, accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies at December 31, 2013 would have negatively impacted our annual financial results 
by $0.2 million. Currently we do not have any near-term plans to enter into a formal hedging program to mitigate the effects of foreign currency 
volatility.  

   

Our consolidated financial statements, together with related notes and reports of Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public 
accounting firm, are listed in Item 15(a) and included herein.  

   

None.  

   

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Our principal executive officer and principal financial officer are responsible for 
establishing and maintaining “disclosure controls and procedures” (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e), promulgated under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) for our company. Based on their evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of 
December 31, 2013, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures 
were effective.  

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. During the last quarter of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, there were no 
changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal 
control over financial reporting.  
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Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, 
not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation 
of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues, if any, within a company have been detected. Our disclosure controls and 
procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives, and the principal executive officer and principal financial 
officer have concluded that these controls and procedures are effective at the “reasonable assurance” level.  

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, is discussed in the Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
included on page 67.  

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, 
has issued an audit report on our internal control over financial reporting, which report is included on page 68.  

   

None.  
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PART III  

Certain information required by Part III is omitted from this Annual Report on Form 10-K since we intend to file our definitive proxy 
statement for our 2014 annual meeting of stockholders, or the Proxy Statement, pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended, not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and certain information 
to be included in the proxy statement is incorporated herein by reference.  

   

Information required by this item regarding executive officers, directors and nominees for directors, including information with respect to 
our audit committee and audit committee financial expert, and the compliance of certain reporting persons with Section 16(a) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, will be included in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.  

Code of Ethics  

We have adopted the Cerus Corporation Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, or Ethics Code, that applies to all of our officers, directors 
and employees. The Ethics Code is available on our website at www.cerus.com on the “Corporate Governance” page of the section entitled 
“Investors.” If we make any substantive amendments to the Ethics Code or grant any waiver from a provision of the Ethics Code to any 
executive officer or director, we intend to promptly disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver as required by applicable laws. To satisfy our 
disclosure requirements, we may post any waivers of or amendments to the Ethics Code on our website in lieu of filing such waivers or 
amendments on a Form 8-K.  

Our employees are required to report any conduct that they believe in good faith to be an actual or apparent violation of the Ethics Code. 
The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors has established procedures to receive, retain and address complaints regarding accounting, 
internal accounting controls or auditing matters and to allow for the confidential and anonymous submission by employees of related concerns.  

   

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement.  

   

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement.  

   

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement.  

   

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement.  
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PART IV  
   

The following documents are being filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:  
   

   

Other information is omitted because it is either presented elsewhere, is inapplicable or is immaterial as defined in the instructions.  
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Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

  (a) Financial Statements . 

     Page   
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting       67    
Reports of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm       68    
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012       70    
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three years ended December 31, 2013       71    
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the three years ended December 31, 2013       72    
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’  Equity for the three years ended December 31, 2013       73    
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three years ended December 31, 2013       74    
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements       75    

  (b) Exhibits. 

Exhibit  
Number   Description of Exhibit  

  2.1(21)† 
  

Asset Purchase and Redemption Agreement by and between Cerus Corporation and BioOne Corporation, dated as of August 
24, 2010. 

  3.1(32)   Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Cerus Corporation. 

  3.2(32)   Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Cerus Corporation. 

  3.3(32)   Certificate of Designation of Series C Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Cerus Corporation. 

  3.4(10)   Amended and Restated Bylaws of Cerus Corporation. 

  4.1(1)   Specimen Stock Certificate. 

  4.2(16) 
  

Rights Agreement, dated as of November 3, 1999, as amended as of August 6, 2001, between Cerus Corporation and Wells 
Fargo Bank, N.A. (formerly known as Norwest Bank Minnesota, N.A.). 

  4.3(18) 
  

Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2009, between Cerus Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 
(which includes the form of Rights Certificate as Exhibit B thereto). 

  4.4(17)   Form of 2009 Warrant to Purchase Common Stock. 

  4.5(22)   Form of 2010 Warrant to Purchase Common Stock. 

  Supply and/or Manufacturing Agreements 

10.1(8)† 
  

Supply Agreement, dated December 19, 2007, by and between Cerus Corporation and Brotech Corporation d/b/a Purolite 
Company. 

10.2(8)†   Supply and Manufacturing Agreement, dated March 1, 2008, by and between Cerus Corporation and Porex Corporation. 

10.3(34)† 
  

First Amendment to Supply and Manufacturing Agreement, dated November 28, 2012, by and between Cerus Corporation 
and Porex Corporation. 
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Number   Description of Exhibit  

10.4# 
  

Amended and Restated Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated December 12, 2008, by and between Cerus 
Corporation and Fresenius Kabi AG (successor-in-interest to Fenwal, Inc.). 

10.5# 
  

Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated November 22, 2013, by and 
between Cerus Corporation and Fresenius Kabi Deutschland GmbH. 

10.6(12)† 
  

Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated September 30, 2008, by and between Cerus Corporation and NOVA 
Biomedical Corporation. 

10.7(26)† 
  

Amended and Restated Supply Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2011, between Cerus Corporation and Ash Stevens 
Inc. 

10.8(35)† 
  

Addendum 1 to Amended and Restated Supply Agreement, dated August 1, 2013, by and between Cerus Corporation and 
Ash Stevens, Inc. 

  Loan and Security Agreements 

10.9(26)†   Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2011, by and between Cerus Corporation and Comerica Bank. 

10.10(30)† 
  

First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2011, by and between Cerus Corporation and 
Comerica Bank. 

10.11(30) 
  

Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2012, by and between Cerus Corporation and 
Comerica Bank. 

  Real Estate Lease Agreements 

10.12(4) 
  

Standard Industrial/Commercial Single-Tenant Lease-Net, dated October 12, 2001 between Cerus Corporation and 
California Development, Inc. 

10.13(11) 
  

Second Amendment to Standard Industrial/Commercial Single-Tenant Lease-Net, dated as of September 18, 2008 between 
Cerus Corporation and California Development, Inc. 

10.14(19) 

  

Letter to California Development, Inc. exercising option to extend the lease term from the Second Amendment to Standard 
Industrial/Commercial Single-Tenant Lease-Net, dated as of September 18, 2008 between Cerus Corporation and 
California Development, Inc. 

10.15 
  

Real Property Lease, dated June 20, 2013, between Cerus Corporation and S. P. Cuff as Managing Partner of the Redwoods 
Business Center LP. 

  Employment Agreements or Offer Letters 

10.16(23)*   Employment Letter, by and between Cerus corporation and William M. Greenman, dated May 12, 2011. 

10.17(34)*   Addendum to Employment Agreement for William M. Greenman, dated December 5, 2012. 

10.18*   Employment Letter, by and between Cerus Corporation and Laurence Corash, dated July 30, 2009. 

10.19(20)*   Employment Letter, by and between Cerus Corporation and Laurence Corash, dated March 2, 2010. 

10.20(33)*   Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Howard G. Ervin, dated January 15, 2013. 

10.21(16)*   Employment Letter for Kevin D. Green dated May 1, 2009. 

10.22(27)*   Employment Agreement for Caspar Hogeboom dated March 6, 2006. 

10.23(27)*   Promotion Letter for Caspar Hogeboom dated December 11, 2009 and executed on September 21, 2010. 
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Number   Description of Exhibit  

10.24(27)*   Addendum to Employment Agreement for Caspar Hogeboom dated February 17, 2011. 

10.25(27)*   Healthcare Contribution Letter for Caspar Hogeboom dated December 18, 2007. 

10.26(27)*   Home Telephone and Internet Expenses Letter for Caspar Hogeboom dated January 11, 2012. 

10.27(34)*   Employment Letter, by and between Cerus Corporation and Chrystal Menard, dated October 19, 2012. 

10.28*   Employment Letter, by and between Cerus Corporation and Carol Moore, dated December 14, 2007. 

  Stock Plans and Related Forms 

10.29(1)*   1996 Equity Incentive Plan. 

10.30(1)*   Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 1996 Equity Incentive Plan. 

10.31(1)*   Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement under the 1996 Equity Incentive Plan. 

10.32(1)*   1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. 

10.33(30)*   Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended, effective June 6, 2012. 

10.34(2)*   1998 Non-Officer Stock Option Plan. 

10.35(3)*   1999 Equity Incentive Plan, adopted April 30, 1999, approved by stockholders July 2, 1999. 

10.36(5)*   1999 Non-Employee Directors’  Stock Option Sub-Plan, amended December 4, 2002. 

10.37(9)*   2008 Equity Incentive Plan, approved by stockholders June 2, 2008. 

10.38(25)*   2008 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, reapproved by stockholders June 1, 2011. 

10.39(30)*   2008 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, effective June 12, 2013. 

10.40(29)*   Form of Option Agreement for employees under the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended. 

10.41(29)*   Form of Option Agreement for non-employee directors under the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended. 

10.42(29)*   Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended. 

  Other Compensatory Plans or Agreements 

10.43(34)*   Bonus Plan for Senior Management of Cerus Corporation, as amended December 5, 2012. 

10.44(13)*   Cerus Corporation Change of Control Severance Benefit Plan, as amended. 

10.45(15)*   Form of Severance Benefits Agreement. 

10.46(27)*   Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy. 

10.47(29)*   International Bonus Plan for 2012. 

10.48*   International Bonus Plan for 2013. 

  Other Material Agreements 

10.49(24) 
  

At-The-Market-Issuance Sales Agreement, dated June 3, 2011, by and between Cerus Corporation and MLV & Co. 
LLC. 

10.50(28) 
  

Amendment to At-The-Market-Issuance Sales Agreement, dated January 4, 2012, by and between Cerus Corporation 
and MLV & Co. LLC. 
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10.51(31) 
  

Amendment No. 2 to At-The-Market-Issuance Sales Agreement, dated August 31, 2012, by and between Cerus 
Corporation and MLV & Co. LLC. 

10.52(1)   Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into between Cerus Corporation and each of its directors and executive officers. 

10.53(14)   Form of Amended and Restated Indemnity Agreement, adopted April 24, 2009. 

10.54(17)   Form of Subscription Agreement. 

10.55(31) 
  

Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement, dated August 31, 2012, by and between Cerus Corporation and Cantor 
Fitzgerald & Co. 

10.56(19)† 
  

Restructuring Agreement, dated as of February 2, 2005, by and among Cerus Corporation, Baxter Healthcare S.A. and 
Fresenius Kabi AG (successor-in-interest to Baxter Healthcare Corporation). 

10.57(19)† 
  

License Agreement, dated as of February 2, 2005, by and between Cerus Corporation and Fresenius Kabi AG (successor-
in-interest to Baxter Healthcare S.A. and Baxter Healthcare Corporation). 

10.58(6)† 
  

Commercialization Transition Agreement, dated as of February 12, 2006, by and between Cerus Corporation and 
Fresenius Kabi AG (successor-in-interest to Baxter Healthcare S.A. and Baxter Healthcare Corporation). 

12.1   Computation of Earnings to Fixed Charges. 

21.1   List of Registrant’s subsidiaries. 

23.1   Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. 

24.1   Power of Attorney (see signature page). 

31.1 
  

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer of Cerus Corporation pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
of 2002. 

31.2 
  

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer of Cerus Corporation pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
of 2002. 

32.1(36) 
  

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002. 

101.INS   XBRL Instance Document 

101.SCH   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 

101.CAL   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document 

101.DEF   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 

101.LAB   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document 

101.PRE   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document 
  

†   Certain portions of this exhibit are subject to a confidential treatment order. 
*   Compensatory Plan. 
#   Registrant has requested confidential treatment for portions of this exhibit. 

(1)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-11341) and 
amendments thereto. 

(2)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, dated March 24, 1999. 

SM 



Table of Contents  

   
65  

(3)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, dated August 4, 1999. 
(4)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended December 31, 

2001. 
(5)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended 

March 31, 2003. 
(6)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended 

March 31, 2006. 
(7)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended December 31, 

2007. 
(8)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended 

March 31, 2008. 
(9)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 6, 

2008. 
(10)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 19, 

2008. 
(11)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended 

September 30, 2008. 
(12)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended December 31, 

2008. 
(13)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended 

March 31, 2009. 
(14)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on April 30, 

2009. 
(15)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 1, 

2009. 
(16)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended June 30, 

2009. 
(17)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 20, 

2009. 
(18)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on October 30, 

2009. 
(19)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended December 31, 

2009. 
(20)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on March 8, 

2010. 
(21)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 30, 

2010. 
(22)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on 

November 12, 2010. 
(23)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 18, 

2011. 
(24)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 6, 

2011. 
(25)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A, for the 

quarter ended June 30, 2011. 
(26)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended 

September 30, 2011. 
(27)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended December 31, 

2011. 
(28)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-3/A, 

filed with the SEC on January 6, 2012. 
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(29)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2012. 

(30)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended June 30, 
2013. 

(31)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 31, 
2012. 

(32)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2012. 

(33)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on January 17, 
2013. 

(34)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended December 31, 
2012. 

(35)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2013. 

(36)   This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and 
is not incorporated by reference into any filing of the Registrant’s under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation 
language contained in such filing. 
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANC IAL REPORTING  

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over the Company’s financial reporting as defined in 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Management assessed the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 framework) (“COSO”) in Internal Control—Integrated 
Framework . Based on this assessment, management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2013, the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting is effective.  

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, has audited the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013. Ernst and Young LLP’s attestation report on internal control over financial 
reporting is included herein.  

The Company’s internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company’s management and Board of Directors 
regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have 
inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial 
statement preparation and presentation. Accordingly, our internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance 
that the objectives of our internal control systems are met and, as set forth above, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer 
have concluded, based on their evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, that our internal control over 
financial reporting was effective. To provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, we continue to implement, improve and 
refine our disclosure controls and procedures and our internal control over financial reporting.  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Cerus Corporation  

We have audited Cerus Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 framework) 
(the COSO criteria). Cerus Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on 
our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial 
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.  

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, 
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

In our opinion, Cerus Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2013, based on the COSO criteria.  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
consolidated balance sheets of Cerus Corporation as of December 31, 2013, and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of operations, 
comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013, and our report 
dated March 7, 2014, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.  

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP  

Redwood City, California  
March 7, 2014  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Cerus Corporation  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cerus Corporation as of December 31, 2013, and 2012, and the related 
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2013. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these financial statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Cerus 
Corporation at December 31, 2013, and 2012, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended December 31, 2013, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Cerus 
Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated 
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organization of the Treadway Commission (1992 framework) and our report dated March 7, 
2014 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.  

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP  

Redwood City, California  
March 7, 2014  
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CERUS CORPORATION  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  
(in thousands, except per share amounts)  

   

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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     December 31,   
     2013     2012   

ASSETS      
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 29,485      $ 26,696    
Short-term investments       28,191        —   
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $0 at December 31, 2013 and 2012       6,125        4,444    
Inventories       13,063        10,180    
Prepaid expenses       848        638    
Other current assets       442        2,038    

                     

Total current assets       78,154        43,996    
Non-current assets:       

Property and equipment, net       2,189        1,698    
Goodwill       1,316        1,316    
Intangible assets, net       1,344        1,546    
Restricted cash       308        304    
Other assets       70        59    

                     

Total assets     $ 83,381      $ 48,919    
         

  

        

  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ’ EQUITY      

Current liabilities:       

Accounts payable     $ 5,674      $ 7,186    
Accrued liabilities       9,813        7,619    
Deferred revenue       181        77    
Debt—current       3,366        4,828    
Warrant liability       20,390        5,903    

                     

Total current liabilities       39,424        25,613    
Non-current liabilities:       

Debt—non-current       —       2,896    
Deferred income taxes       89        62    
Other non-current liabilities       1,073        1,241    

                     

Total liabilities       40,586        29,812    
         

  
        

  

Commitments and contingencies       

Stockholders’  equity:       

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value 5,000 shares authorized, issuable in series; 0 shares issued and 
outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012       —       —   

Common stock, $0.001 par value 112,500 shares authorized; 71,859 and 56,252 shares issued and 
outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively       72        56    

Additional paid-in capital       545,905        478,903    
Accumulated other comprehensive income       7        —   
Accumulated deficit       (503,189 )      (459,852 )  

                     

Total stockholders’  equity       42,795        19,107    
         

  
        

  

Total liabilities and stockholders’  equity     $ 83,381      $ 48,919    
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CERUS CORPORATION  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  
(in thousands, except per share amounts)  

   

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   

Product related:         
Product revenue     $ 39,657      $ 36,695      $ 30,602    
Cost of product revenue       22,602        20,616        18,535    

         
  

        
  

        
  

Gross profit on product revenue       17,055        16,079        12,067    
Government grants and cooperative agreements revenue       —       91        2,442    
Operating expenses:         

Research and development       15,187        7,603        7,178    
Selling, general and administrative       29,965        25,665        23,053    
Amortization of intangible assets       202        202        202    

                               

Total operating expenses       45,354        33,470        30,433    
                               

Loss from operations       (28,299 )      (17,300 )      (15,924 )  
                               

Non-operating (expense) income, net:         

Revaluation of warrant liability       (15,099 )      2,059        486    
Foreign exchange gain (loss)       533        86        (529 )  
Interest expense       (520 )      (551 )      (964 )  
Other income, net       266        31        92    

                               

Total non-operating (expense) income, net       (14,820 )      1,625        (915 )  
                               

Loss before income taxes       (43,119 )      (15,675 )      (16,839 )  
Provision for income taxes       218        242        143    

                               

Net loss     $ (43,337 )    $ (15,917 )    $ (16,982 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

Net loss per common share:         

Basic     $ (0.64 )    $ (0.29 )    $ (0.35 )  
Diluted     $ (0.64 )    $ (0.33 )    $ (0.35 )  

Weighted average common shares outstanding used for calculating net loss per common share:         
Basic       67,569        54,515        48,050    
Diluted       67,569        55,061        48,050    



Table of Contents  

CERUS CORPORATION  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  
(in thousands)  

   

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   

Net loss     $ (43,337 )    $ (15,917 )    $ (16,982 )  
Other comprehensive income (loss):         

Net unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes       7        —       (108 )  
                               

Comprehensive loss     $ (43,330 )    $ (15,917 )    $ (17,090 )  
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CERUS CORPORATION  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
(in thousands)  

   

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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    Preferred Stock     Common Stock     
Additional 

Paid-in  
Capital   

  
Accumulated  

Other  
Comprehensive 

 
Income   

  
Accumulated 

 
Deficit   

  Total  
Stockholders’

 
Equity       Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount           

Balance at December 31, 2010      3        9,496        47,329        47        441,034        108        (426,953 )      23,732    
Net loss      —       —       —       —       —       —       (16,982 )      (16,982 )  
Other comprehensive loss      —       —       —       —       —       (108 )      —       (108 )  
Issuance of common stock from 

public offering, net of expenses of 
$420      —       —       3,701        4        9,674        —       —       9,678    

Issuance of common stock from 
exercise of stock options and/or 
warrants, and purchases from 
ESPP      —       —       181        —       143        —       —       143    

Stock-based compensation      —       —       —       —       1,850        —       —       1,850    
                                                                                

Balance at December 31, 2011      3        9,496        51,211        51        452,701        —       (443,935 )      18,313    
Net loss      —       —       —       —       —       —       (15,917 )      (15,917 )  
Issuance of common stock from 

public offering, net of expenses of 
$550      —       —       4,487        5        13,816        —       —       13,821    

Issuance of common stock from 
exercise of stock options and/or 
warrants, and purchases from 
ESPP      —       —       221        —       349        —       —       349    

Preferred stock conversion      (3 )      (9,496 )      333        —       9,496        —       —       —   
Stock-based compensation      —       —       —       —       2,541        —       —       2,541    

                                                                                

Balance at December 31, 2012      —     $ —       56,252      $ 56      $ 478,903      $ —     $ (459,852 )    $ 19,107    
Net loss      —       —       —       —       —       —       (43,337 )      (43,337 )  
Other comprehensive income      —       —       —       —       —       7        —       7    
Issuance of common stock from 

public offering, net of expenses of 
$2,733      —       —       15,019        15        61,439        —       —       61,454    

Issuance of common stock from 
exercise of stock options and/or 
warrants, and purchases from 
ESPP      —       —       588        1        2,295        —       —       2,296    

Stock-based compensation      —       —       —       —       3,268        —       —       3,268    
                                                                                

Balance at December 31, 2013            —     $ —       71,859      $ 72      $ 545,905      $ 7      $ (503,189 )    $ 42,795    
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     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   

Operating activities         
Net loss     $ (43,337 )    $ (15,917 )    $ (16,982 )  
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization       557        744        922    
Stock-based compensation       3,268        2,541        1,850    
Changes in valuation of outstanding warrant liability       15,099        (2,059 )      (486 )  
(Interest expense paid) non-cash interest expense       (25 )      20        5    
Loss on disposal of equipment       56        —       —   
Deferred income taxes       27        62        —   
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         

Accounts receivable       (1,681 )      1,652        (1,304 )  
Inventories       (1,813 )      (3,740 )      (601 )  
Other assets       339        (1,663 )      (13 )  
Accounts payable       (1,512 )      2,506        1,450    
Accrued liabilities       2,121        1,971        (336 )  
Deferred revenue       104        (34 )      (137 )  

                               

Net cash used in operating activities       (26,797 )      (13,917 )      (15,632 )  
Investing activities         

Purchases of furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements       (663 )      (81 )      (158 )  
(Purchases) sales of certain other assets       (15 )      (1 )      55    
Purchases of investments       (30,010 )      —       —   
Maturities of investments       1,631        287        666    

                               

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities       (29,057 )      205        563    
Financing activities         

Net proceeds from equity incentives and the exercise of warrants       1,684        332        143    
Net proceeds from public offering       61,425        14,226        9,273    
Proceeds from revolving line of credit       3,102        1,810        2,300    
Proceeds from debt, net of discount       —       —       4,910    
Payments on revolving line of credit       (2,926 )      (920 )      —   
Payments on debt and landlord provided leasehold incentives       (4,642 )      (537 )      (5,008 )  

                               

Net cash provided by financing activities       58,643        14,911        11,618    
                               

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents       2,789        1,199        (3,451 )  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period       26,696        25,497        28,948    

                               

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period     $ 29,485      $ 26,696      $ 25,497    
         

  

        

  

        

  

Supplemental disclosures:         

Non-cash conversion of preferred stock to common stock     $ —     $ 9,496      $ —   
Cash paid for interest     $ 294      $ 460      $ 1,024    
Cash paid for income taxes     $ 146      $ 162      $ 125    
Non-cash settlement of warranty claim     $ 1,272      $ —     $ —   
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Note 1. Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation  

Cerus Corporation (the “Company”) was incorporated in September 1991 and is developing and commercializing the INTERCEPT Blood 
System, which is designed to enhance the safety of blood components through pathogen inactivation. The Company has worldwide 
commercialization rights for the INTERCEPT Blood System for platelets, plasma and red blood cells.  

The Company sells its INTERCEPT platelet and plasma systems in Europe, the Commonwealth of Independent States (“CIS”) countries, 
the Middle East and selected countries in other regions around the world. The Company conducts significant research, development, testing and 
regulatory compliance activities on its product candidates that, together with anticipated selling, general, and administrative expenses, are 
expected to result in substantial additional losses, and the Company may need to adjust its operating plans and programs based on the availability 
of cash resources. The Company’s ability to achieve a profitable level of operations will depend on successfully completing development, 
obtaining additional regulatory approvals and achieving widespread market acceptance of its products. There can be no assurance that the 
Company will ever achieve a profitable level of operations.  

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Principles of Consolidation  

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include those of Cerus Corporation and its subsidiary, Cerus Europe B.V. 
(collectively hereinafter “Cerus” or the “Company”) after elimination of all intercompany accounts and transactions. These consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) 
and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).  

Use of Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, the 
Company evaluates its estimates, including those related to revenue recognition, inventory valuation, certain accrued liabilities, valuation and 
impairment of purchased intangibles and goodwill, valuation of warrants, valuation of stock options under share-based payments, valuation 
allowance of its deferred tax assets and uncertain income tax positions. The Company basis its estimates on historical experience and on various 
other assumptions that the Company believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form its basis for making judgments 
about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from those estimates 
under different assumptions or conditions.  

Reclassifications  

In 2012, certain reclassifications have been made to prior period reported amounts to conform to the current period presentations. 
Previously the Company had presented its provision for income taxes as a component of other income (expense) , net on the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations. The Company has reclassified the provision for income taxes to a separate line item in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations, and as presented in Note 17. This reclassification had no impact on net loss, total assets or total stockholders’ equity.  
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Revenue  

Revenue is recognized when (i) persuasive evidence of an agreement exists; (ii) services have been rendered or product has been delivered; 
(iii) pricing is fixed or determinable; and (iv) collection is reasonably assured. The Company’s main sources of revenues for the years ended 
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were product revenue from sales of the INTERCEPT Blood System for platelets and plasma (“platelet and 
plasma systems”) and United States government grants and awards.  

Revenue related to product sales is generally recognized when the Company fulfills its obligations for each element of an agreement. For 
all sales of the Company’s INTERCEPT Blood System products, the Company uses a binding purchase order and signed sales contract as 
evidence of a written agreement. The Company sells its platelet and plasma systems directly to blood banks, hospitals, universities, government 
agencies, as well as to distributors in certain regions. Generally, the Company’s contracts with its customers do not provide for open return 
rights, except within a reasonable time after receipt of goods in the case of defective or non-conforming product. Deliverables and the units of 
accounting vary according to the provisions of each purchase order or sales contract.  

For revenue arrangements with multiple elements, the Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards 
Board Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) Topic 605-25, “Revenue Recognition—Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables,” as 
applicable. The Company determines whether the delivered elements meet the criteria as separate units of accounting. Such criteria require that 
the deliverable have stand-alone value to the customer and that if a general right of return exists relative to the delivered item, delivery or 
performance of the undelivered item(s) is considered probable and substantially in the control of the Company. Once the Company determines if 
the deliverable meets the criteria for a separate unit of accounting, the Company must determine how the consideration should be allocated 
between the deliverables and how the separate units of accounting should be recognized as revenue. Consideration received is allocated to 
elements that are identified as discrete units of accounting based on its best estimate of selling price. The Company has determined that vendor 
specific objective evidence is not discernible due to the Company’s variability in its pricing across the regions into which it sells its products. 
Since the Company’s products are novel and unique and are not sold by others, third-party evidence of selling price is unavailable.  

At both December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company had $0.2 million and $0.1 million, respectively, of short-term deferred revenue on its 
consolidated balance sheets related to future performance obligations. Freight costs charged to customers are recorded as a component of 
revenue under ASC Topic 605, “Accounting for Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs.” Value-added-taxes (“VAT”) that the Company 
invoices to its customers and remits to governments are recorded on a net basis, which excludes such VAT from product revenue.  

Revenue related to the cost reimbursement provisions under development contracts or United States government grants was recognized as 
the costs on the projects were incurred. The Company has received certain United States government grants and contracts that support research 
in defined research projects. These grants generally have provided for reimbursement of approved costs incurred as defined in the various grants. 
There were no such government grants in 2013 and none are expected in the foreseeable future.  

Research and Development Expenses  

In accordance with ASC Topic 730, “Accounting for Research and Development Expenses,” research and development expenses are 
charged to expense when incurred, including cost incurred under each grant that has  
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been awarded to the Company by the United States government or development contracts. Research and development expenses include salaries 
and related expenses for scientific personnel, payments to consultants, supplies and chemicals used in in-house laboratories, costs of research 
and development facilities, depreciation of equipment and external contract research expenses, including clinical trials, preclinical safety studies, 
other laboratory studies, process development and product manufacturing for research use.  

The Company’s use of estimates in recording accrued liabilities for research and development activities (see “Use of Estimates” above) 
affects the amounts of research and development expenses recorded and revenue recorded from development funding and government grants and 
collaborative agreements. Actual results may differ from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.  

Cash Equivalents  

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase to be 
classified as cash equivalents. These investments primarily consist of money market instruments, and are classified as available-for-sale.  

Short-Term Investments  

Investments with original maturities of greater than three months which included corporate debt and United States government agency 
securities, are designated as available-for-sale and classified as short-term investments. In accordance with ASC Topic 320, “Accounting for 
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” the Company classified all debt securities as available-for-sale at the time of purchase and 
reevaluates such designation as of each balance sheet date. Available-for-sale securities are carried at estimated fair value. Unrealized gains and 
losses derived by changes in the estimated fair value of available-for-sale securities were recorded in “Net unrealized gains (losses) on available-
for-sale securities, net of taxes” on the Company’s consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. Realized gains and losses from the sale of 
available-for-sale investments were recorded in “Other income, net” on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. The cost of 
securities sold was based on the specific identification method. The Company reported the amortization of any premium and accretion of any 
discount resulting from the purchase of debt securities as a component of interest income.  

The Company also reviewed all of its marketable securities on a regular basis to evaluate whether any security has experienced an other-
than-temporary decline in fair value.  

Restricted Cash  

The Company holds a certificate of deposit with a domestic bank for any potential decommissioning resulting from the Company’s 
possession of radioactive material. The certificate of deposit is held to satisfy the financial surety requirements of the California Department of 
Health Services and is recorded in “Restricted cash” on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.  

Concentration of Credit Risk  

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of investments and accounts 
receivable.  
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Pursuant to the Company’s investment policy, substantially all of the Company’s investments are maintained at a major financial 
institution in the United States of high credit standing, which at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced 
any losses in its investments and believes it is not exposed to any significant risk.  

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables exist. However, in connection with the Company’s revolving line of credit, 
as discussed in Note 11 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company purchased a credit insurance policy that mitigates some 
of its credit risk, as the policy will pay either the Company or its lender on eligible claims filed on its outstanding receivables. On a regular basis, 
including at the time of sale, the Company performs credit evaluations of its customers. Generally, the Company does not require collateral from 
its customers to secure accounts receivable. To the extent that the Company determines specific invoices or customer accounts may be 
uncollectible, the Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts against the accounts receivable on its consolidated balance sheets and 
records a charge on its consolidated statements of operations as a component of selling, general and administrative expenses.  

The Company had two customers and three customers that accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s outstanding trade receivables at 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. These customers cumulatively represented approximately 48% and 59% of the Company’s 
outstanding trade receivables at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. To date, the Company has not experienced collection difficulties 
from these customers.  

Inventories  

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, inventory consisted of work-in-process and finished goods only. Finished goods include INTERCEPT 
disposable kits, UVA illumination devices (“illuminators”), and certain replacement parts for the illuminators. Platelet and plasma systems’ 
disposable kits generally have a two-year life from the date of manufacture. Illuminators and replacement parts do not have regulated expiration 
dates. Work-in-process includes certain components that are manufactured over a protracted length of time, which can exceed one year, before 
being incorporated and assembled by Fresenius Kabi AG (“Fresenius”) into the finished INTERCEPT disposable kits. Fresenius is the 
successor-in-interest to Fenwal, Inc., or Fenwal, and Baxter International, Inc., or Baxter, under certain agreements which arose from the sale of 
the transfusion therapies division of Baxter in 2007 to Fenwal. Fenwal was recently acquired by Fresenius, which assumed Fenwal’s rights and 
obligations under these certain agreements, including the Company’s manufacturing and supply agreement with Fenwal. In these footnotes 
references to Fresenius include references to its predecessors-in-interest. The Company maintains an inventory balance based on its current sales 
projections, and at each reporting period, the Company evaluates whether its work-in-process inventory would be consumed for production of 
finished units in order to sell to existing and prospective customers within the next twelve-month period. It is not customary for the Company’s 
production cycle for inventory to exceed twelve months. Instead, the Company uses its best judgment to factor in lead times for the production 
of its finished units to meet the Company’s forecasted demands. If actual results differ from those estimates, work-in-process inventory could 
potentially accumulate for periods exceeding one year. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company classified its work-in-process inventory 
as a current asset on its consolidated balance sheets based on its evaluation that the work-in-process inventory would be consumed for 
production and subsequently sold within each respective subsequent twelve-month period.  

Inventory is recorded at the lower of cost, determined on a first-in, first-out basis, or market value. The Company uses significant judgment 
to analyze and determine if the composition of its inventory is obsolete, slow-moving or unsalable and frequently reviews such determinations. 
The Company writes-down specifically identified unusable, obsolete, slow-moving, or known unsalable inventory that has no alternative use to 
net  
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realizable value in the period that it is first recognized by using a number of factors including product expiration dates, open and unfulfilled 
orders, and sales forecasts. Any write-down of its inventory to net realizable value establishes a new cost basis and will be maintained even if 
certain circumstances suggest that the inventory is recoverable in subsequent periods. Costs associated with the write-down of inventory are 
recorded in “Cost of product revenue” on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. At December 31, 2013, and 2012, the Company 
had $0.4 million and $0.3 million, respectively, reserved for potential obsolete, expiring or unsalable product. At December 31, 2012, the 
Company also wrote-down the value of certain unsalable inventory of $1.7 million for which the Company had an offsetting warranty claim 
against Fresenius. As of December 31, 2013 the Company no longer has a warranty claim against Fresenius and all unsalable inventory has been 
returned to Fresenius.  

See below in Note 2 and Note 16 for further information regarding the Company’s warranty claim against Fresenius.  

Property and Equipment, net  

Property and equipment is comprised of furniture, equipment, information technology hardware and software and is recorded at cost. At 
the time the property and equipment is ready for its intended use, it is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets (generally three to five years). Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or the 
estimated useful lives of the improvements.  

Goodwill and Intangible Assets, net  

Additions to goodwill and intangible assets, net are derived at the time of a business acquisition, in which the Company assigns the total 
consideration transferred to the acquired assets based on each asset’s fair value and any residual amount becomes goodwill, an indefinite life 
intangible asset. Intangible assets, net, which include a license for the right to commercialize the INTERCEPT Blood System in Asia, are subject 
to ratable amortization over the estimated useful life of ten years. The amortization of the Company’s intangible assets, net, is recorded in 
“Amortization of intangible assets” on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.  

Goodwill is not amortized but instead is subject to an impairment test performed on an annual basis, or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill may be impaired. Such impairment analysis is performed on August 31 of each fiscal year, or 
more frequently if indicators of impairment exist. The test for goodwill impairment may be assessed using qualitative factors to determine 
whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than the carrying amount. If the Company determines that it is 
more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than the carrying amount, the Company must then proceed with performing the 
quantitative two-step process to test goodwill for impairment; otherwise, goodwill is not considered impaired and no further testing is warranted. 
The Company may choose not to perform the qualitative assessment to test goodwill for impairment and proceed directly to the quantitative 
two-step process; however, the Company may revert to the qualitative assessment to test goodwill for impairment in any subsequent period. The 
first step of the two-step process compares the fair value of each reporting unit with its respective carrying amount, including goodwill. The 
Company has determined that it operates in one reporting unit and estimates the fair value of its one reporting unit using the enterprise approach 
under which it considers the quoted market capitalization of the Company as reported on the Nasdaq Global Market. The Company considers 
quoted market prices that are available in active markets to be the best evidence of fair value. The Company also considers other factors, which 
include future forecasted results, the economic environment  
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and overall market conditions. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered 
impaired and, therefore, the second step of the impairment test is unnecessary. The second step of the two-step process, which is used to measure 
the amount of impairment loss, compares the implied fair value of each reporting unit’s goodwill with the respective carrying amount of that 
goodwill. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss is 
recognized in an amount equal to that excess.  

The Company performs an impairment test on its intangible assets, in accordance ASC Topic 360-10, “Property, Plant and Equipment,” if 
certain events or changes in circumstances occur which indicate that the carrying amounts of its intangible assets may not be recoverable. If the 
intangible assets are not recoverable, an impairment loss would be recognized by the Company based on the excess amount of the carrying value 
of the intangible assets over its fair value. For further details regarding the impairment analysis, reference is made to the section below under 
“Long-lived Assets.” See Note 8 for further information regarding the Company’s impairment analysis and the valuation of goodwill and 
intangible assets, net.  

Long-lived Assets  

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for impairment by continually monitoring events and changes in circumstances that could 
indicate carrying amounts of its long-lived assets may not be recoverable. When such events or changes in circumstances occur, the Company 
assesses recoverability by determining whether the carrying value of such assets will be recovered through the undiscounted expected future cash 
flows. If the expected undiscounted future cash flows are less than the carrying amount of these assets, the Company then measures the amount 
of the impairment loss based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of the assets. The Company did not recognize impairment 
charges related to its long-lived assets during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.  

Foreign Currency Remeasurement  

The functional currency of the Company’s foreign subsidiary is the United States dollar. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are remeasured in United States dollars using the exchange rates at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are remeasured in United States dollars using historical exchange rates. Monetary revenues and expenses are 
remeasured using average exchange rates prevailing during the period. Remeasurements are recorded in the Company’s consolidated statements 
of operations as a component of foreign exchange gain (loss). The Company recorded foreign currency gains of $0.5 million and $0.1 million 
and a loss of $0.5 million during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC Topic 718, “Compensation—Stock Compensation.” Stock-
based compensation expense is measured at the grant-date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense on a straight-line 
basis over the requisite service period, which is the vesting period, and is adjusted for estimated forfeitures. To the extent that stock options 
contain performance criteria for vesting, stock-based compensation is recognized once the performance criteria are probable of being achieved.  

For stock-based awards issued to non-employees, the Company follows ASC Topic 505-50, “Equity Based Payment to Non-Employees” 
and considers the measurement date at which the fair value of the stock-based  
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award is measured to be the earlier of (i) the date at which a commitment for performance by the grantee to earn the equity instrument is reached 
or (ii) the date at which the grantee’s performance is complete. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense for the fair value of 
the vested portion of the non-employee stock-based awards in its consolidated statements of operations.  

See Note 14 for further information regarding the Company’s stock-based compensation assumptions and expenses.  

Warrant Liability  

In August 2009, and November 2010, the Company issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 2.4 million and 3.7 million shares of 
common stock, respectively. The material terms of the warrants were identical under each issuance except for the exercise price, date issued and 
expiration date. The Company classifies the warrants as a liability on its consolidated balance sheets as the warrants contain certain material 
terms which require the Company (or its successor) to purchase the warrants for cash in an amount equal to the value of the unexercised portion 
of the warrants in connection with certain change of control transactions. In addition, the Company may also be required to pay cash to a warrant 
holder under certain circumstances if the Company is unable to timely deliver the shares acquired upon warrant exercise to such holder.  

The fair value of these outstanding warrants is calculated using a combination of the Black-Scholes model and/or binomial-lattice option-
pricing model and is adjusted accordingly at each reporting period. Option-pricing models require that the Company uses significant 
assumptions and judgment to determine appropriate inputs to the model. Some of the assumptions that the Company relies on include the 
volatility of the Company’s stock over the life of the warrant, risk-free interest rate and the probability of a change of control occurring. The 
binomial-lattice option-pricing model also considers a certain number of share price movements and the probability of each outcome happening.  

Changes resulting from the revaluation of warrants to fair value are recorded in “Revaluation of warrant liability” on the consolidated 
statements of operations. Upon the exercise or modification to remove the provisions which require the warrants to be treated as a liability, the 
fair value of the warrants will be reclassified from a liability to stockholders’ equity on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets and no 
further adjustment to the fair value would be made in subsequent periods.  

See Note 13 for further information regarding the Company’s valuation of warrant liability.  

Income Taxes  

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability approach in accordance with ASC Topic 740 “ Accounting for Income 
Taxes.” Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. 
ASC Topic 740 requires derecognition of tax positions that do not have a greater than 50% likelihood of being recognized upon review by a 
taxing authority having full knowledge of all relevant information. Use of a valuation allowance as described in ASC Topic 740 is not an 
appropriate substitute for the derecognition of a tax position. The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax 
benefits in its income tax expense. To date, the Company has not recognized any interest and penalties in its consolidated statements of 
operations, nor has its accrued for or made payments for interest and penalties. The Company had no unrecognized tax benefits as of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012. The Company continues to carry a full  
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valuation allowance on all of its deferred tax assets. Although the Company believes it more likely than not that a taxing authority would agree 
with its current tax positions, there can be no assurance that the tax positions the Company has taken will be substantiated by a taxing authority if 
reviewed. The Company’s tax years 1998 through 2013 remain subject to examination by the taxing jurisdictions due to unutilized net operating 
losses and research credits.  

Net Loss Per Common Share  

Basic net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the 
period. Diluted net loss per common share gives effect to all potentially dilutive common shares outstanding for the period. The potentially 
dilutive securities include stock options, employee stock purchase plan rights, warrants and restricted stock units, which are calculated using the 
treasury stock method, and convertible preferred stock, which is calculated using the if-converted method. Diluted net loss per common share 
also gives effect to potential adjustments to the numerator for changes resulting from the revaluation of warrants to fair value for the period, even 
if the Company is in a net loss position if the effect would be dilutive.  

Diluted net loss per common share used the same weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the years ended 
December 31, 2013 and 2011, as calculated for the basic net loss per common share as the inclusion of any potential dilutive securities would be 
anti-dilutive. In addition, certain potential dilutive securities were excluded from the dilution calculation for the years ended December 31, 2012, 
as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.  

The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used in the computation of basic and diluted net loss per 
common share for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands, except per share amounts):  
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     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   

Numerator:         

Net loss     $ (43,337 )    $ (15,917 )    $ (16,982 )  
Effect of revaluation of warrant liability       —       (2,059 )      —   

                               

Adjusted net loss used for dilution calculation     $ (43,337 )    $ (17,976 )    $ (16,982 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

Denominator:         

Basic weighted average number of common shares outstanding       67,569        54,515        48,050    
Effect of dilutive potential common shares resulting from warrants accounted for as liabilities       —       546        —   

                               

Diluted weighted average number of common shares outstanding       67,569        55,061        48,050    
         

  

        

  

        

  

Basic     $ (0.64 )    $ (0.29 )    $ (0.35 )  
Diluted     $ (0.64 )    $ (0.33 )    $ (0.35 )  
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The table below presents common shares underlying stock options, employee stock purchase plan rights, warrants, restricted stock units 
and/or convertible preferred stock that were excluded from the calculation of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding used 
for the calculation of diluted net loss per common share. These were excluded from the calculation due to their anti-dilutive effect for the years 
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 (shares in thousands):  
   

Guarantee and Indemnification Arrangements  

The Company recognizes the fair value for guarantee and indemnification arrangements issued or modified by the Company after 
December 31, 2002. In addition, the Company monitors the conditions that are subject to the guarantees and indemnifications in order to identify 
if a loss has occurred. If the Company determines it is probable that a loss has occurred, then any such estimable loss would be recognized under 
those guarantees and indemnifications. Some of the agreements that the Company is a party to contain provisions that indemnify the counter 
party from damages and costs resulting from claims that the Company’s technology infringes the intellectual property rights of a third party or 
claims that the sale or use of the Company’s products have caused personal injury or other damage or loss. The Company has not received any 
such requests for indemnification under these provisions and has not been required to make material payments pursuant to these provisions.  

The Company generally provides for a one-year warranty on certain of its INTERCEPT blood-safety products covering defects in 
materials and workmanship. The Company accrues costs associated with warranty obligations when claims become known and are estimable. 
During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company provided for and settled the claims for warranty obligations of $0.9 million related to 
replacement costs for certain of its products that the Company identified were defective or had the potential of being defective. Prior to this 
incident, there have been very few warranty costs incurred. As a result, the Company had not accrued for any potential future warranty costs at 
December 31, 2011. In addition, the Company believes that the defective products and those that had the potential of being defective identified 
during the year ended December 31, 2012 are isolated. Accordingly, the Company has not accrued for any other incremental potential future 
warranty costs for its products at December 31, 2013.  

In connection with the warranty obligations provided for in relation to certain of its products during the year ended December 31, 2012, the 
Company filed a warranty claim against Fresenius, which Fresenius accepted. As a result, the Company recorded a current asset of $1.8 million 
on its consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2012 representing the full amount of the warranty claim against Fresenius as Fresenius 
will supply the Company with replacement products or credit notes for those defective or potentially defective products. The Company also 
wrote-down the value of certain unsalable inventory of $1.7 million related to these products as an offsetting warranty claim against Fresenius. 
As of December 31, 2013 the Company no longer has a warranty claim against Fresenius and all unsalable inventory has been returned to 
Fresenius.  

Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

The Company applies the provisions of fair value relating to its financial assets and liabilities. The carrying amounts of accounts 
receivables, accounts payable, and other accrued liabilities approximate their fair value due to the relative short-term maturities. Based on the 
borrowing rates currently available to the Company for loans  
   

83  

     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013      2012      2011   

Anti-dilutive common shares       16,370         8,716         13,595    
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with similar terms, the Company believes the fair value of its debt approximates their carrying amounts. The Company measures and records 
certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, including its available-for-sale securities and warrant liability. The 
Company classifies instruments within Level 1 if quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets, which include the Company’s 
cash accounts and its money market funds. The Company classifies instruments in Level 2 if the instruments are valued using observable inputs 
to quoted market prices, benchmark yields, reported trades, broker/dealer quotes or alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price 
transparency. These instruments include the Company’s available-for-sale securities related to corporate debt and United States government 
agency securities. The available-for-sale securities are held by a custodian who obtains investment prices from a third party pricing provider that 
uses standard inputs (observable in the market) to models which vary by asset class. The Company classifies instruments in Level 3 if one or 
more significant inputs or significant value drivers are unobservable, which include our warrant liability. The Company assesses any transfers 
among fair value measurement levels at the end of each reporting period.  

See Notes 4 and 13 for further information regarding the Company’s valuation on financial instruments.  

New Accounting Pronouncements  

There have been no new accounting pronouncements issued during the year ended December 31, 2013, that are of significance, or potential 
significance, to the Company.  

Note 3. BioOne Acquisition  

On August 24, 2010, the Company acquired certain assets of BioOne, a privately held Japanese company established to develop 
technologies to improve the safety of blood products in Asia. The assets included the commercialization licenses that the Company had granted 
to BioOne for both the platelet and plasma systems, illuminators held as saleable inventory and demonstration illuminators. No liabilities were 
assumed.  

The following table summarizes the fair value of assets acquired at the acquisition date (in thousands):  
   

The Company is amortizing the commercialization rights over a ten year period and annually evaluates the goodwill for impairment. See 
Note 8 for further information regarding the Company’s impairment analysis and the valuation of goodwill and intangible assets, net.  

Certain illuminators acquired in connection with this transaction which remain unsold are classified as consigned equipment or 
demonstration equipment and reflected in property and equipment, net. See Note 7 for further information regarding the Company’s property 
and equipment, net.  

Note 4. Fair Value on Financial Instruments  

We determined the fair value of an asset or liability based on the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  
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Commercialization rights—Asia     $ 2,017    
Illuminators—inventory       270    
Demonstration illuminators       135    
Goodwill       1,316    

           

Total     $ 3,738    
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The identification of market participant assumptions provides a basis for determining what inputs are to be used for pricing each asset or 
liability. A fair value hierarchy has been established which gives precedence to fair value measurements calculated using observable inputs over 
those using unobservable inputs. This hierarchy prioritized the inputs into three broad levels as follows:  
   

   

   

Money market funds are highly liquid investments and are actively traded. The pricing information on these investment instruments are 
readily available and can be independently validated as of the measurement date. This approach results in the classification of these securities as 
Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.  

To estimate the fair value of Level 2 debt securities as of December 31, 2013 our primary service relies on inputs from multiple industry-
recognized pricing sources to determine the price for each investment. Corporate debt and United States government agency securities are 
systematically priced by this service as of the close of business each business day. If the primary pricing service does not price a specific asset a 
secondary pricing service is utilized.  

The fair value of certain of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities were determined using the following inputs at December 31, 2013 
(in thousands):  
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  •   Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments  
  •   Level 2: Other significant observable inputs (including quoted prices in active markets for similar instruments)  
  •   Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs (including assumptions in determining the fair value of certain investments)  

     Total      

Quoted  
Prices in  
Active  

Markets for 
 

Identical  
Assets  

(Level 1)      

Significant 
Other  

Observable 
 

Inputs  
(Level 2)      

Significant  
Unobservable 

 
Inputs  

(Level 3)   

Money market funds     $ 8,650       $ 8,650       $ —      $ —   
Corporate debt securities     $ 23,173         —      $ 23,173         —   
United States government agency securities     $ 5,018         —      $ 5,018         —   

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Total financial assets     $ 36,841       $ 8,650       $ 28,191       $ —   
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

Warrant liability     $ 20,390       $ —      $ —      $ 20,390    
                                            

Total financial liabilities     $ 20,390       $ —      $ —      $ 20,390    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

  
(1) Included in cash and cash equivalents on the Company’s consolidated balances sheets. 

(2) Included in short-term investments on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. 

(3) Included in current liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. 

(1) 

(2) 

(2) 

(3) 
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The fair values of certain of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities were determined using the following inputs at December 31, 
2012 (in thousands):  
   

   

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for warrant liability using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) from 
December 31, 2011 to December 31, 2013 was as follows (in thousands):  
   

See Notes 1 and 13 for further information regarding the Company’s valuation techniques and unobservable inputs for the warrant liability 
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3).  

The Company did not have any transfers among fair value measurement levels during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.  

Note 5. Available-for-sale Securities  

The following is a summary of available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2013 (in thousands):  
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     Total      

Quoted  
Prices in  
Active  

Markets for 
 

Identical  
Assets  

(Level 1)      

Significant 
Other  

Observable 
 

Inputs  
(Level 2)      

Significant  
Unobservable 

 
Inputs  

(Level 3)   

Money market funds     $ 10,268       $ 10,268       $ —      $ —   
                                            

Total financial assets     $ 10,268       $ 10,268       $ —      $ —   
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

Warrant liability     $ 5,903       $ —      $ —      $ 5,903    
         

  
         

  
         

  
         

  

Total financial liabilities     $ 5,903       $ —      $ —      $ 5,903    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

  
(1) Included in cash and cash equivalents on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. 

(2) Included in current liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. 

Balance at December 31, 2011     $ 7,979    
Decrease in fair value of warrants       (2,059 )  
Settlement of warrants exercised       (17 )  

           

Balance at December 31, 2012       5,903    
Increase in fair value of warrants       15,099    
Settlement of warrants exercised       (612 )  

           

Balance at December 31, 2013     $ 20,390    
         

  

     December 31, 2013   

     Carrying Value      
Gross  

    Unrealized Gain         Fair Value   
Money market funds     $ 8,650       $ —     $ 8,650    
United States government agency securities       5,019         (1 )      5,018    
Corporate debt securities       23,165         8        23,173    

                                

Total available-for-sale securities     $ 36,834       $ 7      $ 36,841    
         

  

         

  

        

  

(1) 

(2) 
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The following is a summary of available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2012 (in thousands):  
   

Available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2013 and 2012 consisted of the following by original contractual maturity (in thousands):  
   

The Company recorded minimal gross realized gains from the sale or maturity of available-for-sale investments during the year ended 
December 31, 2011 and did not record any gross realized gains from the sale or maturity of available-for-sale investments during the years ended 
December 31, 2013 and 2012. The Company recorded minimal gross realized losses from the sale of available-for-sale investments during the 
year ended December 31, 2013, and did not record any gross realized losses during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. The Company 
did not record losses on investments experiencing an other-than-temporary decline in fair value during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 
and 2011.  

Note 6. Inventories  

Inventories at December 31, 2013 and 2012 consisted of the following (in thousands):  
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     December 31, 2012   

     Carrying Value      
Gross  

Unrealized Gain      Fair Value   
Money market funds     $ 10,268       $ —      $ 10,268    

                                 

Total available-for-sale securities     $ 10,268       $ —      $ 10,268    
         

  

         

  

         

  

     December 31, 2013      December 31, 2012   

     
Carrying 

Value      Fair Value      
Carrying 

Value      Fair Value   
Due in one year or less     $ 30,700       $ 30,701       $ 10,268       $ 10,268    
Due greater than one year and less than five years       6,134         6,140         —        —   

                                            

Total available-for-sale securities     $ 36,834       $ 36,841       $ 10,268       $ 10,268    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

     December 31,   
     2013      2012   

Work-in-process     $ 4,863       $ 3,551    
Finished goods       8,200         6,629    

                      

Total inventories     $ 13,063       $ 10,180    
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Note 7. Property and Equipment, net  

Property and equipment, net at December 31, 2013 and 2012 consisted of the following (in thousands):  
   

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment, net was $0.4 million, $0.4 million and $0.6 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  

Note 8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets, net  

Goodwill  

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company did not dispose of or recognize additional goodwill. On August 31, 2013, the 
Company performed its annual review of goodwill. As described in Note 2 above, the Company applied the enterprise approach by reviewing the 
quoted market capitalization of the Company as reported on the Nasdaq Global Market to calculate the fair value. In addition, the Company 
considered its future forecasted results, the economic environment and overall market conditions. As a result of the Company’s assessment that 
its fair value of the reporting unit exceeded its carrying amount, the Company determined that goodwill was not impaired. Accordingly, at both 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, the carrying amount of goodwill was $1.3 million.  

Intangible Assets, net  

The following is a summary of intangible assets, net at December 31, 2013 (in thousands):  
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     December 31,   
     2013     2012   

Leasehold improvements     $ 5,628      $ 5,598    
Machinery and equipment       1,751        1,594    
Demonstration equipment       100        24    
Office furniture       763        644    
Computer equipment       651        550    
Computer software       1,083        1,062    
Consigned demonstration equipment       642        493    
Construction-in-progress       155        55    

                     

Total property and equipment, gross       10,773        10,020    
Accumulated depreciation and amortization       (8,584 )      (8,322 )  

                     

Total property and equipment, net     $ 2,189      $ 1,698    
         

  

        

  

     December 31, 2013   

     

Gross Carrying 
 

Amount      

Accumulated 
 

Amortization     

Net Carrying 
 

Amount   

Acquisition-related intangible assets:          

Reacquired license—INTERCEPT Asia     $ 2,017       $ (673 )    $ 1,344    
                                

Total intangible assets     $ 2,017       $ (673 )    $ 1,344    
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The following is a summary of intangible assets, net at December 31, 2012 (in thousands):  
   

The Company recognized $0.2 million in amortization expense related to intangible assets for each of the years ended December 31, 2013 
and 2012. During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, there were no impairment charges recognized related to the Company’s 
intangible assets.  

At December 31, 2013, the expected annual amortization expense of the intangible assets, net is $0.2 million beginning with the year 
ending December 31, 2014 and each subsequent year thereafter through the year ending December 31, 2019, and $0.1 million for the year ending 
December 31, 2020.  

Note 9. Long-Term Investments  

In connection with the agreements to license the immunotherapy technologies to Aduro BioTech (“Aduro”) in 2009, the Company received 
preferred shares of Aduro, a privately held company. Pursuant to these license agreements, the Company is eligible to receive a 1% royalty fee 
on any future sales resulting from the licensed technology. For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, the Company has not 
received any royalty payments from Aduro pursuant to this agreement. As of December 31, 2013, the Company’s ownership in Aduro was less 
than 3% on a fully diluted basis. Since receiving preferred stock in Aduro, the Company has carried its investment in Aduro at zero in its 
consolidated balance sheet.  

Note 10. Accrued Liabilities  

Accrued liabilities at December 31, 2013 and 2012 consisted of the following (in thousands):  
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     December 31, 2012   

     

Gross Carrying 
 

Amount      

Accumulated 
 

Amortization     

Net Carrying 
 

Amount   
Acquisition-related intangible assets:          

Reacquired license—INTERCEPT Asia     $ 2,017       $ (471 )    $ 1,546    
                                

Total intangible assets     $ 2,017       $ (471 )    $ 1,546    
         

  

         

  

        

  

     December 31,   
     2013      2012   

Accrued compensation and related costs     $ 2,527       $ 2,692    
Accrued inventory costs       3,553         2,352    
Accrued contract and other accrued expenses       3,733         2,575    

                      

Total accrued liabilities     $ 9,813       $ 7,619    
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Note 11. Debt  

Debt at December 31, 2013 consisted of the following (in thousands):  
   

Debt at December 31, 2012 consisted of the following (in thousands):  
   

Principal and interest payments on debt at December 31, 2013 are expected to be $3.5 million during 2014 after which the Revolving Line 
of Credit will have been retired.  

2011 Growth Capital Facility  

The Company entered into a loan and security agreement on September 30, 2011, as amended effective on December 13, 2011, and 
June 30, 2012, with Comerica Bank (“Comerica”) (collectively, the “Amended Credit Agreement”). The Amended Credit Agreement provides 
for an aggregate borrowing of up to $12.0 million, comprised of a growth capital loan of $5.0 million (“Growth Capital Loan”) and a formula 
based revolving line of credit (“RLOC”) of up to $7.0 million. The Company pledged all current and future assets, excluding its intellectual 
property and 35% of the Company’s investment in its subsidiary, Cerus Europe B.V., as security for borrowings under the Amended Credit 
Agreement.  

Growth Capital Loan  

Concurrent with the execution of the original loan and security agreement in September 2011, the Company borrowed $5.0 million under 
the Growth Capital Loan, substantially all of which was used to repay the Company’s prior debt with Oxford Finance Corporation (“Oxford”), 
with the remainder used for general corporate purposes. The Growth Capital Loan, which was scheduled to mature on September 30, 2015, and 
bore a fixed interest rate of 6.37%, with interest–only payments due for the first twelve months, followed by equal principal and interest 
payments for the remaining 36 months. In April 2013, the Company repaid in full the Growth Capital Loan balance and all accrued interest as 
well as a scheduled final payment fee of $0.05 million, in an aggregate amount of $4.2 million. The Company has no further obligations, nor are 
there any further funds available, under the Growth Capital Loan.  
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     December 31, 2013   

     Principal     

Unamortized 
 

Discount      Total   

Comerica—Revolving Line of Credit, due 2014     $ 3,366      $ —      $ 3,366    
                                

Total debt       3,366        —        3,366    
Less: debt—current       (3,366 )      —        (3,366 )  

                                

Debt—non-current     $ —     $ —      $ —   
         

  

        

  

         

  

     December 31, 2012   

     Principal     

Unamortized 
 

Discount     Total   

Comerica—Growth Capital Loan A, due 2015     $ 4,583      $ (49 )    $ 4,534    
Comerica—Revolving Line of Credit, due 2014       3,190        —       3,190    

                               

Total debt       7,773        (49 )      7,724    
Less: debt—current       (4,857 )      29        (4,828 )  

                               

Debt—non-current     $ 2,916      $ (20 )    $ 2,896    
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In September 2011, the Company incurred a commitment fee of $40,000 and loan fees of $50,000, which were recorded as a discount to its 
Growth Capital Loan and were being amortized as a component of interest expense using the effective interest method over the term of the 
Growth Capital Loan (discount was based on an implied interest rate of 7.07%). The Company was also required to make a final payment fee of 
1% of the amounts drawn under the Growth Capital Loan due on its prepayment of the Growth Capital Loan. The final payment fee was accreted 
to interest expense using the effective interest method over the life of the Growth Capital Loan upon draw. The remaining unaccreted balance of 
the final payment fee and unamortized discount was taken as an interest charge in April 2013 in connection with the repayment of that loan.  

Revolving Line of Credit  

The Amended Credit Agreement provides for a RLOC of up to $7.0 million (the “RLOC Loan Amount”). The amount available under the 
RLOC is limited to the lesser of (i) 80% of eligible trade receivables or (ii) the RLOC Loan Amount. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the 
Company had $3.4 million and $3.2 million, respectively, outstanding under the RLOC. The Company is required to repay the principal drawn 
from the RLOC at the end of the RLOC term on June 30, 2014, or earlier if a portion or all of the outstanding RLOC exceeds the amount 
available under the RLOC. The RLOC bears a floating rate based on the lender’s prime rate plus 1.50%, with interest–only payments due each 
month. At both December 31, 2013 and 2012, the floating rate of the RLOC was at 4.75%. In September 2011, the Company incurred a 
commitment fee of $20,000. Upon amendment of the loan and security agreement in June 2012, the Company incurred another annual 
commitment fee of $20,000 and received a credit for the unused portion of the initial fee. The Company incurs a $20,000 commitment fee at 
each annual anniversary beginning June 30, 2013.  

Compliance with Covenants  

The Company is required to maintain compliance with certain customary and routine financial covenants under the Amended Credit 
Agreement, including maintaining a minimum cash balance of $2.5 million at Comerica and achieving minimum revenue levels, which are 
measured monthly based on a six-month trailing basis and must be at least 75% of the pre-established future projected revenues for the trailing 
six-month period. Non-compliance with the covenants could result in the principal of the note becoming due and payable. As of December 31, 
2013, the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants as set forth in the Amended Credit Agreement.  

Note 12. Commitments and Contingencies  

Operating Leases  

The Company leases its office facilities, located in Concord, California and Amersfoort, The Netherlands, and certain equipment under 
non-cancelable operating leases with initial terms in excess of one year that require the Company to pay operating costs, property taxes, 
insurance and maintenance. The operating leases expire at various dates through 2019, with certain of the leases providing for renewal options, 
provisions for adjusting future lease payments, which is based on the consumer price index and the right to terminate the lease early, which may 
occur as early as January 2015. In June 2013 the Company entered into a new lease for additional space in Concord. The lease has a two year 
initial term with four (4) two year options for the Company to renew. The lease commenced on August 1, 2013 and obligates the Company to 
make rent payments of $154,368 and $90,048 in 2014 and 2015, respectively. The Company’s leased facilities qualify as operating leases under 
ASC Topic 840, “Leases” and as such, are not included on its consolidated balance sheets.  
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Future minimum non-cancelable lease payments under operating leases as of December 31, 2013 are as follows (in thousands):  
   

Rent expense for office facilities was $0.7 million, $0.6 million and $0.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively.  

Financed Leasehold Improvements  

In December 2010, the Company financed $1.1 million of leasehold improvements. The Company pays for the financed leasehold 
improvements as a component of rent and is required to reimburse its landlord over the remaining life of the respective leases. If the Company 
exercises its right to early terminate the original Concord California lease, which may occur as early as January 2015, the Company would be 
required to repay for any remaining portion of the landlord financed leasehold improvements at such time. At December 31, 2013, the Company 
had an outstanding liability of $0.7 million related to these leasehold improvements, of which $0.1 million was reflected in “Accrued liabilities” 
and $0.6 million was reflected in “Other non-current liabilities” on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.  

Purchase Commitments  

The Company is party to agreements with certain providers for certain components of INTERCEPT Blood System which the Company 
purchases from third party manufacturers and supplies to Fresenius at no cost for use in manufacturing finished INTERCEPT disposable kits. 
Certain of these agreements require minimum purchase commitments from the Company. The Company has paid $6.5 million, $7.2 million and 
$3.6 million for goods under agreements which are subject to minimum purchase commitments during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 
and 2011, respectively. As of December 31, 2013, the Company has future minimum purchase commitments under these agreements of $3.4 
million for the year ending December 31, 2014 and less than $1.3 million for each subsequent year thereafter through December 31, 2016.  

Note 13. Stockholders’ Equity  

Series B Convertible Preferred Stock  

In March 1999, the Company issued 3,327 shares of the Company’s Series B convertible preferred stock to Fresenius. The Series B 
convertible preferred stock had no voting rights, except with respect to the authorization of any class or series of stock having preference or 
priority over the Series B convertible preferred stock as to voting, liquidation or conversion or with respect to the determination of fair value of 
non-publicly traded shares received by the holder of Series B convertible preferred stock in the event of a liquidation, or except as required by 
Delaware law. At any time, the holder had the ability to convert each share of Series B convertible preferred  
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Year ended December 31,        

2014     $ 1,147    
2015       553    
2016       142    
2017       68    
2018 and thereafter       9    

           

Total minimum non-cancellable lease payments     $ 1,919    
         

  



Table of Contents  

CERUS CORPORATION  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)  

December 31, 2013  
   
stock into 100 shares of the Company’s common stock. The Company had the right to redeem the Series B convertible preferred stock prior to 
conversion for a payment of $9.5 million. In June 2012, Fresenius exercised its right to convert all 3,327 shares of the Company’s Series B 
convertible preferred stock. As a result, the Company issued 332,700 shares of its common stock to Fresenius and retired the outstanding Series 
B convertible preferred stock.  

Common Stock and Associated Warrant Liability  

In August 2009, the Company issued warrants to purchase 2.4 million shares of common stock, exercisable at an exercise price of $2.90 
per share (“2009 Warrants”). The 2009 Warrants are exercisable for a period of five years from the issue date. The fair value on the date of 
issuance of the 2009 Warrants was determined to be $2.8 million using the Black-Scholes model and/or binomial-lattice option valuation model 
and applying the following assumptions: (i) a risk-free rate of 2.48%, (ii) an expected term of 5.0 years, (iii) no dividend yield and (iv) a 
volatility of 77%.  

In November 2010, the Company received net proceeds of approximately $19.7 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and 
commissions and stock issuance costs of approximately $1.3 million, from an underwritten public offering of 7.4 million units. Each unit sold 
consisted of one share of common stock and a warrant to purchase 1/2 of a share of common stock. Each unit was sold for $2.85, resulting in the 
issuance of 7.4 million shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 3.7 million shares of common stock, exercisable at an exercise price of 
$3.20 per share (“2010 Warrants”). The warrants issued in November 2010 became exercisable on May 15, 2011 and are exercisable for a period 
of five years from the issue date. The fair value on the date of issuance of the 2010 Warrants was determined to be $5.8 million using the Black-
Scholes model and/or binomial-lattice option valuation model and applying the following assumptions: (i) a risk-free rate of 1.23%, (ii) an 
expected term of 5.0 years, (iii) no dividend yield and (iv) a volatility of 85%.  

The fair value of the 2009 Warrants and 2010 Warrants was recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as a liability pursuant to 
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” and “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of 
Both Liabilities and Equity” Topics of ASC and will be adjusted to fair value at each financial reporting date thereafter until the earlier of 
exercise or modification to remove the provisions which require the warrants to be treated as a liability, at which time, these warrants would be 
reclassified into stockholders’ equity. The Company classified the 2009 Warrants and 2010 Warrants as a liability as these warrants contain 
certain provisions that, under certain circumstances, which may be out of the Company’s control, could require the Company to pay cash to 
settle the exercise of the warrants or may require the Company to redeem the warrants.  

The fair value of the warrants at December 31, 2013 and 2012 consisted of the following (in thousands):  
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     December 31,   
     2013      2012   

2009 Warrants     $ 8,542       $ 2,009    
2010 Warrants       11,848         3,894    

                      

Total warrant liability     $ 20,390       $ 5,903    
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The fair value of the Company’s warrants was based on using the Black-Scholes model and/or binomial-lattice option valuation model and 
using the following assumptions at December 31, 2013 and 2012:  
   

The Company recorded a non-cash loss of $15.1 million and non-cash gains of $2.1 million and $0.5 million during the years ended 
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively, in “Revaluation of warrant liability” on the consolidated statements of operations due to the 
changes in fair value of the warrants. Significant changes to the Company’s market price for its common stock will impact the implied and/or 
historical volatility used to fair value the warrants. As a result, any significant increases in the Company’s stock price will likely create an 
increase to the fair value of the warrant liability. Similarly, any significant decreases in the Company’s stock price will likely create a decrease to 
the fair value of the warrant liability. During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, 2010 Warrants to purchase 0.2 million and 5,000 
shares of common stock, respectively were exercised. At December 31, 2013 no 2009 Warrants have been exercised and an aggregate 
5.9 million 2009 and 2010 Warrants remain outstanding.  

Sales Agreements  

The Company entered into an At-The-Market Issuance Sales Agreement in June 2011, as amended in January 2012 and August 2012 
(collectively, the “MLV Agreement”), with MLV & Co. LLC, formerly McNicoll, Lewis & Vlak LLC (“MLV”) t hat provides for the issuance 
and sale of shares of the Company’s common stock over the term of the MLV Agreement having an aggregate offering price of up to $20.0 
million through MLV. Under the MLV Agreement, MLV acts as the Company’s sales agent and receives compensation based on an aggregate of 
3% of the gross proceeds on the sale price per share of its common stock. The issuance and sale of these shares by the Company pursuant to the 
MLV Agreement are deemed an “at-the-market” offering and are registered under the Securities Act. During the year ended December 31, 2012 
and 2011, approximately 3.1 million and 3.5 million shares, respectively, of the Company’s common stock were sold under the MLV Agreement 
for aggregate net proceeds of $9.5 million and $9.7 million, respectively. At December 31, 2013, the Company had less than $0.1 million of 
common stock available to be sold under the MLV Agreement.  

The Company also entered into a Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement (the “Cantor Agreement”) in August 2012, with Cantor 
Fitzgerald & Co. (“Cantor”) that provides for the issuance and sale of shares of its common stock over the term of the Cantor Agreement having 
an aggregate offering price of up to $30.0 million through Cantor. Under the Cantor Agreement, Cantor also acts as the Company’s sales agent 
and receives compensation based on an aggregate of 2% of the gross proceeds on the sale price per share of its common stock. The issuance and 
sale of these shares by the Company pursuant to the Cantor Agreement are deemed an “at-the-market” offering and are registered under the 
Securities Act. During the years ended December 31, 2013 and  
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     December 31, 
     2013   2012 

2009 Warrants:       

Expected term (in years)     0.65   1.65 
Estimated volatility     45%   45% 
Risk-free interest rate     0.10%   0.25% 
Expected dividend yield     0%   0% 
2010 Warrants:       

Expected term (in years)     1.86   2.86 
Estimated volatility     41%   51% 
Risk-free interest rate     0.38%   0.36% 
Expected dividend yield     0%   0% 

SM 
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2012, approximately 5.4 million and 1.4 million shares, respectively, of the Company’s common stock were sold under the Cantor Agreement 
for aggregate net proceeds of $23.5 million and $4.3 million, respectively. At December 31, 2013, the Company had approximately $1.5 million 
of common stock available to be sold under the Cantor Agreement.  

Stockholder Rights Plan  

In October 2009, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted an amendment to its 1999 stockholder rights plan, commonly referred to as a 
“poison pill,” to reduce the exercise price, extend the expiration date and revise certain definitions under the plan. The stockholder rights plan is 
intended to deter hostile or coercive attempts to acquire the Company. The stockholder rights plan enables stockholders to acquire shares of the 
Company’s common stock, or the common stock of an acquirer, at a substantial discount to the public market price should any person or group 
acquire more than 15% of the Company’s common stock without the approval of the Board of Directors under certain circumstances. The 
Company has designated 250,000 shares of Series C Junior Participating preferred stock for issuance in connection with the stockholder rights 
plan.  

Note 14. Stock-Based Compensation  

Employee Stock Plans  

Employee Stock Purchase Plan  

The Company maintains an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Purchase Plan”), which is intended to qualify as an employee stock 
purchase plan within the meaning of Section 423(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. Under the Purchase Plan, the Company’s Board of Directors 
may authorize participation by eligible employees, including officers, in periodic offerings. Although the Purchase Plan provides for an offering 
period to be no more than 27 months, the Company currently allows eligible employees to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at 
the end of each six-month offering period at a purchase price equal to 85% of the lower of the fair market value per share on the start date of the 
offering period or the fair market value per share on the purchase date prior to 2012. Prior to June 6, 2012, the Purchase Plan, as amended by the 
Company’s stockholders, had authorized and provided for issuance an aggregate of 820,500 shares of common stock. On June 6, 2012, the 
stockholders approved a further amendment to the Purchase Plan to increase the aggregate number of shares of common stock authorized for 
issuance by 500,000 shares, such that the Purchase Plan has reserved for issuance an amount not to exceed 1,320,500 shares. At December 31, 
2013, the Company had 514,820 shares available for future issuance.  

2008 Equity Incentive Plan  

The Company also maintains an equity compensation plan to provide long-term incentives for employees, contractors, and members of its 
Board of Directors. The Company currently grants equity awards from one plan, the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2008 Plan”). The 2008 
Plan allows for the issuance of non-statutory and incentive stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, other 
stock-related awards, and performance awards which may be settled in cash, stock, or other property. On June 6, 2012 and June 12, 2013, the 
stockholders approved amendments to the 2008 Plan (collectively the “Amended 2008 Plan”) which increased the aggregate number of shares of 
common stock authorized for issuance by 3,000,000 shares and 6,000,000 shares, respectively, such that the Amended 2008 Plan has reserved 
for issuance an amount not to exceed 19,540,940 shares. Awards under the 2008 Plan generally have a maximum term of 10 years from the date 
of the award. The 2008 Plan generally requires options to be granted at 100% of the fair market value of the  
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Company’s common stock subject to the option on the date of grant and will generally vest over four years. Performance-based stock or cash 
awards granted under the Amended 2008 Plan are limited to either 500,000 shares of common stock or $1.0 million per recipient per calendar 
year. The attainment of any performance-based awards granted shall be conclusively determined by a committee designated by the Company’s 
Board of Directors. At December 31, 2013, no performance-based stock options were outstanding.  

1996 Equity Incentive Plan, 1998 Non-Officer Stock Option Plan, and 1999 Equity Incentive Plan  

The Company continues to have equity awards outstanding under its previous stock plans: 1998 Non-Officer Stock Option Plan and 1999 
Equity Incentive Plan (collectively, the “Prior Plans”) and 1996 Equity Incentive Plan (the “1996 Plan”). Equity awards issued under the Prior 
Plans and the 1996 Plan continues to adhere to the terms of those respective stock plans and no further options may be granted under those 
previous plans. However, at June 2, 2008, any shares that remained available for future grants under the Prior Plans became available for 
issuance under the 2008 Plan.  

At December 31, 2013, the Company had an aggregate of approximately 18.6 million shares of its common stock remaining available for 
future issuance under the Amended 2008 Plan, the Prior Plans and the 1996 Plan, of which approximately 10.5 million shares were subject to 
outstanding options and other stock-based awards, and approximately 8.1 million shares were available for future issuance under the Amended 
2008 Plan. The Company’s policy is to issue new shares of common stock upon the exercise of options.  

Activity under the Company’s equity incentive plans related to stock options is set forth below (in thousands except weighted average 
exercise price):  
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Number of  
Options  

Outstanding     

Weighted Average 
 

Exercise Price per 
 

Share   

Balances at December 31, 2010       7,007      $ 6.42    
Granted       2,169        2.36    
Forfeited       (465 )      2.45    
Expired       (1,237 )      11.52    
Exercised       (112 )      0.81    

             

Balances at December 31, 2011       7,362      $ 4.70    
Granted       1,782        3.68    
Forfeited       (98 )      2.78    
Expired       (386 )      30.44    
Exercised       (156 )      1.30    

             

Balances at December 31, 2012       8,504      $ 3.40    
Granted       2,621        3.82    
Forfeited       (234 )      3.13    
Expired       (189 )      6.71    
Exercised       (297 )      3.14    

             

Balances at December 31, 2013       10,405      $ 3.46    
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Information regarding the Company’s stock options outstanding, stock options vested and expected to vest, and stock options exercisable 
at December 31, 2013 was as follows (in thousands except weighted average exercise price and contractual term):  
   

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the stock option and the 
Company’s closing stock price on the last trading day of each respective fiscal period.  

The total intrinsic value of options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $0.6 million, $0.3 million and $0.2 
million, respectively.  

Restricted Stock Units  

The Company has previously granted restricted stock units primarily to its senior management in accordance with the Amended 2008 Plan. 
Subject to each grantee’s continued employment, the restricted stock units generally vest in three annual installments from the date of grant and 
are generally issuable at the end of the three-year vesting term. The fair value of restricted stock units which vested during the years ended 
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $0.05 million, $0.05 million and $0.1 million, respectively.  

Activity under the Company’s equity incentive plans related to restricted stock units is set forth below:  
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Number 
of Shares      

Weighted 
 

Average  
Exercise 

Price      

Weighted  
Average  

Remaining  
Contractual  

Term (Years)      

Aggregate 
 

Intrinsic  
Value   

Balances at December 31, 2013              

Stock options outstanding       10,405       $ 3.46         6.34       $ 32,724    
Stock options vested and expected to vest       10,028       $ 3.45         6.25       $ 31,730    
Stock options exercisable       6,589       $ 3.43         5.05       $ 21,555    

     
Number  
of RSUs     

Weighted Average 
Grant-Date Fair  

Value   

Balances at December 31, 2010       88,400      $ 2.54    
Granted       —       0.00    
Forfeited       (17,727 )      1.85    
Vested       (37,378 )      3.48    

             

Balances at December 31, 2011       33,295      $ 1.85    
Granted       2,000        3.03    
Forfeited       —       0.00    
Vested       (18,650 )      1.98    

             

Balances at December 31, 2012       16,645      $ 1.85    
Granted       —       0.00    
Forfeited       —       0.00    
Vested       (16,645 )      1.85    

             

Balances at December 31, 2013       —     $ —   
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Stock-based Compensation Expense  

Stock-based compensation expense recognized on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 
2013, 2012 and 2011, was as follows (in thousands):  
   

Stock-based compensation expense in the above table does not reflect any income taxes as the Company has experienced a history of net 
losses since its inception and has a full valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets. In addition, there was neither income tax benefits realized 
related to stock-based compensation expense nor any stock-based compensation costs capitalized as part of an asset during the years ended 
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011. The Company has also not recorded any stock-based compensation associated with performance-based 
stock options during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 as the performance criteria was not probable of being achieved.  

As of December 31, 2013, the Company expects to recognize the remaining unamortized stock-based compensation expense of $5.9 
million related to non-vested stock options, net of estimated forfeitures, over an estimated remaining weighted average period of 2.56 years.  

Valuation Assumptions for Stock-based Compensation  

The Company currently uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the grant-date fair value of stock options and employee 
stock purchase plan shares. The Black-Scholes option-pricing model is affected by the Company’s stock price, as well as assumptions regarding 
a number of complex and subjective variables, which include the expected term of the grants, actual and projected employee stock option 
exercise behaviors, including forfeitures, the Company’s expected stock price volatility, the risk-free interest rate and expected dividends. The 
Company recognizes the grant-date fair value of the stock award as stock-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite 
service period, which is the vesting period, and is adjusted for estimated forfeitures.  

Expected Term  

The Company estimates the expected term for stock options based on grouping the population of stock options into discreet, homogeneous 
groups and then analyzing employee exercise and post-vesting termination behavior. The Company may also average the vesting term and the 
contractual term of the stock options, as illustrated in SAB 107 and SAB 110, if the Company is unable to obtain sufficient information for a 
particular homogeneous group of stock options. The expected term for the shares issuable under the employee stock purchase plan is the term of 
each purchase period, which is six months.  

Estimated Forfeiture Rate  

The Company estimates the forfeiture rate of stock options at the time of grant and revises those estimates in subsequent periods if actual 
forfeitures differ from those estimates. The Company uses historical data to estimate  
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     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013      2012      2011   

Stock-based compensation expense by caption:           

Research and development     $ 482       $ 554       $ 450    
Selling, general and administrative       2,786         1,987         1,400    

                                 

Total stock-based compensation expense     $ 3,268       $ 2,541       $ 1,850    
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pre-vesting option forfeitures and records stock-based compensation expense only for those awards that are expected to vest. The Company 
estimates the historic pre-vesting forfeiture rates by groups that possess a degree of homogeneity regarding average time to vest and expected 
term.  

Estimated Volatility  

The Company estimates the volatility of its common stock by using historical volatility of its common stock. The Company has used 
significant judgment in making these estimates and will continue to monitor the availability of actively traded stock options on its common 
stock. The Company may also consider a combination of historical and implied volatility, or solely implied volatility, if the Company determines 
that sufficient actively traded stock options on its common stock exists.  

Risk-Free Interest Rate  

The Company uses the risk-free interest rate based on the yield derived from United States Treasury zero-coupon issues with remaining 
terms similar to the expected term on the stock options.  

Expected Dividend Yield  

The Company does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future and therefore uses an expected dividend yield of 
zero.  

The weighted average assumptions used to value the Company’s stock-based awards for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 
2011, was as follows:  
   

The weighted average grant-date fair value of stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, was $2.03 
per share, $2.13 per share and $1.37 per share, respectively. The weighted average grant-date fair value of restricted stock units granted during 
the years ended December 31, 2012 was $3.03 per share. The weighted average grant-date fair value of employee stock purchase rights during 
the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, was $1.18 per share, $1.43 per share and $0.68 per share, respectively.  

Note 15. Retirement Plan  

The Company maintains a defined contribution savings plan (the “401(k) Plan”) that qualifies under the provisions of Section 401(k) of the 
Internal Revenue Code and covers eligible U.S. employees of the Company.  
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     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   
Stock Options:         

Expected term (in years)       5.59        5.54        5.30    
Estimated volatility       60 %      67 %      68 %  
Risk-free interest rate       0.87 %      1.03 %      1.23 %  
Expected dividend yield       0 %      0 %      0 %  
Employee Stock Purchase Plan Rights:         

Expected term (in years)       0.50        0.50        0.50    
Estimated volatility       39 %      101 %      48 %  
Risk-free interest rate       0.10 %      0.14 %      0.08 %  
Expected dividend yield       0 %      0 %      0 %  
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Under the terms of the 401(k) Plan, eligible U.S. employees may make pre-tax dollar contributions of up to 60% of their eligible pay up to a 
maximum cap established by the IRS. The Company may contribute a discretionary percentage of qualified individual employee’s salaries, as 
defined, to the 401(k) Plan. The Company has not contributed to the 401(k) Plan during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.  

Note 16. Development and License Agreements  

Agreements with Fresenius  

The Company has certain agreements with Fresenius which require the Company to pay royalties on future INTERCEPT Blood System 
product sales at royalty rates that vary by product: 10% of product sales for the platelet system and 3% of product sales for the plasma system. 
During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, the Company made royalty payments to Fresenius of $3.0 million, $2.7 million and 
$2.2 million, respectively. At December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the Company owed Fresenius $0.7 million and $0.8 million, 
respectively, for royalties.  

We also paid Fresenius certain costs associated with the amended manufacturing and supply agreement we executed with Fresenius in 
December 2008, the Original Supply Agreement, for the manufacture of INTERCEPT finished disposable kits for our platelet and plasma 
systems through December 31, 2013. Under the Original Supply Agreement, we paid Fresenius a set price per disposable kit, which was 
established annually, plus a fixed surcharge per disposable kit. In addition, volume driven manufacturing overhead was paid or refunded if actual 
manufacturing volumes were higher or lower than the annually estimated production volumes. The Company made payments to Fresenius of 
$15.0 million, $12.2 million and $9.6 million relating to the manufacturing of the Company products during the years ended December 31, 2013, 
2012 and 2011, respectively. At December 31, 2013, and December 31, 2012, the Company owed Fresenius $4.3 million and $6.2 million, 
respectively, for INTERCEPT disposable kits manufactured.  

In November 2013, we amended the Original Supply Agreement with Fresenius, with the new terms effective January 1, 2014, the 2013 
Amendment. Under the 2013 Amendment, Fresenius is obligated to sell, and we are obligated to purchase, up to a certain specified annual 
volume of finished disposable kits for the platelet and plasma systems from Fresenius for both clinical and commercial use. Once the specified 
annual volume of disposable kits is purchased from Fresenius, we are able to purchase additional quantities of disposable kits from other third-
party manufacturers. The 2013 Amendment also provides for fixed pricing for finished kits with successive decreases in pricing at certain annual 
production volumes. In addition, the 2013 Amendment requires us to purchase additional specified annual volumes of sets per annum if and 
when an additional Fresenius manufacturing site is identified and qualified to make INTERCEPT disposable kits subject to mutual agreement on 
pricing for disposable kits manufactured at the additional site. Fresenius is also obligated to purchase and maintain specified inventory levels of 
our proprietary inactivation compounds and adsorption media from us at fixed prices. The term of the 2013 Amendment extends through 
December 31, 2018, subject to termination by either party upon thirty months prior written notice, in the case of Fresenius, or twenty-four 
months prior written notice, in our case. We and Fresenius each have normal and customary termination rights, including termination for 
material breach.  

In connection with the warranty claims incurred by the Company and remediation of those claims during the year ended December 31, 
2012 (see Note 2 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under “Guarantee and Indemnification Arrangements” for more detail), the 
Company filed a warranty claim against Fresenius. Fresenius accepted the warranty claim and supplied the Company with replacement product 
or credit notes. As a  
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result, the Company had recorded a current asset of $1.8 million on its consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2012 representing the full 
amount of the warranty claim against Fresenius. As of December 31, 2013 the Company no longer has a warranty claim against Fresenius.  

Cooperative Agreements with the United States Armed Forces  

Since February 2001, the Company had received awards under cooperative agreements with the Army Medical Research Acquisition 
Activity division of the Department of Defense. The Company received these awards in order to develop its pathogen inactivation technologies 
for the improved safety and availability of blood that may be used by the United States Armed Forces for medical transfusions. Under the terms 
of the cooperative agreements, the Company was conducting research on the inactivation of infectious pathogens in blood, including unusual 
viruses, bacteria and parasites that were of concern to the United States Armed Forces. This funding supported advanced development of the 
Company’s red blood cell system. The Company recognized $0 million, $0.1 million and $2.4 million of revenue under these agreements during 
the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The Company has fully utilized the remaining availability under these existing 
agreements, accordingly the Company will not recognize any additional revenue associated with these agreements.  

Note 17. Income Taxes  

U.S and foreign components of consolidated loss before income taxes for the years ended December 2013, 2012 and 2011 was as follows 
(in thousands):  
   

The provision for income taxes for the years ended December 2013, 2012 and 2011 was as follows (in thousands):  
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     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   

Income (loss) before income taxes:         
U.S.     $ (44,035 )    $ (16,360 )    $ (17,461 )  
Foreign       916        685        622    

         
  

        
  

        
  

Loss before income taxes     $ (43,119 )    $ (15,675 )    $ (16,839 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

     Year Ended December 31,   
         2013              2012              2011       
Provision for income taxes:           

Current:           

Foreign     $ 191       $ 180       $ 143    
Federal       —        —        —   
State       —        —        —   

                                 

Total Current       191         180         143    
Deferred:           

Foreign       —        —        —   
Federal       21         48         —   
State       6         14         —   

                                 

Total Deferred       27         62         —   
                                 

Provision for income taxes     $ 218       $ 242       $ 143    
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The difference between the provision for income taxes and the amount computed by applying the federal statutory income tax rate to loss 
before taxes for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was as follows (in thousands):  
   

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes at the enacted rates. The significant components of the Company’s 
deferred tax assets at December 31, 2013 and 2012 were as follows (in thousands):  
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     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   

Federal statutory tax     $ (14,661 )    $ (5,329 )    $ (5,725 )  
Stock-based compensation       (10 )      99        83    
Lobbying expenses       107        51        112    
Warrants       4,926        (706 )      (165 )  
Foreign rate differential       (121 )      (53 )      (68 )  
Expiration of federal net operating losses and credits—tax effected       —       4,352        1,744    
Change in valuation allowance       9,934        1,761        4,158    
Goodwill amortization       21        48        —   
Other       22        19        4    

                               

Provision for income taxes     $ 218      $ 242      $ 143    
         

  

        

  

        

  

     December 31,   
     2013     2012   

Deferred tax assets:       

Net operating loss carryforwards     $ 142,500      $ 137,700    
Research and development credit carryforwards       32,100        30,800    
Capitalized inventory costs       800        900    
Inventory reserve       100        700    
Capitalized research and development       12,300        9,100    
Capitalized trademark       400        400    
Capitalized revenue sharing rights       100        300    
Asia license intangible       100        100    
Deferred compensation       4,900        4,800    
Accrued liabilities       200        100    
Depreciation       1,300        1,300    
Acquisition costs       200        200    
Deferred tenant allowance       100        200    
Capital loss carryforwards       3,900        3,900    

                     

Total deferred tax assets       199,000        190,500    
Valuation allowance       (199,000 )      (190,500 )  

         
  

        
  

Net deferred tax assets     $ —     $ —   
         

  

        

  

Deferred tax liabilities:       
Amortization of goodwill     $ 89      $ 62    

                     

Total deferred tax liabilities     $ 89      $ 62    
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The valuation allowance increased by $8.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to a decrease of $0.8 million and an 
increase of $2.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The Company believes that, based on a number of 
factors, the available objective evidence creates sufficient uncertainty regarding the realizability of the deferred tax assets such that a full 
valuation allowance has been recorded. These factors include the Company’s history of net losses since its inception, the need for regulatory 
approval of the Company’s products prior to commercialization, expected near-term future losses and the absence of taxable income in prior 
carryback years. The Company expects to maintain a full valuation allowance until circumstances change.  

Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiary, Cerus Europe B.V., amounted to approximately $2.8 million at December 31, 
2013. The earnings are considered to be permanently reinvested and accordingly, no deferred United States income taxes have been provided 
thereon. Upon distribution of those earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, the Company would be subject to United States income taxes. 
At the Federal statutory income tax rate of 34%, this would result in taxes of approximately $0.9 million. In the event all foreign undistributed 
earnings were remitted to the U.S., any incremental tax liability would be fully offset by the Company’s domestic net operating loss.  

For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company reported net losses of $43.3 million on its consolidated statement of operations and 
calculated taxable losses for both federal and state taxes. The difference between reported net loss and taxable loss are due to temporary 
differences between book accounting and the respective tax laws.  

At December 31, 2013, the Company had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $381.7 million and $218.1 
million, respectively. The net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state expire at various dates beginning in 2018 and 2014, respectively, 
and ending in 2033.  

At December 31, 2013, the Company had federal research and development credit carryforwards of approximately $21.6 million that 
expire in various years between 2018 and 2033. The state research and development credits are approximately $15.9 million as of December 31, 
2013 have an indefinite carryforward period.  

The utilization of net operating loss carryforwards, as well as research and development credit carryforwards, is limited by current tax 
regulations. These net operating loss carryforwards, as well as research and development credit carryforwards, will be utilized in future periods if 
sufficient income is generated. The Company believes it more likely than not that its tax positions would be recognized upon review by a taxing 
authority having full knowledge of all relevant information. The Company’s ability to utilize certain loss carryforwards and certain research 
credit carryforwards are subject to limitations pursuant to the ownership change rules of Internal Revenue Code Section 382.  

The Company will recognize accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in its income tax expense. To date, the 
Company has not recognized any interest and penalties in its consolidated statements of operations, nor has it accrued for or made payments for 
interest and penalties. The Company had no unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2013 and 2012. The Company’s tax years 1998 
through 2013 remain subject to examination by the taxing jurisdictions due to unutilized net operating losses and research credits.  
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Note 18. Segment, Customer and Geographic Information  

The Company continues to operate in only one segment, blood safety. The Company’s chief executive officer is the chief operating 
decision maker who evaluates performance based on the net revenues and operating loss of the blood safety segment. The Company considers 
the sale of all of its INTERCEPT Blood System products to be similar in nature and function, and any revenue earned from services is minimal.  

The Company’s operations outside of the United States include a wholly-owned subsidiary headquartered in Europe. The Company’s 
operations in the United States are responsible for the research and development and global commercialization of the INTERCEPT Blood 
System, while operations in Europe are responsible for the commercialization efforts of the platelet and plasma systems in Europe, The 
Commonwealth of Independent States and the Middle East. Product revenues are attributed to each region based on the location of the customer, 
and in the case of non-product revenues, on the location of the collaboration partner.  

The Company had the following significant customers that accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s total product revenue, all of 
which operate in a country outside of the United States, during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 (in percentages):  
   

The Company also recognized government grants and cooperative agreements revenue which represented less than 1% of total revenue and 
7% of total revenue, during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The Company recognized no revenue from 
governmental grants and cooperative agreements during the year ended December 31, 2013.  

Net revenues by geographical location was based on the location of the customer, in the case of product revenues, and in the location of the 
collaboration partner, in the case of non-product revenues, during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 and was as follows (in 
thousands):  
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     Year Ended December 31,   
         2013             2012             2011       

Movaco, S.A.       18 %      19 %      21 %  
Etablissement Francais du Sang       17 %      20 %      24 %  
Delrus Inc.       *        12 %      12 %  
  
* Represents an amount less than 10% of product revenue 

     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013      2012      2011   

Product Revenue:           
France     $ 7,030       $ 7,321       $ 7,385    
Spain and Portugal       7,033         7,061         6,504    
CIS       8,220         8,016         3,754    
Belgium       3,971         4,016         3,703    
Switzerland       4,078         3,866         3,315    
Other countries       9,325         6,415         5,941    

                                 

Total product revenue       39,657         36,695         30,602    
Government grants and cooperative agreements:           

United States       —        91         2,442    
                                 

Total government grants and cooperative agreements       —        91         2,442    
                                 

Total revenue     $ 39,657       $ 36,786       $ 33,044    
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)  

December 31, 2013  
   

Long-lived assets by geographical location, which consist of property and equipment, net, intangible assets, net, and certain other assets, at 
December 31, 2013 and 2012 were as follows (in thousands):  
   

Note 19. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)  

The following tables summarize the Company’s quarterly financial information for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in 
thousands except per share amounts):  
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     December 31,   

       2013      2012   

United States     $ 3,088       $ 2,895    
Europe       445         349    

                      

Total long-lived assets     $ 3,533       $ 3,244    
         

  

         

  

     Three Months Ended   

     
March 31, 

2013     
June 30,  

2013     

September 30, 
 

2013     

December 31, 
 

2013   

Revenue:           

Product revenue     $ 9,733      $ 10,150      $ 10,542      $ 9,232    
Cost of product revenue       5,090        5,747        6,826        4,939    

                                         

Gross profit on product revenue       4,643        4,403        3,716        4,293    
Government grants and cooperative agreements revenue       —       —       —       —   
Operating expenses:           

Research and development       2,700        3,506        4,363        4,618    
Selling, general and administrative       6,853        7,954        7,728        7,430    
Amortization of intangible assets       50        51        50        51    

                                         

Total operating expenses       9,603        11,511        12,141        12,099    
         

  
        

  
        

  
        

  

Loss from operations       (4,960 )      (7,108 )      (8,425 )      (7,806 )  
Total non-operating income (expense), net       (5,241 )      438        (12,016 )      1,999    

                                         

Loss before income taxes       (10,201 )      (6,670 )      (20,441 )      (5,807 )  
Provision for income taxes       51        54        60        53    

                                         

Net loss     $ (10,252 )    $ (6,724 )    $ (20,501 )    $ (5,860 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Net loss per common share:           

Basic     $ (0.17 )    $ (0.10 )    $ (0.29 )    $ (0.08 )  
Diluted     $ (0.17 )    $ (0.10 )    $ (0.29 )    $ (0.10 )  
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     Three Months Ended   

     

March 31, 
 

2012     
June 30,  

2012     

September 30, 
 

2012     

December 31, 
 

2012   

Revenue:           

Product revenue     $ 8,691      $ 9,224      $ 8,252      $ 10,528    
Cost of product revenue       5,514        5,574        4,411        5,117    

                                         

Gross profit on product revenue       3,177        3,650        3,841        5,411    
Government grants and cooperative agreements revenue       91        —       —       —   
Operating expenses:           

Research and development       1,824        1,712        1,903        2,164    
Selling, general and administrative       5,966        6,686        6,219        6,794    
Amortization of intangible assets       50        51        50        51    

                                         

Total operating expenses       7,840        8,449        8,172        9,009    
         

  
        

  
        

  
        

  

Loss from operations       (4,572 )      (4,799 )      (4,331 )      (3,598 )  
Total non-operating income (expense), net       (4,227 )      2,933        926        1,993    

                                         

Loss before income taxes       (8,799 )      (1,866 )      (3,405 )      (1,605 )  
Provision for income taxes       35        41        55        111    

                                         

Net loss     $ (8,834 )    $ (1,907 )    $ (3,460 )    $ (1,716 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Net loss per common share:           

Basic     $ (0.17 )    $ (0.04 )    $ (0.06 )    $ (0.03 )  
Diluted     $ (0.17 )    $ (0.10 )    $ (0.08 )    $ (0.07 )  
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SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirement of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Concord, State of California, on the 7th day of March, 2014.  
   

Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints William M. Greenman and Kevin D. Green, his true and lawful 
attorney-in-fact and agent, each acting alone, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any 
and all capacities, to sign any or all amendments to the Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and all 
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent, full power and 
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and 
purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or 
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons in the 
capacities and on the dates indicated.  
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CERUS CORPORATION 

By:   / S /    W ILLIAM M. G REENMAN         
  William M. Greenman 
  President and Chief Executive Officer 

Signature    Title   Date 

/ S /    W ILLIAM M. G REENMAN          
William M. Greenman  

   

President, Chief Executive  
    Officer and Director  
    (Principal Executive Officer)    

March 7, 2014 

/ S /    K EVIN D. G REEN          
Kevin D. Green  

   

Vice President, Finance and  
    Chief Financial Officer  
    (Principal Financial Officer)    

March 7, 2014 

/ S /    D ANIEL N. S WISHER , J R .          
Daniel N. Swisher, Jr.     

Chairman of the Board of Directors  
  

March 7, 2014 

/ S /    T IMOTHY B. A NDERSON          
Timothy B. Anderson     

Director  
  

March 7, 2014 

/ S /    L AURENCE M. C ORASH , M.D.          
Laurence M. Corash, M.D.     

Director  
  

March 7, 2014 

/ S /    B RUCE C. C OZADD          
Bruce C. Cozadd     

Director  
  

March 7, 2014 

/ S /    G AIL S CHULZE          
Gail Schulze     

Director  
  

March 7, 2014 
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Exhibit  
Number    Description of Exhibit  

    2.1(21)† 
   

Asset Purchase and Redemption Agreement by and between Cerus Corporation and BioOne Corporation, dated as of August 
24, 2010. 

    3.1(32)    Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Cerus Corporation. 

    3.2(32)    Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Cerus Corporation. 

    3.3(32)    Certificate of Designation of Series C Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Cerus Corporation. 

    3.4(10)    Amended and Restated Bylaws of Cerus Corporation. 

    4.1(1)    Specimen Stock Certificate. 

    4.2(16) 
   

Rights Agreement, dated as of November 3, 1999, as amended as of August 6, 2001, between Cerus Corporation and Wells 
Fargo Bank, N.A. (formerly known as Norwest Bank Minnesota, N.A.). 

    4.3(18) 
   

Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2009, between Cerus Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 
(which includes the form of Rights Certificate as Exhibit B thereto). 

    4.4(17)    Form of 2009 Warrant to Purchase Common Stock. 

    4.5(22)    Form of 2010 Warrant to Purchase Common Stock. 

   Supply and/or Manufacturing Agreements 

  10.1(8)† 
   

Supply Agreement, dated December 19, 2007, by and between Cerus Corporation and Brotech Corporation d/b/a Purolite 
Company. 

  10.2(8)†    Supply and Manufacturing Agreement, dated March 1, 2008, by and between Cerus Corporation and Porex Corporation. 

  10.3(34)† 
   

First Amendment to Supply and Manufacturing Agreement, dated November 28, 2012, by and between Cerus Corporation 
and Porex Corporation. 

  10.4# 
   

Amended and Restated Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated December 12, 2008, by and between Cerus 
Corporation and Fresenius Kabi AG (successor-in-interest to Fenwal, Inc.). 

  10.5# 
   

Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated November 22, 2013, by and 
between Cerus Corporation and Fresenius Kabi Deutschland GmbH. 

  10.6(12)† 
   

Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated September 30, 2008, by and between Cerus Corporation and NOVA 
Biomedical Corporation. 

  10.7(26)†    Amended and Restated Supply Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2011, between Cerus Corporation and Ash Stevens Inc. 

  10.8(35)† 
   

Addendum 1 to Amended and Restated Supply Agreement, dated August 1, 2013, by and between Cerus Corporation and 
Ash Stevens, Inc. 

   Loan and Security Agreements 

  10.9(26)†    Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2011, by and between Cerus Corporation and Comerica Bank. 
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Exhibit  
Number      Description of Exhibit  

    10.10(30)†    
   

First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2011, by and between Cerus Corporation and 
Comerica Bank. 

    10.11(30)    
   

Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2012, by and between Cerus Corporation and 
Comerica Bank. 

   Real Estate Lease Agreements 

    10.12(4)    
   

Standard Industrial/Commercial Single-Tenant Lease-Net, dated October 12, 2001 between Cerus Corporation and 
California Development, Inc. 

    10.13(11)    
   

Second Amendment to Standard Industrial/Commercial Single-Tenant Lease-Net, dated as of September 18, 2008 between 
Cerus Corporation and California Development, Inc. 

    10.14(19)    

   

Letter to California Development, Inc. exercising option to extend the lease term from the Second Amendment to Standard 
Industrial/Commercial Single-Tenant Lease-Net, dated as of September 18, 2008 between Cerus Corporation and 
California Development, Inc. 

    10.15    
   

Real Property Lease, dated June 20, 2013, between Cerus Corporation and S. P. Cuff as Managing Partner of the 
Redwoods Business Center LP. 

   Employment Agreements or Offer Letters 

    10.16(23)*       Employment Letter, by and between Cerus corporation and William M. Greenman, dated May 12, 2011. 

    10.17(34)*       Addendum to Employment Agreement for William M. Greenman, dated December 5, 2012. 

    10.18*       Employment Letter, by and between Cerus Corporation and Laurence Corash, dated July 30, 2009. 

    10.19(20)*       Employment Letter, by and between Cerus Corporation and Laurence Corash, dated March 2, 2010. 

    10.20(33)*       Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Howard G. Ervin, dated January 15, 2013. 

    10.21(16)*       Employment Letter for Kevin D. Green dated May 1, 2009. 

    10.22(27)*       Employment Agreement for Caspar Hogeboom dated March 6, 2006. 

    10.23(27)*       Promotion Letter for Caspar Hogeboom dated December 11, 2009 and executed on September 21, 2010. 

    10.24(27)*       Addendum to Employment Agreement for Caspar Hogeboom dated February 17, 2011. 

    10.25(27)*       Healthcare Contribution Letter for Caspar Hogeboom dated December 18, 2007. 

    10.26(27)*       Home Telephone and Internet Expenses Letter for Caspar Hogeboom dated January 11, 2012. 

    10.27(34)*       Employment Letter, by and between Cerus Corporation and Chrystal Menard, dated October 19, 2012. 

    10.28*       Employment Letter, by and between Cerus Corporation and Carol Moore, dated December 14, 2007. 
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Exhibit  
Number      Description of Exhibit  

   Stock Plans and Related Forms 

    10.29(1)*       1996 Equity Incentive Plan. 

    10.30(1)*       Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 1996 Equity Incentive Plan. 

    10.31(1)*       Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement under the 1996 Equity Incentive Plan. 

    10.32(1)*       1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. 

    10.33(30)*       Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended, effective June 6, 2012. 

    10.34(2)*       1998 Non-Officer Stock Option Plan. 

    10.35(3)*       1999 Equity Incentive Plan, adopted April 30, 1999, approved by stockholders July 2, 1999. 

    10.36(5)*       1999 Non-Employee Directors’  Stock Option Sub-Plan, amended December 4, 2002. 

    10.37(9)*       2008 Equity Incentive Plan, approved by stockholders June 2, 2008. 

    10.38(25)*       2008 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, reapproved by stockholders June 1, 2011. 

    10.39(30)*       2008 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, effective June 12, 2013. 

    10.40(29)*       Form of Option Agreement for employees under the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended. 

    10.41(29)*       Form of Option Agreement for non-employee directors under the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended. 

    10.42(29)*       Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended. 

   Other Compensatory Plans or Agreements 

    10.43(34)*       Bonus Plan for Senior Management of Cerus Corporation, as amended December 5, 2012. 

    10.44(13)*       Cerus Corporation Change of Control Severance Benefit Plan, as amended. 

    10.45(15)*       Form of Severance Benefits Agreement. 

    10.46(27)*       Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy. 

    10.47(29)*       International Bonus Plan for 2012. 

    10.48*       International Bonus Plan for 2013. 

   Other Material Agreements 

    10.49(24)       At-The-Market-Issuance Sales Agreement, dated June 3, 2011, by and between Cerus Corporation and MLV & Co. LLC. 

    10.50(28)    
   

Amendment to At-The-Market-Issuance Sales Agreement, dated January 4, 2012, by and between Cerus Corporation and 
MLV & Co. LLC. 

    10.51(31)    
   

Amendment No. 2 to At-The-Market-Issuance Sales Agreement, dated August 31, 2012, by and between Cerus 
Corporation and MLV & Co. LLC. 

    10.52(1)       Form of Indemnity Agreement entered into between Cerus Corporation and each of its directors and executive officers. 

    10.53(14)       Form of Amended and Restated Indemnity Agreement, adopted April 24, 2009. 

    10.54(17)       Form of Subscription Agreement. 
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Exhibit  
Number      Description of Exhibit  

    10.55(31)    
   

Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement, dated August 31, 2012, by and between Cerus Corporation and Cantor 
Fitzgerald & Co. 

    10.56(19)†    
   

Restructuring Agreement, dated as of February 2, 2005, by and among Cerus Corporation, Baxter Healthcare S.A. and 
Fresenius Kabi AG (successor-in-interest to Baxter Healthcare Corporation). 

    10.57(19)†    
   

License Agreement, dated as of February 2, 2005, by and between Cerus Corporation and Fresenius Kabi AG (successor-
in-interest to Baxter Healthcare S.A. and Baxter Healthcare Corporation). 

    10.58(6)†    
   

Commercialization Transition Agreement, dated as of February 12, 2006, by and between Cerus Corporation and Fresenius 
Kabi AG (successor-in-interest to Baxter Healthcare S.A. and Baxter Healthcare Corporation). 

    12.1       Computation of Earnings to Fixed Charges. 

    21.1       List of Registrant’s subsidiaries. 

    23.1       Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. 

    24.1       Power of Attorney (see signature page). 

    31.1    
   

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer of Cerus Corporation pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002. 

    31.2    
   

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer of Cerus Corporation pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002. 

    32.1(36)    
   

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002. 

  101.INS       XBRL Instance Document 

  101.SCH       XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 

  101.CAL       XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document 

  101.DEF       XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 

  101.LAB       XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document 

  101.PRE       XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document 
  

†   Certain portions of this exhibit are subject to a confidential treatment order. 
*   Compensatory Plan. 
#   Registrant has requested confidential treatment for portions of this exhibit. 

(1)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-11341) and 
amendments thereto. 

(2)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, dated March 24, 1999. 
(3)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, dated August 4, 1999. 
(4)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended December 31, 

2001. 
(5)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended 

March 31, 2003. 

SM 
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(6)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2006. 

(7)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended December 31, 
2007. 

(8)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2008. 

(9)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 6, 
2008. 

(10)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 19, 
2008. 

(11)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2008. 

(12)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended December 31, 
2008. 

(13)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2009. 

(14)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on April 30, 
2009. 

(15)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 1, 
2009. 

(16)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended June 30, 
2009. 

(17)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 20, 
2009. 

(18)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on October 30, 
2009. 

(19)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended December 31, 
2009. 

(20)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on March 8, 
2010. 

(21)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 30, 
2010. 

(22)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on 
November 12, 2010. 

(23)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 18, 
2011. 

(24)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 6, 
2011. 

(25)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A, for the 
quarter ended June 30, 2011. 

(26)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2011. 

(27)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended December 31, 
2011. 

(28)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-3/A, 
filed with the SEC on January 6, 2012. 

(29)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2012. 

(30)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended June 30, 
2013. 

(31)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 31, 
2012. 
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(32)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2012. 

(33)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on January 17, 
2013. 

(34)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended December 31, 
2012. 

(35)   Incorporated by reference to the like-described exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2013. 

(36)   This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and 
is not incorporated by reference into any filing of the Registrant’s under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation 
language contained in such filing. 



Exhibit 10.4 

[*] = C ERTAIN CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS D OCUMENT , MARKED BY BRACKETS , HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY 

WITH THE S ECURITIES AND E XCHANGE C OMMISSION PURSUANT TO R ULE 24b-2 OF THE S ECURITIES E XCHANGE A CT OF 1934, AS AMENDED .  

AMENDED AND RESTATED MANUFACTURING AND SUPPLY AGREE MENT  

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED MANUFACTURING AND SUPPLY AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”) is entered into by 
and between F ENWAL , I NC . , a company organized under the laws of Delaware (“ Fenwal ”), and C ERUS C ORPORATION , a company 
organized under the laws of Delaware (“ Cerus ”). Fenwal and Cerus, as corporations, are sometimes referred to herein as a “ Party ” and 
collectively as the “ Parties .” This Agreement shall become effective as of the last date of signature by the Parties (the “ Effective Date ”).  

WHEREAS, Baxter Healthcare SA Switzerland and Baxter Healthcare Corporation (collectively referred to herein as “ Baxter ”) and 
Cerus entered into a Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated as of February 2, 2005 (the “ Original Supply Agreement ”) relating to the 
INTERCEPT Blood System;  

WHEREAS, Baxter and Cerus subsequently entered into a Commercialization Transition Agreement (the “ Commercialization Agreement 
”), effective February 1, 2006, which amended certain provisions of the Original Supply Agreement;  

WHEREAS, Fenwal has advised Cerus that, as of March 1, 2007, the Original Supply Agreement and the Commercialization Agreement 
were assigned to Fenwal, and Fenwal assumed all of Baxter’s obligations thereunder;  

WHEREAS, Cerus desires to ensure continuity of supply and achieve acceptable cost of goods regarding the supply of Platelet Sets and 
Plasma Sets, as such terms are defined in this Agreement;  

WHEREAS, Fenwal desires to continue to supply Cerus with its requirements for Platelet Sets and Plasma Sets and to rationalize its 
production commitments;  

WHEREAS, concurrently with this Agreement, the Parties are entering into an Agreement Concerning INTERCEPT Product Supply, 
relating to the supply of certain INTERCEPT products by Cerus to BioOne Corporation (“ BioOne ”); and  

WHEREAS, the Parties now wish to extend the Original Supply Agreement and amend and restate its terms in the manner set forth in this 
Agreement;  
   

1  



NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and covenants set forth herein and other good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Fenwal and Cerus agree as follows:  

ARTICLE 1  
D EFINITIONS  

In this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings specified or referred to in this Article 1 and shall be equally applicable to both the 
singular and plural forms. The words “including”, “includes” and “include” shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase “without limitation”, 
unless the context clearly dictates otherwise. Any agreement, schedule, attachment or exhibit referred to herein shall mean such agreement, 
schedule, attachment or exhibit as amended, restated, supplemented or modified from time to time to the extent permitted by the applicable 
provisions of this Agreement. Reference to any statute or regulation means such statute or regulation as amended at the time and from time to 
time and includes any successor statute or regulation. Unless otherwise stated, references to recitals, articles, sections, paragraphs, schedules and 
exhibits shall be references to recitals, articles, sections, paragraphs, schedules and exhibits of this Agreement.  

“ Affiliate ” means, with respect to any Person, at the time in question, any other Person controlling, controlled by or under common control with 
such Person. For purposes of this definition, “control” shall mean (a) in the case of corporate entities, direct or indirect ownership of any of the 
stock or shares having the right to vote for the election of a majority of directors, (b) in the case of non-corporate entities, direct or indirect 
ownership of any of the equity interest with the power to direct the management and policies of such non-corporate entities.  

“ Components ” means all raw materials and sub-assemblies, such as plastics, containers (including without limitation “wet-filled” containers), 
tubing, cannulas and compound adsorption devices for the production of or use in connection with the Sets.  

“ Cost of Goods ” means Fenwal’s full cost of manufacturing or acquiring an item, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States, consistently applied, (GAAP) and in accordance with Fenwal’s normal accounting practices, all consistently applied. Cost 
of Goods shall not, however, include amortization of development expenditures, except as set forth in Section 4.4(d) of this Agreement, or 
expenses falling under the category designated by Fenwal “ other costs of sales ” or similar category, however designated. It is understood that 
Fenwal fixed overhead will include amortization of Fenwal investments in additional assets to provide incremental capacity, as required pursuant 
to Section 2.4 of this Agreement.  

“ Device Master Record ” shall include device specifications, production process specifications, quality assurance procedures and specifications 
(including acceptance criteria and quality assurance equipment to be used), and packaging and labeling specifications.  

“ INTERCEPT Illuminator ” means a proprietary illumination device, including operating software and data management system, including 
source code for each, developed for use with Platelet Sets and Plasma Sets.  

“ License Agreement ” means the agreement entered between Baxter and Cerus, effective February 2, 2005, whereby Baxter licensed to Cerus 
certain patents, know-how and materials.  

“ Manufactured Products ” means Platelet Sets, Plasma Sets, and Components.  

“ Person ” means an individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, sole proprietorship, joint venture, or other form of 
organization or governmental agency or authority.  
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“ Plasma Disks ” means [*] disks designed for the pathogen inactivation system for plasma.  

“ Plasma Sets ” means disposable processing sets for inactivation of pathogens in plasma components of blood, containing [*].  

“ Platelet Sets ” means disposable processing sets for the inactivation of pathogens in platelet components of blood, containing [*].  

“ Platelet Wafers ” means [*] wafers designed for the pathogen inactivation system for platelets.  

“ Product Specifications ” means the specifications for the Platelet Sets and the Plasma Sets (as described in Section 2.1(b)), and as modified 
from time to time pursuant to Section 2.2. The Product Specifications for Components will be the applicable specifications for Components 
included within the Product Specifications mentioned above in this definition, or if such do not exist for any Component, then specifications to 
be developed by the Parties for such Component.  

“ [*] ” means the raw material [*] , a component of Platelet Sets and Plasma Sets.  

“ Sets ” means the Platelet Sets and the Plasma Sets.  

“ Work Order ” means a written, signed order for the performance by Fenwal of mutually-agreed services. A Work Order shall include a scope 
of work, a project budget and a payment schedule. All Work Orders shall be deemed to be incorporated into this Agreement and governed by its 
terms and conditions.  

ARTICLE 2  
M ANUFACTURING AND S UPPLY  

Section 2.1 Manufacturing Services .  

(a) General. Fenwal will, during the term of this Agreement, manufacture Manufactured Products for Cerus on the terms set forth below 
all in accordance with the Product Specifications (collectively, the “ Manufacturing Services ”) in a professional and efficient manner and in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  

(b) Product Specifications for Platelet and Plasma Sets. As of the Effective Date, the Product Specifications for the Platelet Sets and 
Plasma Sets are listed on Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively, to this Agreement.  

Section 2.2 Change Requests .  

(a) Product Specifications; Device Master Record. In the event that Cerus requests any changes to such Product Specifications 
(including, without limitation, the addition of new product codes or changes made to comply with any requirement, order or instructions by any 
regulatory authority), Fenwal will perform and complete such requests in a timely fashion. Fenwal will not unreasonably withhold its approval to 
any requests of Cerus to change Product  
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Specifications. Any changes to the Product Specifications or Device Master Record must be reviewed and approved under Fenwal and/or Cerus 
change control procedures. Fenwal will make no changes to the Device Master Record for the Manufactured Products without the prior written 
approval of Cerus. In some cases, changes are caused by third-party suppliers (“ Third Party Changes ”) and are outside the scope of Fenwal’s 
control. Fenwal shall give Cerus at least ninety (90) days notice of any such Third Party Changes, provided such third party gave sufficient 
notice to Fenwal. If, due to circumstances beyond Fenwal’s control, Fenwal is required to qualify a new third-party supplier, it will so notify 
Cerus and the Parties will confer on the determination of and terms of agreement with such new third-party supplier. Allocation of costs for such 
changes is further described in Section 4.4(a).  

(b) Product Improvements; Prototypes. Periodically, Cerus may request that Fenwal manufacture prototype development or clinical lots, 
or request additional validation or qualification activities to obtain regulatory approvals. Fenwal will manufacture and supply prototype lots of 
the Sets, as Cerus may reasonably require in connection with any changes to Product Specifications. Allocation of costs for such changes shall 
be allocated in accordance with Section 4.4(b).  

(c) Changes in Manufacturing Location. Fenwal will provide Cerus with at least ninety (90) days advance written notice of any change 
in its manufacturing location and, in any event, will not change any location until the new location is fully-qualified and licensed with each 
applicable Party’s regulatory group for the manufacture of the Manufactured Products for sale or clinical testing. Changes in manufacturing 
location include changes in manufacturing location for raw materials, components, subassemblies, or finished goods; changes in location or 
subcontractor for sterilization processes; and, changes in chemical and physical facilities. Cerus understands and acknowledges that Fenwal 
intends to transfer and consolidate major subassembly and final assembly equipment and processes to the Fenwal plant in [*] . Allocation of 
costs for any such changes is further described in Section 4.4(c).  

(d) U.S. FDA Compliance. Upon Cerus’ written request, Fenwal agrees to review and modify, as may be necessary, its existing 
manufacturing facilities and quality systems to be compliant with FDA quality system requirements (“ QSR’s ”) and cGMP within twelve 
(12) months of such request. In the event of a modification to meet QSR’s cGMP and standards applicable to the United States, Europe or Asia, 
Fenwal will review and modify its existing manufacturing facilities in agreement with Cerus. Allocation of costs for such changes is further 
described in Section 4.4(d).  

(e) Plastics. Cerus understands that Fenwal may receive, from time-to-time, “Supplier Notice of Change” notifications from Baxter for any 
of the formulations for the key plastics used in the Platelet and Plasma Sets manufactured by Baxter. No such changes, however, shall cause the 
Manufactured Products to fail to meet any regulatory requirements. Additionally, Cerus reserves any and all rights, and remedies it may have 
against Baxter, for such plastics under the Original Supply Agreement. Allocation of costs for such changes is further described in Section 4.4
(e).  
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(f) Other. In the event Cerus is interested in conducting development, qualification and/or validation work for substituting Fenwal plastics 
for Baxter plastics used in the Platelet and Plasma Sets, the Parties shall agree on the work to be performed by Fenwal and determine, in good 
faith, the terms of supply, by Fenwal, of such Fenwal plastics to Cerus for inclusion into the Sets.  

(g) Work Order. In the event Cerus requires Fenwal to perform any work pursuant to this Section 2.2, the Parties shall enter into a Work 
Order for the performance by Fenwal of such mutually-agreed services.  

Section 2.3 Supply and Purchase Commitments .  

(a) Subject to Cerus’ supply of Platelet Wafers, Plasma Disks and [*], during the Term of this Agreement, Fenwal shall supply Cerus with 
purchase orders for Manufactured Products within the delivery times required under Section 2.4. Cerus shall purchase Manufactured Products 
from Fenwal as set forth in Section 2.5.  

(b) Cerus shall purchase its requirements of Platelet Sets and Plasma Sets from Fenwal, subject to the following:  

(i) For the duration of this Agreement and in any calendar year, Cerus shall purchase from Fenwal a number of Sets equal to the 
greater of [*] . In any event, Cerus shall not be required to purchase [*] in any given calendar year from Fenwal absent a written mutual 
agreement between Cerus and Fenwal stating such. Cerus is free to purchase [*] from a third-party supplier or suppliers. Such purchases by 
Cerus at any time from third-party supplier(s) will not alter Cerus’ purchase obligations under binding firm purchase orders to Fenwal then 
in effect pursuant to Section 2.4 of this Agreement.  

(ii) In the event that Cerus provides [*] written notice of termination pursuant to Section 6.2(g) of this Agreement, then Cerus’ 
purchase requirements shall be modified as follows (without altering Cerus’ purchase obligations under binding firm purchase orders to 
Fenwal then in effect pursuant to Section 2.4 of this Agreement):  

(A) During the [*] months following such notice, Cerus shall purchase Sets from Fenwal at a rate equal to [*] of the [*] for Sets 
purchased by Cerus from Fenwal during the [*] period preceding such notice;  

(B) During months [*] following such notice, Cerus shall purchase Sets from Fenwal at a rate equal to [*] of the [*] for Sets 
purchased by Cerus from Fenwal during the [*] period preceding such notice; and  

(C) During the [*] following such notice, Cerus shall purchase Sets from Fenwal at a rate equal to [*] of the [*] for Sets purchased by 
Cerus from Fenwal during the [*] period preceding such notice.  
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Section 2.4 Forecasts .  

In order to assist Fenwal in its production planning of Manufactured Products for Cerus, Cerus will provide to Fenwal during the Term of 
this Agreement a rolling [*] forecast by product code, of which [*] will constitute firm purchase orders for Platelet Sets and Plasma Sets, and of 
which [*] will constitute firm purchase orders in the case of Components ordered separately. Cerus agrees that these forecasts will include 
consideration of obligations for supply of products to meet the forecasts of any third party distributors or other third parties, including BioOne. 
Additionally, during the [*] of each [*] , Cerus shall provide to Fenwal an “optimistic” volume forecast and a “base case” volume forecast, for 
the following [*] . “Optimistic” volume forecast shall be used for manufacturing capacity assessment and discussion of manufacturing capacity 
planning between the Parties based on such assessment. Both Parties understand that investments in additional assets to provide capacity above 
that required for base case volumes may result in higher fixed overhead allocations. Monthly meetings with Fenwal and Cerus representatives 
shall be held at a mutually agreeable time to discuss production planning and inventory management, including, but not limited to, volume 
forecasts provided pursuant to this Section 2.4. It is understood that standard costing will be based on the “base case” volume forecast for 
following [*] terms, as further described in Section 4.2.  

Section 2.5 Purchase Orders .  

The firm purchase orders in each rolling forecast described in Section 2.4 above will constitute a binding obligation on the part of Cerus to 
purchase such Manufactured Products regardless of whether Cerus has a need for such Manufactured Products at the time of delivery and such 
purchase obligation will not be relieved for longer than [*] , except on account of any force majeure event, or the unavailability of Cerus-
supplied materials, that may arise subsequent to the date the purchase order is placed. The terms and conditions of this Agreement will be 
controlling over any terms and conditions included in any purchase order form used in ordering Manufactured Product. Any term or condition of 
any purchase order, invoice, packing slip, quotation or other document delivered by either Party incident to the purchases hereunder that is in 
addition to, different from or contrary to the terms and conditions of this Agreement will be void, unless the Parties otherwise agree by a separate 
written agreement.  

Section 2.6 Delivery; Shipment; Invoices .  

(a) All Manufactured Products supplied under this Agreement will be delivered by Fenwal to Cerus’ designated carrier at Fenwal’s facility 
in [*] INCOTERMS 2000). Title and risk of loss passes to Cerus [*] Invoices issued by Fenwal upon delivery shall be based on the standard 
costing established in Section 4.2(a) and paid by Cerus within sixty (60) days of invoice date. Disputed invoices are to be resolved expeditiously 
and in good faith by the Parties. All delivery costs, insurance, freight, import and export duties and taxes will not be included as Cost of Goods. 
Fenwal shall cause to be delivered all Manufactured Products according to [*] purchase orders ( [*] firm purchase orders for Components, if 
ordered separately) made by Cerus pursuant to Section 2.4 of this Agreement.  
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(b) Fenwal shall include a packing list in each shipment of the Manufactured Products providing the following information: (1) Cerus 
purchase order number; (2) Fenwal Components Code; and, (3) Quantity. Fenwal shall also mail a copy of each packing list to Cerus for each 
shipment at the time of shipment. Fenwal shall provide to Cerus a certificate of compliance for each lot of Manufactured Goods shipped.  

(c) Fenwal shall deliver each Manufactured Product to Cerus within [*] of production.  

(d) Within [*] of receipt of Product Release Records (as defined in the Quality Agreement between the Parties) for Manufactured Products, 
Cerus will complete a review to identify any variations from the Product Specifications referenced on the relevant Exhibit to this Agreement, 
which set forth quality standards for the Manufactured Products. Cerus will work with Fenwal to determine if the identified variations from 
Product Specifications can be clarified or resolved. If evidence cannot be provided by Fenwal that the Manufactured Products do meet the 
Product Specifications then Cerus shall notify Fenwal of its rejection of such Manufactured Products. Fenwal will invoice Cerus for the 
Manufactured Products as described in Section 2.6 (a) of this Agreement. If Cerus delivers such notice of variation from Product Specifications 
or rejection within such [*] period, Cerus shall promptly make available to Fenwal for examination and testing, at the expense of Fenwal, the 
Manufactured Products in the rejected shipment and Fenwal shall, if the Manufactured Products were properly rejected, at Fenwal’s expense, 
either (i) credit Cerus for the amount of such non-conforming Manufacturing Products for which Cerus has previously paid Fenwal, or 
(ii) promptly provide replacement Manufacturing Products that meet the Product Specifications.  

ARTICLE 3  
W ARRANTY  

Section 3.1 Warranty. Each Party represents and warrants to the other as follows:  

(a) As of the Effective Date, all corporate action necessary for the authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement by such Party 
and the performance of its obligations hereunder has been taken;  

(b) As of the Effective Date, the execution, delivery and anticipated performance of this Agreement do not violate or conflict with any law 
applicable to it, any provision of its charter or bylaws, any order or judgment of any court or other agency of government applicable to it or any 
of its assets or any contractual restriction or provision or agreement or instruction binding on or affecting it or any of its assets;  

(c) As of the Effective Date, its obligations hereunder constitute its legal, valid and binding obligations, enforceable in accordance with 
their respective terms (subject to applicable bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights 
generally and subject, as to enforceability, to equitable principles of general application, regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a 
proceeding in equity or at law); and  
   
[*] = C ERTAIN CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS D OCUMENT , MARKED BY BRACKETS , HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY 

WITH THE S ECURITIES AND E XCHANGE C OMMISSION PURSUANT TO R ULE 24b-2 OF THE S ECURITIES E XCHANGE A CT OF 1934, AS AMENDED .  
   

7  



(d) To the knowledge of the Parties as of the Effective Date, no consents, waivers, approval or authorizations of any third party, other than 
the regulatory authorities in other countries in the Territory, are required for such Party to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement.  

(e) Fenwal represents and warrants that, upon shipment and for a one-year period from the date of production of each Manufactured 
Product (or for the shelf-life of the Manufactured Product, if such period is longer) (the “ Warranty Period ”), Manufactured Products will meet 
the then-current Product Specifications, and be free from defects in material, workmanship and title, provided Manufactured Products are stored 
according to label copy and are used according to label instructions.  

(f) Subject to Section 2.2(d), Fenwal represents and warrants that its manufacturing facilities used to provide Manufactured Products 
hereunder will meet the Good Manufacturing Practices (cGMP) and standards applicable as required to meet the Product Specifications.  

Section 3.2 Disclaimer of Warranties . With respect to the subject matter of this Agreement, the warranties granted in Section 3.1 are 
exclusive and are offered in LIEU OF ALL IMPLIED OR STATUTORY WARRANTIES (INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, 
WARRANTIES AS TO MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR ARISING FROM COURSE OF 
DEALING OR USAGE OF TRADE) or any other express or implied warranties or representations.  

Section 3.3 Remedies . If any item manufactured by Fenwal or its subcontractors shall prove defective in material and/or workmanship 
within the Warranty Period, Cerus shall notify Fenwal in writing of such defect or noncompliance [*] of Cerus’ discovery of such defect or 
noncompliance, and Fenwal shall replace said item. The Warranty Period for such replaced item shall be as set forth in Section 3.1(e) of this 
Agreement. Fenwal shall have no responsibility if such item has been improperly stored by Cerus or used outside of label instruction by Cerus, 
its agents or customers or the defect or noncompliance is due to an act or omission by Cerus or its third-party suppliers as relating to the Platelet 
Wafers, Plasma Disks, [*] or INTERCEPT Illuminator devices or any other component that Cerus decides to provide to Fenwal. The foregoing 
shall be Fenwal’s sole and exclusive liability and Cerus’ sole and exclusive remedy for any breach of contract action arising out of any such 
defect, except with respect to each Party’s indemnification obligations as set forth in Article 10, provided that Fenwal shall remain responsible to 
carry out its obligations under the Quality Agreement (as defined herein).  

ARTICLE 4  
P AYMENTS ; A UDIT  

Section 4.1 Compensation for Manufacturing Services .  

(a) From the Effective Date to December 31, 2008, as compensation for the Manufacturing Services, Cerus will pay to Fenwal an amount 
equal to (i)  [*] Cost of Goods of the Manufactured Products ordered and purchased by Cerus for [*] , and (ii)  [*] Cost of Goods of the 
Manufactured Products ordered and purchased by Cerus for use in [*] . (The Parties shall have previously entered into a Work Order for 
Manufacturing Products ordered for use in [*] ). Manufactured Products ordered and purchased under (i) and (ii) of this Section 4.1(a) shall be 
invoiced separately.  
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(b) Budgeted Standard Cost of Goods will be determined annually as further described in Section 4.2. From January 1, 2009 and for the 
remainder of the Term of the Agreement, the invoice price for each Manufactured Product shall be equal to Fenwal’s Budgeted Standard Cost of 
Goods for such Manufactured Product, and, additionally:  

(i) for each of the aggregate number of Platelet Sets and Plasma Sets invoiced by Fenwal in [*] up to and including [*] , a charge of 
[*] shall be applied to each Platelet Set and Plasma Set invoiced by Fenwal to Cerus for [*] .  

(ii) for each of the aggregate number of Platelet Sets and Plasma Sets invoiced by Fenwal in [*] in excess of [*] , a charge of [*] shall 
be applied to each Platelet Set and Plasma Set invoiced by Fenwal to Cerus for [*] .  

The purchase price for Components shall be negotiated in good faith and shall not exceed [*] of Fenwal’s Cost of Goods of the Components.  

(c) On [*] , Fenwal will provide to Cerus a reconciliation report of Manufacturing Variances versus the Budgeted standard Cost of Goods 
(“Manufacturing Variances”). Manufacturing Variances will be calculated based on (1) the variations in overhead absorption due to volume 
variations of Cerus actual purchases from the “base case” forecast and (2) raw materials cost changes of more than [*] from any raw material 
supplier (“Purchase Price Variances”), as described in 4.2 (c). Labor and conversion loss shall be fixed at the budgeted levels and not included in 
the Manufacturing Variance calculations, except as may apply where described in Section 4.2 (d). Calculations shall be performed such that a 
“positive variance” would be in the favor of Cerus, while a “negative variance” would be in the favor of Fenwal. Fenwal will provide to Cerus 
[*] reconciliation reports of such Manufacturing Variances as soon as practicable after the [*] , and [*] reconciliation reports of such 
Manufacturing Variances within [*] . Fenwal will provide to Cerus, within [*] Manufacturing Variances reconciliation report. If Manufacturing 
Variances are positive, Fenwal will pay a variance adjustment rebate to Cerus within [*] . If Manufacturing Variances are negative, Fenwal shall 
invoice Cerus a variance adjustment fee, payable within thirty (30) days of receipt of such variance invoice.  

Section 4.2 Cost Calculations  

(a) Cost of Goods. Fenwal represents that the 2008 standard Cost of Goods for the Platelet Sets and Plasma Sets is set forth on Exhibit C 
hereto. In the [*] , using the “base case” production forecast for the following year provided by Cerus to Fenwal (per Section 2.4), Fenwal will 
provide a Budgeted Standard Cost of Goods for the following year (the “Budgeted Standard Cost of Goods”). This Budgeted Standard Cost of 
Goods will include labor, overhead and conversion loss and a costed bill of materials. Determination of Fenwal’s Budgeted Standard Cost of 
Goods shall be made consistent with Fenwal’s current practice of computing cost of goods, subject to the definition of “Cost of Goods” in 
Article 1. Capital expenditures for  
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facilities and/or equipment and capitalized manufacturing start-up costs will be amortized on a straight-line basis and included in Cost of Goods. 
The amortization basis for facilities and equipment that were transferred by Baxter to Fenwal shall not exceed Baxter’s depreciated book value 
of such facilities and equipment immediately prior to their transfer to Fenwal. Fenwal’s Cost of Goods and budget shall be determined using [*] , 
consistent with the “base case” volume forecast provided by Cerus. Fenwal’s cost of inspection and storage of Platelet Wafers and Plasma Disks 
shall be included as incremental variable overhead in determining the Cost of Goods. In the event any item is acquired by Fenwal from an 
Affiliate, “ cost of manufacturing or acquiring ” shall be deemed to mean such Affiliate’s cost of manufacturing or acquiring. The Cost of Goods 
will be based upon the local currency in the country in which the Manufactured Products are manufactured. The Budgeted standard Cost of 
Goods may change during [*] solely as required to reflect increases or decreases in the Cost of Goods due to changes to the Product 
Specifications based upon Cerus’ needs and legal requirements.  

(b) Long-Range Standard Cost of Goods Estimates. In addition to that described in Section 4.2 (a), following receipt of Cerus’ [*] 
“optimistic” and “base case” volume forecasts prepared to Section 2.4, Fenwal shall, in the [*] of each [*] , provide to Cerus [*] of product code 
cost for the “optimistic” and “base” case volumes, with details of material, labor, conversion loss factors, rework allowance, overhead and 
depreciation for each finished kit code. Fenwal’s product standard costing for the following [*] will be provided by Fenwal in the form of a 
costed bill of materials and with the details of material, labor, conversion loss factors, rework allowance, fixed and variable overhead elements. 
Such product standard costing shall be based on the “base case” production forecast for [*] and shall be net of the costs for Cerus-supplied 
materials, as provided under Section 5.1. Any estimates used by Fenwal in calculating standard Cost of Goods shall be made reasonably and in 
good faith. Such costing is intended for use with long-range planning efforts of both parties, and shall not be binding for future years.  

(c) Raw Material Cost Changes. Cerus additionally understands and acknowledges that Fenwal has supply agreements for key plastics 
used in the Platelet and Plasma Sets, and that such agreements may result in raw materials cost changes, such cost changes to be passed through 
to Cerus as Purchase Price Variances to the extent provided in Section 4.1(c) of this Agreement.  

(d) Conversion Loss. Fenwal shall use commercially reasonable efforts to continually reduce conversion loss and rework for 
Manufactured Products and Cerus-supplied materials. For the purpose of this Agreement, “ conversion loss ” shall include losses due to quality 
control testing and scrap of excess or non-conforming Manufactured Products. Any process or activity undertaken by Fenwal to bring a defective 
or non-conforming product into compliance with the Specifications shall be considered “ rework ” under this Agreement. Prior to the beginning 
of each calendar year, the Parties shall agree on a reasonable conversion loss factor and rework allowance to be included within the standard cost 
for each Manufactured Product, based on an assessment of the actual costs of conversion loss and rework incurred in prior years. The conversion 
loss factor and rework allowance will be fixed for that calendar year. Any excess conversion loss or rework will not be included in the Cost of 
Goods. Cerus and Fenwal agree to review and negotiate in good faith for payment for conversion losses and rework [*] of  
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the budgeted amounts for such activities if such costs are incurred as a result of circumstances which could not have been predicted or avoided 
by Fenwal or Cerus. Cerus agrees to pay [*] arising from changes in Manufactured Products Specifications. Fenwal will promptly notify Cerus 
of the nature and amount of such [*] accordingly. Prior to the beginning of each calendar year, the Parties shall agree on a reasonable level of 
conversion loss for Cerus-supplied materials; the conversion loss factor is expected to remain flat or decrease during each year of this contract. If 
the conversion loss for any Cerus-supplied materials exceeds the agreed-upon amount, Fenwal shall reimburse Cerus the amount of Cerus’ cost 
of goods corresponding to such excess conversion loss.  

(e) Meetings. Cerus and Fenwal agree to meet at least twice per calendar year as part of the planned semi-annual management meetings to 
review and prioritize cost reduction initiatives. At such time, Cerus and Fenwal shall identify projects for implementation (if any), and estimate 
and allocate related costs (including, but not limited to, engineering time, operating and capital expenses), and risks and benefits.  

(f) Request for Documentation. Upon request by Cerus, Fenwal will supply Cerus with a full accounting of Fenwal’s Cost of Goods, 
including a costed bill of materials.  

Section 4.3 Audit . Cerus shall have the right, through an independent third-party auditor approved by Fenwal (which approval shall not 
be unreasonably withheld), to perform a full audit, on an annual basis and after thirty (30) days prior notice, on Fenwal records directly 
associated with or related to the Manufacturing Services and Fenwal’s calculation of Cost of Goods. Any audit shall be conducted during 
Fenwal’s normal business hours. Prior to commencing any audit, such third-party auditor shall enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form 
acceptable to Fenwal. Any undisputed overpayment or underpayment determined by this Section 4.3 shall be due and payable to the other Party 
by the Party owing such amount within thirty (30) days after notice of such audit finding. Cerus shall bear the full costs of such audit, except that 
in the event that any audit performed hereunder results in a decrease of [*] or more in the case of Platelet Sets and Plasma Sets, or [*] or more in 
the case of Components, in any purchase price due to Fenwal hereunder, then Fenwal shall be obligated to reimburse Cerus for such audit costs, 
but will not be required to reimburse more than [*] Dollars ($ [*] ) for any audit except in the case where the adjustment results from fraud or 
intentional misconduct. In the event Fenwal bears any audit costs hereunder, such costs shall not be incorporated into the calculations for the 
Cost of Goods.  

Section 4.4 Change Requests; Capital Expenditures .  

(a) Product Specifications. Fenwal will provide Cerus with a detailed accounting of any cost change due to the change in Specifications 
under Section 2.2. Fenwal will not be required to perform any such work until the Parties reach written agreement on the scope of the additional 
work and the change in Cost of Goods. In the event that Cerus requests any changes to any Specifications of the Manufactured Products pursuant 
to Section 2.2 and that such requested changes affect Fenwal’s Costs of Goods for the Manufactured Products, then the Costs of Goods will be 
adjusted and continue to be established as set forth in Section 4.1, and the purchase price will be maintained as set forth in Section 4.1(a) hereof.  
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(b) Product Improvements; Prototypes. The Parties shall meet at least twice per calendar year as part of the planned semi-annual 
management meetings to review and prioritize new products and product improvements, and anticipated changes. At Cerus’ request, Fenwal will 
provide cost estimates for projected development work. Cerus will reimburse Fenwal on a time and material basis for pre-approved out-of pocket 
expenses, engineering trials, prototype manufacturing for research and development (including costs of making changes or conducting activities 
described under Section 2.2(b)) and/or clinical trials, FTE support and materials).  

(c) Manufacturing Location. Fenwal will bear any and all costs of relocation and revalidating manufacturing equipment and facilities, 
including, but not limited to, costs associated with consolidation by Fenwal of its manufacturing activities at the [*] facility, unless such 
relocation and validation is expressly requested by Cerus. Any costs involved with any such change in manufacturing relocation will not be 
included in the Cost of Goods and will not increase the Cost of Goods to Cerus over the Cost of Goods that was in effect as to manufacture of 
any Manufactured Product at the previous location.  

(d) Compliance with U.S. FDA QSR’s and cGMP. The costs of establishing compliance with QSR’s, cGMP and other regulatory 
standards for a Class III medical device pursuant to Section 2.2(d) will be borne by Fenwal and amortized in the Cost of Goods for all Platelet 
Sets and Plasma Sets over a five-year period. The costs to be amortized shall not, however, exceed [*] Euros (EUR [*] ). In the event this 
Agreement terminates prior to complete recovery of such amortizable costs through amortization in the Cost of Goods, Cerus shall pay to 
Fenwal the amount of such costs that have not been so recovered.  

(e) Plastics. Cerus understands that significant testing costs may be required for the qualification and submission of potential changes 
described in Section 2.2(e). Cerus agrees to fully fund any qualification and validation work required specifically for use of plastics in the 
Manufactured Products. Fenwal will fund the generic qualification and validation work that would be required for material changes required for 
use of such plastics in Fenwal products.  

(f) Capital Expenditures. Except as provided in Sections 4.4(c) or (d), and except for any cost of relocating manufacturing facilities, 
which will be Fenwal’s financial responsibility and not amortized in the Cost of Goods, any capital expenditure required exclusively to meet the 
changes requested by regulatory authorities and/or to provide sufficient capacity for Manufactured Products to Cerus will be either (a) paid for 
by Fenwal and amortized on a straight-line basis in the fixed overhead allocation in the standard Cost of Goods; or, (b) paid for directly by 
Cerus. Any such capital assets paid for by Cerus (“ Cerus Assets ”) shall be purchased in Cerus’ name and be owned by Cerus. Fenwal shall be 
liable for all risk of damage to or loss of such Cerus Assets while in the possession or control of Fenwal. Fenwal shall tag all such Cerus Assets 
in its possession or control with appropriate indicators that they are owned by Cerus, and shall ensure that no third party acquires any security 
interest in the Cerus Assets while they are in the possession or control of Fenwal. All Cerus Assets in the possession or control of Fenwal shall 
be returned to Cerus upon the termination of this Agreement.  
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Section 4.5 Payment; Late Payment Charges . Cerus will pay any purchase price or payment for services due hereunder in Euros in the 
case Euros are the local currency of the manufacturing site or site of performance of services, and in U.S. Dollars in all other cases, unless the 
Parties otherwise agree in writing. Such payments shall be made within sixty (60) days after the date of Fenwal’s invoice (thirty (30) days in the 
case of invoices for PL-2410 resin), by check or wire transfer to a bank account designated in writing by Fenwal. Undisputed invoices not timely 
paid will be subject to a late payment charge of [*] percent ( [*] %) per month, or the highest amount permitted by law, if lower.  

ARTICLE 5  
C ERUS -S UPPLIED M ATERIALS ; PL-2410; I LLUMINATORS  

Section 5.1 Platelet Wafers; Plasma Disks; [*] .  

(a) Cerus shall have full management and control of the supply chain for Platelet Wafers and Plasma Disks, including, but not limited to, 
specifications, qualification, change control, purchasing of certain raw materials, production planning and facility expansion, and OEM 
relationships with third party suppliers. Cerus shall have the right to enter directly into contractual arrangements with such third party suppliers 
for said purposes. Any agreement with third party suppliers designated as such by Cerus (as of the Effective Date, The Purolite Company, 
Powdersize, Inc., and Porex Corporation) shall provide for the release of components for Platelet Wafers and Plasma Disks according to Cerus 
specifications. Cerus shall have the responsibility to resolve technical issues with third party suppliers related to the supply of components and 
the manufacture of the Products. The Parties acknowledge that Cerus has had, and agree that Cerus shall continue to have, full management and 
control of the supply chain for [*] , including, but not limited to, specifications, qualification, change control, forecasting, purchasing and 
development studies. This Section supersedes Section 15(d) of the Commercialization Agreement.  

(b) Demand forecasts for Platelet Wafers, Plasma Disks and [*] will be defined as part of the Parties’ joint annual planning and budgeting 
process. Fenwal agrees to store Platelet Wafers and Plasma Disks at a target level of [*] of inventory, based on third party supplier lead times 
and [*] forecasts provided by Cerus.  

(c) Once released, Platelet Wafers and Plasma Disks shall be shipped from Porex Corporation to Fenwal’s receiving facility. Cerus shall be 
the importer of records for import of Platelet Wafers and Plasma Disks into the European Union and for VAT purposes. As such, Cerus shall be 
responsible for preparing and filing documentation, and paying related fees, as required by applicable laws, rules and regulations, to import such 
goods in the European Union. Fenwal will notify Cerus upon (i) receipt of each shipment of Platelet Wafers or Plasma Disks; and, (ii) upon 
completion of acceptance testing for such Platelet Wafers or Plasma Disks, as applicable. Title to Platelet Wafers and Plasma Disks shall remain 
with Cerus.  
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(d) Once released by [*] (or any other third party supplier designated by Cerus), [*] shall be shipped to Fenwal’s receiving facility. Fenwal 
will notify Cerus upon (i) receipt of each shipment of [*] to Fenwal’s receiving facility; and, (ii) upon completion of acceptance testing for such 
shipment of [*] . Cerus shall be the importer of records for import of [*] into the European Union and for VAT purposes. As such, Cents shall be 
responsible for preparing and filing documentation, and paying related fees, as required by applicable laws, rules and regulations, to import [*] in 
the European Union. Title to [*] shall remain with Cerus.  

(e) Fenwal agrees to provide a monthly accounting of Platelet Wafers and Plasma Disks received from Cerus designated third party 
supplier against (i) Platelet Wafers and Plasma Disks used in the production of Platelet Sets and Plasma Sets and released to Cerus via shipment; 
(ii) Platelet Wafers and Plasma Disks to be used in the production of Platelet Sets and Plasma Sets; and (iii) Platelet Wafers and Plasma Disks 
that will not be used in the production of Platelet Sets and Plasma Sets (e.g., used for testing or scrapped). Fenwal additionally agrees to provide 
a monthly accounting of [*] received from [*] (or any other third party supplier designated by Cerus) against (i)  [*] used in the production of 
Platelet Sets and Plasma Sets; (ii)  [*] to be used as a component of Platelet Sets and Plasma Sets; and (iii)  [*] that will not be used in the 
production of Platelet Sets and Plasma Sets (e.g., used for testing or scrapped), at mutually agreed upon rates as defined in Section 4.2(d). The 
Parties shall determine an acceptable conversion loss as part of the annual product standard cost determination.  

(f) In the event of loss or casualty to any Platelet Wafers, Plasma disks and/or [*] while in the possession or under the control of Fenwal, 
Fenwal shall reimburse to Cerus the replacement cost of the lost or damaged material.  

Section 5.2 PL-2410 .  

Fenwal agrees to continue to supply Cerus PL-2410 resin for use in the production of Platelet Wafers.  

Section 5.3 Illuminators .  

(a) Cerus shall take full management and control of the supply chain for INTERCEPT Illuminator devices, including, but not limited to, 
OEM relationships, inventory, obsolescence planning and change control, and Cerus shall have the right to enter directly into contractual 
arrangements with third party suppliers (such as Nova Biomedical Corporation) for the supply and manufacturing of such devices. Cerus shall 
continue to have the responsibility for field service, resolving technical issues with third party suppliers related to the supply and manufacturing 
of INTERCEPT Illuminator devices and supplying such devices to BioOne. This Section supersedes Section 15(e) of the Commercialization 
Agreement.  

(b) To enable Cerus to assume such responsibilities, Fenwal shall transfer to Cerus, to the extent they have not been previously delivered to 
Cerus, any design control, engineering drawings and manufacturing documentation (collectively “ Documentation ”) in Fenwal’s possession 
relating to INTERCEPT Illuminator devices, external radiometers and calibration stations. With respect to INTERCEPT Illuminator devices, 
however, Fenwal’s obligations shall  
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be limited to such Documentation as Cerus requests in writing after performing a review of Documentation that was previously delivered to 
Cerus by Baxter or Fenwal. Cerus shall deliver such request for Documentation by not later than March 31, 2009. Fenwal will deliver all 
Documentation by not later than June 30, 2009. At Cerus’ request, Fenwal shall also use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain, on behalf of 
Cerus, any Documentation remaining in the possession of Baxter. All rights of Fenwal in the calibration station and any other capital assets 
developed in connection with the INTERCEPT Blood System at Nova Biomedical Corporation’s facilities (including related software), the 
QNX-6 workstation at Lake Zurich, IL, and any other capital assets, wherever located, related to the development, testing or calibration of 
INTERCEPT Illuminators are hereby assigned to Cerus.  

(c) Additionally, Fenwal shall transfer and assign to Cerus the inventory of parts and approximately forty-five (45) INTERCEPT 
illuminator devices in its possession for a transfer price of [*] dollars (US [*] ) as is, where is. At Cerus’ request and expense, Fenwal agrees to 
provide reasonable transitional technical support to Cerus through December 31, 2009, at a rate of $ [*] (U.S.) per day per person. At Cerus’ 
request, Fenwal will upgrade and re-label R4R-4007 Illuminators to R4R-4008, and Cerus will reimburse Fenwal for Fenwal’s reasonable actual 
costs of such upgrade and relabeling. Cerus will loan one external radiometer kit to Fenwal as needed to permit Fenwal to conduct such upgrades 
and to fulfill any obligations to BioOne that Fenwal may continue to have.  

Section 5.4 Inspection of physical inventory .  

During the Term, and no more than [*] or for cause, Cerus shall have the right to conduct a physical inspection and reconciliation of 
inventory, at site and during normal business hours, in order to ascertain or verify the number and description of Manufactured Products held by 
Fenwal or in process of manufacture. Cerus shall endeavor to give Fenwal at least thirty (30) days notice prior to arrival for such physical 
inspection. Fenwal shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with Cerus in the inventory inspection.  

ARTICLE 6  
T ERM ; T ERMINATION  

Section 6.1 Term .  

(a) The initial term of this Agreement shall be from the date of execution through December 31, 2013, unless earlier terminated pursuant to 
Section 6.2 (the “ Initial Term ”). Thereafter, the term of the Agreement will be automatically renewed each year for additional one (1) year 
terms, unless and until either Party terminates the Agreement in accordance with Section 6.2 of this Agreement (the “ Extended Term ”). (The 
Initial Term and the Extended Term are together referred to herein as the “ Term .”)  

(b) Notwithstanding the termination dates stated in Section 6.1(a) or termination pursuant to Section 6.2, in the event that Cerus is 
materially impeded from manufacturing, or having third parties manufacture Manufactured Products due to patents, know-how or materials, such 
as plastics, seals, connectors and sterilization, that have been excluded from the licenses to  
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Cerus under the License Agreement, Fenwal will either (a) continue to supply to Cerus the specific items whose manufacture is impeded by such 
excluded rights for so long as Cerus requires such items, or (b) expand the license under the License Agreement so as to eliminate such 
impediment.  

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, it shall be a precondition to termination of Fenwal’s obligations under this Agreement that 
Fenwal shall have furnished to Cerus all information to be provided under this Agreement and the Licensed Materials to be provided under the 
License Agreement at least thirty (30) months prior to such termination. This provision is not intended to relieve Fenwal from any obligation 
stated herein or in the License Agreement to furnish to Cerus information and Licensed Materials sooner than such time.  

Section 6.2 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated as follows:  

(a) by Fenwal and Cerus upon their mutual agreement;  

(b) by Fenwal upon a Fundamental Breach; as used herein a “Fundamental Breach” is:  

(i) failure by Cerus to perform its obligations under Section 10.1 of this Agreement that is not cured within thirty (30) days after 
notice from Fenwal or Cerus to Cerus of such failure; provided, however, that this Section 6.2(b) shall apply only if the amount unpaid 
exceeds [*] U.S. dollars (U.S.$ [*] );  

(ii) failure by Cerus to make any payment to Fenwal under this Agreement (other than a de minimis payment) following repeated 
previous payment failures or delays, evidencing a conscious disregard by Cerus of its payment obligations to Fenwal, and following a 
written notice to Cerus from Fenwal that further payment failures will or could result in termination;  

(c) by Cerus upon a material breach of this Agreement by Fenwal, provided, however, that Fenwal shall be entitled to written notice of 
such breach and thirty (30) days to cure such breach (or such longer period as may be necessary if Fenwal has commenced curing such breach 
and is diligently proceeding to cure such breach) before the Agreement may be terminated;  

(d) by Fenwal or Cerus with written notice to take effect immediately upon receipt thereof by the other Party in the event that the Party 
receiving notice has filed for bankruptcy or is adjudged insolvent or has made an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or a receiver is 
appointed for its business or a voluntary or involuntary petition of bankruptcy is filed, or proceedings for the reorganization of the Party are 
instituted;  

(e) automatically in the event of termination of the License Agreement;  
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(f) by Fenwal at any time with thirty (30) months prior written notice to Cerus; provided, however that the termination pursuant to such 
notice shall not be effective prior to December 31, 2013;  

(g) by Cerus at any time with twenty-four (24) months prior written notice to Fenwal; provided, however that the termination pursuant to 
such notice shall not be effective prior to December 31, 2013;  

(h) by Fenwal upon the occurrence of a “Fundamental Breach” under the License Agreement, as that term is defined therein.  

Section 6.3 Survival . The following provisions of this Agreement will survive any expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement: 
Sections 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 4.3, 4.5, 5.2, 6.1, 6.2(b), 6.3, 7.2, 8.1, 8.4, 8.5 and Articles 9, 10 and 11.  

ARTICLE 7  
R ECORDKEEPING ; A UDITS ; R ECALLS  

Section 7.1 Manufacturing Quality . Fenwal shall perform the obligations in accordance with the Quality Agreement for Manufacture, 
Testing, and Release of INTERCEPT Blood System Medical Devices, entered into between Fenwal France S.A.S. and Cerus (the “ Quality 
Agreement ”), effective May 21, 2008, as the same may be amended from time to time, which is incorporated herein by reference. All 
Manufactured Products shall meet the Product Specifications and shall be subjected to quality control inspections by Fenwal in accordance with 
Fenwal’s quality control standards and system.  

Section 7.2 Adverse Information . Each Party will promptly notify the other Party following receipt of any information, including but not 
limited to any problems regarding the Manufactured Products or any information regarding any threatened or pending action that might affect 
the production or marketing of the Manufactured Products. Promptly upon receipt of such notice, the Parties will consult with each other in an 
effort to arrive at a mutually acceptable procedure for taking appropriate action; provided, however, that nothing contained herein will be 
construed as restricting the right of either Party to make a timely report of such matter to any Regulating Group or take other action that it deems 
to be appropriate or required by applicable law or regulation.  

ARTICLE 8  
A DDITIONAL C OVENANTS  

Section 8.1 Acquisition of Residual Inventory . Upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement, Cerus shall purchase all existing 
inventory of Manufactured Products and Components, which shall include any or all work-in-process or raw materials to the extent specifically 
identified for Cerus. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Cerus shall have no obligation to purchase any such inventory to the extent that it exceeds 
Cerus’ forecasted requirements for the [*] after such expiration or termination, with the exception of any inventory specifically requested by 
Cerus to be held, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Parties.  
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Section 8.2 Technology Transfer and Technical Assistance . Subject to the terms and conditions of the License Agreement, Fenwal shall 
promptly transfer to Cerus all technical information pertaining to the manufacturing and quality testing of the Manufactured Products (including 
without limitation, Bills of Materials, SOPs for manufacturing quality assurance and quality control, design history files and batch records, and 
including HUD, CER, etc. documents, technical reports and regulatory submissions) and provide to Cerus technical experts to assist, consult and 
cooperate with technical personnel of Cerus or its manufacturing sublicensee in the design, production, inspection and maintenance of the 
Manufactured Products. Cerus may make requests for technical assistance during the Term of this Agreement, however, not to exceed two such 
requests a calendar year and one such request for each manufacturing change Fenwal may introduce. Cerus has the rights to use such information 
provided by Fenwal in accordance with the terms of the License Agreement. Cerus shall pay the reasonable traveling, living and other related 
expenses of such technicians of Fenwal as agreed between the Parties, and Cerus shall pay for such services on an hourly rate (excluding travel 
time) equal to $ [*] (US) per day per person. Fenwal shall arrange at the request of Cerus for the visit of Cerus’ technical personnel to the offices 
or plants or any other facilities of Fenwal for the study of manufacturing processes, practices, testing shipment and know-how used by Fenwal in 
the manufacture of the Manufactured Products as provided for under the License Agreement. In no event will Fenwal technicians be expected to 
meet or travel for Cerus to a country for which the U.S. Department of State has issued a travel advisory recommending U.S. citizens leave or 
avoid traveling to such country at that time.  

Section 8.3 Compliance with Laws . Each Party will comply with all applicable laws, rules, ordinances and regulations of any 
governmental entity or regulatory agency governing the Manufacturing Services to be provided hereunder. No Party will take any action in 
violation of any applicable law, rule, ordinance or regulation that could result in liability being imposed on the other Party. Fenwal will comply 
at all times with then current ISO standards and then current Good Manufacturing Practices (cGMP) and maintain related certification, subject to 
Section 2.2(d).  

Section 8.4 Relationship of the Parties . Fenwal shall and will remain at all times an independent contractor of Cerus in the performance 
of all Manufacturing Services hereunder. In all matters relating to this Agreement, each Party hereto will be solely responsible for the acts of its 
employees and agents, and employees or agents of one Party shall not be considered employees or agents of the other Party. No Party will have 
any right, power or authority to create any obligation, express or implied, on behalf of any other Party nor shall either Party act or represent or 
hold itself out as having authority to act as an agent or partner of the other Party, or in any way bind or commit the other Party to any 
obligations. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to create or constitute a joint venture, partnership, agency, trust or other association of any 
kind between the parties or persons referred to herein.  

Section 8.5 Purchase of Equipment; Leasing of Facilities . Upon termination of Fenwal’s obligations under this Agreement and as long 
as Fenwal has no obligations for Manufactured Products to either Cerus, BioOne or their respective successors or assigns, Cerus may elect to 
purchase any equipment, instruments, tools, ties and molds dedicated to the  
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manufacturing of the Manufactured Products (including, but not limited to, any and all capital assets acquired in connection with the 
consolidation of its manufacturing activities at the [*] facility) at Fenwal’s then net book value of such items. Cerus may also elect to lease from 
Fenwal at a reasonable rental those portions of facilities dedicated to the manufacturing of the Manufactured Products (including, but not limited 
to, the [*] facility); provided, however, that if Fenwal intends to close down such facility in its entirety, Fenwal will so notify Cerus at the time 
that Fenwal provides its termination notice, in which Cerus will have a first option to purchase the buildings.  

ARTICLE 9  
C ONFIDENTIALITY  

Section 9.1 Confidential Information . All information and materials containing information provided by any Party to another relating to 
this Agreement, including but not limited to customer requirements, lists, preferences and methods of operation, the technology, any know-how, 
data, process, or technique of any Party relating to such Party’s products, and any research project, work-in-process, future development, 
scientific, engineering, or manufacturing information, know-how, designs, drawings, management information reports and other computer-
generated reports, financial information, pricing policies and details, details of contracts, operational methods, plans or strategies, business 
acquisition plans, and the business affairs of such Party, whether in oral, graphic or written form, as the case may be, are and shall be treated as 
confidential, provided such information and materials are clearly marked as “confidential” and, if verbal, are specified as “confidential” at the 
time of disclosure and reduced to writing and marked “confidential” within thirty (30) days after disclosure (“ Confidential Information ”). 
Among other things, Confidential Information shall include confidential or proprietary information or materials of third parties and the Parties’ 
respective Affiliates, that are in the possession of one of the Parties and provided pursuant to this Agreement. It is understood and agreed that the 
INTERCEPT Blood System has been co-developed by Cerus, which may disclose or use information concerning such system as it deems 
appropriate in the exercise of its rights under this Agreement; provided that information concerning Fenwal’s proprietary plastics formulations 
and radio frequency heat sealing processes shall remain the Confidential Information of Fenwal.  

Section 9.2 Obligations . Except as expressly authorized by prior written consent of the disclosing Party, the receiving Party shall:  

(a) limit access to any Confidential Information of the disclosing Party received by it to its, its Affiliates’, sublicensees’ and distributors’ 
employees, agents, representatives, and consultants who have a need-to-know in connection with this Agreement and the rights and obligations 
of the Parties hereunder, and who are under appropriate non-use and non-disclosure restrictions which are at least as restrictive as those set forth 
herein;  

(b) safeguard all Confidential Information of the disclosing Party received using a reasonable degree of care, but not less than that degree 
of care used by the receiving Party in safeguarding its own similar information or material; and  
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(c) use the Confidential Information of the disclosing Party only for the purposes and in connection with the performance of such Party’s 
obligations set forth in this Agreement.  

Section 9.3 Exceptions to Confidentiality . Notwithstanding Section 9.2, the Parties’ obligations of confidentiality and non-use shall not 
apply to any particular information or materials that the receiving Party can demonstrate:  

(a) was, at the time of disclosure to it, in the public domain;  

(b) after disclosure to it, is published or otherwise becomes part of the public domain through no fault of the receiving Party;  

(c) was received after disclosure to it from a third party who had a lawful right to disclose such information or materials to it;  

(d) was required to be disclosed to any regulatory body having jurisdiction over the receiving Party or any of its respective Affiliates, 
sublicensees or customers;  

(e) that disclosure is necessary by reason of applicable legal, accounting or regulatory requirements beyond the reasonable control of the 
receiving Party; or  

(f) is subsequently developed by the receiving Party independently of the information received from the disclosing Party.  

In the case of any disclosure pursuant to Sections 9.3(d) or 9.3(e), to the extent practical, the receiving Party shall notify the disclosing Party in 
advance of the required disclosure and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to assist the disclosing Party in obtaining a protective order, if 
available, covering such disclosure. If such a protective order is obtained, such information and materials shall continue to be deemed to be 
Confidential Information.  

Notwithstanding Section 9.2, Cerus shall have the right to disclose Confidential Information of Fenwal to its attorneys, accountants, actual or 
potential sources of financing, and actual or potential investors or acquirers under appropriate non-use and non-disclosure restrictions which are 
at least as restrictive as those set forth herein.  

Section 9.4 Use of Certain Information . No Party shall, without the appropriate Party’s prior written consent, use the names, service 
marks or trademarks of another Party as trademarks or use such names, service marks or trademarks to suggest any affiliation, sponsorship, 
endorsement or recommendation. All employees, agents, representatives and consultants of each Party and its Affiliates and sublicensees shall be 
required to comply with the terms of this Section 9, and each Party, as applicable, shall be responsible for any breach thereof and the 
performance or non-performance of each such party.  

Section 9.5 No Publicity . Except as required by law, no Party shall originate any news release or other public announcement relating to 
this Agreement or the terms hereof without the prior written approval of the other Party; provided, however that any Party to this Agreement 
may provide public information concerning this transaction to the extent necessary or appropriate to comply with applicable securities laws 
and/or customary corporate communications processes.  
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Section 9.6 Equitable Remedies . Each Party acknowledges that if it, its Affiliates or their respective employees, agents, representatives, 
or consultants breach (or attempt to breach) the obligations set forth in this Article 9, the other Party will suffer immediate and irreparable harm, 
it being acknowledged that legal remedies are inadequate. Accordingly, if a court of competent jurisdiction should find that any such Party has 
breached (or attempted to breach) any such obligations, such Party shall not oppose the entry of an appropriate order compelling performance by 
such Party and restraining it from any further breaches (or attempted breaches).  

ARTICLE 10  
I NDEMNIFICATION ; I NSURANCE ; L IABILITY L IMITATION  

Section 10.1 Indemnification .  

(a) Intellectual Property Indemnification by Fenwal. Fenwal will indemnify, defend and hold harmless Cerus and its Affiliates, and 
their respective officers, directors, agents, and employees (collectively, with respect to Cerus, the “Indemnified Parties”) from and against any 
Damages arising out of or relating to any claim from any third party that Fenwal’s plastics, subassemblies, such as bags, tubing and connectors, 
or manufacturing or packaging processes for the Manufactured Products infringe, misappropriate or violate any patent, copyright, trade secret, 
confidential information or other intellectual property of any third party.  

(b) Exceptions to Fenwal Intellectual Property Indemnification. Fenwal shall have no indemnification obligations under Section 10.1
(a) with respect to any infringement relating to:  

(i) any infringement due to any specification that is different than the Product Specifications and such infringement would not have 
existed but for the difference between the specifications and the Product Specifications or due to the failure of the Manufactured Products 
to meet the Product Specifications;  

(ii) Cerus’ direction, without Fenwal’s approval, to any Person to use the Manufactured Products in a manner contrary to label copy 
approved by Fenwal of the Manufactured Products for the inactivation of pathogens in blood products and the infringement is caused by 
such contrary use; or  

(iii) the combination, incorporation or use of any Manufactured Products by Cerus with Cerus’ or any third party’s product(s), or the 
use of such combined or incorporated Manufactured Products by Cerus’ customers, if such infringement would not have existed but for 
such combination or incorporation of the Manufactured Products by Cerus with or into any such Cerus product or any other third party 
product, or the use of such combined or incorporated product by Cerus’ customers, except for combinations, incorporations or use 
specified by Fenwal for use of the Manufactured Products.  
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(c) Intellectual Property Indemnification by Cerus. Cerus will indemnify, defend and hold harmless Fenwal and its Affiliates, and their 
respective officers, directors, agents, and employees (collectively, with respect to Fenwal, the “Indemnified Parties”) from and against any 
Damages arising out of or relating to any claim from any third party that [*] or any design change or specification not approved by Fenwal, 
infringes, misappropriates or violates any patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret, confidential information or other intellectual property right 
of any third party (provided that such design change or specification is different than the Product Specifications and such infringement, 
misappropriation or violation would not have existed but for the difference between the specifications and the Product Specifications).  

(d) Other Indemnification by Fenwal. Fenwal will indemnify, defend and hold harmless Cerus and its Affiliates, and their respective 
officers, directors, agents, and employees (collectively, with respect to Cerus, the “Indemnified Parties”) from and against any Damages arising 
out of or relating to any claim from any third party that defective Manufactured Product, negligence or willful misconduct of Fenwal, or acts or 
omissions of Fenwal that would constitute a Breach, have created Liabilities to the third party.  

(e) Other Indemnification by Cerus. Cerus will indemnify, defend and hold harmless Fenwal and its Affiliates, and their respective 
officers, directors, agents, and employees (collectively, with respect to Fenwal, the “Indemnified Parties”) from and against any Damages arising 
out of or relating to any claim from any third party (other than claims of infringement of patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret, confidential 
information or other intellectual property right) that Cerus’ or its distributors’, resellers’ or Affiliates’ sale, offer for sale, import, manufacture, 
use or distribution of Manufactured Products, or use of such Manufactured Products by customers of Cerus, has created Liabilities to the third 
party; except to the extent the claim is encompassed within Fenwal’s obligation to indemnify pursuant to Section 10.1(d), above.  

Section 10.2 Procedure for Indemnification - Third Party Claims .  

(a) Promptly after receipt by an Indemnified Party of notice of the commencement of any Proceeding against it, the Indemnified Party shall 
notify the other Parties obligated to indemnify such Indemnified Party (the “ Indemnifying Party ”) of the commencement of the claim.  

(b) If any Proceeding referred to in Section 10.2(a) is brought against an Indemnified Party and it gives notice to the Indemnifying Party of 
the commencement of the Proceeding, the Indemnifying Party shall, upon written notice given within thirty (30) days after the Indemnified 
Party’s notice is given, be entitled to assume the defense of the Proceeding. If the Indemnifying Party elects to assume the defense of a 
Proceeding, the Indemnified Party shall turn the Proceeding over to the Indemnifying Party, who shall, at its own expense, assume the defense of 
the Proceeding and the Indemnified Party shall have the right (but not the obligation) to participate, at its own expense, in the defense thereof by 
counsel of its own choice, and shall cooperate with and assist the Indemnifying Party in connection with the defense or contest, but the 
Indemnifying Party shall retain control thereof and have final authority to determine all  
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matters in connection therewith. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) the Indemnifying Party shall have the right to control the defense, litigation 
and settlement of the action only if the Indemnifying Party has agreed in writing to be responsible for all costs, expenses, judgments and 
liabilities connected with the claim, (ii) the Indemnifying Party shall not enter into any settlement of any Proceeding unless such settlement is 
contingent upon obtaining a general release in form and substance acceptable to the Indemnified Party releasing the Indemnified Party from all 
Liabilities in such Proceeding, and (iii) the Indemnifying Party shall not enter into any settlement of any Proceeding if such settlement grants any 
injunctive or equitable relief unless the Indemnified Party has consented in writing to such settlement.  

Section 10.3 Definitions .  

As used herein, a “ Breach ” shall mean a breach of a covenant, obligation or other provision of this Agreement, and such breach will be 
deemed to have occurred if there is or has been one or more misstatements or inaccuracies in, or one or more failures to perform or comply with, 
any representation, warranty, covenant, obligation or other provision of this Agreement.  

As used herein, “ Damages ” shall mean all Liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, deficiencies, assessments, judgments, costs, expenses 
(including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs and expenses incurred in investigating, preparing, defending against or 
prosecuting any Proceeding).  

As used herein, “ Liabilities ” means any debts, obligations, duties or liabilities of any nature, whether known or unknown, and whether 
accrued, contingent or otherwise.  

As used herein, “ Proceeding ” means any third-party action, arbitration, audit, hearing, investigation, litigation or suit (whether civil, 
criminal, administrative, investigative or informal) commenced, brought, conducted or heard by or before, or otherwise involving, any 
governmental body or arbitrator.  

Section 10.4 Fenwal Insurance . Fenwal shall carry appropriate levels of insurance coverage consistent with its commercially reasonable 
business practices.  

Section 10.5 Cerus Insurance . Cerus shall carry appropriate levels of insurance coverage consistent with its commercially reasonable 
business practices.  

Section 10.6 Limitation on Liability . In no event shall any Party be liable for incidental or consequential damages regardless of whether 
such Party shall be advised, shall have other reason to know, or in fact shall know of the foregoing, in excess of [*] U.S. dollars (U.S. $ [*] ) in 
the aggregate under this Agreement.  

ARTICLE 11  
M ISCELLANEOUS  

Section 11.1 Governing Law . This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of 
Illinois.  
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Section 11.2 Assignment and Delegation .  

(a) No Assignments Except as Permitted. No Party may assign any of its rights under this Agreement other than assignments to a 
Permitted Assignee, except with the prior written consent of the other Party. That Party shall not unreasonably withhold its consent. “Permitted 
Assignees” include an Affiliate of the assigning Party and a third party to whom the assigning Party transfers substantially all of the products, 
business and services to which this Agreement relates and who assumes all obligations of the assigning party under this Agreement and has the 
capability to perform such obligations. All other assignments of rights are prohibited under this subsection, whether they are voluntary or 
involuntary, by merger, consolidation, dissolution, operation of law, or any other manner. For purposes of this Section, (i) a “change of control” 
is deemed an assignment of rights; and (ii) “merger” refers to any merger in which a Party participates, regardless of whether it is the surviving 
or disappearing corporation.  

(b) No Delegations. No Party may delegate any performance under this Agreement.  

(c) Ramifications of Purported Assignment or Delegation. Any purported assignment of rights or delegation of performance in violation 
of this Section is void.  

Section 11.3 Successors and Assigns . This Agreement inures to the benefit of, and is binding upon, the successors and assigns of the 
Parties hereto.  

Section 11.4 Entire Agreement; Amendments . This Agreement contain the entire understanding of the Parties with regard to the subject 
matter contained herein and thereon, and supersede all prior agreements or understandings between Cerus and Fenwal with respect to the subject 
matter of the Original Supply Agreement. For purposes of clarity, except as stated in Sections 5.1 and 5.3(a) of this Agreement, this Agreement 
does not supersede the Commercialization Agreement, the Restructuring Agreement entered between the Parties as of February 2, 2005, or the 
Concurrent Agreement (as defined in the Restructuring Agreement). This Agreement will not be amended, modified or supplemented except by 
a written instrument signed by an authorized representative of each of the Parties.  

Section 11.5 Force Majeure . Neither Party will be deemed in default if delayed or prevented from performing its obligations under this 
Agreement, in whole or in part, due to an act of God, fire, flood, explosion, civil disorder, strike, lockout or other labor trouble, material 
shortages of utilities, equipment, materials or facilities, delay in transportation, breakdown or accident, riot, war, terrorist attack or other cause 
beyond its control (a “ Force Majeure Event ”); provided that it shall resume full performance of this Agreement as soon as practicable following 
the conclusion of the Force Majeure Event.  

Section 11.6 Interpretation; No Strict Construction . Article titles and headings to Sections herein are inserted for convenience of 
reference only and are not intended to be a part of or to affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. The language used in this 
Agreement shall be deemed to be the language chosen by the Parties hereto to express their mutual intent, and no rule of strict construction shall 
be applied against any Party hereto.  
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Section 11.7 Partial Invalidity . If any provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof, is held by a court of competent jurisdiction 
to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of the provisions of this Agreement will in no way be effected, impaired or invalidated, and 
to the extent permitted by applicable law, any such provision will be restricted in applicability or reformed to the minimum extent required for 
such provision to be enforceable.  

Section 11.8 No Third Party Beneficiary . This Agreement will not confer any rights or remedies on any person other than the Parties 
hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.  

Section 11.9 Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts (and by facsimile), all of which shall be 
considered one and the same agreement, and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the Parties and 
delivered to the other parties.  

Section 11.10 Notices . Wherever under this Agreement one Party is required or permitted to give written notice to the other, such notice 
will be deemed given if made in accordance with the terms of the License Agreement.  

Section 11.11 Nonwaiver . No alleged waiver, modification or amendment to this Agreement shall be effective against either Party hereto, 
unless in writing, signed by the Party against which such waiver, modification or amendment is asserted, and referring specifically to the 
provision hereof alleged to be waived, modified or amended. The failure or delay of either Party to insist upon the other Party’s strict 
performance of the provisions in this Agreement or to exercise in any respect any right, power, privilege, or remedy provided for under this 
Agreement shall not operate as a waiver or relinquishment thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, power, privilege or 
remedy preclude other or further exercise thereof, or the exercise of any other right, power, privilege, or remedy; provided, however, that the 
obligations and duties of either Party with respect to the performance of any term or condition in this Agreement shall continue in full force and 
effect. The execution of this Agreement by the Parties does not constitute or evidence any waiver of any right, or remedy Cerus may have 
against Baxter under the Original Supply Agreement.  

Section 11.12 Alternative Dispute Resolution . The Parties will attempt to settle any claim or controversy arising out of this Agreement 
through good faith negotiations and in the spirit of mutual cooperation. Any issues that cannot be resolved will be referred to a senior 
management representative from each of the Parties who has the authority to resolve the dispute. In the event such senior management 
representatives cannot resolve the dispute, the dispute will be submitted to binding arbitration for resolution. Any such proceedings shall be 
conducted at the place of the principal office of the respondent in accordance with Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration 
Association (“ AAA ”). Any such proceedings shall be conducted at the place of the principal office of the respondent in accordance with the 
Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association (“ AAA ”). Any such dispute or controversy shall be arbitrated before a 
single arbitrator selected in accordance with the rules of the AAA. The arbitrator’s decision shall be final and binding upon the parties. The  
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parties shall be entitled to full discovery in any such arbitration. Each party shall bear one half of the cost of such arbitration, unless the arbitrator 
otherwise allocates such costs. Judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof. 
Nothing in this Section will prevent either Party from resorting to judicial process if injunctive relief from a court is necessary to prevent serious 
and irreparable injury to one Party or to others.  

Section 11.13 Joint and Several Liability . Fenwal’s obligations and liability under this Agreement shall be joint and several, including 
without limitation, with respect to each such party’s indemnification obligations under Article 10.  

Section 11.14 Availability of Injunction . Fenwal and Cerus agree that any breach, or threatened breach, of this Agreement by one Party 
could cause irreparable damage to the other Party. The Parties agree that, in the event of such breach, or threatened breach, the Parties shall have, 
in addition to any and all remedies of law, the right to an injunction, specific performance as well as all other equitable relief to prevent the 
violation of any obligations hereunder without the necessity of any proof of actual damages or the posting of a bond or other security. The 
Parties further agree that any action pursuant to this Section can and shall be brought in the state or federal courts located in Chicago, Illinois or 
San Francisco, California. The Parties hereby consent to the jurisdiction of such state or federal courts over such disputes and hereby waive and 
agree not to raise any and all defenses to the exercise of jurisdiction by such state or federal courts, including without limitation, personal 
jurisdiction, improper venue and forum non conveniens.  

{Signature Page to Follow}  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representatives as of the last 
date set forth below.  
   

   
[*] = C ERTAIN CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS D OCUMENT , MARKED BY BRACKETS , HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY 

WITH THE S ECURITIES AND E XCHANGE C OMMISSION PURSUANT TO R ULE 24b-2 OF THE S ECURITIES E XCHANGE A CT OF 1934, AS AMENDED .  
   

27  

F ENWAL , I NC . 

By:   /s/ Ron K. Labrum 
Name: Ron K. Labrum 
Title: Chief Executive Officer 

Date: December 12, 2008 

C ERUS C ORPORATION 

By:   /s/ Claes Glassell 
Name: Claes Glassell 
Title: President and CEO 

Date: December 12, 2008 
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Product Specifications  
Platelet Sets  
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EXHIBIT B  

Product Specifications  
Plasma Sets  

[*]  
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EXHIBIT C  

Standard Cost of Goods for Platelet Sets and Plasma Sets  

[*]  

Exhibit C  
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Exhibit 10.5 

[ * ] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

AMENDMENT NO. 1  
TO AMENDED AND RESTATED  

MANUFACTURING AND SUPPLY AGREEMENT  

This Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Manufacturing and Supply Agreement is entered into by and between Fresenius Kabi 
Deutschland GmbH (“Kabi”) and Cerus Corporation (“Cerus”) this 22 day of November, 2013.  

WHEREAS, Fenwal, Inc. and Cerus entered into the Amended and Restated Manufacturing and Supply Agreement as of December 12, 2008 
which provided the terms under which Fenwal, Inc. has manufactured and sold certain products to Cerus; and,  

WHEREAS, Kabi has recently acquired Fenwal, Inc.; and,  

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend the referenced Amended and Restated Manufacturing and Supply Agreement in certain ways;  

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and covenants set forth herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Kabi and Cerus agree as follows:  
   

   

   

“Except as set forth in this Section 2.3, Cerus shall purchase the lesser of (i)  [ * ] and (ii)  [ * ] ; provided, however, Cerus may 
purchase [ * ] ; provided further, Cerus shall be permitted to purchase Sets from a qualified third party supplier as cover for 
commercial purposes in the event Kabi is unable for a period of [ * ] days to fill Cerus’ reasonable purchase orders. Kabi shall 
provide Cerus with a business continuity plan on or prior to  

  
1. Except as set forth below, all terms defined in the Amended and Restated Manufacturing and Supply Agreement shall have the same 

meaning in this Amendment No. 1 as in said agreement. Except as otherwise stated herein, the terms set forth in this Amendment 
No. 1 shall be effective as of January 1, 2014. 

  2. Fresenius Kabi Deutschland GmbH (“Kabi”) shall in all instances be substituted for Fenwal, Inc., and all references to BioOne 
Corporation shall be deleted, as from the date of this Amendment No. 1. 

  3. The language of Section 2.3(b)(i) shall be deleted in its entirety, and the following shall be substituted in its place: 



[ * ] setting forth its ability to provide Sets and Components during the Term of this Agreement. In addition to the purchase obligations set 
forth above, once a second Kabi facility has been identified and qualified as set forth in Section 2.4 below, Cerus shall purchase from Kabi 
[ * ] , subject to mutual agreement on the pricing for such Sets based on good faith discussions between the Parties taking into account [ * ] 
and such other factors as may be reasonably relevant; provided, however, in no event shall such prices exceed [ * ] .  

   

   

“Kabi agrees to identify and qualify a second Kabi facility with ISO 13485 certification and FDA establishment license for the 
manufacture of the Sets. In support of such agreement, Cerus shall, on or about January 1 and July 1 of each year, provide Kabi with 
a rolling [ * ] forecast of purchases based in good faith on Cerus’ projections of new regulatory approvals, market uptake and other 
factors relative to future demand.”  

   

“Kabi shall issue invoices at the time of delivery, and Cerus shall pay said invoices within [ * ] days thereof.”  
   

“The annual transfer price at which the Sets will be invoiced to Cerus (the “Transfer Price”) for the [ * ] of the Term of this 
Agreement (as defined in Section 6.1) shall be determined based upon the total volume of Sets purchased in the applicable calendar 
year. The Transfer Price by total annual volume is set forth on Exhibit C-1 and includes the “Cerus Transfer Price” for the Cerus-
Supplied Materials (as defined in Section 5.1) as set forth in Exhibit C-2. Cerus shall invoice Kabi for the Cerus-Supplied Materials 
at the “Cerus Discounted Transfer Price” for the applicable contract year, as set forth in Exhibit C-2, which amount includes a 
discount equal to a conversion loss allowance of [ * ] for the [ * ] of the Term of this Agreement. For the remainder of the Term, the 
conversion loss allowance will be [ * ] mutually agreed upon by the Parties during the Negotiation Period (as defined below) based 
on the Conversion Loss Reduction Plan (as defined in  

   
[ * ] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

  4. Section 2.3(b)(ii) shall be deleted in its entirety and marked “ Intentionally omitted.”  

  5. The fifth sentence of Section 2.4 shall be deleted in its entirety and the last sentence of Section 2.4 shall be deleted in its entirety and 
the following shall be substituted in its place: 

  6. The third sentence of Section 2.6(a) shall be deleted in its entirety, and the following shall be substituted in its place: 

  7. The language of Section 4.1 shall be deleted in its entirety, and the following shall be substituted in its place: 



Section 4.2(d)). Cerus may, in its sole discretion, amend the Cerus Discounted Transfer Price as shown on Exhibit C-2 during the 
Term of this Agreement, which amendment shall result in an automatic corresponding adjustment to the Cerus Discounted Transfer 
Price and the Transfer Price for Platelet Sets and/or Plasma Sets, as applicable, to reflect the impact of such amendment. Pricing 
discussions with respect to the Kabi Transfer Price to be in effect for [ * ] shall begin no later than [ * ] , and the parties shall 
negotiate in good faith the new Kabi Transfer Price for such calendar years, to take effect beginning [ * ] , taking into account market 
pricing, change in the PPI, any cost increase in raw materials and other components, and other relevant factors; provided, however, 
any cost increase or decrease in raw materials or other components supplied by Kabi shall result in an immediate corresponding 
increase or decrease, as applicable, in the Kabi Transfer Price. In the event the Parties are not able to reach agreement on the new 
Kabi Transfer Price for [ * ] within the period [ * ] (the “Negotiation Period”), beginning [ * ] , Sets will be invoiced at the prior 
year’s Transfer Price adjusted by the percentage increase in the Producer Price Index (‘PPI’) for ‘Surgical and Medical Blood 
Transfusion and IV Equipment, including Blood Donor Kits’ (product code 339112-04) published by the US Bureau of Labor 
Statistics (or if discontinued, such other PPI as most closely applies to the Sets). In such event, the Parties shall continue to attempt to 
reach agreement, and any such agreed Kabi Transfer Price shall be applied retroactively to prior purchases made during the 
applicable calendar year (and an invoice or credit issued as appropriate).”  

   

   

   

“Kabi shall use commercially reasonable efforts to continually reduce conversion loss and rework for Manufactured Products and 
Cerus-Supplied Materials. For the purpose of this Agreement, “conversion loss” shall include losses due to quality control testing and 
scrap of excess or non-conforming Manufactured Products. During the [ * ] of the Term of this Agreement, the Parties will jointly 
prepare a development plan to reduce such conversion loss and rework for Manufactured Products and Cerus-Supplied Materials (the 
“Conversion Loss Reduction Plan”). Cerus agrees to pay [ * ] arising from changes in Manufactured Products Specifications. Fenwal 
will promptly notify Cerus of the nature and amount of such [ * ] accordingly.  
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  8. Sections 4.2(a), 4.2(b) and 4.3 are deleted in their entirety and marked “ Intentionally omitted.”  

  9. The reference to “Purchase Price Variances” and “Section 4.1(c)” in Section 4.2(c) are hereby changed to read “as adjustments to the 
Kabi Transfer Price”  and “Section 4.1,”  respectively. 

  10. The language of Section 4.2(d) shall be deleted in their entirety, and the following shall be substituted in its place: 



   

“Kabi will inform Cerus of any cost change due to the change in Specifications under Section 2.2.”  
   

“Except as provided in Sections 4.4(c) or (d), and except for (x) any cost of relocating manufacturing facilities, (y) identifying and 
qualifying a second manufacturing facility as contemplated by Section 2.3(b)(i), and/or (z) providing sufficient capacity for 
Manufactured Products to Cerus), each of which will be Kabi’s financial responsibility, any capital expenditure required exclusively 
to meet the changes requested by regulatory authorities will be paid for directly by Cerus.”  

   

“Section 5.1       Cerus-Supplied Materials .  

(a) Cerus shall have full management and control of the supply chain for certain Components (“Cerus-Supplied Materials”), 
including, but not limited to, specifications, qualification, change control, purchasing of certain raw materials, production planning 
and facility expansion, and OEM relationships with third party suppliers. Cerus shall have the right to enter directly into contractual 
arrangements with such third party suppliers for said purposes. Any agreement with third party suppliers designated as such by Cerus 
[ * ] shall provide for the release of Cerus-Supplied Materials according to Cerus specifications. Cerus shall have the responsibility to 
resolve technical issues with third party suppliers related to the supply of Cerus-Supplied Materials. The Parties acknowledge that 
Cerus has had, and agree that Cerus shall continue to have, full management and control of the supply chain for [ * ] ,  
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11. All references in Section 4.4 to “Cost of Goods” are hereby changed to read “Transfer Price” and the following language shall be 

deleted from the end of Section 4.4: “ , and the purchase price will be maintained as set forth in Section 4.1(a) hereof” . 

  12. The first sentence of Section 4.4(a) shall be deleted in its entirety, and the following shall be substituted in its place: 

  13. The first sentence of Section 4.4(f) shall be deleted in its entirety, and the following shall be substituted in its place: 

  14. The language of Section 5.1 shall be deleted in its entirety, and the following shall be substituted in its place: 



including, but not limited to, specifications, qualification, change control, forecasting, purchasing and development studies. This 
Section supersedes Section 15(d) of the Commercialization Agreement.  

(b) Demand forecasts for Cerus-Supplied Materials will be defined as part of the Parties’ joint annual planning and budgeting 
process. During the [ * ] of the term of this Agreement, Kabi agrees to purchase from Cerus and store Cerus-Supplied Materials at a 
level of inventory of [ * ] , based on third party supplier lead times and [ * ] rolling forecasts provided by Cerus. During the 
Negotiation Period, the Parties will mutually agree upon an appropriate inventory level for the remainder of the Term of this 
Agreement.  

(c) Once release, Kabi shall arrange for shipment of any Cerus-Supplied Materials from the applicable third party 
manufacturer’s facilities to Kabi’s receiving facility. Kabi shall be the importer of records for import of any Cerus-Supplied 
Materials into the European Union and for VAT purposes. As such, Kabi shall be responsible for preparing and filing documentation, 
and paying related fees, as required by applicable laws, rules and regulations, to import such goods in the European Union. Kabi will 
notify Cerus upon (i) receipt of each shipment of Cerus-Supplied Materials; and, (ii) upon completion of acceptance testing for such 
Cerus-Supplied Materials, as applicable. Title to Cerus-Supplied Materials shall transfer to Kabi upon receipt of such Cerus-Supplied 
Materials from the applicable third party manufacturer’s facilities.”  

   

“The term of this Agreement shall be from the date of execution through December 31, 2018, unless earlier terminated pursuant to 
Section 6.2 (the “ Term ”). In the event that Cerus desires to enter into a new manufacturing and supply agreement (a “New 
Agreement”) to take effect upon expiration of the Term, Cerus shall deliver written notice to Kabi of its intent no later than 
December 31, 2017. The Parties shall thereafter negotiate in good faith regarding the terms of a New Agreement to become effective 
January 1, 2019.”  

   

   

   
[ * ] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

  15. The language of Section 6.1(a) shall be deleted in its entirety, and the following shall be substituted in its place: 

  16. Sections 6.2(f) and 6.2(g) are deleted in their entirety and marked “ Intentionally omitted.”  

  17. Except as set forth above, the Amended and Restated Manufacturing and Supply Agreement shall remain in full force and effect with 
and under the terms as set forth therein. 



   

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Amendment No. 1 to be executed by their duly authorized representatives.  
   

   

   
[ * ] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

  18. Exhibit C shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with Attachment 1 hereto. 

  19. This Amendment No. 1 may be signed in any number of counterparts, each of which taken together will be deemed an original and 
part of the same Amendment No. 1. 

FRESENIUS KABI DEUTSCHLAND GmbH     CERUS CORPORATION 

By   /s/ Dean Gregory      By   /s/ Kevin D. Green  

Title   President Medical Devices Division      Title   VP Finance and Chief Financial Officer  

Date   November 22, 2013      Date   November 22, 2013  

By   /s/ Gerrit Steen  

Title   Managing Director  

Date   November 22, 2013  



Attachment 1  

Exhibit C-1  

Transfer Price  
Platelet Sets and Plasma Sets  

   

   
[ * ] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

Quantity – Annual basis    [ * ]    [ * ]    [ * ]    [ * ] 

[ * ]    € [ * ]    € [ * ]    € [ * ]    € [ * ] 
[ * ]    € [ * ]    € [ * ]    € [ * ]    € [ * ] 
[ * ]    € [ * ]    € [ * ]    € [ * ]    € [ * ] 



Exhibit C-2  

Cerus Transfer Pricing  

[ * ]  
   

   
[ * ] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

     Cerus Transfer Price      Cerus Discounted Transfer Price for [ * ]   
[ * ]     €  [ * ]       €  [ * ]    
[ * ]     €  [ * ]       €  [ * ]    
[ * ]     €  [ * ]       €  [ * ]    



Exhibit 10.15 

C UFF P ROPERTY M ANAGEMENT C O .  
CUFF BUILDING & REDWOODS BUSINESS CENTER  

2401 STANWELL DR., CONCORD, CA 94520  
—  

TEL. 925-408-0957  
MOBILE 925-200-9221  

REAL PROPERTY LEASE  

THIS LEASE is made and entered into by and between S. P. Cuff as Managing Partner of the Redwoods Business Center LP hereinafter called 
“Lessor”, without regard to number or gender, and CERUS Corporation hereinafter called “Lessee”, without regard to number or gender.  

1. PREMISES : Lessor hereby leases to Lessee and Lessee hereby leases from Lessor those certain premises in the City of Concord, 
County of Contra Costa, State of CALIFORNIA, and known as 2411 Stanwell Drive, Concord, CA 94520, the sum totaling approximately 
21,440 sq.ft., of the CERUS Building, 2411 Stanwell Drive, Concord, California. For the purpose of conducting the following business: back-
office and administrative support for Biomedical research, development and commercial efforts.  

2. TERM & RENT : The lease will commence on the 1st day of August, 2013 and end the 31 st day of July , 2015 (the “Initial 
Term”), at a monthly rent of $12,864 DOLLARS, in lawful money of the United States of America, which, subject to this Lease, Lessee agrees 
to pay to Lessor, without deduction or offset, at such place or places as may be designated from time to time by Lessor, in installments as 
follows:  

$12,864, less a deduction of 50% ($6,432) to be paid the 1 st of August and September, 2013; thereafter the full $12,864 per month for the 
remaining Initial Term.  

The rental amount ($12,864) shall be adjusted by increases of $0.05/sq.ft. ($1,072) for each year after the Initial Term that Lessee occupies the 
building, for up to 10 years. After 10 years, the rent will be negotiated to reflect market rents for similar properties but shall not increase more 
than 25% of the then current rent.  

3. INCREASE IN REAL PROPERTY TAXES : Lessee shall pay any and all increases in the real property taxes assessed and 
levied against the demised premises above the tax currently assessed against the said premises excluding any increase arising from sale of the 
demised premises, as well as any special assessments imposed upon the demised premises for any purpose whatsoever during the term hereof, 
whether the increase in said taxes results from an increase in the assessed valuation of the demised premises or the improvements thereon or 
both.  

4. SECURITY DEPOSIT : Lessor acknowledges receipt of a Security Deposit in the amount of $12,864 upon execution of the 
lease, as security for the full and faithful performance of the Lessee of the terms, conditions and covenants of this Lease. Lessee and Lessor 
agree that the following disposition shall apply to the Security Deposit:  

a. Lessor shall not be required to pay interest on the Security Deposit.  

b. If at any time during the term hereof Lessee should fail to repair any damage to the premises leased or any part of the common portions 
of the buildings caused by such Lessee or his agent, employees, invitees, or other visitors through lack of ordinary care for a period of 30  



days after written demand to make such repairs is served on the Lessee by the Lessor, then the Lessor may appropriate and apply any portion of 
the Security Deposit as may be reasonably necessary to fund the repair. Lessee agrees to restore the Security Deposit to its original amount 
should resort to the funds be required. Refusal to restore such amount within 15 days of written demand shall be cause for termination of this 
lease.  

c. If on the termination of this Lease for any reason Lessee does not leave the premises in as good condition, except for normal wear and 
tear, as when received by the Lessee from the Lessor then the Lessor may appropriate and apply any portion of the Security Deposit as may be 
reasonably necessary to fund the repair.  

5. LIABILITY INSURANCE : Lessee agrees during the full term of this lease to carry public liability and property damage 
insurance covering the demised premises in an amount of $2,000,000 for injury and/or death to any one person, $4,000,000 for injury and death 
to any number of persons in any one accident and $4,000,000 property damage liability in so-called Board Companies, satisfactory to the Lessor, 
as evidenced by a certificate of insurance with a 10 day written notice of cancellation and to pay the premiums therefore and to deliver said 
certificates or documents stating that the Lessee is insured unto the Lessor, and the failure of the Lessee either to effect said insurance or to pay 
the premiums therefore or to deliver said certificates or documents stating that the Lessee is insured thereof unto the Lessor, and the failure of the 
Lessee either to effect said insurance or to pay the premiums therefore or to deliver said certificates or duplicates thereof unto the Lessor shall 
permit of the Lessor itself effecting said insurance and paying the requisite premiums therefor, which premiums shall be repayable unto it with 
the next installment of rental, and failure to repay the sum shall carry with it the same consequences as failure to pay any installment of rental. 
Each insurer mentioned in this paragraph shall agree, by endorsement, upon the policy or policies issued by it, or by independent instrument 
furnished to the Lessor, that it will give the Lessor ten (10) days written notice before the policies or policy in question shall be altered or 
canceled.  

6. FIRE INSURANCE : If the fire insurance rate on the building on the premises is increased by reason of Lessee’s occupancy 
thereof, over and above the fire insurance rate fixed for the premises as occupied by a tenant for general use, the Lessee shall pay to Lessor the 
additional premium by reason of such increase in insurance rate for the unexpired portion of the term of this lease. Such additional premium 
shall be paid to Lessor on demand provided Lessor previously submitted to Lessee proper evidence indicating such increase in rate and the direct 
correlation between the rate increase and Lessee’s specific occupancy.  

7. POSSESSION : If Lessor, for any reason whatsoever, cannot deliver possession of the said premises to Lessee on August 1, 2013, 
rent shall abate for the period of delay. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this lease may be void or voidable, at the option of the Lessee, and the 
deposit returned in full. Lessor shall not be liable to Lessee for any loss or damage resulting therefrom. Lessee is entitled to possession of the 
premises, if available, upon execution of this lease, free of any rental payment obligation; provided, however, that Lessee is obligated to comply 
with all other terms of this lease.  

8. USES PROHIBITED : Lessee shall not use, or permit said premises, or any part thereof, to be used, for any purpose or purposes 
other than the purpose or purposes for which the said premises are hereby leased; and no use shall be made or permitted to be made of the said 
premises, nor acts done, which will increase the existing rate of insurance upon the building in which said premises may be located, without the 
consent of the Lessor, or cause a cancellation of any insurance policy covering said building, or any part thereof, nor shall Lessee sell, or permit 
to be kept, used, or sold, in or about said premises, any article which may be  
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prohibited by the standard form of fire insurance policies. Lessee shall, at his sole cost and expense, comply with any and all requirements, 
pertaining to said premises, of any insurance organization or company, necessary for the maintenance of reasonable fire and public liability 
insurance, covering said building and appurtenances.  

9. WASTE & ALTERATIONS : Lessee shall not commit, or suffer to be committed, any waste upon the said premises, or any 
nuisance, or other act or thing which may disturb the quiet enjoyment of any other tenants in the complex in which the demised premises may be 
located. Lessee shall not make, or suffer to be made, any alterations of the said premises, or any part thereof without the written consent of 
Lessor first had and obtained, any additions to, or alterations of, the said premises, except movable furniture and trade fixtures, shall become at 
once a part of the realty and belong to Lessor. At the option of the Lessor the Lessee shall return the premises to the condition and configuration 
of the space when first leased, reasonable wear and tear excepted, and provided that the Lessee shall not be required to remove previously 
approved tenant improvements.  

10. ABANDONMENT : Lessee shall not vacate or abandon the premises at any time during the term; and if Lessee shall abandon, 
vacate or surrender said premises, or be disposed by process of law, or otherwise, any personal property belonging to Lessee and left on the 
premises shall be deemed to be abandoned according to law, at the option of Lessor, except such property as may be mortgaged to Lessor.  

11. REPAIRS : The Lessee may have access to the space prior to the lease commencement date to make alterations and 
improvements with prior approval of the Lessor, which approval is not to be unreasonably withheld, including to run telephone cables to 2411 
Stanwell. Lessee shall, at its sole cost, keep and maintain said premises and appurtenances and every part thereof including glazing, light fixtures 
(and bulbs), elevator, sprinkler system, plumbing (except buried pipes), any entrance doors and the interior of the premises, in good and sanitary 
order, condition and repair, (excepting structural components, exterior walls, roof mounted air conditioning units, parking area, and roofs, all of 
which Lessor agrees to repair), hereby waiving all right to make repairs at the expense of Lessor as provided in Section 1942 of the Civil Code of 
the State of California, and all rights provided for by Section 1941 of said Civil Code. By entry hereunder, Lessee accepts the premises as being 
in good and sanitary order, condition and repair and agrees on the last day of said term, or sooner termination of this lease, to surrender unto 
Lessor all and singular said premises with said appurtenances in the same condition as when received reasonable use and wear thereof and 
damage by fire, act of God or by the elements excepted, and to remove all of Lessee’s signs from said premises. Lessee agrees to use chair pads 
under all desk and other chairs or stools to prevent excessive carpet wear or to repair or replace worn areas or the entire carpet upon vacating the 
space should the carpet be damaged beyond normal wear and tear by Lessee’s use.  

12. FREE FROM LIENS : Lessee shall keep the demised premises and the property in which the demised premises are situated, 
free from any liens arising out of any work performed, materials furnished, or obligations incurred by Lessee.  

13. COMPLIANCE WITH GOVERNMENTAL REGULATIONS : Lessee shall at its sole cost and expense, comply with all of 
the requirements of all Municipal, State and Federal authorities now in force, or which any hereafter be in force, pertaining to Lessee’s use and 
occupancy of the said premises, and shall faithfully observe in the use of the premises all Municipal ordinances and State and Federal statutes 
now in force or which may hereafter be in force. The preceding sentence is not intended, however, to impose on Lessee any obligation as to the 
condition of the premises or environmental hazard that is the responsibility of the Lessor under this Lease. The judgment of any court of 
competent jurisdiction, or the admission of  
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Lessee in any action or proceeding against Lessee, whether Lessor be a party thereto or not, that Lessee has violated any such ordinance or 
statute in the use of the premises, shall be conclusive of that fact as between Lessor and Lessee.  

14. INDEMNIFICATION OF LESSOR : Except for Lessors’ negligence or willful misconduct, Lessee, as a material part of the 
consideration to be rendered to Lessor, hereby waives all claims against Lessor for damages to goods, wares and merchandise, in, upon or about 
said premises and for injuries to persons in or about said premises, for any cause arising at any time, and Lessee will, except for Lessor’s 
negligence and willful misconduct, hold Lessor exempt and harmless from any damage or injury to any person, or to the goods, wares and 
merchandise of any person, arising from the use of the premises by Lessee, or from the failure of Lessee to keep the premises in good condition 
and repair as herein provided.  

15. ADVERTISEMENTS AND SIGNS : Lessee shall not conduct or permit to be conducted any sale by auction on said premises. 
Lessee shall not place or permit to be placed any projecting or lighted sign, marquee or awning on the exterior of the said premises without the 
prior written consent of the Lessor. Lessee, upon request of Lessor, shall immediately remove any sign or decoration which Lessee has placed or 
permitted to be placed in, on, or about the front of the premises and, which, in the opinion of Lessor, is objectionable or offensive, and if Lessee 
fails so to do, Lessor may enter upon said premises and remove the same. Lessee shall not place or permit to be placed in windows or upon the 
walls, doors, landscaping areas or roof, any sign, advertisement or notice without the written consent of Lessor.  

16. UTILITIES : Lessee shall pay for all telephone, gas, heat, power, light, elevator inspections and maintenance, sprinkler system, 
alarm system and janitorial services. Lessor shall pay for normal water usage, garbage collection, gardening, external window washing, parking 
lot sweeping and other services supplied externally to the premises.  

17. ENTRY BY LESSOR : Lessee shall permit Lessor and his agents to enter into and upon said premises at all reasonable times 
with 24 hour notice (except for emergencies or scheduled janitorial) for the purpose of inspecting the same or for the purpose of Maintaining the 
building in which said premises are situated, or for the purpose of making repairs, alterations or additions to any other portion of said building, 
included the erection and maintenance of such scaffolding, canopies, fences and props as may be required, or for the purpose of posting notices 
of non-liability for alterations, additions, or repairs or for the purpose of placing upon the property in which the said premises are located any 
usual or ordinary or “for sale” signs, without any rebate of rent and without any reliability to Lessee for any loss of occupation or quiet 
enjoyment of the premises thereby occasioned; and shall permit Lessor, at any time within thirty days prior to the expiration of this lease, to 
place upon said premises any usual or ordinary “to let” or “to lease” signs. Lessor and its agents, however, shall not enter any laboratory areas of 
the Lessee without first making special arrangements with Lessee and obtaining instructions as to any procedures to be followed for safety 
purposes and to preserve the integrity of any ongoing experiments. Lessor and its agents shall maintain in confidence any information 
concerning Lessee’s technology, products and business that the Lessor and its agents may learn in the course of such entry.  

18. DESTRUCTION OF PREMISES : In the event of a partial destruction of the said premises during the said term, from any 
cause, Lessor shall forthwith repair the same, provided such repairs can be made within sixty (60) days under the laws and regulations of State, 
Federal, County or Municipal authorities, but such partial destruction shall in no ways annul or void this lease, except that Lessee shall be 
entitled to a proportionate deduction of rent while such repairs are being made, such proportionate deduction to be based upon the extent to  
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which the making of such repairs shall interfere with the business carried on by Lessee in the said premises except if more than fifty percent 
(50%) of the Premises is destroyed, Lessee shall pay no rent until it is repaired. If such repairs cannot be made in sixty (60) days, Lessor may, at 
his option, make same within a reasonable time not to exceed 90 days, this lease continuing in full force and effect and the rent to be 
proportionately rebated as aforesaid in this paragraph provided. In the event that Lessor does not so elect to make such repairs which cannot be 
made in sixty (60) days, or such repairs cannot be made under such laws and regulations, this lease may be terminated at the option of either 
party. In respect to any partial destruction which Lessor is obligated to repair or may elect to repair under the terms of this paragraph, the 
provisions of Section 1932, Subdivision 2, and of Section 1933, Subdivision 4, of the Civil Code of the State of California are waived by Lessee. 
In the event that the building in which the demised premises may be situated be destroyed to the extent of not less than 33 1/3% of the 
replacement cost thereof, Lessor or Lessee may elect to terminate this lease, whether the demised premises be injured or not. A total destruction 
of the building in which the said premises may be situated shall terminate this lease. In the event of any dispute between Lessor and Lessee 
relative to the provisions of this paragraph, they shall each select an arbitrator, the two arbitrators so selected shall select a third arbitrator and the 
three arbitrators so selected shall hear and determine the controversy and their decision thereon shall be final and binding upon both Lessor and 
Lessee, who shall bear the cost of such arbitration equally between them. Said arbitration shall be conducted under the auspices of the California 
Rules of Judicial Arbitration.  

19. ASSIGNMENT AND SUB-LETTING : Lessee shall not assign this lease, or any interest therein, and except as to an entity 
controlled by Lessee, shall not sublet the said premises or any part thereof, or any right or privilege appurtenant thereto, or suffer any other 
person (the agents and servants of Lessee excepted) to occupy or use the said premises, or any portion thereof, without the written consent of 
Lessor first had and obtained, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, and a consent to one assignment, sub-letting, occupation or use by 
any other person, shall not be deemed to be a consent to any subsequent assignment, sub-letting, occupation or use by another person. Any such 
assignment or sub-letting without such consent shall be void, and shall, at the option of Lessor, terminate this lease. This lease shall not, nor shall 
any interest therein, be assignable, as to the interest of Lessee, by operation of law, without the written consent of Lessor, such consent not to be 
unreasonably withheld.  

20. INSOLVENCY OR BANKRUPTCY : Either (a) the appointment of a receiver (except a receiver mentioned in paragraph 18 
hereof) to take possession of all or substantially all of the assets of Lessee, or (b) a general assignment by Lessee for the benefit of creditors, of 
(c) any action taken or suffered by Lessee under any insolvency or bankruptcy act shall constitute a breach of this lease by Lessee and Lessor 
may declare this lease terminated and any assignment pursuant thereto void.  

21. DEFAULT : In the event of any breach of this lease by Lessee, then Lessor besides other rights or remedies he may have, shall 
have consistent with California law the immediate right of re-entry and may remove all persons and property from the premises, such property 
may be removed and stored in a public warehouse or elsewhere at the cost of, and for the account of Lessee. Should Lessor elect to re-enter, as 
herein provided, or should he take possession pursuant to legal proceedings or pursuant to any notice provided for by law, he may either 
terminate this lease or he may from time to time, without terminating this lease, re-let said premises or any part thereof for such term or terms 
(which may be for a term extending beyond the term of this lease) and at such rental or rentals and upon such other terms and conditions as 
Lessor in his sole discretion may deem advisable with the right to make alterations and repairs to said premises; upon each such re-letting 
(a) Lessee shall be immediately liable to pay to Lessor, in addition to any indebtedness other than rent due hereunder, the cost and  
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expenses of such re-letting and of such alterations and repairs, incurred by Lessor, and the amount, if any, by which the rent reserved in this lease 
for the period of such re-letting (up to be not beyond the term of this lease) exceeds the amount agreed to be paid as rent for the demised 
premises for such period on such re-letting; or (b) at the option of Lessor rents received by such Lessor from such re-letting shall be applied first, 
to the payment of any indebtedness, other than rent due hereunder from Lessee to Lessor; second, to the payment of any costs and expenses of 
such re-letting and of such alterations and repair; third, to the payment of rent due and unpaid hereunder and the residue, if any, shall be held by 
Lessor and applied in payment of future rent as the same may become due and payable hereunder. If Lessee has been credited with any rent to be 
received by such re-letting under option (a), and such rent shall not be promptly paid to Lessor by the new tenant, or of such rentals received 
from such re-letting under option (b) during any month be less than that to be paid during that month by Lessee hereunder, Lessee shall pay any 
such deficiency to Lessor. Such deficiency shall be calculated and paid monthly. No such re-entry or taking possession of said premises by 
Lessor shall be construed as an election on his part to terminate this lease unless a written notice of such intention be given to Lessee or unless 
the termination thereof be decreed by a court of competent jurisdiction. Notwithstanding any such re-letting without termination, Lessor may at 
any time thereafter elect to terminate this lease for such previous breach. Should Lessor at any time terminate this lease for any breach, in 
addition, to any other remedy he may have, he may recover from Lessee all damages he may incur by reason of such breach, including the cost 
of recovering the premises, and including the worth at the time of such termination of the excess, if any of the amount of rent and charges 
equivalent to rent reserved in this lease for the remainder of the stated term over the then reasonable rental value of the premises for the 
remainder of the stated term, all of which amounts shall be immediately due and payable from Lessee to Lessor.  

22. SURRENDER OF LEASE : The voluntary or other surrender of this lease by Lessee, or a mutual cancellation thereof, shall not 
work a merger, and shall, at the option of Lessor, terminate all or any existing sub-leases or sub-tenancies, or may at the option of Lessor, 
operate as an assignment to him of any or all such sub-leases or sub-tenancies.  

23. ARBITRATION : Any dispute arising between the parties shall be settled and decided by arbitration conducted in accordance 
with the commercial arbitration rules of the Judicial Arbitration Rules of the State of California, as then in effect. The prevailing party in the 
arbitration shall be awarded reasonable attorney’s fees, expert and non-expert witness costs and expenses incurred in connection with said 
arbitration, unless the arbitrator for good cause determines otherwise. Costs and fees of the arbitrator shall be borne by the non-prevailing party. 
The award of the arbitrator, which may include equitable relief, shall be final and judgment may be entered upon it in accordance with applicable 
law in any court having jurisdiction thereof. The provisions of Title 9 of the Part 3 of California Code of Civil Procedure, including 
Section 1283.05 thereof, permitting expanded discovery proceedings, shall be applicable to all disputes, which are arbitrated hereunder. Any 
demand for arbitration shall be in writing and must be made within a reasonable time after the claim, dispute or other matter in question has 
arisen. In no event shall the demand for arbitration be made after the date that the institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on such 
claim, dispute or other matter would be barred by the applicable statute of limitations.  

24. EXPENSES OF ENFORCEMENT : In case any suit shall be brought by the Lessor against the Lessee to enforce any provision 
of this lease or for unlawful detainer of said premises and for recovery of any rent due hereunder or because of the breach of any other covenant 
herein, if Lessor is the prevailing party, Lessee shall pay to Lessor all costs incurred including attorney’s fees and fees to a collection agency.  
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25. RECEIVERSHIP : If a receiver be appointed at the instance of Lessor in any action against Lessee to take possession of said 
premises and/or to collect the rents or profits derived therefrom, the receiver may, if it be necessary or convenient in order to collect such profits, 
conduct the business of Lessee then being carried on in said premises and may take possession of any personal property belonging to Lessee and 
used in the conduct of such business, and may use the same in conducting such business on the premises without compensation to Lessee for 
such use. Neither the application for the appointment of such receiver, nor the appointment of such a receiver, shall be construed as an election 
on Lessor’s part to terminate this lease unless a written notice of such intention is given to Lessee.  

26. NOTICES : All notices to be given to Lessee may be given in writing personally or by depositing the same in the United States 
mail, postage prepaid, and addressed to Lessee at the said premises, whether or not Lessee has departed from, abandoned or vacated the 
premises. All notices from the Lessee to the Lessor shall be by depositing said notice in the United States mail, postage prepaid, and addressed to 
2401 Stanwell Dr., #460 Suite A, Concord, CA 94520.  

27. TRANSFER OF SECURITY : If any security be given by Lessee to secure the faithful performance of all or any of the 
covenants of this lease on the part of Lessee, Lessor may transfer and/or deliver the security, as such, to the purchaser of the reversion, in the 
event that the reversion be sold, and thereupon Lessor shall be discharged from any further liability in reference thereto.  

28. WAIVER : The waiver by Lessor of any breach of any term, covenant or condition herein contained shall not be deemed to be a 
waiver of such term, covenant or condition or any subsequent breach of the same or any other term, covenant or condition therein contained. The 
subsequent acceptance of rent hereunder by Lessor shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any preceding breach by Lessee of any term, covenant 
or condition of this lease, other than the failure of Lessee to pay such rent.  

29. HOLDING OVER : Any holding over after the expiration of the said term, with the consent of Lessor, shall be construed to be a 
tenancy from month to month, at a rental of the then current monthly rental plus 25% and shall otherwise be on the terms and conditions herein 
specified, so far as applicable.  

30. LEASE YEAR : For the purpose of this lease, the first “leasehold year” shall be a period from the commencement of this lease 
and ending on July 31, 2014. Subsequent “leasehold years” shall end on the last day of each July thereafter.  

31. SIGNS : There shall be no signs erected by the Lessee upon the roof, doors, windows, landscaping area or exterior walls of the 
demised premises, save and except that Lessor grants to Lessee the right to inscribe upon the monument and other designated sign spaces 
provided by the Lessor, and only those spaces, on the demised premises a sign relating to the business of the Lessee conducted therein, which 
sign shall conform to the architectural design and color of the signs already thereon and be approved in writing by the Lessor.  

32. MORTGAGE REQUIREMENTS: Lessee agrees to forthwith execute and deliver to Lessor, upon receipt by it or written 
request therefrom from Lessor, without any consideration whatsoever, such customary instrument or instruments as may be reasonably required 
by any mortgagee or holder of a deed of trust or other encumbrance on the real property on which the building containing the demised premises 
is located.  
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33. SALE : In the event of a sale or conveyance by the Lessor of the building containing the demised premises, the same shall 
operate to release the Lessor from any future liability upon any of the covenants or conditions, express or implied, herein contained in favor of 
the Lessee, and in such event the Lessee agrees to look solely to the responsibility of the successor in interest of the Lessor in and to this lease. If 
any security be given by Lessee to secure the faithful performance of all or any of the covenants of this lease on the part of the Lessee, Lessor 
may transfer and/or deliver the security to the purchaser of the reversion, in the event that the reversion is sold. Lessor shall be discharged from 
any further liability in reference to the security only if the security is transferred to the purchaser of the reversion subject to the same conditions 
set forth in this lease, including for securing the faithful performance of all or any covenants of this lease.  

34. SUBROGATION RIGHTS : Each of the parties hereto does hereby waive its entire right of recovery against the other for any 
damages caused by an occurrence insured against by such party, and the rights of any insurance carrier to be subrogated to the rights of the 
insured under the applicable policy. The foregoing waivers of subrogation shall be effected to the extent permitted by the Lessor’s and Lessee’s 
respective insurers and provided that no policy of insurance is invalidated as a result of such waivers. Each shall notify the other in advance if 
there are lesser limits or if a policy of insurance is invalidated by a waiver of subrogation.  

35. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS: The covenants and conditions herein contained shall, subject to the provisions as to 
assignment, apply to and bind the heirs, successors, executors, administrators and assigns of all of the parties hereto and all of the parties hereto 
shall be jointly and severally liable hereunder.  

36. PARKING LOT : Seventy one (71) parking spaces are available to the Lessee on the property of the Redwoods Office Center. 
These parking spaces are for the sole purpose of parking vehicles during the working day. Parking spaces may not be used for storage, overhaul 
or repair of vehicles. Any other use of parking spaces will not be made without the written consent of the Lessor. No painting, assembly or 
storage of vehicles, trash (or any material) will be done in the parking lot without the written permission of the Lessor.  

37. OPTION TO RENEW : If, at the end of the Initial Term, the Lessee has fully and faithfully kept and performed all of the terms, 
covenants, and conditions of this Lease on the part of the Lessee to be kept and performed, including the full and prompt payment of all rental 
herein reserved, then and in such event only, Lessee shall, have the right at its option to renew and extend this Lease for four additional terms of 
two (2) years. Options to renew may be exercised by Lessee providing written notice to Lessor of exercising said option at least six (6) months 
prior to the date of the expiration of the Initial Term or any extension thereto. Any request to extend the lease by the Lessee shall be responded to 
within 10 days of receipt by the Lessor. In the event that the Lessee exercises the option (s) here above described and provided for, rental to be 
charged shall be adjusted as described in Paragraph 2.  

38. ENVIRONMENTAL :  

A. Lessor agrees to indemnify and save harmless Lessee, Lessee’s successors and assigns and Lessee’s present and future officers, 
directors, employees and agents (collectively :Indemnities”) from and against any and all liabilities, penalties, fines, forfeitures, demands, 
damages, losses, claims, causes of action, suits, judgments, and costs and expenses incidental thereto (including cost of defense, settlement, 
arbitration, reasonable attorney’s fees, reasonable consultant’s fees and reasonable expert fees), which Lessee or any of all the Indemnities may 
hereafter suffer, incur, be responsible for or disburse as a result of:  

1) any government action, order, directive, administrative proceeding or ruling;  
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2) personal or bodily injuries (including death) or damage (including loss of use) to any sites (public or private);  

3) any violation or alleged violation of laws, statutes, ordinances, orders, rules, policies or regulations of any government entity or 
agency  

(collectively “Environmental Liabilities”) directly or indirectly caused by or arising out of any Environmental Hazards existing on or about the 
Redwoods Business Center Complex except to the extent that any such existence is caused by Lessee’s activities at the Redwoods Business 
Center Complex. The term “Environmental Hazards” shall be defined as hazardous substances, hazardous wastes, pollutants, asbestos, 
polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), petroleum or other fuels (including crude oil or any fraction or derivative thereof) and underground storage 
tanks. The term “hazardous substances” shall be defined in the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (42 
U.S.C. Section 9601 et seq.) (CERCLA), and any regulations promulgated pursuant thereto. The term “pollutants” shall be defined in the Clean 
Water Act (33 U.S.C. Section 1251 et seq.), and any regulations promulgated pursuant thereto. This provision shall survive termination of the 
Lease.  

B. Lessee agrees to indemnify and save harmless Lessor, Lessor’s successors and assigns and Lessor’s present and future owner, 
officers, trustees, directors, employees and agents (collectively “Indemnities”) from and against any and all liabilities, penalties, fines, 
forfeitures, demands, damages, losses, claims, causes of action, suits, judgments, and costs and expenses incidental thereto (including cost of 
defense, settlement, arbitration, reasonable attorneys’ fees, reasonable consultant fees and reasonable expert fees), which Lessor or any or all of 
the Indemnities may hereafter suffer, incur, be responsible for or disburse as a result of any Environmental Hazards existing on or about the site 
but only to the extent that any such existence is caused by the Lessee’s activities on the Site. This provision shall survive termination of the 
Lease.  

C. In the event any Environmental Hazards are found at any time to be in existence on or about the Site other than Environmental 
Hazards whose existence is caused by the Lessee’s activities on the Site, Lessee among other rights shall have the right to terminate this Lease 
by so notifying Lessor in writing.  

D. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, an environmental clean-up cost or other Environmental Liability for 
which Lessee is not responsible pursuant to this paragraph shall not be includable in the monthly rent paid hereunder nor otherwise assessable to 
Lessee.  
   

39. Toxics . The Lessor and the Lessee acknowledge that they have been advised that numerous federal, state, and / or local laws, 
ordinances and regulations (“Laws”) affect the existence and removal, storage, disposal, leakage of contamination by materials designated as 
hazardous or toxic (“Toxics”). Many materials, some utilized in everyday business activities and property maintenance, are designated as 
hazardous or toxic. Some of the Laws require that Toxics be removed or cleaned up without regard to whether the party required to pay for the 
“clean up” caused the contamination, owned the property at the time of the contamination occurred or even knew about the contamination. Some 
items, such as asbestos or PCB’s, that  
   

  E. In no event shall Lessee be responsible for environmental hazards caused by materials on the premises prior to Lessee’s 
tenancy. 
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were legal when installed, are now classified as Toxics, and are subject to removal requirements. Third parties in certain circumstances may file 
civil lawsuits for damages resulting from Toxics.  

A. Lessor agrees to indemnify and save harmless Lessee, Lessee’s successors and assigns and Lessee’s present and future officers, 
directors, employees and agents (collectively “Indemnities”) from and against any and all liabilities, penalties, fines, forfeitures, demands, 
damages, loses, claims, causes of action, suits, judgments, and costs and expenses incidental thereto (including cost of defense, settlement, 
arbitration, reasonable attorney’s fees, reasonable consultant’s fees and reasonable expert fees), which Lessee or any or all of the Indemnities 
may hereafter suffer, incur, be responsible for or disburse as a result of any Environmental Hazards as a result of (collectively “Environmental 
Liabilities”) directly or indirectly caused by or arising out of any Environmental Hazards existing on or about the Site except to the extent that 
any such existence is caused by Lessee’s activities at the Site.  

The term “Environmental Hazards” shall be defined as hazardous substances, hazardous wastes, pollutants, asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyls 
(PCBs), petroleum or other fuels (including crude oil or any fraction or derivative thereof) and underground storage tanks. The term “hazardous 
substances” shall be defined in the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (42 U.S.C. Section 9601 et seq.) 
(CERCLA), and any regulations promulgated pursuant thereto. The term “pollutants” shall be defined in the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 
Section 1251 et seq.), and any regulations promulgated pursuant thereto. This provision shall survive termination of the Lease.  

B. Lessee agrees to indemnify and save harmless Lessor, Lessor’s successors and assigns and Lessor’s present and future owner, 
officers, trustees, directors, employees and agents (collectively “Indemnities”) from and against any and all liabilities, penalties, fines, 
forfeitures, demands, damages, losses, claims, causes of action, suits, judgments, and costs and expenses incidental thereto (including cost of 
defense, settlement, arbitration, reasonable attorneys’ fees, reasonable consultant fees and reasonable expert fees), which Lessor or any or all of 
the Indemnities may hereafter suffer, incur, be responsible for or disburse as a result of any Environmental Hazards existing on or about the site 
but only to the extent that any such existence is caused by the Lessee’s activities on the Site. This provision shall survive termination of the 
Lease.  

40. TENANT IMPROVEMENTS : Lessee agrees to obtain Lessor’s written approval prior to any improvements, approval of which 
is not to be unreasonably withheld. Said approval must be granted or denied within 5 working days of submittal.  

41. TIME : Time is of the essence of this lease.  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties hereto have caused this lease to be executed this 20th day of June 2013.  
   

   

LESSOR:     LESSEE: 

Redwoods Business Center, LP     CERUS Corporation 

By:   /s/ S.P. Cuff      By:   /s/ Kevin D. Green  

S. P. CUFF, Managing Partner     Kevin D. Green 

        Vice President, Finance and CFO 
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Exhibit 10.18 

July 29, 2009  

Laurence Corash  
[Home Address Omitted]  
   

Dear Larry:  

This letter agreement (the “ Agreement ”) memorializes your employment terms with Cerus Corporation (“ Cerus ” or the “ Company ”), 
including your new position and compensation terms. These terms became effective as of May 1, 2009 (the “ Effective Date ”). You must sign 
and return this Agreement within five (5) business days after receipt of the final Agreement in order to accept continued employment with Cerus 
under the terms provided herein.  

P OSITION AND D UTIES  

Your position is the full-time position of Sr. Vice President & Chief Medical and Chief Scientific Officer. Your primary role will be to provide 
commercial support for the INTERCEPT products by cultivating and maintaining key relationships with outside business partners, investment 
community, patient advocacy organizations, scientific and clinical advisors, and therapeutic thought-leaders, and to represent Cerus in 
government relation programs. You will report to Claes Glassell, President and CEO, and you will work at the Company’s offices in Concord, 
California. The Company may change your position, duties, reporting relationship, hours, and work location from time to time in its discretion.  

C OMPENSATION , B ENEFITS AND E QUITY  

You will be paid semi-monthly at the base salary rate of $10,156.25, which calculates to an annual salary of $243,750.00 (the quoting of an 
annual salary is for illustrative purposes only). The combined annual value of your base salary and annual stock award (described below) is 
anticipated to be approximately $375,000, subject to change as provided herein. As discussed with you, the Company agrees that the base salary 
and stock program (as defined below) will not be modified without your consent for at least one (1) year from the effective date, conditioned on 
your continued employment. Thereafter, the Company will review your compensation terms for potential modification. We agree that this 
guaranteed minimal compensation structure does not modify your at-will employment status, and both you and the Company retain the 
discretion to terminate your employment at any time, with or without cause, and with or without advance notice.  

In addition, you will receive an annual stock award if you remain an employee in good standing through the end of each calendar year; or, if this 
annual stock award program (the “  Stock Program ” ) is terminated by the Company mid-year during your continued employment, you will  

Re: Employment Terms 



receive a prorated stock award for the calendar year in which the Stock Program is terminated (with the proration to be based on the date that the 
Stock Program is terminated, in the same manner as the stock award will be prorated in the event of termination of your employment). The stock 
award will be provided to you on or about the first business day of the following calendar year; or, if the Stock Program is terminated mid-year, 
the prorated stock award will be provided to you within thirty (30) days after termination of the Stock Program. The number of shares of stock 
for the award will be determined by: (1) taking the dollar amount that is equivalent to 53.85% of the total base salary paid to you for the 
applicable “stock award” calendar year (provided that, for 2009, the dollar amount will be 53.85% of the total base salary paid to you between 
the Effective Date and December 31, 2009), and (2) dividing the resulting number by the average daily closing price for Cerus stock during the 
applicable bonus year (provided that, for 2009, this time period will be from the Effective Date through December 31, 2009, rather than all of 
2009). If your employment terminates for any reason prior to the end of a calendar year in which the Stock Program remains in effect (whether 
such termination of employment is at your request or the Company’s request), then you will receive a partial stock award that will be prorated 
(both in determination of the dollar amount and the average daily closing price for the Company’s stock) based on your employment termination 
date. You will remain eligible for annual stock awards as described in this paragraph each calendar year during your continued employment, 
unless the Company provides you written notice that this Stock Program is terminated (or otherwise modified), as determined in the Company’s 
sole discretion. Notwithstanding the foregoing conditions, the Board retains the sole discretion to pay you a cash award equal to 53.85% of your 
base salary (to be paid no later than March 15 of the following calendar year) rather than provide any stock awards under the Stock Program, or a 
prorated cash award that is equal to a prorated portion of your base salary in lieu of a prorated stock award (if you are otherwise eligible for a 
prorated stock award at such time rather than a full stock award).  

In addition, you will continue to participate in the Company’s Cash Bonus Plan for Senior Management of Cerus Corporation (the “ Bonus Plan 
”), in accordance with the terms, conditions and limitations of the Bonus Plan. However, for any annual bonus provided, the “cash” portion of 
the bonus will be paid 65% in cash and 35% in Cerus stock. Annual bonuses are not guaranteed and such bonuses, if any, are awarded at the sole 
discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors (“ Board ”). For purposes of calculating any annual bonus under the Bonus Plan, the Board will 
use the combined annual value of your base salary and stock award provided under the Stock Program during years in which the Stock Program 
remains in effect, rather than your base salary alone. As provided in the Bonus Plan, you must remain employed through the date the bonus is 
paid in order to earn and be eligible to receive a bonus; no pro rata or partial bonuses will be provided. The Board shall have the sole discretion 
to change or eliminate the Bonus Plan at any time, and to determine the amount of bonus earned, if any.  

In addition to your base salary and stock awards under the Stock Program, you will continue to participate in all of Cerus’ standard employee 
benefits plans in accordance with the terms and conditions of such plans, which include employer subsidized medical, dental and vision plan 
coverage, long term disability insurance, life insurance, a 401(k) plan, and Cerus’ Employee Stock Purchase Plan. You will also accrue paid 
vacation at the annual rate of 20 days. You should note that Cerus may modify compensation and benefits from time to time in its discretion.  



Your stock options will continue to vest on their current vesting schedules, and nothing in this Agreement is intended to alter your existing stock 
options with the Company. In addition to any equity awards you have previously received, you shall be eligible to receive additional equity 
awards under the Company’s 2008 Equity Incentive Plan and various equity incentive and bonus programs that may be approved from time to 
time by the Board in its sole discretion. Of course, additional equity awards are not guaranteed.  

A DDITIONAL T ERMS OF E MPLOYMENT  

Normal working hours are from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. As an exempt employee, you will be occasionally asked to work 
additional hours as required by your assignments and you will not be eligible for overtime compensation.  

As a Cerus employee you will be expected to continue to abide by Company rules and regulations. From time to time, you will be specifically 
required to sign an acknowledgment that you have read, understand and will comply with the Company rules and policies contained in the Cerus 
Employee Handbook. In addition, you must continue to comply with the Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement that you entered into 
previously in connection with your employment (the “ Proprietary Information Agreement ”).  

In your work for the Company, you will be expected not to make unauthorized use or disclosure of any confidential information or materials, 
including trade secrets, of any former employer or other third party to whom you have an obligation of confidentiality. Rather, you will be 
expected to use only that information generally known and used by persons with training and experience comparable to your own, which is 
common knowledge in the industry or otherwise legally in the public domain, or which is otherwise provided or developed by the Company. By 
continuing employment with the Company, you are representing to us that you will be able to perform your duties within the guidelines set forth 
in this paragraph. In addition, by signing this Agreement, you confirm to the Company that you have no contractual commitments or other legal 
obligations that might restrict your activities on behalf of the Company in any manner.  

A T -W ILL E MPLOYMENT S TATUS  

Your employment status with Cerus is at-will employment. Accordingly, as an employee you may terminate employment at any time and for any 
reason whatsoever upon notice to Cerus. Although not required, we request that, in the event of resignation, you give the Company at least two 
weeks notice to aid in an orderly transition of your duties and responsibilities. Cerus may terminate your employment at any time, with or 
without cause and with or without advance notice.  

M ISCELLANEOUS  

This Agreement, including the Proprietary Information Agreement and your equity award agreement(s), constitutes the complete, final and 
exclusive embodiment of the entire agreement between the Company and you with regard to your employment terms, and it supersedes and 
replaces any other agreements (whether written or unwritten) you may have with the Company,  



provided however , that this Agreement does not alter or affect the Cerus Corporation Change of Control Severance Benefit Plan. This 
Agreement is entered into without reliance on any promise or representation, written or oral, other than those expressly contained herein, and it 
supersedes any other such promises, warranties or representations. Changes in your employment terms, other than those changes expressly 
reserved to the Company’s or Board’s discretion in this Agreement, require a written modification signed by an officer of the Company and by 
you. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of California without regard to conflicts of law 
principles. Any ambiguity in this Agreement shall not be construed against either party as the drafter. Any waiver of a breach of this Agreement, 
or rights hereunder, shall be in writing and shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any successive breach or rights hereunder. This Agreement may 
be executed in counterparts which shall be deemed to be part of one original, and facsimile signatures shall be equivalent to original signatures.  

To indicate your understanding and acceptance of continued employment with the Company under these terms, please sign and date below, and 
return this Agreement to me within five (5) business days. You may retain the enclosed additional copy of this Agreement for your files.  

We look forward to your favorable reply and to continuing our productive work relationship.  
   

   

Sincerely, 

/s/ Claes Glassell 

Claes Glassell 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

Understood and Accepted   /s/ Laurence Corash    Date   7-30-2009  
  Laurence Corash     



Exhibit 10.28 

December 14, 2007  

Carol Moore  
[Home Address Omitted]  

Dear Carol,  

Cerus Corporation is pleased to offer you the position of Vice President, Regulatory Affairs & Quality . This letter embodies the terms of our 
offer of employment to you.  

As the Vice President, Regulatory Affairs & Quality, your principle role will be to oversee the Regulatory Affairs Departments in the US, 
Europe and select countries. Amongst other things, you will be responsible for the implementation of global strategies for the earliest possible 
approvals of phase I through phase IV applications. In this position you will report to Claes Glassell, President and Chief Executive Officer. You 
will work at our location in Concord, California. Of course, Cerus may change your responsibilities and your work location from time to time, as 
it deems necessary.  

You will be paid semi-monthly at the rate of $12,083.34 which calculates to an annual salary of $290,000, (the quoting of an annual salary is for 
illustrative purposes only). In addition to your salary, in 2008, you will be eligible to participant in Cerus’ cash bonus plan. The maximum target 
bonus percentage for your position is 25% of base salary, pro-rated to your start date. Finally, you will be paid a signing bonus of $50,000.00 
subject to standard payroll deductions and withholdings. The bonus will be payable within the first, full pay period following your start date of 
full time employment. If you voluntarily resign from Cerus within 12 months of your hire date, the pro-rated amount of your sign-on bonus will 
be due to Cerus upon your exit.  

In addition to your salary, you will be eligible for all of Cerus’ standard employee benefits plans which include employer subsidized medical, 
dental and vision premiums, long term disability, life insurance, a 401(k) plan, and, upon meeting eligibility requirements, participation in 
Cerus’ Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The Employee Stock Purchase Plan gives employees an opportunity to obtain an equity position in Cerus 
Corporation at a favorable price. You will also be eligible for 15 days of vacation per year. You should note that Cerus may modify salaries and 
benefits from time to time as it deems necessary.  

Subject to the approval of the Cerus Board of Directors, you will receive an option exercisable for 100,000 shares of common stock at an 
exercise price equal to the fair market value of such shares at the time of the grant as determined by the Board. The options shall vest as to one 
eighth of the shares six months after the vesting start date and as to one forty-eighth of the shares each month thereafter.  



Normal working hours are from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. As an exempt employee, you will be occasionally asked to work 
additional hours as required by your assignments.  

As a Cerus employee you will be expected to abide by company rules and regulations. You will be specifically required to sign an 
acknowledgment that you have read and understand the company rules of conduct included in the Cerus Employee Handbook.  

You will be expected to sign and comply with a proprietary information and nondisclosure agreement that requires, among other provisions, the 
assignment of patent rights to any invention made during your employment at Cerus and nondisclosure of proprietary information.  

As an employee you may terminate employment at any time and for any reason whatsoever with notice to Cerus. We request that, in the event of 
resignation, you give the Company at least two weeks notice. Similarly, Cerus may terminate your employment at any time and for any reason 
whatsoever, with or without cause (involuntary termination). Furthermore, this mutual termination of employment arrangement supersedes all 
our prior written and oral communication with you and can only be modified by written agreement signed by you and Cerus.  

As required by law, this offer is subject to your submission of an I-9 Form and satisfactory proof of your right to work in the United States no 
later than three days after your employment begins. In addition, this offer of employment is contingent upon satisfactory completion of the 
background check that was previously discussed with you.  

If you wish to accept employment at Cerus under the terms set out above, please sign and date this letter, and return it to me by Thursday, 
December 20, 2007. If you accept our offer, your first day of employment will be no later than Monday, March 3, 2008.  

We look forward to your favorable reply and to a productive and exciting work relationship.  

Sincerely,  

/s/ Lori L. Roll  

Lori L. Roll  
Vice President, Administration  
   
Approved and Accepted   /s/ Carol Moore    Date   12/21/2007  

  Carol Moore     
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[Cerus B.V. Letterhead]  

INTERNATIONAL BONUS PLAN  

January 1, 2013– December 31, 2013  

This document sets forth the complete terms and conditions of the International Bonus Plan (the “Plan”) for non-sales employees and sales 
employees (“Sales Participants”) of Cerus B.V., (the “Company”) who are working outside of the United States of America and have, in 
accordance with Section 5, been designated as eligible to participate in the Plan (together, the “Participants”). This Bonus Plan has effect from 
January 1, 2013, and will automatically expire on December 31, 2013 unless the Company extends its term. Subject to the terms of any 
extension, any extension of the Plan beyond the end of each calendar year will only be valid until the end of the following calendar year.  

   

The purpose of the Plan is to advance the interests of the Company by providing an incentive to attract and retain employees (“Incentive 
Bonus”) as well as to reward them for performing services for the Company and to motivate them to perform excellent services 
(“Individual Performance Bonus”).  

   

The Company, or its delegate, shall have complete control over the administration of the Plan and shall have the authority in its sole 
discretion to (i) construe, implement and interpret the Plan, (ii) prescribe, amend and rescind rules relating to the Plan, (iii) make all 
determinations necessary or advisable in administering the Plan, (iv) amend the Plan to reflect binding changes in applicable law (whether 
or not the rights of any Participant are adversely affected) and (v) to correct any defect, supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency 
in the Plan and to make all determinations and take all actions with respect to the Plan as the Company or its delegates may deem advisable 
to the extent not inconsistent with the provisions of the Plan or applicable local law.  

   
1  

1. Purposes of the Plan 

2. Administration of the Plan 



The establishment of the Plan as well as all bonus payments made thereunder are entirely discretionary benefits provided by the Company. 
The Company may decide not to extend the term of this Plan or to establish a replacement for this Plan at its sole discretion. Participation 
in this Plan or receipt of a bonus under this Plan in one year does not create any future legal entitlement to participate in a similar bonus 
plan or to receive a future bonus from the Company, even if an employee has participated in this Plan or similar bonus plans or received 
bonus payments for several consecutive years. This holds true even if the discretionary nature of participation in the Plan or payment under 
the Plan is not specifically repeated at each notification of eligibility or at each bonus payment. Nothing contained in the Plan or any 
modification thereof, or the payment of any bonuses hereunder, shall be construed as giving any employee any rights to continued 
employment with the Company.  

   

The Plan covers the following two bonuses for employees:  
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3. Discretionary Nature of Plan 

4. Coverage 

  •   The Incentive Bonus and 

  •   The Individual Performance Bonus (Sales Participants only). 

5. Eligibility 

  A. General Rule . The only employees who are eligible to receive a bonus under this Plan are employees who: 

  •   are employed by the Company outside of the United States of America, 

  •   are not subject to United States income taxation, 

  •   are not currently participating in any other bonus program sponsored by the Company or any of its parents, subsidiaries or affiliates, 

  •   have received and accepted an offer to participate in the Incentive Bonus Program and/or Individual Performance Bonus Program 



Each offer to an eligible employee must be in writing and contained in either the employee’s employment contract or a subsequent 
communication from the Company that includes a copy of this Plan and the applicable Bonus Agreement (the “Agreement”). To accept the offer 
and become a Participant under this Plan an eligible employee must complete and sign the Agreement accompanying the Plan and return it to the 
person designated by the Company by the time and date specified in the Agreement. By signing and completing the Agreement, the employee 
agrees to participate in the Incentive Bonus Program and/or Individual Performance Bonus Program as applicable and to be bound by the terms 
and conditions of this Plan.  
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B. Additional Restrictions . Eligible employees who work part-time are eligible to be offered a pro-rated Incentive Bonus or Individual 
Performance Bonus, if applicable, based on the number of hours they are regularly scheduled to work. Eligible employees who are 
hired after the Plan Year begins may be eligible to be offered an Incentive Bonus or an Individual Performance Bonus, if applicable, 
on a pro-rata basis if and after completing at least three months of employment during the relevant Plan Year (unless otherwise set 
forth in the terms of their employment agreement). Employees who are otherwise eligible to participate in the Plan and who are on an 
approved leave of absence for any portion of the Plan Year are eligible to receive a pro-rated Incentive Bonus or Individual 
Performance Bonus, as applicable to reflect the portion of the Plan Year worked. As the Incentive Bonus is intended to retain 
employees, it shall, however, only be paid if the Participants return to active employment with the Company after their leave of 
absence. 

  
C. Eligibility to participate and participation in the Plan ends (i) at the end of the Plan’s annual term unless the Company extends the 

term, (ii) if the Company terminates the Plan or modifies it in such a way that the employee is no longer eligible to participate in the 
Plan, or (iii) the employee’s employment with the Company terminates. 
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6. Amount and Calculation of Bonuses 

  A. Incentive Bonus . 

Goals : At the beginning of the Plan Year ( i.e., the twelve month period beginning January 1 and ending December 31), the Company shall set 
commercial goals and strategic goals for the Incentive Bonus. 

  i. Commercial Goals : 

  •   Commercial goals will generally be based upon empirical results for the applicable Plan Year, such as revenue, end of 
year cash balance and profits. 

  •   At the beginning of each Plan Year, The Company, or its delegate, will: 

  
•   assign a percentage value that reflects the significance that the commercial goals, as a whole, will be accorded in the 

determination of bonus payouts at the end of the Plan Year (the “Commercial Goals Multiplier” ) 

  

•   assign a value to each commercial goal that reflects the significance that such commercial goal will be accorded in 
the determination of bonus payouts at the end of the Plan Year (each, a “Commercial Goal Component Value”). The 
aggregate value of the Commercial Goal Component Values will equal 100% of the portion of the bonus payout at 
the end of the Plan Year attributable to achievement of the commercial goals. 

  •   assign a threshold metric, a target metric and a stretch metric for each commercial goal. 

  
•   At the end of each Plan Year, The Company, or its delegate, will determine, in its sole discretion, if and the extent to 

which each commercial goal has met its threshold metric, target metric or stretch metric and assign a multiplier to each 
commercial goal that reflects such determination (each, a “Commercial Goal Payout Multiplier” ) as follows: 

  •   Achievement of less than the threshold metric: multiplier of 0; 

  •   Achievement of at least the threshold metric, but not the target metric: multiplier of no less than 0.5 and no more than 
0.99; 

  •   Achievement of the target metric, but not the stretch metric: multiplier of no less than 1.0 and no more than 1.49; and 

  •   Achievement of the stretch metric or more: multiplier of no more than 1.5. 

  •   The Commercial Goal Payout Multiplier for each commercial goal is then multiplied by the Commercial Goal 
Component Value assigned to such goal to determine the amount of the performance bonus earned for each  



   
5  

  
such commercial goal (each, a “Commercial Goal Component Payout Percentage” and in the aggregate, (the “Earned 
Commercial Goals Payout Percentage”).  



   

   

   

At the end of each Plan Year, the Company will combine the Earned Commercial Goals Payout Percentage and the Earned Strategic 
Goals Payout Percentage. Whether a Participant receives an Incentive Bonus and the amount of any such Incentive Bonus is entirely 
within the discretion of the Company, or its delegate. In particular, the Company has the discretion to reduce or eliminate the 
Incentive Bonus if payment of such amount would create a hardship for the Company. Any Incentive Bonus will be paid after 
mandatory withholdings in the form of cash in the currency that the Participant customarily receives from the Company.  
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  ii. Strategic Goals : 

  
•   Strategic goals will generally consist of corporate development milestones used to measure how well the Company has 

executed on its business plan for the Plan Year, such as product development goals, clinical development goals or 
corporate partnering effort goals. 

  
•   At the beginning of each Plan Year, The Company, or its delegate, will assign a percentage value that reflects the 

significance that the strategic goals, as a whole, will be accorded in the determination of bonus payouts at the end of the 
Plan Year (the “Strategic Goals Multiplier” ). 

  •   At the end of the Plan Year,The Company, or its delegate, will determine, if and the extent to which, the strategic goals 
have been met (the “Earned Strategic Goals Payout Percentage”). 

  

B. Individual Performance Bonus . Only Sales Participants are eligible to receive an Individual Performance Bonus. Individual 
Performance Bonuses shall be based solely on the attainment of one or more performance goals that are established for each of the 
Sales Participants and agreed on in the Sales Participants’ individual Agreements. By the beginning of the Plan Year, or if later, the 
date the Sales Participant is selected by the Company as eligible to receive an Individual Performance Bonus, the Company shall 
draft the Agreement setting forth the maximum Individual Performance Bonus that may be earned, the applicable performance 
period, the performance goals applicable to the Sales Participants as well as the performance targets that must be achieved for all or a 
portion of the Individual Performance Bonus to be paid. Any Individual Performance Bonus will be paid after mandatory 
withholdings in the form of cash in the currency that the Sales Participant customarily receives from the Company. 



A. Incentive Bonus . If an Incentive Bonus is awarded it shall be paid in cash no later than the date set forth in the applicable Bonus 
Agreement (the “Payout Date”), which date shall initially be no later than March 31 st following the end of the Plan Year to which the 
Incentive Bonus relates provided that the Participant is still employed by the Company. The Company reserves the right to change the 
Payout Date at its sole discretion. Because the Incentive Bonus is intended to retain Eligible Employees, no Incentive Bonus is earned until 
it is required to be paid under this Plan. Therefore, in the event a Participant’s employment is terminated (either by the Company or by a 
Participant) prior to the Payout Date, then, unless required and then solely to the extent required by applicable law, the Participant will not 
have earned any right to an Incentive Bonus, and will not be entitled to any portion of that bonus.  

B. Individual Performance Bonus . An Individual Performance Bonus, if any, shall be paid in cash by the Payout Date, which date shall 
initially be no later than March 31 st following the end of the Plan Year to which the Individual Performance Bonus relates. The Company 
reserves the right to change the Payout Date in its sole discretion. If the employment terminates for any reason during the Plan Year, the 
affected Sales Participants is eligible to a pro rated payment of the Individual Performance Bonus if and to the extent binding local law 
requires such pro rated payments.  

   

A Bonus Review Board, consisting of the Company’s Board of Directors, will be established to review and decide any disputes arising 
under this Plan. Any employee with an issue related to this Plan shall provide a written request for review to any member of the 
Company’s Board of Directors who, in turn, shall convene Bonus Review Board to resolve the issue. All decisions of the Bonus Review 
Board are final and binding for internal purposes within the Company.  
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7. Payment 

8. Bonuses Disputes 

9. Legal and Ethical Standards 

  A. No employee shall attempt to earn a bonus by engaging in any conduct which violates any anti-trust laws, other laws, or the 
Company’s ethical standards, policies or practices. 

  
B. No employee shall pay, offer to pay, assign or give any part of his or her bonus, compensation, or anything else of value to any agent, 

customer, supplier or representative of any customer or supplier, or to any other person, as an inducement or reward for direct or 
indirect assistance in earning a bonus. 

  C. Any infraction of this Plan, or of recognized ethical standards, will subject the employee to disciplinary action up to and including 
termination of employment as permitted by applicable local law. 
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10. Miscellaneous 

  A. No Guarantee of Employment . Nothing in this Plan is intended to convey a guarantee of employment for any specified period of 
time. 

  
B. Totality of Agreement . This Plan in contribution with the applicable individual Agreement contains the entire agreement between 

the Company and the individual Participants on this subject, and supersedes all prior bonus compensation plans or programs of the 
Company and all other previous oral or written statements regarding any such bonus compensation programs or plans. 

  

C. Amendment . The Company reserves the right to modify any of the provisions of this Plan in its sole discretion and in observation of 
applicable law at any time with 10 days’ written notice to Participants; provided, however, that this Plan may not be modified or 
amended except in a written document signed by a Company officer and upon approval by the Company’s Compensation 
Committee. Any modification shall not decrease any bonus amount to which the Participant is entitled to under the Plan prior to the 
date of modification. 

  D. Discretion . No bonus amounts are guaranteed and all bonuses are determined in accordance with the terms of this Plan and any 
applicable Agreement. The Company will make all determinations under the Plan within its sole discretion. 

  
E. Language . If an Eligible Employee has received a copy of the Plan, an Agreement or any other document related to the Plan 

translated into a language other than English and if the translated version is different than the English version, the English version 
will control unless applicable local law requires the local language to be binding. 



   

   

   
9  

  F. Confidentiality . The contents of this Plan and any Agreement entered into thereafter are confidential. 

  

G. Exclusion and Severability . Each provision of the Plan shall be independent of each other, provisions hereof and if any provision of 
this Plan proves to be, or is held by any court, tribunal, board or authority of competent jurisdiction to be void or invalid as to any 
employee or Participant or group of employees or Participants, such provisions shall be disregarded and shall be deemed to be null 
and void and no part of this Plan; but such invalidation of any such provision shall not otherwise impair or affect this Plan or any of 
the other provisions or terms thereof. 

  
H. Acquired Rights . By choosing to participate in this Plan, the Participant expressly acknowledges and accepts all terms and 

conditions in the Plan, and, in particular, the Participant accepts that the Plan and any payment received under the Plan will in no 
case become an acquired right under the Eligible Employee’s employment relationship with the Company. 



Exhibit 12.1 

STATEMENT REGARDING COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND  
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS  

(in thousands, except ratios)  

The following table sets forth our ratio of earnings to fixed charges and our ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock 
dividends for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009. As the ratios of earnings to fixed charges and earnings to 
combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends indicate less than one-to-one coverage for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, 
2011, 2010 and 2009, we have provided the coverage deficiency amounts for those periods. Earnings are the sum of (i) loss from continuing 
operations before losses from equity affiliates, and (ii) fixed charges, less (i) interest capitalized. Fixed charges are the sum of (i) interest 
expensed and capitalized, (ii) amortization of capitalized expenses related to indebtedness, and (iii) estimate of interest within rental expense.  
   

   

     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011     2010     2009   
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes*     $ (43,119 )   $ (15,675 )    $ (16,839 )   $ (16,817 )    $ (24,071 )  
Plus: Fixed charges       617        670        1,110        865        179    
Less: Interest capitalized       123       624        1,039       1,475        —      

                                                   

Earnings, as adjusted     $ (42,625 )    $ (15,629 )    $ (16,768 )    $ (17,427 )    $ (23,892 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Fixed charges       617       670        1,110       865        179    
                                                   

Total fixed charges     $ 617      $ 670      $ 1,110      $ 865      $ 179    
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges       —          —          —          —          —      
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and prefererred stock dividends       —          —          —          —          —      
Deficiency of earnings available to cover fixed charges       (42,008 )     (14,959 )      (15,658 )     (16,562 )      (23,713 )  

         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Deficiency of earnings available to cover fixed charges and preferred stock 
dividends     $ (42,008 )    $ (14,959 )    $ (15,658 )    $ (16,562 )    $ (23,713 )  

         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

* Excluding losses from minority interest and income/loss from equity investees. 



Exhibit 21.1 

Cerus Corporation  
Subsidiaries of the Registrant  

   
Legal Name     Jurisdiction of Formation  

Cerus Europe B.V.     Netherlands 



Exhibit 23.1 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Forms S-8 (Nos. 333-192061, 333-183232, 333-177751, 333-
152680, 333-145007, 333-136452, 333-127541, 333-125043, 333-109170, 333-92254, 333-63132, 333-42588, 333-84497, 333-74991 and 333-
27097) of Cerus Corporation pertaining to the 1996 Equity Incentive Plan, Employee Stock Purchase Plan, 1998 Non-Officer Stock Option Plan, 
1999 Equity Incentive Plan and 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, and in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-93481, 333-47224, 333-
61460, 333-61910, and 333-178480) of Cerus Corporation and n the related Prospectuses of our reports dated March 7, 2014, with respect to the 
consolidated financial statements of Cerus Corporation and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Cerus Corporation, 
included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2013.  

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP  

Redwood City, California  
March 7, 2014  



Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATION  

I, William M. Greenman, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Date: March 7, 2014  
   

  1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cerus Corporation; 

  
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 

to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to 
the period covered by this report; 

  
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
report; 

  
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

  
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 

under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

  
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and 

  
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

  
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions): 

  
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

  b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

/s/    WILLIAM M. GREENMAN       
William M. Greenman  
Chief Executive Officer  

(Principal Executive Officer)  



Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION  

I, Kevin D. Green, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Date: March 7, 2014  
   

  1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cerus Corporation; 

  
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 

to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to 
the period covered by this report; 

  
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
report; 

  
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

  
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 

under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

  
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and 

  
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

  
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions): 

  
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

  b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

/s/    KEVIN D. GREEN       
Kevin D. Green  

Chief Financial Officer  
(Principal Financial Officer)  



Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATION  

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and 
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. § 1350), William M. Greenman, the Chief Executive Officer of 
Cerus Corporation (the “Company”) and Kevin D. Green, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify that, to the best of their 
knowledge:  

1. The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2013, and to which this Certification is attached 
as Exhibit 32.1 (the “Annual Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act, and  

2. The information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have set their hands hereto as of the 7th day of March, 2014.  
   

This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is 
not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Cerus Corporation under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language 
contained in such filing.  

/s/    WILLIAM M. GREENMAN           /s/    KEVIN D. GREEN        
William M. Greenman  
Chief Executive Officer  

(Principal Executive Officer)     

Kevin D. Green  
Chief Financial Officer  

(Principal Financial Officer)  


